# THAIANY QUEVEDO MELO

Estudo dos efeitos da superexpressão da alfa-sinucleína sobre o tráfego mitocondrial e autofagia em leveduras, células SH-SY5Y e neurônios dopaminérgicos derivados de hiPSC de pacientes com doença de Parkinson

Overexpression of alpha-synuclein and its effects on mitochondria trafficking and autophagy in yeast, SH-SY5Y cells and hiPSC-derived dopaminergic neurons of patients with Parkinson's disease

> Tese apresentada à Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade de São Paulo, para obtenção do título de Doutora em Ciências, Programa de Fisiopatologia Experimental.

Orientadora: Profa. Dra. Merari de F. R. Ferrari.

São Paulo

2016

# THAIANY QUEVEDO MELO

Estudo dos efeitos da superexpressão da alfa-sinucleína sobre o tráfego mitocondrial e autofagia em leveduras, células SH-SY5Y e neurônios dopaminérgicos derivados de hiPSC de pacientes com doença de Parkinson

Overexpression of alpha-synuclein and its effects on mitochondria trafficking and autophagy in yeast, SH-SY5Y cells and hiPSC-derived dopaminergic neurons of patients with Parkinson's disease

> Tese apresentada à Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade de São Paulo, para obtenção do título de Doutora em Ciências, Programa de Fisiopatologia Experimental.

Orientadora: Profa. Dra. Merari de F. R. Ferrari.

São Paulo

2016

## Ficha Catalográfica

Dados Internacionais de Catalogação na Publicação (CIP) Preparada pela Biblioteca da Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade de São Paulo

©reprodução autorizada pelo autor

Melo, Thaiany Quevedo

Estudo dos efeitos da superexpressão da alfa-sinucleína sobre o tráfego mitocondrial e autofagia em leveduras, células SH-SY5Y e neurônios dopaminérgicos derivados de hiPSC de pacientes com doença de Parkinson / Thaiany Quevedo Melo. -- São Paulo, 2016.

Tese(doutorado)--Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade de São Paulo.

Programa de Fisiopatologia Experimental. Orientadora: Merari de Fatima Ramires Ferrari.

Descritores: 1.Degeneração neural 2.Transporte biológico 3.Autofagia 4.Neurônios dopaminérgicos 5.Mitocôndrias 6.Alfa-sinucleína 7.SH-SY5Y 8.Doença de Parkinson

USP/FM/DBD-394/16

# DEDICATÓRIA

Dedico esse trabalho primeiramente a Deus, aquele que esteve me aparando sempre.

Sua força me fez forte,

Seu tempo me fez preparada,

Quando eu sabia o nada,

O Senhor foi tudo,

Suas lições me fizeram saber,

Que o Senhor me guiaria,

Só posso sentir gratidão.

Especialmente ao professor Julinho e seu irmão Augusto, pela amizade, pelo carinho, pela oportunidade, e acima de tudo por acreditarem em mim quando eu mesma não sabia do que era capaz. Não existem palavras que possam expressar minha gratidão por esses dois professores.

Dedico esse trabalho também aos professores Pola, Francesco, Joyce, Sérgio Alexandre, Marcelo, Fábio Morales, Manolo, Mani pelo apoio fundamental para o desenvolvimento da minha vida acadêmica e pessoal, pela amizade, pelas palavras, pela confiança, pelo sentimento sincero, porque foi verdadeiro carregarei para sempre dentro de mim.

Ao meu querido professor e amigo Moacir Nunes (*in memorian*), pela força dada quando eu mais precisei, pelos momentos alegres, pelos sorrisos sinceros, pelas conversas cheias de sabedoria, de sensibilidade e de carinho, que me "carregam" nos dias luta.

À amiga Karina Fasson pela sua amizade, apoio e incentivos durante o desenvolvimento desse estudo.

À minha amiga Damaris Alegretti pelo carinho, companhia, abraços curadores de tudo e principalmente pelos ótimos momentos que passamos juntas.

Ao Jorgivan Dias pelo apoio, pela amizade, pelo amor, por todas as risadas, por ter sido a melhor companhia que eu poderia ter em todos os momentos.

Ao amigo Flávio Romero pela amizade e apoio principalmente no período de finalização desse estudo.

À amiga Thais Galatro pela amizade e abraços calorosos dados em uma terra tão gelada.

### Agradecimentos

À Dra. Merari de Fátima Ramires Ferrari pela orientação, pela dedicação e pelos exemplos dados propositalmente e espontaneamente durante todo desenvolvimento desse estudo, os profissionais e os pessoais, pela amizade durante esses 8 anos de trabalho.

À Tânia pelo apoio, pela atenção, pela amizade, fundamentais para a resolução dos problemas burocráticos.

Aos professores: Regina Célia Migroni Netto, Angela Morgante, João Morgante e Luís Netto do Instituto de Biociências, pela disponibilidade de espaço e equipamentos.

Aos colegas de laboratório pela colaboração.

Ao professor Sjef Copray da Universidade de Medicina de Groningen pela orientação principalmente durante 2 anos do doutorado.

# EPÍGRAFE

"We've all got both light and dark inside us. What matters is the part we choose to act on. That's who we really are." (Sirius Black).

- J.K. Rowling, Harry Potter and the of the Phoenix

"Happiness can be found, even in the darkest of times, if one only remembers to turn on the light." (Dumbledore).

— J.K. Rowling, Harry Potter and the Prisoner of Azkaban

## **Apoio Financeiro**

Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior- CAPES Processo: 38794040893 (pela minha bolsa no primeiro e último anos do meu doutorado).

Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico- CNPQ, pela bolsa do Ciências sem Fronteiras (durante o segundo ano do meu doutorado), Processo: 240703/2012-0

University Medical Center Groningen- UMCG, pela bolsa de doutorado (durante o terceiro ano do meu doutorado).

Fundação de Amparo à pesquisa do estado de São Paulo – FAPESP Processo: 2012/15495-2; 2013/08028-1 (auxílio à pesquisa regular - Profa Merari F.R. Ferrari), 2011/064347 (auxílio à pesquisa regular - Profa Merari F.R. Ferrari) e 2012/15495-2 (auxílio à pesquisa regular - Profa Merari F.R. Ferrari).

Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico – CNPq Processo: 471779/2010-5 e 471999/2013-0 (Editais Universais – responsável: Profª Merari F.R. Ferrari)

# Sumário

Ficha Catalográfica	4
Agradecimentos	7
EPÍGRAFE	8
Apoio Financeiro	9
Resumo	11
Abstract	12
1. Introduction	14
1.1. Demographic changes and neurodegenerative diseases	15
1.2. Parkinson's disease development	20
1.3. Risk factors for Parkinson's disease	22
1.4. Alpha-synuclein	23
1.5. Dopaminergic degeneration	
1.6. The role of ROS in PD	
1.7. Dopaminergic neurons	
1.8. Mitochondria dysfunction in PD	42
1.9. Impaired intracellular trafficking in PD	
1.10. Models to study PD	59
References	62
2. Objectives	92
2.1. Specific objectives	93
3.Results	95
3.1. Impairment of mitochondria dynamics by human A53T $\alpha$ -synuclein and rescue by N	JAP
(davunetide) in a cell model for Parkinson's disease.	
Impairment of mitochondria dynamics by human A53T $\alpha$ -synuclein and rescue by NAP	
(davunetide) in differentiated SH-SY5Y after 6 days of culture	
MATERIAL AND METHODS	
Results	
Discussion	
References	
3.2. Absence of Gem (Miro1 in mammals) ameliorates A30P and A53T alpha-synuclein to	xicity.
while absence of Ypt53 (Rab5 in mammals) and Atg8 (LC3 in mammals) contributes to A3	OP and
A53T alpha-synuclein toxicity in a yeast (S. cerevisiae) model of Parkinson's disease	
MATERIAL AND METHODS	145
Results	
Discussion	
References	
3.3 Decreased mitochondrial mobility and increased number of lysosome vesicles in huma	in
dopaminergic neurons derived from SNCA <sup>3</sup> patients	186
MATERIAL AND METHODS	188
Results	192
Discussion	206
References	209
4. Discussion	213
5 Conclusions	219

#### Resumo

A doença de Parkinson é a doença motora neurodegenerativa mais comum do mundo. Agregados proteicos contendo principalmente alfa-sinucleína é a principal marca da doença. Recentemente, tem sido demonstrado que defeitos na dinâmica mitocondrial e da autofagia são causados pelo acúmulo da proteína. No nosso estudo, foram utilizados neurônios derivados de SH-SY5Y ou de hiPSC de pacientes com a doença de Parkinson hereditária, além de leveduras para analisar a dinâmica mitocondrial e da autofagia e o envolvimento de proteínas desses processos na toxicidade da alfa- sinucleína. Foi observado a diminuição do tráfego mitocondrial em neurônios derivados das células SH-SY5Y que expressavam alfa-sinucleína A53T. Além disso a proteína mutante ainda levou ao aumento de espécies reativas de oxigênio, perturbação da autofagia e aumento da sinalização apoptótica. Os neurônios então foram tratados com NAP, um peptídeo neuroprotetor, que preveniu os efeitos tóxicos da alfa-sinucleína mutante. Leveduras contendo deleções nos genes Gem (Miro), Ypt53 (Rab5) e Atg8 (LC3) e expressando alfa-sinucleína dos tipos A30P e A53T, demonstraram que a toxicidade da alfa-sinucleína é dependente das disfunções na mitocôndria e na autofagia. A agregação da alfa-sinucleína A53T foi prevenida na ausência de Gem. Além disso, a toxicidade da proteína envolvendo a disfunção mitocondrial e sinalização apoptótica causada pelo estresse do ER foi dependente dos genes Gem e Atg8, respectivamente. Neurônios derivados de hiPSC de pacientes contendo a triplicação do gene da alfa-sinucleína, mostraram diminuição do transporte de mitocôndrias e do potencial de membrana da mitocôndria. Análises sobre a quantidade de vesículas lisossomais desses neurônios, demonstraram acúmulos dessas vesículas, sugerindo que a autofagia está alterada. Em um ensaio sobre a sensibilidade dos neurônios dopaminérgicos, foi observado que os neurônios contendo a alpha-sinucleína mutante são mais susceptíveis à rotenona, quando comparado com os neurônios dopaminérgicos do controle. A exposição à rotenona também causou mudanças na distribuição de mitocôndrias, sugerindo que o tráfego retrógrado da organela está alterado.

#### Abstract

Parkinson's disease (PD) is the most common motor neurodegenerative disease in the world. Protein aggregates containing mainly alpha-synuclein are a hallmark of disease. Mitochondria and autophagy defects have been suggested to be caused by alpha-synuclein toxicity. In this study, we investigated mitochondria and autophagy dynamics related to alpha-synuclein toxicity in neurons derived form SH-SY5Y cells, hiPSC from patients with familial PD or yeast. We found that SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells expressing A53T asynuclein showed significantly inhibited mitochondrial trafficking. A53T a- synuclein also caused the highest increase in ROS production in the dysmobilized mitochondria in comparison to wild-type or A30P  $\alpha$ synuclein. Treatment with NAP, the 8 amino acid peptide identified as the active component of activitydependent neuroprotective protein (ADNP), completely annihilated the adverse effects of A53T on mitochondrial dynamics. During disruption of retrograde transport, we found disturbed autophagy and increased apoptosis signalization in neurons expressing A53T alpha-synuclein, suggest activation of the apoptosis pathway. Curiously, all groups expressing alpha-synuclein showed decreased levels of BCL-XL, revealing that mitochondria are susceptible to changes in the membrane potential in the presence of alphasynuclein. Nevertheless, treatment with NAP was effective in blocking the apoptosis pathway and restore autophagy. We created a model to study A30P and A53T alpha-synuclein toxicity related to Gem (Miro), Ypt53 (Rab5) and Atg8 (LC3) genes in Saccharomyces cerevisiae in which these genes were knocked down. We found that A30P alpha-synuclein toxicity was dependent on mitochondrial and autophagy dysfunction. A53T alpha-synuclein was more toxic than A30P alpha-synuclein, and its aggregation was dependent on Gem expression. A53T alpha-synuclein toxicity involving damaged mitochondrial and apoptotic signaling caused by ER stress was dependent on Gem and Atg8 genes, respectively. In a study involving dopaminergic neurons derived from hiPSCs from patients containing triplicated alpha-synuclein gene (SNCA<sup>3</sup>), we reported decreased mitochondrial trafficking and mitochondrial membrane potential, besides accumulation of lysosome vesicles. In a sensitivity assay, SNCA<sup>3</sup> neurons demonstrated more susceptibility to rotenone toxicity, which alters intracellular mitochondrial distribution, impairing retrograde transport of the organelle.

# **1. Introduction**

#### **1. Introduction**

#### 1.1. Demographic changes and neurodegenerative diseases

According to the World Health Organization (WHO) (2015), the world is aging as illustrated in the graph in Figure 1. The aged population is larger in the high income Western countries than for instance in Mexico, Russia, South Africa and Brazil. However, Brazil also already experience changes in its demographic profile with a significant increase of aged population, as shown in Figure 2. Technological advances allow the development of new therapies, leading to an increased life expectancy. Consequently, the percentage of aged people older than 60 years is growing in the entire world. From 2015 to 2050, an increase of 22% in the aged world population is expected. That would lead to an increased burden of age-related health problems to the society, demanding it to adapt their health systems.



(\*) Data refer to 1 January of each reference year. 1994; EU-27, 2014; provisional data given the non-availability of detailed data for Greece. Source: Eurostat (online data code: demo\_pjangroup)

**Figure 1**.: Illustration of European demographic changes from 1994 to 2014. Population of adults and aged men and women increased significantly from 1994 to 2014. Eurostat Statistic explained.



**Figure 2**.: Illustration of Brazilian demographic changes from 1980 (A) to 2010 (B). The population of men (blue) and women (pink) older than 60 years increased about 140 and 154% respectively. IBGE-Projeção da população.

A major age-related mental disorder is dementia, which is a chronic and progressive process that involves loss of memory and a decrease in social behavior and cognition abilities. Nowadays, 47.5 million people worldwide have dementia. It is expected that in 2050 there will be 135.5 million people living with dementia, mainly in low and middle-income countries such as Brazil and other countries in Latin America, where the prevalence of dementia is the highest compared to other regions in the world (Prince et al., 2013; Fagundes et al., 2011).

Dementia not only has an impact on people's life but also on their families and society, since it provides a major burden as far as care and costs are concerned. Until 2010, health systems around the world spent around US\$ 604 billion per year on the treatment of dementia. The most common disease that leads to dementia is Alzheimer's disease (about 60-70% of cases of dementia is related to Alzheimer's disease), followed by diseases like vascular dementia, dementia with Lewy bodies and Parkinson's disease (PD). Yoritaka and collaborators (2016) have shown that the direct costs for PD outpatient clinics per month, at the University Hospital in Japan, are USD 485.74 per subject. Furthermore, 90.6% of the costs are related to drugs to treat PD (Table 1). They found that disease severity did not increase medical costs and they claimed that the costs in Japan are similar to Western countries.

			C	ost	1.000 (million)	Univariate model		Mul	tivariate initial mo	del	M (Back	ultivariate final mod ward elimination p-	lel (0.05)
Factor	Category	=	mean	SD	Coefficient Estimate	95% Confidence Interval	p value [for factor] for category	Coefficient Estimate	95% Confidence Interval	p value [for factor] for	Coefficient Estimate	95% Confidence Interval	p value [for factor] for category
total		715	485.7	376.3			8		•	uategui y		×	
age	< 65 years	234	565.4	412.0	Reference	. 177 5	-0.001 ***	Reference	ALL LELLY	1.000	Reference		- 100.0
	Z too years	491	947.0	1.100	-118.4	(7700- '070/1-)	<0.001	0.00-	(-1525, 1.2)	+CU.U	1.0%-	(-148.0, -51.5)	CD0.0
	0 1	19	583.9 597.8	279.8	Reference 13.9	- (-217.4, 245.3)	[0.410] 0.906	Reference -6.4	(-304.3.232.1)	[0.367]			
11 1 2 1	7	172	508.7	386.6	-75.2	(-325.3, 103.4)	0.409	-82.3	(-257.4, 92.7)	0.356			
modified Hoen	5	222	449.0	355.3	-135.2	(-311.8, 41.4)	0.133	-135.2	(-310.3, 39.9)	0.130			
& Yahr stage	4	183	484.3	369.9	9.66-	(-277.6, 78.4)	0.272	-86.7	(-265.8, 92.4)	0.342			
	5	70	494.7	472.3	-89.2	(-280.3, 101.9)	0.360	-52.4	(-245.2, 140.5)	0.594			
	Unknown	27	470.2	251.6	-113.7	(-334.9, 107.5)	0.313	-121.9	(-340.0, 95.7)	0.272			
disease duration	i < ten years	112	431.3	327.0	Reference	•	8	Reference	•	8	Reference	×	÷
	≥ten years	438	520.2	550.0	88.9	(32.5, 145.2)	0.002 **	73.4	(13.8, 133.0)	0.016 *	67.5	(9.5, 125.6)	0.023 *
working	ä	459	456.9	368.4	Reference	24 13	æ	Reference	24 13	2			
	+	241	540.8	386.6	84.0	(25.4, 142.5)	** 500.0	41.0	(-26.0, 108.0)	0.230			
	Unknown	15	485.2	376.5	28.4	(164.7, 221.4)	0.773	9.1	(-181.2, 199.4)	0.925			
wearing off		255	389.6	303.8	Reference	•	8	Reference	•	8	Reference	ĩ	1
	+	460	539.0	401.5	149.4	(92.7, 206.0)	*** 100.0⊳	126.0	(66.5, 185.4)	<0.001 ***	122.8	(63.9, 181.6)	*** 10000>
hallucination		432	508.9	375.3	Reference		æ	Reference	10	æ	Reference	×	ş
	+	283	450.4	375.7	-58.6	(-114.9, -2.2)	0.042 *	-62.8	(-121.7, -3.9)	* 750.0	-65.0	(-121.6, 8.5)	0.024 *
pain	9	484	480.9	368.9	Reference			Reference					
	9	124	A06.0	1 002	15.0	VENT TAN	0.610	100	128 2 2827	0.500			

Table 1: Yoritaka and colleagues (2016) collected data about direct costs of 411 women and 313 men (724 patients in total) with PD who were participating in the "Specified Disease Treatment Research Program" at the University Hospital in Japan, during the period between June and December 2008.

#### 1.2. Parkinson's disease development

PD was clinically described by James Parkinson in 1817 (Parkinson 1817; Goetz 2011), and nowadays, it is considered to be the most common neurodegenerative movement disorder (Tanner 1992). It is estimated that PD affects 2% of the population older than 60 years old. According to the Parkinson's Disease Foundation (2016), men are 1.5 times more affected by PD than women, and there are approximately 10 million people affected by PD around the world. Clinical symptoms of PD involve motor dysfunction as muscle rigidity, bradykinesia, balance disturbances, resting tremor, and non-motor symptoms such as cognitive decline, depression and deficit in olfactory and gustatory systems in the early stages of the disease, and mood alterations, sleep disturbances and dementia especially in the late stages of the disease (Paillusson et al., 2016; Chao et al., 2015; Cecchini et al., 2014; Weintraub et al., 2008).

Aging seems to be the main risk to develop PD. Degeneration of the substantia nigra (SN) is the main hallmark of PD and, therefore, it has been extensively investigated. The degeneration of the dopaminergic neurons located in the compact part of the SN has been suggested to start in the distal axon retrogradely disturbing and inhibiting fast axonal transport. The dopaminergic phenotype slowly disappears as evidenced by the decreased levels of dopaminergic markers such as tyrosine hydroxylase (TH). As a compensatory reaction, the expression levels of dopamine receptors such as D1 and D2 have been found to increase. Interestingly, these changes have also been observed during normal healthy aging (Rangel et al., 2015; Thanos et al., 2016; Keeler et al., 2016).

The first studies on PD pathology and aging showed a depletion of neurons as well as a decrease of pigmentation in the SN in both PD patients and healthy elderly subjects. The SN appears as a black structure in post-mortem brain tissue due to the cellular presence of neuromelanin, which is a pigment that accumulates throughout life at this region (Cabello et al., 2002; Rudow et al., 2008; Zucca et al., 2015).

As a consequence of the loss of the nigrostriatal dopaminergic projections, the levels of dopamine gradually decrease in the striatum during PD progress. Curiously, striatal dopamine levels also seem to decrease in aged healthy brains in a range about 10-13% per decade of life, and denervation of striatum is also found in the aged healthy brain (Carlsson and Winblad, 1976; Riederer and Wuketich, 1976; Kish et al., 1992; Kish et al., 1988; Hornykiewicz, 1989; Haycock et al., 2003). Some researchers suggested that an increased dopamine turnover might be a compensatory mechanism in the degeneration of dopaminergic neurons in PD. Interestingly, a similar compensatory mechanism was observed by other researchers investigating aging of the SN (Barrio et al., 1990; Sossi et al., 2002; Greenwood et al., 1991).

Disturbed dopamine metabolism may increase oxidative stress. Although dopamine levels are decreased during aging and PD, oxidative stress is present in both situations. This changed redox state in dopaminergic neurons is thought to be caused by mitochondria dysfunction. It is known that oxidative stress can lead to progressive accumulation of oxidative damage, which is known to accelerate aging and PD development (Jang and Remmen, 2009; Zucca et al., 2015; Kuter et al., 2016).

It is important to point out that a major factor in the process of human and animal aging involves heritability of longevity, suggesting that the aging process is not only modulated by lifestyle, but also has an important genetic component. Studies focusing on genes associated with the vulnerability of dopaminergic neurons have shown that genes involved in dopaminergic degeneration are also associated with normal aging. The most studied genes associated with PD appeared to be involved in the quality control of mitochondria and the modulation of oxidative stress; the same genes are associated with aging acceleration. Alpha-synuclein is an important presynaptic protein that plays a role in all neurons in the recycling of vesicles in synapses. Overexpression or anomalous conformation of this protein due to the presence of point mutations as well as a high oxidative environment lead to the oligomerization of  $\alpha$ -synuclein and the formation of amyloidogenic filaments. This will lead to the formation of aggregates and Lewy bodies, which are found in both PD and healthy normal brains (Passarino et al., 2016; Prinzinger, 2005; Yang et al., 2016; Devi et al., 2008; Weihofen et al., 2009; Giasson et al., 2000; Li et al., 2004; Polito et al., 2016).

Various researchers are investigating the differences between aging and PD in the brain. PD differs from aging mainly with respect to the higher level of cell loss (Rodriguez et al., 2015). It seems that PD is a consequence of aging restricted to a specific cell population in the brain, whereas aging itself affects all cells in the body. Moreover, only 4-5% of aged people develop PD. With so many similarities between aging and PD development, it is hard to conclude what changes lead to the disease. PD is thought to be the consequence of a complicated interaction between a wide variety of potentially toxic external stimuli and variable genetic susceptibility explaining the high clinical diversity among PD patients.

Therefore, together these changes observed in aged brain could be similar in the PD brains, leaving unclear the threshold between healthy aging and neurodegeneration.

#### **1.3.** Risk factors for Parkinson's disease

The etiology of PD is still largely unknown. Among the PD cases, 95% are considered sporadic and only 5% has a known genetic cause. Manifestation of PD has been thought to involve the chronic exposure to a set of environmental factors including pesticides, like rotenone, and herbicides. Familial PD implicates genetic susceptibility caused by one of several (point) mutations in the genes encoding for LRRK2, (leucine-rich repeat kinase 2), DJ-1, PINK1, parkin, GBA (glucocerebrosidase gene, Gaucher's disease), UCH-L1, PODXL (podocalyxin-like), SYNJ1 (PARK20), ATP13A2, SNCA (alpha-synuclein) and others. Autosomal dominant mutations in the

alpha-synuclein gene (SNCA) can lead to duplication or triplication of the gene, generating several copies of alpha-synuclein. A30P (G88C) and A53T are examples of PD linked point mutations in the  $\alpha$ -synuclein gene involving the replacement of alanine by proline or threonine, respectively, at the indicated sites (Vilageliu and Grinberg, 2016; Sudhaman et al., 2016; Stefanovic et al., 2015; Park et al., 2015; Chen et al., 2015; Palmier et al., 2013; Ono et al., 2011; Lee et al., 2010; Narhi et al., 1999; Zhu et al., 2014).

Autosomal recessive mutations such as mutations in the GBA, parkin, PINK1, ATP13A2 and DJ-1 genes are likely linked to an early onset PD. Mutations in the parkin gene are the most common form of autosomal recessive PD. Parkin and Pink1 work together in regulating mitophagy, and in cases of mutations in parkin and PINK1, but also in ATP13A2, GBA and DJ-1, aberrant mitophagy is observed that leads to cell death. (Lesage et al., 2016; Hanagasi et al, 2016; Vilageliu and Grinberg, 2016; Song et al., 2016; Park et al., 2015; Noelker et al., 2015; van der Merwe et al., 2015).

The LRRK2 autosomal dominant mutation (G2019S) with gain of function is the most common known PD-associated gene and is also found in cases of idiopathic PD (Ramírez et al., 2016; Kalinderi et al., 2016). This mutation increases the risk to develop PD with 80% and it is linked to late onset PD. Curiously, the pathology in this case is independent of Lewy body formation (Kalia et al., 2015; Gaig et al., 2009).

#### 1.4. Alpha-synuclein

Duplication of the *SNCA* gene leads to PD with a similar age of onset as sporadic PD (Ibanez et al., 2004; Chartier-Harlin et al., 2004). Triplication of the *SNCA* gene, however, is associated to an earlier onset of PD, indicating that high levels of wild-type (WT) alpha-synuclein via oligomerization and consequently multi-oligomer fibrillar protein aggregation, leads to cell

death (Figure 4D) (Olgiati et al., 2015; Ikeuchi et al., 2008; Johson et al., 2004; Singleton et al., 2004). Interestingly, in PD patients with a triplicated *SNCA* gene, the amount of alpha-synuclein mRNA in the brain is doubled, but the amount of soluble protein is not; aggregates, however, do emerge, suggesting that the increased alpha-synuclein amount is sequestered by intracellular aggregates, as exemplified in Figure 4C and D (Miller et al., 2004; Ahn et al., 2008). Apart from gene overexpression, mutations in the alpha-synuclein gene can also be linked to formation of oligomers. It has been demonstrated that human cell lines expressing point-mutated A30P or A53T alpha-synuclein contain high levels of oligomers (Marmolino et al., 2016).

Changes in alpha-synuclein expression may also be linked to sporadic PD. It is known that with normal healthy aging alpha-synuclein in the dopaminergic neurons of the substantia nigra can be redistributed from the synaptic terminals to the soma and the dendritic compartment (Figure 4B) (Xuan et al., 2011; Chu and Kordower, 2007). However, some investigators found unaltered levels of alpha-synuclein expression in the post-mortem midbrain of patients with PD and they claimed that alpha-synuclein did not play a role in these cases. More research is needed to elucidate the role of alpha-synuclein in the etiology sporadic PD, especially because other researchers have found indications that alpha-synuclein expression was changed in sporadic cases of PD: Studies revealed increased (Chiba-Falek and Nussbaum, 2001; Grundemann et al., 2008) or decreased (Kingsbury et al., 2004; Dachsel et al., 2007) levels of alpha-synuclein in midbrain of patients with sporadic PD (Tagliafierro and Chiba-Falek, 2016; Beyer et al., 2004; Tan et al., 2005).

It is clear that overexpression of alpha-synuclein plays a role in neurodegeneration; on the other hand, knock down of the alpha-synuclein gene can also lead to neurodegeneration, specifically in neurons located in the substantia nigra (Figure 4E) (Collier et al., 2016; Khodr et al., 2011; Gorbatyuk et al., 2010; Kanaan and Manfredsson, 2012). Interestingly, Vallortigara and colleagues (2015) demonstrated decreased levels of monomeric alpha-synuclein in the post-mortem brains of PD and Alzheimer patients who both had suffered from dementia; they correlated the low

levels of monomeric alpha-synuclein with synapse depletion and with the duration of dementia. These studies taken together strongly suggest that monomeric alpha-synuclein has an important role in the maintenance of healthy neurons, and that a decrease in the level of monomeric alphasynuclein levels may induce mechanisms leading to dementia in PD and Alzheimer's disease.

Alpha-synuclein is a small protein composed of 140 amino acids predominantly cytosolic and can be found in both neuronal and glial cells of the thalamus, neocortex, hippocampus and substantia nigra. When first identified, alpha-synuclein was described as the precursor of non-amyloid-ß peptide. This protein belongs to the synuclein family that also contains beta- and gamma-synuclein. In physiological conditions, the N-terminal of the protein binds to lipid membranes and may go into a tetrameric helix form which has been reported to be resistant to fibril and aggregation formation (Tolmasov et al., 2016; Li et al., 2007; Kaganovich et al., 2008 Woods et al., 2007; Maiti et al., 2004; Sharma et al., 2001; Davidson et al., 1998).

The human *SNCA* gene is located on chromosome 4 (4q21.3-q22) (Chen et al., 1995) and in specific regions of brain, this gene can generate alpha-synuclein with 140 or with 126, 112 or 98 amino acids, when alternative splicing in exons 3 and 5 occurs (McLean et al., 2012; Beyer et al., 2006; Uéda et al., 1994). Alpha-synuclein has 3 main domains: the N-terminal, the central portion and the C-terminal as depicted in Figure 3 (Fusco et al., 2014). The N-terminal is highly conserved and allows the alpha helix secondary structure, two anti-parallel alpha helices and the formation of contiguous alpha helix interacting with lipid membranes (Surguchov, 2008; Jakes et al., 1994; Jao et al., 2004; Bussel and Eliezer 2003; Chandra et al., 2003; Davidson et al., 1998). The central portion of alpha- synuclein is prone to aggregate. Several studies investigated which specific characteristics of this portion determined its liability for aggregate formation. The first link between the central portion of alpha-synuclein and aggregation was made in a study of post mortem brains from patients with Alzheimer's disease. Investigators found that this central portion of the alpha-synuclein protein was highly hydrophobic suggesting that this is likely the main characteristic that

makes alpha-synuclein prone to aggregate (Pfefferkorn et al., 2012; Uéda et al., 1993). The Cterminal portion of alpha-synuclein plays a major role in the synaptic function of alpha-synuclein and the interaction with SNARE complex proteins. This portion exhibits a huge variability between species, most likely because post-translation modifications predominantly occur in this portion. These dynamic changes in the structure of alpha-synuclein may be dependent of environment and suggests that alpha-synuclein natively is an unfolded protein (Burré et al., 2012; Krumova et al., 2011; Oueslati et al., 2010; Burré et al., 2010; George 2001; Hasegawa et al., 2002; Weinreb et al., 1996; Uversky 2002).

Alpha-synuclein can interact with many lipids membranes and proteins, for instance with those related to calcium and dopamine homeostasis (Burré et al., 2010; Woods et al., 2007; Fountaine and Wade-Martins 2007; Founatine et al., 2008; Tehranian et al., 2006). Furthermore, alpha-synuclein can form multimers by self-assemblage forming insoluble aggregates in an irreversible process (Dettmer et al., 2015; Dettmer et al., 2013; Serpell et al., 2000; Bartels et al., 2011; Uversky and Eliezer 2009; Conway et al., 1998).



**Figure 3**.: Illustration of membrane affinity of alpha-synuclein. In blue: N- terminal portion; in grey: central region; In green: C-terminal fragment (Fusco et al., 2014).

The physiological function of alpha-synuclein remains unclear. It is known that, as a predominantly presynaptic protein, it participates in the process of trafficking, docking and endocytosis of vesicles in the presynaptic membrane (Vargas et al., 2014; Burré et al., 2012; Burré et al., 2010; Maroteaux et al., 1998). Alpha-synuclein can also be found in the soma, dendrites and axons, where the levels of this protein are very low (Figure 4A). Alpha-synuclein has been shown to be essential for the regulation of neurotransmitters release and in the cell response to cellular stress (Iwai et al., 1995; Maroteaux et al., 1988). Furthermore, alpha-synuclein can interact with TH (tyrosine hydroxylase), inhibiting dopamine biosynthesis, or with DAT (dopamine transporter), modulating dopamine transport. All these findings suggest that alpha-synuclein is crucial for normal/ healthy dopaminergic signal transfer (Khan et al., 2012; Bellucci et al., 2011; Perez and Hastings 2004).

Insoluble alpha-synuclein formation occurs as a consequence of genetic mutations, of deficits in degradation and under oxidative conditions (Follmer et al., 2015; Fredenburg et al., 2007; Narhi et al., 1999; Conway et al., 1998; Hashimoto et al., 1999). Some studies suggested that the elimination of alpha-synuclein could be crucial to prevent insoluble protein formation (Oshima et al., 2016; Gustafsson et al., 2016; Dehay et al., 2016). The monomeric form of the protein is predominantly degraded by chaperone-mediated autophagy (CMA); there are a few cases in which alpha-synuclein can be degraded by proteasomes. The oligomeric form of the protein is degraded by autophagy, independent of CMA (Vogiatzi et al., 2008; Webb et al., 2003). Mechanisms which favor the formation of oligomeric and insoluble alpha-synuclein during neurodegeneration in PD are not well understood. However, some studies have demonstrated deficits in degradation systems, linked to neurodegeneration. (Ritz et al 2016; Martella et al., 2016 Tanner et al., 2014; Marques et al., 2011).



**Figure 4.**: Scheme of the function and localization of alpha-synuclein in dopaminergic neurons: (A) under normal conditions, where alpha-synuclein is mainly found at the synaptic terminal; (B) during normal aging, where alpha-synuclein can be found spread throughout the neuron; (C) in early onset PD, where alpha-synuclein is prone to aggregate; (D) in case of overexpression of alpha-synuclein,, leading to the spread out of the protein in the synaptic terminal and the soma; (E) when the gene is knocked down, leading to cell death (Benskey et al., 2016).

The degradation of alpha-synuclein has been extensively investigated. It has been demonstrated that small inclusions of the protein and puncta aggregates are ubiquitinated and driven to the ubiquitin proteasome system. However, proteasomes do not degrade big cargos such as aggregates or organelles. The degradation of ubiquitinated or non-ubiquitinated cargos, including alpha-synuclein, occurs preferentially through lysosomes by the autophagy process (Pallauf and Rimbach, 2013; Lynch-Day et al., 2012; Nagatsu and Sawada, 2006; Ciechanover et al., 2000).

In the autophagy process, cargos can be delivered in lysosomes via different pathways that are characteristic for microautophagy, chaperone-mediated autophagy or macroautophagy. In microautophagy, cargos that have been taken up from the cytoplasm and directly delivered in a lysosome membrane, are invaginated into the lysosomal lumen and promptly degraded. In chaperone-mediated autophagy, the cargo enters a lysosome through signaling of a chaperone, which binds to a receptor located in lysosome membrane. Macroautophagy is the best-studied autophagy process. In this type of autophagy, macromolecules and organelles are isolated in the cytosol by a double membrane forming a vesicle called autophagosome, which gets mature and fuses with a lysosome (Miller- Fleming et al., 2014; Klionsky, 2005; Majeski and Dice, 2004; Kunz et al., 2004). P62 is the protein which recognizes ubiquitinated cargos to initiate autophagy; it requires and binds to LC3 (Atg8 yeast ortholog), which drives vesicle formation and is present in both autophagosome membranes, as depicted in Figure 5. LC3 is found in two forms: LC3-I, present in immature autophagosome (or also called early endosome), and LC3-II, present in mature autophagosome (or also called late endosome). When the autophagosome becomes mature, LC3-I is converted into LC3-II. During the fusion process, LC3-II from the outer membrane fuses with the lysosome and is degraded with P62 and the vesicle. Several studies analyzed the autophagic flux and the removal of cargos by measuring LC3-II and P62 levels, respectively (Bang et al., 2016; Klionsky et al., 2012; Germain et al., 2011; Mizushima et al., 2010; Mizushima and Yoshimori, 2007).



**Figure 5**.: Illustration of ubiquitinated proteins being recognizes by P62, that binds to LC3 that drives vesicle formation. Adapted from Komatsu and Ichimura (2010).

Mutated alpha-synuclein and large amounts of alpha-synuclein, due to overexpression, have been reported to disturb the ubiquitin-proteasome system and autophagy; interestingly, dysfunction of degradation pathways also leads to accumulation and aggregation of alpha-synuclein. During aging and in the presence of large amounts of alpha-synuclein or mutated A53T alphasynuclein, chaperone-mediated autophagy and macroautophagy is inhibited. Curiously, autophagy inducers decreased alpha-synuclein levels, indicating that autophagy is crucial for alpha-synuclein degradation and for the prevention of aggregate formation (Shruthi et al., 2016; Ottolini et al., 2016; Ebrahimi et al., 2013; Dagda et al., 2013; Wu et al., 2013; Song et al., 2013; Decressac et al., 2013; Lee and Lee, 2002). On the other hand, aggregates can cause lysosome rupture, which might lead to mitochondria dysfunction. Moreover, especially in the presence of mutated A53T alpha-synuclein, endoplasmic reticulum homeostasis is disturbed inducing increased ROS levels and mitochondria dysfunction. Since autophagy has a global role of degradation in the cell, inhibition of this process can lead to high levels of ROS by impairment of the endoplasmic reticulum and reduced mitochondria removal. Especially in dopaminergic neurons, defects in the degradation of nonfunctional mitochondria causes a fast increase of ROS levels inducing neurodegeneration (Redmann et al., 2016; Lehtonen et al., 2016; Freemand et al., 2013). Together, these studies demonstrate that alpha-synuclein toxicity involves the impairment of degradation pathways, worsening the

consequences of protein accumulation and aggregation (see Figure 6).



**Figure 6**:  $\alpha$ -synuclein pathology in PD. The successive dysfunction of protein degradation pathways is crucial in  $\alpha$ -synuclein pathology, neuronal dysfunction and degeneration. A.  $\alpha$ -synuclein is regularly degraded via both UPS (ubiquin -proteasome system) and ALP (autophagy-lysosomal pathway). B. In the early disease stage, primary impairment of degradation pathways induced by genetic, environmental and age-related factors further prevents the degradation of  $\alpha$ -synuclein by CMA (chaperone-mediated autophagy) and UPS and leads to its toxic aggregation in the cytoplasm. C. Afterwards, crosstalk among degradation pathways drives the induction of autophagy and temporarily compensate for degradation impairment. D. In the late disease stage,  $\alpha$ -synuclein accumulation inactivates autophagy, leading to complete dysfunction of all protein degradation pathways and uncontrolled accumulation of  $\alpha$ -synuclein, which consequently contributes to neuronal dysfunction and degeneration featured in PD (Li et al., 2015).

#### **1.5. Dopaminergic degeneration**

The best known symptom of PD is the presence of a resting tremor which seems to be one of the consequences of the degeneration of the dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra in the ventral midbrain (see Figure 7). These neurons are involved in the control of important functions of brain such as the initiation of voluntary movement, reward processing and working memory. Dopaminergic neurons can be classified into A8, A9 and A10 subtypes; the A8 dopaminergic neurons originates retrorubal field, the A9 subtype in the substantia nigra (SN) pars compacta in the ventral mesencephalon and the A10 neurons in ventral tegmental area (VTA). The A9 dopaminergic neurons in the SN are the most studied since they appear to be the main/firstly affected dopaminergic neurons in PD. Presently, much research is focusing on elucidating the pathways and molecules involved in the generation and the development of dopaminergic neurons, such information is of importance for the in-vitro generation of dopaminergic neurons from stem cells, a new approach in the development of cell replacement therapies to treat PD (Blesa, 2016; Roeper, 2013; Toulousse and Sullivan, 2008; Dahlstrom and Fuxe, 1964).



**Figure 7**.: Illustration of the SN in the healthy brain (A). Comparison of the healthy SN (B) with the SN of a patient with PD (C) clearly shows the loss of the black stained dopaminergic neurons in this region. "Substantia Nigra and Parkinson's Disease." A.D.A.M. Editorial Team. 5 May 2006. [Cited 10 December 2008] Available at <a href="http://medicalimages.allrefer.com/large/substantia-nigra-and-parkinsons-disease.jpg">http://medicalimages.allrefer.com/large/substantia-nigra-and-parkinsons-disease.jpg</a>.

Mechanisms that underlie the process of neurodegeneration in the substantia nigra, are not well understood. It is known that the degeneration of the SN dopaminergic neurons coincides with the process of alpha-synuclein accumulation and aggregation, not only in the dopaminergic neurons but also in glia cells. Studies investigating the post-mortem brain of PD patients revealed the presence of cellular inclusions called Lewy bodies or Lewy neurites, which mainly contains alpha-synuclein. Therefore, alpha-synuclein aggregation has been considered a hallmark of both sporadic and familial PD in post-mortem analysis (Hurtig et al., 2000; Ince et al., 1998), suggesting that alpha-synuclein is a biomarker of PD (Atik et al., 2016; Barker and Williams-Gray 2016; Aarsland 2016; Koga at al., 2015).

Overexpression of wild-type (WT) alpha-synuclein or expression of the mutated A53T form of alpha-synuclein has been reported to reduce the release of dopamine through its covalent binding to dopamine and/or modulation of tyrosine hydroxylase; this interference in dopamine metabolism will consequently lead to cell toxicity (Orth et al., 2004; Perez et al., 2002; Xu et al., 2002; Tabrizi et al., 2000). Mutant A53T alpha-synuclein appears to be more prone to aggregate (including with dopamine) in comparison to A30P or WT alpha-synuclein (Marmolino et al., 2016; Winner et al., 2011; Moussa et al., 2008).

Although formation of protein aggregates can be related to mutations in proteins, this process also occurs naturally during aging and these aggregates can be found distributed throughout the central nervous system (Dayan, 1970; Johri and Bergman, 2003). These aggregates can lead to aging-related neuronal death but also to a variety of neurodegenerative diseases such as PD (Gibb and Lees, 1998). During aging, cells may be more vulnerable to oxidative stress leading to the damaging of proteins, lipids and nucleic acids. These physiological changes are worsening for a set of environmental factors and genetic susceptibility, facilitating neurodegenerative diseases development (Mattson and Magnus, 2006).

Alpha-synuclein aggregates have been found spread in brains affected by other neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's disease, Lewy bodies dementia, multiple system atrophy and others, so called under the term synucleinopathies (Kawakami and Ichikawa, 2015; Gassowska et al., 2014; Spillantini and Goedert, 2000; Spillantini, 1999). Although the function of alpha-synuclein function is still unclear, it is known that in dopaminergic neurons alpha-synuclein is a pre-synaptic protein with an important role in the synthesis, regulation, storage and release of dopamine; it is a crucial protein for synapses plasticity (Calo et al., 2006; Sidhu et al., 2004). Besides that, an increased number of copies of the *SNCA* gene is linked to PD since it has been shown to lead to accumulation of alpha-synuclein and Lewy's bodies formation (Zharikov et al., 2015; Fuchs et al., 2007).

It is known that some proteins are folded to form three-dimensional structures in cells. However, problems may occur in this folding process and some proteins can be misfolded or folded incompletely. In these cases, proteins may be prone to aggregate and spread (Mahul-Mellier et al., 2015). Besides that, it has been shown that the neurotoxic effect of alpha-synuclein is caused by the propensity of alpha-synuclein to form multiple oligomers (Pantusa et al., 2016; Outeiro et al., 2007).

The role of the protein aggregation process in the cell is unclear. Some studies showed that aggregates could lead to cell death (Ysselstein et al., 2015; Stefani and Dobson, 2003; Bence et al., 2001; Pike et al., 1991). In contrast, others studies showed that oligomers of alpha-synuclein (pre-aggregates) are more toxic than aggregates (Kaufmann et al., 2016; Lam et al., 2016; Deas et al., 2016; Lorenzen and Otzen 2014). In addition, it has been suggested that aggregate formation is a protective mechanism to prevent cell death (Mahul-Mellier et al., 2015; Arawaka et al., 2014; Danzer and McLean, 2011; Kaganovich et al., 2008).

The toxicity of alpha-synuclein oligomers has been studied in vivo, using animal models, and in vitro, using cells with induced overexpression of alpha-synuclein or with induced expression of A53T or A30P alpha-synuclein. Yeast or mammalian cells have been used to attempt to understand the oligomerization and aggregation process. These cell models have shown that aggregation is well-regulated process to prevent cell death (Rusmini et al., 2015; Rubinsztein, 2006; Chiti and Dobson, 2006; Sherman and Goldberg, 2001). Experiments with both mutated forms of alpha-synuclein revealed that the oligomeric β-sheet-rich secondary structure of alpha-synuclein is highly toxic and is crucial for the development of PD pathology (Sharon et al., 2013; Conway et al., 2010; Lee and Trojanowski, 2006; Lee et al., 2002).

During PD pathogenesis, soluble oligomers, with high membrane-binding affinities, are thought to spread among neurons and glia cells with the seeding oligomers acting like prions (Miklya et al., 2014). In this theory, PD is considered a prion-like disease, comparable to prion diseases such as bovine transmissible spongiform encephalopathy in animals and Creutzfeld-Jacob disease in humans. Interestingly, studies on post-mortem brains of PD patients that did receive a fetal tissue graft 10-15 years ago, revealed that Lewy body-like structures were present in the graft tissue, suggesting that alpha-synuclein, in a prion-like way, had entered the graft cells from the surrounding host cells (Helwig et al., 2016; Rey et al., 2016; Dikiy and Eliezer, 2012; Danzer et al., 2009; Li et al., 2008).

Experiments using animal models to study prion-like property of alpha-synuclein revealed that animals treated with alpha-synuclein fibrils showed the formation of alpha-synuclein aggregates and the development of synucleinopathy, including concomitant deficits in synaptic function. In addition, cultured cells internalize alpha-synuclein added to the culture media which appeared to promote aggregate formation. These aggregates can be secreted from cells via exocytosis and subsequently internalized by other neurons in culture via endocytosis, thus initiating a spreading cycle of seeding alpha-synuclein and aggregate formation. Holmqvist and collaborators (2014) revealed that monomeric, oligomeric or fibrillar alpha-synuclein can be transported from the enteric system to the brain via the vagus nerve using the slow and fast intracellular microtubule transport system. These results suggest an intimate link between the translocation of alpha-synuclein seems to be essential for aggregate formation in familial as well as sporadic PD (Lööv et al., 2016; McCann et al., 2016; Paumier et al., 2015; Luk et al., 2012a; Luk et al., 2012b; Luk 2009; Volpicelli-Daley et al., 2011; Sidhu et al., 2004).

Neurodegeneration is a complex and multifactorial process in PD. The presence of aggregates and oligomers as cited above, can lead to cell death, but the mechanisms underlying alpha-synuclein toxicity remain unclear. Investigations concerning the toxicity of alpha-synuclein showed that the disturbance of the ubiquitin-proteasome system and the function of lysosomes also are involved (Yerbury et al., 2016; Su and Niu, 2015; Xu et al., 2015; Korczyn and Hassin-Baer,
2015; Chu et al., 2011). Moreover, concomitant impairment of mitochondria function generates oxidative stress (Guerra et al., 2016; Ghio et al., 2016; Qian et al., 2008). In PD, the activity of the mitochondrial complexes I and IV is preferentially affected in substantia nigra, leading to an increase of ROS (Reeve et al., 2015; Subramaniam et al., 2014; Binukumar et al., 2010; Przedborski, 2007).

## 1.6. The role of ROS in PD

ROS represent a set of molecules derived from the partial reduction of oxygen. Among ROS molecules there are the superoxide anion, hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>), the hydroxyl radical and others. In physiological conditions, the role of ROS is thought to maintain cellular homeostasis since it can participate in modulating the cell cycle, in apoptosis, as well as in the signaling of NGF (nerve growth factor) and EGF (epidermal growth factor). Therefore, ROS also modulates growth, differentiation and cell survival (Chen et al., 2016; D'Autreaux and Toledano, 2007; Droge, 2002; Burhans and Heintz, 2009). However, in high levels, ROS are toxic and the response by antioxidants is not enough to maintain a normal redox homeostasis in the cell. Consequently, RNA/DNA (including mitochondrial DNA) oxidation and destabilization of replication and repair processes can occur, affecting cell-signaling, the ubiquination and proteasome system, leading to oxidative stress and cell death (Fischer et al., 2016; Kharel et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2016; Gosh et al., 2012).

The term "oxidative stress" has been widely discussed. Halliwell and Gutteridge (2006), defined oxidative stress as a disequilibrium between the production of ROS or reactive nitrogen species (RNS), and the efficiency of removal of ROS and/or RNS including reparation of cellular damage. Alternatively, in the same year, Jones (2006), defined oxidative stress as a perturbation in the control and signaling involved between ROS and RNS and antioxidants. This last definition

seems more appropriate, since it recognizes the role of  $H_2O_2$  and antioxidants, such as GSH, and their signaling pathways.

 $H_2O_2$  is a less toxic form of ROS than the superoxide anion, and both catalase and glutathione in the oxidized form (GPx) can degrade  $H_2O_2$ . Alternatively, deficits of  $H_2O_2$  degradation can lead to a reaction of this molecule with ferrous iron, generating a hydroxyl radical that is very toxic (Gammela et al., 2016; Labunskyy and Gladyshev, 2013). ROS can be generated as a consequence of various cellular processes such as the accumulation of alpha-synuclein or the presence of mutated proteins in cellular compartments such as the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) during stress. Notwithstanding, ROS are produced mainly in the electron transport chain at the inner mitochondrial membrane (Chen et al., 2016; Penke et al., 2016; Blesa et al., 2015; Santos et al., 2014; Santos et al., 2009; Turrens, 2003).

Mitochondria are crucial for the maintenance of healthy neurons, since these organelles are responsible for the producing energy (ATP); moreover, mitochondria DNA encodes for 7 essentials proteins of the respiratory chain (Devi et al., 2008; Mootha et al., 2003). Mitochondria are involved in the regulation of apoptosis, and the homeostasis of calcium and ROS levels. In normal functioning mitochondria, the electron chain generates a molecular cascade through respiratory chain. This cascade induces a gradient of protons over the mitochondria inner membrane, which is used for ATP synthesis. Electrons are extracted from reduced substrates and are transferred to molecular oxygen ( $O_2$ ), through a chain of enzymatic complexes (I and IV). In the last step of the electron transport chain, cytochrome c oxidase (complex IV) completely reduces  $O_2$  in water, without any formation of oxygen radicals. However, mainly in cases of mitochondria dysfunction, partial reduction of  $O_2$  is observed, generating the radical superoxide anion. It is estimated that about 0.1%-0.5% of consumed  $O_2$  by mitochondria are partially reduced, consequently forming the radical superoxide anion. This radical can be dismuted in H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and O<sub>2</sub> by the Cu/Zn-SOD1 enzyme in the intermembrane space, or in the mitochondria matrix by Mn-SOD2 (Quirós et al., 2016; El-

Hattab and Scaglia, 2016; Arun and Donmez, 2016; Migdalska and Schapira, 2016; Lopert and Patel, 2016).

Mitochondria dysfunction is present during normal aging, leading to higher levels of ROS that accelerate alpha-synuclein aggregation and dopamine depletion, and so contributing to triggering neurodegeneration (Coxhead et al., 2016; Khan, 2016; Macconi et al., 2016; Fang et al., 2016; Kuter et al., 2016; Pandia et al., 2015; Kong et al., 2014; Navarro and Boveris, 2010). Especially dopaminergic (DA) neurons from the substantia nigra compacta (SNc) are susceptible to oxidative stress present during aging. In order to try to explain this susceptibility to ROS, some investigators proposed a theory, the free radical theory, based on a hypothesis formulated in 1950 by Denham Harman. According to this hypothesis, accumulated ROS causes damage in macromolecules which consequently leads to neurodegeneration (Zhao et al., 2016; Harman, 1956). During aging, the redox state of the brain is disturbed by a decreasing of antioxidants such as glutathione (GSH), contributing to ROS toxicity leading to all effects described above including genetic mitochondrial mutations, protein damage and ultimately the development of neurodegenerative diseases such as PD (Yuan et al., 2015; Currais and Maher, 2013; Zuo and Motherwell, 2013; Kudo et al., 1990).

## **1.7. Dopaminergic neurons**

DA neurons from the SNc seem to be more vulnerable than other neurons (from other regions) to increased ROS levels that occur during normal aging. This specific property might be explained by their unique high metabolism. The reason that these neurons show a high metabolism is related to their autonomous activity as a kind of pacemaker, including during the absence of synapses. In the majority of neurons, Na<sup>+</sup> channels present in the membrane are responsible for changing the membrane potential, but in DA neurons this process involves Ca<sup>++</sup> channels. As a

consequence, DA neurons have a huge influx of  $Ca^{++}$ . To compensate this high amount of intracellular  $Ca^{++}$ . DA neurons increases their metabolism and endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and mitochondria start storing this "excessive" amount of  $Ca^{++}$  in order to re-establish the homeostasis (Duda et al., 2016; Dragicevic et al., 2014; Yabuki et al., 2014).

Under normal conditions, DA neurons are already exposed to high concentrations of ROS inherent to the dopamine metabolism, that includes a high concentration of iron generating ROS through Fenton reactions. Furthermore, DA neurons show a low concentration of antioxidants (Reeve et al., 2014). Human DA neurons located in the SN have a thin unmyelinated axon and a huge number of synaptic terminals (about 1 million per cell) which consume a large amount of energy; therefore, a considerable number of mitochondria are needed locally to support proper synaptic activity (Matsuda et al., 2009; Orimo et al., 2011).

In general, cells have specific protectors against ROS, which can be enzymatic or nonenzymatic. Among enzymes that participate in the redox metabolism, SOD (superoxide dismutase), GPx (glutathione peroxidase), catalase and PRxs (peroxiredoxins) are the main ones studied. Nonenzymatic ones include vitamin C (ascorbic acid), vitamin E (tocopherol), GSH, N-acetyl-Lcysteine, among others. These non-enzymatic antioxidants act mainly as chelators of metals, as blockers of peroxidation, or as components of cycles of oxi-reduction (Borella and Varela, 2004; Bonnefoy et al., 2002; Gilgun-Sherki et al., 2001). Dopaminergic neurons also have their own antioxidants and/or specific pathways of antioxidant action.

The dopamine transporter DAT is considered a selective protector of dopaminergic neurons against ROS produced in the dopamine metabolism. Oxidized dopamine is taken up by DAT at the nerve terminal, where dopamine is repackaged into synaptic vesicles. However, the level and activity of DAT decrease during aging leaving SN consequently more vulnerable to oxidative stress (Shingai et al., 2014; Emborg et al., 1998; Harrington et al., 1996).

Neuromelanin is a pigment responsible for the characteristic coloration of the substantia

nigra, and it has antioxidant properties. This pigment is present in both DA neurons from the SN and noradrenergic neurons located in the locus coeruleus. In addition, to dopamine and dopamine metabolites, various other proteins and lipids can be found in neuromelanin. The antioxidant properties of intraneuronal neuromelanin are thought to be related to its capacity to store metal, protecting the SN against oxidative stress (Clewett et al., 2016; Reimão et al., 2016; Zucca et al., 2015). During aging, the level of neuromelanin decreases which is thought to contribute to the development of PD. Moreover, dying dopaminergic neurons are thought to release neuromelanin, activating neuroglia and starting neuroinflammation, which is another characteristic of PD. Some investigators claimed that neuromelanin is directly involved in PD pathogenesis, since its decrease *leads to GSH* levels decrease and collapses mitochondria membrane potential, consequently leading to dopaminergic neurons depletion (Zucca et al., 2014; Naoi et al., 2008; Naoi et al., 2009).

GSH (glutathione) is considered a nonselective agent against ROS and the main thiol antioxidant in the entire brain, including the SN. GSH can neutralize ROS and reactive nitrogen species. Its antioxidant mechanism involves the reduction of the reactive species using the GPx enzyme. In this reduction reaction, GSH is converted into glutathione disulfide (GSSG); subsequently GSSG is reduced into GSH by glutathione reductase (GR) which uses electrons from NADPH. Besides that, the conjugation of GSH with electrophilic compounds mediated by glutathione-S-transferase (GST) and the subsequent elimination of these conjugated compounds, protect cells against toxic products generated by the cellular metabolism. During neurodegeneration, the redox state of cells can be altered increasing the reduction of GSH into GSSG. Whence, the cellular ratio between GSH/GSSG is widely used to indicate the redox state of cells (Flohé, 2016; Fang et al., 2016; Dickinson and Forman, 2002; Drigen, 2000, Griffith, 1999).

Interestingly, most studies about GSH levels showed that during aging the GSH levels decrease. Furthermore, GSH levels are more decreased in PD patients' brains compared to healthy aged brain, contributing to exacerbated oxidative stress, damaging SN (Zhou et al., 2015; Smeye

and Smeye, 2013; Sian et al., 1994).

#### 1.8. Mitochondria dysfunction in PD

The average number of mitochondria per synaptic terminal is about 10; therefore, in total, each dopaminergic neuron can have more than 10 million mitochondria. Thus, mitochondria dysfunction will inevitably contribute to an increase in the amount of ROS in dopaminergic neurons, especially because about 0.2-2% of total oxygen, consumed in normal conditions, is naturally converted into free radicals in the mitochondria (Maharjan et al., 2016; Richter, 1992).

During the process of energy production by mitochondria, unpaired electrons are formed, mainly in the complexes I and III, facilitating the production of ROS which can accelerate aging and activate antioxidant enzymes like SOD and GPx, and antioxidant components like DAT (dopamine transporter), VMTA2 (vesicular monoamine transporter 2, which drives dopamine from the intracellular medium to synaptic vesicles), among others (Scialò et al., 2016; Lenaz et al., 2016; Forkink et al., 2015; Oka et al., 2015). Several studies have claimed that complex I disruption increases ROS levels in the matrix of mitochondria and in the cytosol, leading to glutathione depletion and consequently cell death. In addition, it has been shown that the level of ROS increases quickly throughout tissues, including the PD brain and platelets of PD patients in cybrid models (Abeti et al., 2016; Arduíno et al., 2015; Bronstein et al., 2015; Bender et al., 2006; Orth and Schapira, 2002).

To analyze the production of ROS in relation to mitochondria dysfunction, several studies used experimental animals and administered drugs that specifically block complex I of the mitochondrial electron transport chain. Among these set of drugs, MPTP and rotenone are the ones that have been shown toxic for dopaminergic neurons in humans who were unintentionally chronically exposed to them and consequently developed PD (Blesa and Przedborski, 2014; Weisskopf et al., 2010; Burns et al., 1983; Ballard et al., 1985; Ramsay et al., 1991; Manning-Bog et al., 2002; Tanner 1989; Di Monte et al., 2002). Moreover, the protection selectively offered in dopaminergic neurons by for instance DAT and VMAT2 and nonselectively by SOD and GPx is downregulated in PD. This promotes an unbalance between the prevention of ROS toxicity and the production of ROS, leading to oxidative damage of proteins, nucleic acids and lipids, which are hallmark of PD (Pan et al., 2015; Nordström et al., 2015).

The mitochondria electron transport chain is the source of 90% of ROS produced in cells and is localized close to mtDNA (mitochondrial DNA), facilitating the emerging of mutations at mtDNA; it should be noted that mtDNA is not protected by histones and its replication cycle since their propagation might cause somatic mosaicism. Consequently, mutated mtDNA needs to be repaired quickly, otherwise, these mutations could be propagated causing somatic mosaicism, which is increased with aging (Zhao et al., 2016; Leman et al., 2015; Wang et al., 1998; Fayet et al., 2002).

Compared to other tissues, the brain appears to be more susceptible to mtDNA mutations, especially the SN: more than 40% of all deletions in mtDNA has been observed to occur in the SN in healthy sixty-year-old subjects (Ameur et al., 2011; Bender et al., 2006). Mutations in mtDNA and/or impairment of electron transport chain lead to mitochondria dysfunction and consequently energy depletion. A decreased energy production compromises the repair of damaged mitochondria and the quality control of mitochondria, making mitochondria an easy target for degradation (mitophagy) (Lauri et al., 2014). Damaged or depolarized mitochondria cause electron leakage, generating excessive ROS and releasing pro-apoptotic factors, such as cytochrome C, to initiate cell death (Harischandra et al., 2015; Brustovetsky et al., 2002). Beyond, electron chain inhibitors, impairing complex I, and they can interact with alpha-synuclein, especially with mutated forms of the protein which implies in ROS increasing. In the presence of rotenone, damage caused by mutated alpha-synuclein at complex I is potentiated. Curiously, basal expression of alpha-synuclein has been shown to protect against excessive ROS generation (Byers et al., 2011; Choong et al., 2011;

Nguyen et al., 2011; Betarbet et al., 2000).

Mitochondria form a highly interconnected network throughout neuron and its dynamics involves continuous autophagic destruction, via a macroautophagy process called mitophagy. The maintenance of proper mitochondrial function involves fusion and fission processes that alter mitochondrial morphology (van der Bliek et al., 2013; Bereiter-Hahn and Voth, 1994). Deficits in the fusion or fission machinery cause aggregation and loss of directed movement impairing proper migration of mitochondria into neurites. Furthermore, investigations on the impairment of fusion/fission revealed the spontaneous generation of mtDNA mutations, as demonstrated in a set of neurodegenerative disorders (Chen and Chan, 2009; Chen et al., 2003; Becker et al., 2009).

During high metabolic activity or stress, the mitochondria fusion process leads to an increase in the density of cristae allowing maximization of ATP production (Westermann, 2012; Youle and van der Bliek, 2012). The fission process is important for the transportation of mitochondria to regions with a high energy demand. In addition, this process is also involved in the segregation of impaired mitochondria from the network enabling their degradation through mitophagy (Youle and van der Bliek, 2012; Otera et al., 2013). Therefore, the balance between fission and fusion and mitophagy processes are essential for mitochondrial homeostasis. Particularly, aberrant fission has been shown to be involved in reduced mitochondria respiration, consequently leading to ATP (energy) depletion, increased ROS production and the release of pro-apoptotic factors during neurodegeneration (Archer, 2013; Jheng et al., 2012; Jahani-Asl et al., 2011; Detmer and Chan, 2007; Costa et al., 2010; Chen and Chan, 2009; Knott and Bossy-Wetzel, 2008; Burté et al., 2015; Yu et al., 2008; Chen et al., 2005).

Alpha-synuclein has been shown to interact with mitochondria membranes causing damage and changes in mitochondria fission and morphology (Nakamura et al., 2008; Nakamura et al., 2011). Alpha-synuclein plays a role in the maintenance of synaptic functionality, in the ubiquitinproteasome system and in the regulation of oxidative stress (Clayton and George, 1998; Nemani et al., 2010; Perez et al., 2002). In order to understand alpha-synuclein toxicity and to analyze the consequences for mitochondria dynamics, several models have been created in which alpha-synuclein was overexpressed or mutated forms of this protein were transfected. It was revealed that overexpression of alpha-synuclein inhibited the fusion of mitochondria membranes, disturbing the mitochondria cycle, which leads to fragmented or swollen mitochondria containing laminated bodies. Moreover, alpha-synuclein overexpression increased the colocalization of autophagosomes and mitochondria. Interestingly, siRNA-mediated knockdown of alpha-synuclein was able to prevent changes in mitochondria morphology resulting in elongated mitochondria (Hsu et al., 2000; Martin et al., 2006; Kamp et al., 2010; Ryan et al., 2015; Rostovtseva et al., 2015).

Mutations in alpha-synuclein may amplify mitochondria dysfunction. A53T alpha-synuclein colocalizes to the mitochondria membrane, disrupting complex I and interfering with the fission process and the autophagy machinery. However, mitophagy is blocked, leading to the appearance of fragmented mitochondria. Damaged mitochondria DNA and dysmorphic mitochondria were found in transgenic mice carrying A53T alpha-synuclein (Choubey et al., 2011; Chinta et al., 2011; Martin et al., 2006). These findings may have been a consequence of the altered affinity to membranes of mutated alpha-synuclein, since alpha-synuclein has been shown to interact mainly with outer mitochondria membrane. But, in specific conditions involving enough ATP supply and pH changes, alpha-synuclein can migrate to inner mitochondria membrane quickly changing mitochondria membrane potential, inhibiting complex I and leading to aggregation and fragmentation of the organelle (Cole et al., 2008; Liu et al., 2009; Shavali et al., 2008; Zhang et al., 2008; Devi et al., 2008; Mootha et al., 2003).

A proper mitochondria membrane potential is important for maintaining a normal ER morphology. In case of an alteration in the membrane potential of mitochondria, ER fragments have been shown to release calcium, causing high intracellular calcium levels, that leads to increased ROS levels. These findings suggest that both ER stress and mitochondria dysfunction contribute to

dopaminergic degeneration. Interestingly, mitochondria morphologic changes, caused by interaction of alpha-synuclein with the mitochondria membrane, are exacerbated in the presence of mutated alpha-synuclein like A53T alpha-synuclein. On the other hand, A30P alpha-synuclein does not exacerbate these changes, since this protein does not interact with mitochondria membrane (Bao et al., 2016; Ghio et al., 2016; Nakamura et al., 2011).

As cited above, mitochondria and ER are affected by alpha-synuclein toxicity. More research is needed on the crosstalk between both organelles which may lead to a better understanding of their dysfunction. Mitochondria and ER possess membrane contact sites (Figure 8), which allow a direct contact between organelles and exchange of metabolites, of signalization of organelle dynamics, of ATP metabolism, of protein folding and autophagy (van Vliet et al., 2014; Vance, 2014; Vishnu et al., 2014). Moreover, it has been shown that both organelles form contacts in synapses, promoting the calcium flow and synaptic activity (Krols et al., 2016; Mironov and Symonchuk, 2006). Together these studies strongly suggest that contact between mitochondria and ER are essentials to neuron survival.



**Figure 8**: 3D morphology of ER-mitochondria contact sites. Mouse embryonic fibroblasts were imaged using a Zeiss Auriga Crossbeam focused ion beam scanning electron microscope (FIB-SEM). 3D reconstruction of a large cellular volume. The complete reconstruction of two mitochondria (transparent green) and their ER-mitochondria contact sites (magenta) is shown. A contact site is defined as a region where the ER and the mitochondrial membranes are in closer proximity than 30 nm. It is clear that a single mitochondrion makes multiple contacts with the ER and that these contacts are diverse in size, ranging from punctate sites to large patches of the outer mitochondrial membrane being juxtaposed to the ER. b–e Represent different examples of scanning electron micrographs extracted from the volume illustrating a section of the mitochondria and their contacts with the ER. The reconstructed mitochondria depicted in a are shown in transparent green. Magenta arrowheads mark the borders of the ER-mitochondria contact sites. The position of these slices is depicted in blue in a. Scale bar 200 nm (Krols et al., 2016).

It has been reported that mitochondria fission processes occur near the contact sites with the

ER even in the absence of mitochondria fission factors. Besides that, the mitofusins MFN1 and MFN2, which are proteins related to mitochondria fusion, depend for their activity on Miro1, a crucial protein associated with mitochondria trafficking and dynamics. Interestingly, Miro 1 is localized in sites of contact between ER and mitochondria. In addition, the yeast Miro ortholog, Gem, has been shown to participate in mitochondrial and endoplasmic division through interaction with membrane contact sites between organelles (Rowland and Voeltz, 2012; Misko et al., 2010; Fransson et al., 2006). The mitophagy process (mitochondria autophagy) also seems to be dependent of mitochondria and ER membrane contact sites. Several ATG proteins, including the ATG8 mammalian ortholog LC3, are found at mitochondria and ER contact sites. Moreover, it has been demonstrated that in yeast or mammalian cells, mitochondria and ER contact sites form a platform allowing mitophagosome biogenesis and mitochondria degradation (Böckler et al., 2014; Hamasaki et al., 2013).

Investigations focusing on mitochondria and ER contacts in PD, revealed that alphasynuclein is located at mitochondria and ER contact sites. Furthermore, overexpression of alphasynuclein appeared to increase mitochondria and ER contacts, affecting calcium transfer between them. However, in the presence of the A30P or A53T mutated types of alpha-synuclein, contacts between both organelles are inhibited, even more when Lewy bodies are present. (Guardia-Laguarta et al., 2014; Calì et al., 2012). This diminished contact between both organelles induces defective mitochondria fission. Since the presence of overexpressed or mutated alpha-synuclein also leads to blockage of autophagy, accumulations of mitochondria can be found (Manor et al., 2015). Therefore, inhibition of autophagy caused by alpha-synuclein, also increases in ROS levels by damaged mitochondria and ER stress, which will eventually lead to cell death.

Mitochondria dysfunction can cause, but also can be caused by, ER stress. Post-mortem brains from patients with PD and PD animal models both showed signs of ER stress. Overexpressed or mutated alpha-synuclein accumulates in the ER impairing protein folding and provokes stress in

this organelle. It has been reported that A53T alpha-synuclein increases levels of ROS by impairing mitochondria and ER function, causing cell death (Colla et al., 2012 Smith et al., 2005).

Stressed ER also generates ROS, decreasing GSH levels and transferring excessive calcium to mitochondria that also start to generate more ROS. GSH is the main molecule responsible for maintaining the redox state in ER and mitochondria. In case of accumulation of alpha-synuclein in the ER, GSH has been shown to oxidize activating the unfold protein response (UPR). In order to restore ER homeostasis, the protein Ire1 $\alpha$  (inositol-requiring enzyme 1 alpha) activates UPR, which in turn activates chaperons such as Pd1 (protein disulfide isomerase) that increase the folding and secretion of proteins to be degraded and thus reestablishing the ER redox state. However, some proteins such as alpha-synuclein disrupt both the ubiquitin proteasome system and autophagy leading to ER stress and UPR activation. Secretion of alpha-synuclein promotes accumulation of the protein, contributing to formation of Lewy bodies (Labbadia and Morimoto, 2015; Brigelius-Flohé and Maiorino, 2013 Vembar and Brodsky, 2008; Scrhoder, 2008).

Pd1 is the main protein involved in the folding protein machinery of ER. The protein is found overexpressed in cases of ER stress, therefore, being one of the main markers of ER stress. During the protein folding process, Pdi oxidizes the protein generating disulfide bonds in proteins that become reduced. The enzyme Ero1 (endoplasmic reticulum oxidoreductase 1) oxidizes Pdi, reactivating this protein that becomes ready for another cycle of protein folding. Once reduced, the protein Ero1 transfers oxygen to molecular oxygen generating H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>. In addition, accumulated protein in ER favors calcium leakage to cytosol (Feissner et al., 2009; Malhotra and Kaufman, 2007; Tu and Weissman, 2004; Hayne et al., 2004).

Mitochondria also play a role in calcium buffering; mitochondrial uptake of excessive calcium released from the ER, consequently increases its metabolism as well as the production of ROS. Further, folding process (in ER) requires high levels of ATP. Thereby, prolongated UPR activation promotes high levels of ROS (Malhotra and Kaufman, 2007).

It has been demonstrated that in DA neurons UPR activates *XBP1*, yeast ortholog *Hac1*, which plays a role in activating gene expression to promote neuron survival. Alternatively, in the long-term presence of excessive or misfolded proteins, Hac1 can activate apoptotic genes such as CHOP that drives neurons to death. Besides that,  $Ire1\alpha$  promotes the alternative splicing of HAC1 mRNA, which is also considered one of the main markers of ER stress. Therefore, UPR plays a paradoxical role in neurons: initially it activates mechanisms to ameliorate ER stress, however in long term UPR activation leads to cell death (Zeeshan et al., 2016; Krols et al., 2016; Mercado et al., 2016; Grimm, 2012; Delic et al., 2012; Szegezdi et al., 2006; Nikawa et al., 1996).

All these reports make clear that the crosstalking between mitochondria and ER is important to maintain homeostasis in these organelles, but that it can also trigger cell death.

Alpha-synuclein harms mitochondria in several ways. Emerging studies regarding the first steps of neurodegeneration have claimed that alterations in intracellular trafficking are essential to neuron survival. Experiments in cells with different levels of alpha-synuclein expression in the absence of aggregates, revealed that high levels of this protein can lead to hyperphosphorylation of tau protein, causing destabilization of microtubules and so impairing intracellular trafficking is one of vesicles and organelles. These findings suggest that alteration in intracellular trafficking is one of the first steps of neurodegeneration and can favor aggregates formation. It has been demonstrated that the disrupted trafficking of mitochondria impairs ATP supply at specific sites such as synaptic terminals; moreover, it impairs the generation of new/healthy mitochondria by fusion and fission processes at the soma (Creedle et al., 2015; Nguyen et al., 2014; Kaul et al., 2011; Billingsley e Kincaid, 1997).

# 1.9. Impaired intracellular trafficking in PD

Mitochondria quality control is essential to neuronal survival. This process involves the

trafficking of mitochondria towards neuron regions demanding much energy and the return of the mitochondria to the soma for recycling/repair, since that is where fusion and fission processes preferentially occur. Axons of dopaminergic neurons of the SN account for 95% of the cell volume and recruit a significant portion of its energy. Anterograde mitochondria trafficking concerns the axonal transportation of mitochondria from the cell body to the synaptic terminals. For recycling or in cases of mitochondria damage and dysfunction, the mitochondria need to be retrogradely transported to the cell body, where mitophagy involves, lysosomes and the ubiquitin -proteasome processes to degrade damaged mitochondria (Lehmann et al., 2016; Gumeni and Trougakos, 2016; Florenzano, 2012; Cheng et al., 2010; De Vos et al., 2008; Brookes et al., 2004).

Since neurons are polarized cells and possess long axons, intracellular trafficking is crucial to neuronal survival, morphology and function (Hirokawa et al., 2010). Motor proteins from the kinesin family (KIFs), and other proteins like dynein, dynactin are responsible for the maintenance of intracellular trafficking along the microtubules (Hirokawa 2010; Hirokawa, 1998). The direction of trafficking is dependent of the polarity of specific sites. In the axons endings and distal dendrites microtubule polarity is positive. However, in the proximal dendrites the polarity is mixed between positive and negative, while in the soma microtubular polarity is positive at the distal portion after microtubule organizing center (MTOC) (Xiao et al., 2016).

Injuries in the cytoskeleton are responsible for the changes in the rearrangement and movement of organelles in several neurodegenerative diseases such as PD. Microtubules participate in diverse cellular functions like motility, cell division, transportation of organelles, vesicles and proteins, in the maintenance of cellular morphology and in the general organization of the cytoplasm. Microtubular dynamics are regulated by the concentration of free tubulin. Intriguingly, in PD, alpha-synuclein and Lewy bodies were found to be colocalized with free tubulin and with the tubulin polymerization promoting protein (TPPP), suggesting that alpha-synuclein might be involved in the harming of intracellular trafficking through microtubules stabilization impairment

(Szunyogh et al., 2015; Oláh et al., 2011; Lee et al., 2006; Wade, 2009; Morris and Hollenbeck, 1995).

A growing body of literature has suggested that disrupted axonal transport is intimately involved in triggering PD (Hunn et al., 2015; Cheng et al., 2010). It has been suggested that alphasynuclein impairs mitochondria axonal transport by disturbing the expression of motor proteins, like the kinesins/dynein and the miro/milton complex. In addition, alpha-synuclein also seems to disrupt their interaction with microtubules (Gilley et al., 2012; Sterky et al., 2011; Yang et al., 2010; Bueler, 2009). Other studies demonstrated that during neurodegeneration, alterations in motor proteins might occur with consequences for proper mitochondria trafficking (Cooper et al., 2012; Cai et al., 2005). In our previous studies, we showed that, before protein aggregation, expression of the anterograde motor proteins KIF1Ba and KIF5 as well as of the retrograde motor proteins dynein, dynactin and syntaphilin were altered in cell cultures and in animals treated with rotenone. In addition, we demonstrated that mitochondria trafficking was synchronized with the expression of anterograde motor proteins and that alterations in these proteins lead to specific changes in mitochondria trafficking. We have also found that the expression in the expression of Rabs 1, 3, 4, 5, 6, 11 and 32 was altered before protein aggregation in aged rats treated with rotenone (manuscript in preparation). Together, these studies strongly suggest that altered intracellular trafficking is an important part of PD pathogenesis.

To transport cargos such as mitochondria, motor proteins associate with the adaptor proteins Trak (drosophila ortholog Milton) and Miro, which are attached to the outer mitochondria membrane, as illustrated by Figure 9 (Devine 2016).



**Figure 9**: The Miro- Trak (Milton) adaptor complex mediates KIF5-driven mitochondrial transport. Adapted from Sheng (2014).

Interestingly, experiments in which the expression of Miro was modified demonstrated that increased Miro expression leads to increase in mitochondria transport, indicating that this protein can regulate mitochondria dynamics (Chen and Sheng, 2013). In addition, loss of Miro caused defective trafficking in both directions, suggesting that Miro is an adaptor for both anterograde transport (via interaction with KIF5) and retrograde transport (via interaction with dynein). (Russo et al., 2009; Guo et al., 2005). Furthermore, studies on mitochondria fragmentation and interconnectivity showed that non-functional Miro led to mitochondria trafficking impairment and fragmentation, while overexpression of Miro increased mitochondria trafficking and interconnectivity, resulting in an increased mitochondria length in neurons (MacAskill et al., 2010; MacAskill et al., 2009; Fransoon et al., 2006).

Miro is a calcium ( $Ca^{+2}$ ) sensor containing 4 calcium-binding EF-hands. It has been shown that increased levels of calcium dissociate motor proteins from Miro and Trak, blocking mitochondria trafficking (see Figure 10). This process is crucial for the anchoring of mitochondria at specific sites where much ATP is required, for instance at the synapses. When ADP slows down, stationary mitochondria move to another site with low ATP levels. However, the impairment of mitochondrial trafficking can lead to dysfunction of mitochondria at the site where they anchored, causing their increased generation of ROS (Klosowiak et al., 2013; Liu et al., 2009; Wang and Schwarz, 2009; Saotome et al., 2008; Mironov, 2007).



**Figure 10**: Models of  $Ca^{2+}$ -dependent mitochondrial arrest. According to the first model (A), calcium binding to Miro EF-hands induces the release of the protein from the kinesin motors, determining the detachment of the mitochondrion from the microtubule tracks. In the second model (B), calcium binding to Miro promotes the detachment of the kinesin motors from the microtubules and the interaction of their motor domains with Miro, causing mitochondrial arrest. Adapted from Devine (2016).

It has been reported that Miro also interacts with Mfn (mitofusin) proteins, which play a role in mitochondria fusion. Intriguingly, mitochondrial trafficking is decreased in neurons in which MFN2 was knocked-out, suggesting that Miro and MFN work together in the regulation of mitochondria trafficking (Saotome et al., 2008). It is known that Miro is associated with the mitochondrial outer membrane; it coordinates the transport of mitochondria moving together with ER and it takes care that mitochondria stay close enough for the initiation of fusion or fission processes (Friedman et al., 2011). Once in contact, Mfn2 and 1 interact with Miro and both are required for proper axonal transport (Misko et al., 2010), suggesting association of these proteins and balanced trafficking are essential for the fusion process. Absence of Miro has been shown to exacerbate mitophagy. Curiously, transgenic Mfn2 knockdown mouse showed blocked mitophagy (Liu et al., 2012). It has been shown that ER provides lipids to the formation of membrane vesicles in autophagy (Axe et al., 2008). These lipids are transferred and accumulated at the outer mitochondria membrane before they are transported to the site of vesicle formation and mitophagy initiation (Hailey et al., 2010). However, alterations in Miro or MFN proteins can disturb these processes, revealing that both proteins are needed for proper fusion and mitophagy processes.

Damaged mitochondria are targeted to mitophagy via PINK1 signaling. Parkin forms a complex with PINK1 in the process of mitophagy and ubiquitinates substrates at the outer mitochondria membrane, including Miro, which triggers the mitophagy process. It has been suggested that Miro works like a receptor for both proteins, since Miro interacts with PINK1 and Parkin allowing their association with the outer mitochondria membrane. Moreover, damaged mitochondria require fast Miro ubiquitination mediated by Parkin. In addition, fibroblasts of patients carrying parkin mutations showed altered Miro turnover, suggesting that Miro is intrinsically involved in the regulation of fusion/fission and mitophagy events (Birsa et al., 2014; Kazlauskaite et al., 2014; Hardy, 2010).

As cited previously, alpha-synuclein toxicity in the ER and mitochondria can change calcium levels in cytosol. However, the mechanisms underlying this process in PD are poorly understood. Furthermore, Dučić (2015) demonstrated that alpha-synuclein plays a role in the regulation of intraneuronal calcium levels. Together these findings suggest that alpha-synuclein impairs mitochondria dynamics and mitophagy, leading to disrupted mitochondria trafficking via the Miro signaling.

The specificity of intracellular trafficking of organelles among cellular compartments is strictly regulated by small GTPases (Rabs) from the Ras super family of proteins. Besides that, Rabs are responsible for the correctly attach of motor proteins and cargos, for the motility of cargos and their delivery to the correct destination. Furthermore, Rabs can be involved in alpha-synuclein toxicity. It has been shown that extracellular alpha-synuclein also contributes to the formation of Lewy bodies. Moreover, Sung and collaborators (2001) revealed that alpha-synuclein added to the culture medium is internalized by cells via an endocytic pathway that is dependent of Rab5. Mechanisms behind alpha-synuclein propagation are unclear. However, a recent study demonstrated that alpha-synuclein can be propagated by the traveling of lysosome vesicles along tunneling nanotubules from cell to another cell (Abounit et al., 2016).

Rab 5 is a multifunctional protein that regulates the first steps in endocytic pathways, in anchoring, trafficking, and fusion of endosomal membranes and in recycling through autophagy (Olchowik and Miaczynska, 2009). In addition, mutated Rab5 leads to an accumulation of enlarged early and late endosome/phagosomes and defects in the regulation of trafficking of endosomes/phagosomes to lysosomes involving Rab7 (Girard et al., 2014; Wegner et al., 2010; Torres et al., 2010). Rab 5 has been suggested to be involved in trafficking of early endosomes/phagosomes. After vesicle maturation, Rab 7 coordinates the fusion of late endosomes with autophagosomes and LC3 requirement (Wang et al., 2016). Together, these findings indicate that Rab 5 is involved in the formation and transportation of immature endosomes/phagosomes and LC3 signaling, contributing to the first steps of autophagy (Figure 11).



**Figure 11**: Involvement of Rab5 and Rab7 in vesicular trafficking associated with autophagy. Adapted from Lòpez de Armentia (2016).

Investigations on intracellular trafficking and autophagy dysfunction in neurodisorders, revealed that degradation via lysosomes is crucial for the proper, balanced axonal trafficking of vesicles and lysosomes. Further, impairment in intracellular trafficking leads to the accumulation of lysosome vesicles causing axonal swelling and neurite dystrophy. Other studies have shown that alterations in the endocytic pathway lead to an accumulation of endolysosomes (endosomes driven to lysosome) impairing autophagy and causing accumulating of alpha-synuclein (Magalhaes et al., 2016; Peric and Annaert, 2015; Lee et al., 2011).

Intracellular trafficking is essential to neuronal survival. Changes in mitochondria or lysosome vesicles can lead to autophagy dysfunction and ultimately cell death. The dysfunction of alpha-synuclein and mitochondria plays a major role in trafficking impairment. Rab5, LC3 and Miro play unique roles in endocytosis and trafficking of earlier endosomes, in autophagy and in the dynamics of mitochondria and ER. However, alpha-synuclein toxicity related to trafficking and Rabs, Miro or LC3 are poorly understood.

### 1.10. Models to study PD

In order to investigate PD pathology, a variety of models have been created to address the clinical, tissue, cellular and molecular characteristics of PD.

Animal models and primary cell cultures are widely used. Primary cell culture is a fast way to study single neurons. Animal models may provide insight in the systemic toxicity of alphasynuclein. Interestingly, investigations on alpha-synuclein trafficking showed that alpha-synuclein can be transported from the enteric system until the SN, where this protein accumulates and aggregates (Holmqvist et al., 2014). Obviously, this alpha-synuclein propagation could only be demonstrated in animal models with experimentally induced PD since animals do not develop naturally neurodegenerative diseases like PD.

SH-SY5Y cell line (neuroblastoma) is one of the most frequently used cellular models to study PD. It is a neuronal human cell line which can be quickly and inexpensively differentiated into neuron-like cells. In addition, chronic exposure to neurotoxins or overexpression of different types of alpha-synuclein can mimic a PD phenotype. Nevertheless, the line is derived from a malignant tumor and, therefore, its basic physiology is altered. In the analyses of experiments with the SH-SY5Y cell line, there should be awareness that the SH-SY5Y derived neurons are incomparable to true, mature human mature neuron (Kovalevich and Langford, 2013).

*S. cerevisiae* (budding yeast) have been considered an important model to study the cellular biology, biochemistry and genetics of eukaryotes. This organism shows cellular pathways, proteins and genes that are well conserved during evolution (Smith and Snyder, 2006). Approximately 30% of yeast genes have known human ortholog genes, allowing studies on them with respect to the

development of human diseases (Walberg, 2000). Furthermore, neurodegenerative diseases such as PD comprise the formation of protein aggregates, most often formed by protein misfolding processes. Mechanisms related to protein folding, oligomerization and aggregation can be studied in yeasts since protein quality control is conserved in these organisms (Ciaccioli et al., 2012; Khurana and Lindiquist, 2010). Therefore, yeast humanized models to study PD are also very well accepted (Franssens et a., 2013).

Ten years ago, Yamanaka demonstrated that somatic cells could be reprogrammed into pluripotent stem cells (Takahashi and Yamanaka, 2006). The possibility to generate these induced pluripotent stem cells (hiPSC) from patients and to differentiate them into any cell type (so also the cell type that is specifically affected in that patient) has presented a unique tool for studying the development of neurodegenerative disorders apart from other applications (Fig.12). In order to address mechanisms underlying PD, researchers have started to differentiate hiPSC from PD patients into dopaminergic neurons for the analysis of pathogenesis of PD; it is obvious that PD iPSC derived dopaminergic neurons provide a much more appropriate cell model than any of the PD cell models used so far. However, still a number of hurdles have to be taken related to the genetic and epigenetic signatures still present in iPSC-derived cells. Moreover, much more efficient differentiation protocols for DA neurons and particularly for their purification still have to be developed (Kang et al., 2016; Jacobs et al., 2014; Devine et al., 2011; Marchetto et al., 2010).

It is clear that most experimental models for PD have their limitations and draw-backs. The researcher needs to choose the model that is the most appropriate and accurate to answer his specific detailed research questions.



Fig. 1. The iPSC paradigm for modelling PD and other neurodegenerative diseases.

**Figure 12**: The iPSC paradigm for modeling PD and other neurodegenerative diseases (Jacobs et al., 2014).

# References

WHO http://www.who.int/ageing/en/ (2015).

http://www.pdf.org/en/parkinson\_statistics

http://medicalimages.allrefer.com/large/substantianigra-nigra-and-parkinson-disease.jpg

Aarsland D (2016) Cognitive impairment in Parkinson's disease and dementia with Lewy bodies. Parkinsonism Relat Disord. 2016 Jan;22 Suppl 1:S144-8. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2015.09.034.

Abeti R, Parkinson MH, Hargreaves IP, Angelova PR, Sandi C, Pook MA, Giunti P, Abramov AY (2016) 'Mitochondrial energy imbalance and lipid peroxidation cause cell death in Friedreich's ataxia'. Cell Death Dis. 2016 May 26;7:e2237. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2016.111.

Abounit S, Bousset L, Loria F, Zhu S, de Chaumont F, Pieri L, Olivo-Marin JC, Melki R, Zurzolo C (2016) Tunneling nanotubes spread fibrillar  $\alpha$ -synuclein by intercellular trafficking of lysosomes. EMBO J. 2016 Aug 22. pii: e201593411.

Ahn T. B., Kim S. Y., Kim J. Y., Park S. S., Lee D. S., Min H. J., Kim Y. K., et al. (2008) alpha-Synuclein gene duplication is present in sporadic Parkinson disease. Neurology 70, 43–49.

Ameur A, Stewart JB, Freyer C, Hagstrom E, Ingman M, Larsson NG, Gyllensten U (2011) Ultra-deep sequencing of mouse mitochondrial DNA: mutational patterns and their origins. PLoS Genet. 7, e1002028.

Arawaka S, Fukushima S, Sato H, Sasaki A, Koga K, Koyama S, Kato T (2014) Zonisamide attenuates  $\alpha$ -synuclein neurotoxicity by an aggregation-independent mechanism in a rat model of familial Parkinson's disease. PLoS One. 2014 Feb 20;9(2):e89076. Doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0089076.

Archer, S. (2013).Mitochondrial dynamics- mitochondrial fission and fusion in human diseases. N. Engl.J.Med. 369, 2236–2251.doi:10.1056/NEJMra 1215233

Arduíno DM, Esteves AR, Swerdlow RH, Cardoso SM (2015) A cybrid cell model for the assessment of the link between mitochondrial deficits and sporadic Parkinson's disease. Methods Mol Biol. 2015;1265:415-24. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-2288-8\_31.

Arun S, Liu L, Donmez G (2016) Mitochondrial Biology and Neurological Diseases. Curr Neuropharmacol. 2016;14(2):143-54.

Atik A, Stewart T, Zhang J (2016) Alpha-synuclein as a biomarker for Parkinson's disease. Brain Pathol. 2016 Mar 3. doi: 10.1111/bpa.12370.

Axe EL, Walker SA, Manifava M, Chandra P, Roderick HL, Habermann A, Griffiths G, Ktistakis NT (2008) Autophagosome formation from membrane compartments enriched in phosphatidylinositol 3-phosphate and dynamically connected to the endoplasmic reticulum. J Cell Biol. doi:10.1083/ jcb.200803137

Ballard PA, Tetrud JW, Langston JW (1985) Permanent human parkinsonism due to 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP): seven cases. Neurology 35, 949–956.

Bang Y, Kim KS, Seol W, Choi HJ (2016) LRRK2 interferes with aggresome formation for autophagic clearance. Mol Cell Neurosci. 2016 Sep;75:71-80. doi: 10.1016/j.mcn.2016.06.007.

Barker RA, Williams-Gray CH (2016) Review: The spectrum of clinical features seen with alpha synuclein pathology. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol. 2016 Feb;42(1):6-19. doi: 10.1111/nan.12303.

Barrio JR, Huang SC, Melega WP, Yu DC, Hoffman JM, Schneider JS, Satyamurthy N, Mazziotta JC, Phelps ME (1990) 6-[18F]fluoro-L-dopa probes dopamine turnover rates in central dopaminergic structures. J. Neurosci. Res. 27, 487–493.

Bartels T., Choi J. G., Selkoe D. J. (2011)  $\alpha$ -Synuclein occurs physiologically as a helically folded tetramer that resists aggregation. nature 477, 107–110.

Bao FX, Shi HY, Long Q, Yang L, Wu Y, Ying ZF, Qin DJ, Zhang J, Guo YP, Li HM, Liu XG (2016) Mitochondrial Membrane Potential-dependent Endoplasmic Reticulum Fragmentation is an Important Step in Neuritic Degeneration. CNS Neurosci Ther. 2016 Aug;22(8):648-60. doi: 10.1111/cns.12547. Epub 2016 Apr 15.

Becker T, Gebert M, Pfanner N, van der Laan M (2009) Biogenesis of mitochondrial membrane proteins. Curr Opin Cell Biol 21:484–493.

Bellucci A, Navarria L, Falarti E, Zaltieri M, Bono F, Collo G, Spillantini MG, Missale C, Spano P (2011) Redistribution of DAT/ $\alpha$ -synuclein complexes visualized by "in situ" proximity ligation assay in transgenic mice modelling early Parkinson's disease. PLoS One. 2011;6(12):e27959. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0027959. Epub 2011 Dec 7.

Bence NF, Sampat RM, Kopito RR (2001) Impairment of the ubiquitin-proteasome system by protein aggregation. Science. 2001 May 25;292(5521):1552-5.

Bender A, Krishnan KJ, Morris CM, Taylor GA, Reeve AK, Perry RH, Jaros E, Hersheson JS, Betts J, Klopstock T, Taylor RW, Turnbull DM (2006) High levels of mitochondrial DNA deletions in substantia nigra neurons in aging and Parkinson disease. Nat. Genet. 38, 515–517.

Benskey MJ, Perez RG, Manfredsson FP (2016) The contribution of alpha synuclein to neuronal survival and function Implications for Parkinson's Disease. J Neurochem. 2016 Feb 6. doi: 10.1111/jnc.13570.

Bereiter-Hahn, J.,andVöth,M.(1994).Dynamicsofmitochondriainlivingcells: shape changes, dislocations, fusion and fission of mitochondria. Microsc. Res. Tech. 27, 198–219. doi:10.1002/jemt.1070270303.

Betarbet R, Sherer TB, MacKenzie G, Garcia-Osuna M, Panov AV, Greenamyre JT (2000) Chronic systemic pesticide exposure reproduces features of Parkinson's disease. Nat Neurosci 3:1301–1306.

Beyer K., Lao J. I., Carrato C., Mate J. L., Lopez D., Ferrer I., Ariza A. (2004) Differential expression of alpha-synuclein isoforms in dementia with Lewy bodies. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol 30, 601–607.

Beyer K., Humbert J., Ferrer A., Lao J. I., Carrato C., Lopez D., Ferrer I., Ariza A. (2006) Low alphasynuclein 126 mRNA levels in dementia with Lewy bodies and Alzheimer disease. Neuroreport 17, 1327–1330.

Billingsley ML, Kincaid RL (1997) Regulated phosphorylation and dephosphorylation of tau protein: effects on microtubule interaction, intracellular trafficking and neurodegeneration. Biochem J 323 (Pt 3):577-591.

Binukumar BK, Bal A, Kandimalla RJ, Gill KD (2010) Nigrostriatal neuronal death following chronic dichlorvos exposure: crosstalk between mitochondrial impairments,  $\alpha$  synuclein aggregation, oxidative damage and behavioral changes. Mol Brain. 2010 Nov 13;3:35. doi: 10.1186/1756-6606-3-35.

Birsa, N., Norkett, R., Wauer, T., Mevissen, T.E.T., Wu, H.-C., Foltynie, T., Bhatia, K., Hirst, W.D., Komander, D., Plun-Favreau, H., Kittler, J.T., 2014. Lysine 27 ubiquitination of the mitochondrial transport

protein Miro is dependent on serine 65 of the Parkin ubiquitin ligase. J. Biol. Chem. 289, 14569–14582. http://dx.doi.org/10.1074/jbc. M114.563031.

Blesa J, Trigo-Damas I, Quiroga-Varela A, Jackson-Lewis VR (2015) Oxidative stress and Parkinson's disease. Front Neuroanat. 2015 Jul 8;9:91. doi: 10.3389/fnana.2015.00091.

Blesa J (2016) Vive la difference! Dissecting the diversity of midbrain dopamine neurons. Mov Disord. 2016 Jan;31(1):41. doi: 10.1002/mds.26487.

Blesa J, Przedborski S (2014) Parkinson's disease: animal models and dopaminergic cell vulnerability. Front Neuroanat. 2014 Dec 15;8:155. doi: 10.3389/fnana.2014.00155.

Böckler S, Westermann B (2014) Mitochondrial ER contacts are crucial for mitophagy in yeast. Dev Cell. doi:10.1016/j. devcel.2014.01.012

Bonnefoy, M; Drai, J.; Kostka, T. (2002). Antioxidants to slow aging, facts and perspectives. Presse Med. 31: 174–184.

Borella, M. L. L.; Varela, Q. D. (2004). Antioxidantes enzimáticos. In-Radicais livres e a resposta celular ao estresse oxidativo. ed. Salvador, M.; Henrique, J.A.P. da Ulbra, Canoas, pp. 35-50.

Brigelius-Flohé R, Maiorino M (2013) Glutathione peroxidases. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1830; 3289–3303.

Bronstein JM, Paul K, Yang L, Haas RH, Shults CW, Le T, Ritz B (2015) Platelet mitochondrial activity and pesticide exposure in early Parkinson's disease. Mov Disord. 2015 May;30(6):862-6. doi: 10.1002/mds.26164.

Brookes PS, Yoon Y, Robotham JL, Anders MW, Sheu SS (2004) Calcium, ATP, and ROS: a mitochondrial love-hate triangle. Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 287, C817–C833.

Brustovetsky, N.,Brustovetsky,T.,Jemmerson,R.,andDubinsky,J.(2002). Calcium-induced cytochrome c release from CNS mitochondria is associated with the permeability transition and rupture of the outer membrane. J. Neurochem. 80, 207–218.doi:10.1046/j.0022-3042.2001.00671.x

Bueler H (2009) Impaired mitochondrial dynamics and function in the pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease. Exp. Neurol. 218, 235–246.

Burns RS, Chiueh CC, Markey SP, Ebert MH, Jacobowitz DM, Kopin IJ (1983) A primate model of parkinsonism: selective destruction of dopaminergic neurons in the pars compacta of the substantia nigra by N-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6- tetrahydropyridine. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 80, 4546–4550.

Burré J., Sharma M., Südhof T. C. (2012) Systematic mutagenesis of  $\alpha$ -synuclein reveals distinct sequence requirements for physiological and pathological activities. Journal of Neuroscience 32, 15227–15242.

Burré J., Sharma M., Tsetsenis T., Buchman V., Etherton M. R., Südhof T. C. (2010) Alpha-synuclein promotes SNARE-complex assembly in vivo and in vitro. Science 329, 1663–1667.

Burté, F., Carelli, V., Chinnery, P.F., and Yu-Wai-Man, P. (2015). Disturbed mitochondrial dynamics and neurodegenerative disorders. Nat. Rev. Neurol. 11, 11–24. doi:10.1038/nrneurol.2014.228

Bussell R., Eliezer D (2003) A structural and functional role for 11-mer repeats in alpha-synuclein and other exchangeable lipid binding proteins. J Mol Biol. 2003 Jun 13;329(4):763-78.

Byers B, Cord B, Nguyen HN, Schule B, Fenno L, Lee PC, Deisseroth K, Langston JW, Pera RR, Palmer TD (2011) SNCA triplication Parkinson's Patient's iPSC-derived DA neurons accumulate alpha-synuclein and are susceptible to oxidative stress. PLoS One 6:e26159

Cabello CR, Thune JJ, Pakkenberg H, Pakkenberg B (2002) Ageing of substantia nigra in humans: cell loss may be compensated by hypertrophy. Neuropathol. Appl. Neurobiol. 28, 283–291.

Cai Q, Gerwin C, Sheng ZH (2005) Syntabulin-mediated anterograde transport of mitochondria along neuronal processes. J Cell Biol 170:959-969.

Calì T, Ottolini D, Negro A, Brini M (2012) α-Synuclein controls mitochondrial calcium homeostasis by enhancing endoplasmic reticulum-mitochondria interactions. J Biol Chem. doi:10.1074/jbc.M111.302794

Calo L, Wegrzynowicz M, Santivañez-Perez J, Grazia Spillantini M (2016) Synaptic failure and α-synuclein. Mov Disord. 2016 Feb;31(2):169-77. doi: 10.1002/mds.26479.

Carlsson A, Winblad B (1976) Influence of age and time interval between death and autopsy on dopamine and 3-methoxytyramine levels in human basal ganglia. J. Neural. Transm. 38, 271–276.

Carlson M (1999) Glucose repression in yeast. Curr Opin Microbiol. 1999 Apr;2(2):202-7.

Cecchini MP, Fasano A, Boschi F, Osculati F, Tinazzi M (2014) Taste in Parkinson's disease. J Neurol. DOI 10.1007/s00415-014-7518-1

Chandra S. S., Chen X. X., Rizo J. J., Jahn R. R., Südhof T. C. T. (2003) A broken alpha -helix in folded alpha -Synuclein. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 15313–15318.

Chao YX, Chew LM, Deng X, Tan EK (2015) Nonmotor symptoms in sporadic versus familial forms of Parkinson's disease. Neurodegener Dis Manag. 2015;5(2):147-53. doi: 10.2217/nmt.14.57.

Chartier-Harlin M.-C., Kachergus J., Roumier C., Mouroux V., Douay X., Lincoln S., Levecque C., et al. (2004) Alpha-synuclein locus duplication as a cause of familial Parkinson's disease. Lancet 364, 1167–1169.

Chaves RS, Melo TQ, D'Unhao AM, Farizatto KL, Ferrari MF (2013) Dynein c1h1, dynactin and syntaphilin expression in brain areas related to neurodegenerative diseases following exposure to rotenone. Acta Neurobiol Exp (Wars). 2013;73(4):541-56.

Chen C, Cao J, Ma X, Wang X, Chen Q, Yan S, Zhao N, Geng Z, Wang Z (2016) Neuroprotection by Polynitrogen Manganese Complexes: Regulation of Reactive Oxygen Species-Related Pathways. Sci Rep. 2016 Feb 9;6:20853. doi: 10.1038/srep20853.

Chen KH, Wu RM, Lin HI, Tai CH, Lin CH (2015) Mutational analysis of SYNJ1 gene (PARK20) in Parkinson's disease in a Taiwanese population. Neurobiol Aging. 2015 Oct;36(10):2905.e7-8. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2015.06.009.

Chen X. H., Desilva H., Pettenati M. J., Rao P. N., Stgeorgehyslop P., Roses A. D., Xia Y., Horsburgh K., Uéda K., Saitoh T. (1995) The Human Nacp/Alpha-Synuclein Gene - Chromosome Assignment to 4q21.3-Q22 and Taqi Rflp Analysis. Genomics 26, 425–427.

Chen, H., Chomyn, A., and Chan, D. (2005). Disruption of fusion results in mitochondrial heterogeneity and dysfunction. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 26185–26192. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m503062200

Chen, H.,and Chan, D.C. (2009). Mitochondrial dynamics- fusion, fission, movement and mitophagy- in neurodegenerative diseases. Hum. Mol.Genet. 18, R169–R176.doi:10.1093/hmg/ddp326.

Chen H, Detmer SA, Ewald AJ, Griffin EE, Fraser SE, Chan DC (2003) Mitofusins Mfn1 and Mfn2 coordinately regulate mitochondrial fusion and are essential for embryonic development. J Cell Biol 160:189–200.

Chen, Y., and Z.-H. Sheng. 2013. Kinesin-1-syntaphilin coupling mediates activitydependent regulation of axonal mitochondrial transport. J. Cell Biol. 202:351–364. http://dx.doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201302040.

Chiba-Falek O., Nussbaum R. L. (2001) Effect of allelic variation at the NACP-Rep1 repeat upstream of the alpha-synuclein gene (SNCA) on transcription in a cell culture luciferase reporter system. Human Molecular Genetics 10, 3101–3109.

Chinta SJ, Mallajosyula JK, Rane A, Andersen JK (2010) Mitochondrial alpha-synuclein accumulation impairs complex I function in dopaminergic neurons and results in increased mitophagy in vivo. Neurosci Lett 486:235–239.

Chiti F, Dobson CM (2006) Protein misfolding, functional amyloid, and human disease. Annu Rev Biochem. 2006;75:333-66.

Choong CJ, Say YH (2011) Neuroprotection of alpha-synuclein under acute and chronic rotenone and maneb treatment is abolished by its familial Parkinson's disease mutations A30P, A53T and E46K. Neurotoxicology 32:857–863.

Choubey V, Safiulina D, Vaarmann A, Cagalinec M, Wareski P, Kuum M, Zharkovsky A, Kaasik A (2011) Mutant A53T alphasynuclein induces neuronal death by increasing mitochondrial autophagy. J Biol Chem 286:10814–10824.

Chu Y, Mickiewicz AL, Kordower JH (2011) Alpha-synuclein aggregation reduces nigral myocyte enhancer factor-2D in idiopathic and experimental Parkinson's disease. Neurobiol Dis 41:71-82.

Chu Y., Kordower J. H. (2007) Age-associated increases of alpha-synuclein in monkeys and humans are associated with nigrostriatal dopamine depletion: Is this the target for Parkinson's disease? Neurobiol Dis 25, 134–149.

Ciaccioli G, Martins A, Rodrigues C, Vieira H, Calado P (2013) A Powerful Yeast Model to Investigate the Synergistic Interaction of a-Synuclein and Tau in Neurodegeneration. PLoS ONE 8(2): e55848. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0055848

Ciechanover A, Orian A, Schwartz AL (2000) Ubiquitin-mediated proteolysis: biological regulation via destruction. Bioessays 22: 442–451

Clayton DF, George JM (1998) The synucleins: a family of proteins involved in synaptic function, plasticity, neurodegeneration and disease. Trends Neurosci 21:249–254.

Clewett DV, Lee TH, Greening S, Ponzio A, Margalit E, Mather M (2016) Neuromelanin marks the spot: identifying a locus coeruleus biomarker of cognitive reserve in healthy aging. Neurobiol Aging. 2016 Jan;37:117-26. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2015.09.019.

Cole NB, Dieuliis D, Leo P, Mitchell DC, Nussbaum RL (2008) Mitochondrial translocation of alphasynuclein is promoted by intracellular acidification. Exp Cell Res 314:2076–2089

Colla E, Coune P, Liu Y, Pletnikova O, Troncoso JC, Iwatsubo T, Schneider BL, Lee MK. Endoplasmic reticulum stress is important for the manifestations of  $\alpha$ -synucleinopathy in vivo.

Collier T. J., redmond D. E., Steece-Collier K., lipton J. W., Manfredsson F. P. (2016) Is Alpha-Synuclein

Loss-of-Function a Contributor to Parkinsonian Pathology? Evidence from Non-human Primates. Front. Neurosci. 10.

Conway K. A., Harper J. D., Lansbury P. T. (1998) Accelerated in vitro fibril formation by a mutant alpha-synuclein linked to early-onset Parkinson disease. Nature Medicine 4, 1318–1320.

Conway KA, Lee SJ, Rochet JC, Ding TT, Williamson RE, Lansbury JR PT (2000) Acceleration of oligomerization, not fibrillization, is a shared property of both  $\alpha$ -synuclein mutations linked to early-onset Parkinson's disease: Implications for pathogenesis and therapy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97 (2): 571-576.

Cooper O, Seo H, Andrabi S, Guardia-Laguarta C, Graziotto J, Sundberg M, McLean JR, Carrillo-Reid L, Xie Z, Osborn T, Hargus G, Deleidi M, Lawson T, Bogetofte H, Perez-Torres E, Clark L, Moskowitz C, Mazzulli J, Chen L, Volpicelli-Daley L, Romero N, Jiang H, Uitti RJ, Huang Z, Opala G, Scarffe LA, Dawson VL, Klein C, Feng J, Ross OA, Trojanowski JQ, Lee VM, Marder K, Surmeier DJ, Wszolek ZK, Przedborski S, Krainc D, Dawson TM, Isacson O (2012) Pharmacological rescue of mitochondrial deficits in iPSC-derived neural cells from patients with familial Parkinson's disease. Sci Transl Med. 2012 Jul 4;4(141):141ra90. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3003985.

Costa, V.,Giacomello,M.,Hudec,R.,Lopreiato,R.,Ermak,G.,Lim,D.,et al. (2010). Mitochondrial fission and cristae disruption increase the response of cell models of Huntington's disease to apoptotic stimuli. EMBO Mol.Med. 2, 490–503. doi:10.1002/emmm.201000102

Coxhead J, Kurzawa-Akanbi M, Hussain R, Pyle A, Chinnery P, Hudson G (2016) Somatic mtDNA variation is an important component of Parkinson's disease. Neurobiol Aging. 2016 Feb;38:217.e1-6. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2015.10.036.

Credle JJ, George JL, Wills J, Duka V, Shah K, Lee YC, Rodriguez O, Simkins T, Winter M, Moechars D, Steckler T, Goudreau J, Finkelstein DI, Sidhu A (2015) GSK-3 $\beta$  dysregulation contributes to parkinson's-like pathophysiology with associated region-specific phosphorylation and accumulation of tau and  $\alpha$ -synuclein. Cell Death Differ. 2015 May;22(5):838-51. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2014.179. Epub 2014 Nov 14.

Currais A, Maher P (2013) Functional consequences of age-dependent changes in glutathione status in the brain. Antioxid Redox Signal. 2013 Sep 10;19(8):813-22. doi: 10.1089/ars.2012.4996.

Dagda RK, Banerjee TD, Janda E (2013) How Parkinsonian toxins dysregulate the autophagy machinery. Int J Mol Sci 14:22163–22189.

Dahlström A, Fuxe K (1964) Localization of monoamines in the lower brain stem. Experientia. 1964 Jul 15;20(7):398-9.

Danzer KM, Krebs SK, Wolff M, Birk G, Hengerer B (2009) Seeding induced by alpha-synuclein oligomers provides evidence for spreading of alpha-synuclein pathology. J Neurochem. 2009 Oct;111(1):192-203. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2009.06324.x.

Danzer KM, McLean PJ (2011) Drug targets from genetics: α-synuclein.CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets. 2011 Sep 1;10(6):712-23.

Dächsel J. C., Lincoln S. J., Gonzalez J., Ross O. A., Dickson D. W., Farrer M. J. (2007) The ups and downs of alpha-synuclein mRNA expression. Mov Disord 22, 293–295.

Dayan AD (1970) Quantitative histological studies on the aged human brain. I. Senile plaques and neurofibrillary tangles in "normal" patients. Acta Neuropathol 16:85-94.

Deas E, Cremades N, Angelova PR, Ludtmann MH, Yao Z, Chen S, Horrocks MH, Banushi B, Little D, Devine MJ, Gissen P, Klenerman D, Dobson CM, Wood NW, Gandhi S1, Abramov AY (2016) Alpha-

Synuclein Oligomers Interact with Metal Ions to Induce Oxidative Stress and Neuronal Death in Parkinson's Disease. Antioxid Redox Signal. 2016 Mar 1;24(7):376-91. doi: 10.1089/ars.2015.634.

Decressac M, Mattsson B, Weikop P, Lundblad M, Jakobsson J, Björklund A (2013) TFEB-mediated autophagy rescues midbrain dopamine neurons from  $\alpha$ -synuclein toxicity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110:E1817–E1826.

Dehay B, Decressac M, Bourdenx M, Guadagnino I, Fernagut PO, Tamburrino A, Bassil F, Meissner WG, Bezard E (2016) Targeting  $\alpha$ -synuclein: Therapeutic options. Mov Disord. 2016 Mar 1. doi: 10.1002/mds.26568.

Delic M, Rebnegger C, Wanka F, Puxbaum V, Haberhauer-Troyer C, Hann S, Köllensperger G, Mattanovich D, Gasser B (2012) Oxidative protein folding and unfolded protein response elicit differing redox regulation in endoplasmic reticulum and cytosol of yeast.

Detmer, S.A.,andChan,D.(2007).Functions and dysfunctions of mitochondrial dynamics. Nat. Rev.Mol.CellBiol. 8, 870–879.doi:10.1038/ nrm2275

Dettmer U., Newman A. J., Luth E. S., Bartels T., Selkoe D. (2013) In vivo cross-linking reveals principally oligomeric forms of  $\alpha$ -synuclein and  $\beta$ -synuclein in neurons and non-neural cells. Journal of Biological Chemistry 288, 6371–6385.

Dettmer U., Newman A. J., Saucken von V. E., Bartels T., Selkoe D. (2015) KTKEGV repeat motifs are key mediators of normal  $\alpha$ -synuclein tetramerization: Their mutation causes excess monomers and neurotoxicity. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 112, 9596–9601.

Devi L, Raghavendran V, Prabhu BM, Avadhani NG, Anandatheerthavarada HK (2008) Mitochondrial import and accumulation of alpha-synuclein impair complex I in human dopaminergic neuronal cultures and Parkinson disease brain. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 9089–9100.

Devine MJ, Birsa N, Kittler JT (2016) Miro sculpts mitochondrial dynamics in neuronal health and disease. Neurobiol Dis. 2016 Jun;90:27-34. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2015.12.008.

Devine MJ, Ryten M, Vodicka P, Thomson AJ, Burdon T, Houlden H, Cavaleri F, Nagano M, Drummond NJ, Taanman JW, Schapira AH, Gwinn K, Hardy J, Lewis PA, Kunath T (2011) Parkinson's disease induced pluripotent stem cells with triplication of the alpha-synuclein locus. Nat Commun 2:440.

Di Monte DA, Lavasani M, Manning-Bog AB (2002) Environmental factors in Parkinson's disease. Neurotoxicology 23, 487–502.

Dickinson, D. A.; Forman, H. J. (2002). Glutathione in defense and signaling: Lessons from a small thiol. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 973: 488–504.

Dieckmann CL, Staples RR (1994) Regulation of mitochondrial gene expression in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Int Rev Cytol. 1994;152:145-81.

Dikiy I, Eliezer D (2012) Folding and misfolding of alpha-synuclein on membranes. Biochim Biophys Acta. Apr;1818(4):1013-8. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamem.2011.09.008.

Dragicevic E, Poetschke C, Duda J, Schlaudraff F, Lammel S, Schiemann J, Fauler M, Hetzel A, Watanabe M, Lujan R, Malenka RC, Striessnig J, Liss B (2014) Cav1.3 channels control D2-autoreceptor responses via NCS-1 in substantia nigra dopamine neurons. Brain. 2014 Aug;137(Pt 8):2287-302. doi: 10.1093/brain/awu131.

Dringen, R. (2000). Metabolism and functions of glutathione in brain. Prog. Neurobiol 62: 649–671.

Duda J, Pötschke C, Liss B (2016) Converging roles of ion channels, calcium, metabolic stress, and activitypattern of substantia nigra dopaminergic neurons in health and Parkinson's disease. J Neurochem. 2016 Feb 10. doi: 10.1111/jnc.13572.

Ebrahimi-Fakhari D, Saidi LJ, Wahlster L (2013) Molecular chaperones and protein folding as therapeutic targets in Parkinson's disease and other synucleinopathies. Acta Neuropathol Commun 1:79.

El-Hattab AW, Scaglia F (2016) Mitochondrial cytopathies. Cell Calcium. 2016 Mar 4. pii: S0143-4160(16)30021-5. doi: 10.1016/j.ceca.2016.03.003.

Emborg ME, Ma SY, Mufson EJ, Levey AI, Taylor MD, Brown WD, Holden JE, Kordower JH (1998) Agerelated declines in nigral neuronal function correlate with motor impairments in rhesus monkeys. J Comp Neurol. 1998 Nov 16;401(2):253-65.

EurostatStatisticexplained.http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php/File:Population\_structure\_by\_five-year\_age\_groups\_and\_sex,\_EU-28,\_1994\_and\_2014\_(%C2%B9)\_(%25\_share\_of\_total\_population)\_BYIE15.png

Fagundes SD, Silva MT, Thees MFRS, Pereira MG (2011) Prevalence of dementia among elderly Brazilians: a systematic review. Sao Paulo Med. J. vol.129 número 1. doi: 10.1590/S1516-31802011000100009.

Fang EF, Scheibye-Knudsen M, Chua KF, Mattson MP, Croteau DL, Bohr VA (2016) Nuclear DNA damage signalling to mitochondria in ageing. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2016 Mar 9. doi: 10.1038/nrm.2016.14.

Fang X, Zhang K, Yang P, Qiao L, Liu B (2016) Sensitive and fast beverage/fruit antioxidant evaluation by TiO2 -Au/graphene nanocomposites coupled with MALDI-MS. Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom. 2016 Aug;30 Suppl 1:128-32. doi: 10.1002/rcm.7617.

Fayet G, Jansson M, Sternberg D, Moslemi AR, Blondy P, Lombes A, Fardeau M, Oldfors A (2002) Ageing muscle: clonal expansions of mitochondrial DNA point mutations and deletions cause focal impairment of mitochondrial function. Neuromuscul. Disord. 12, 484–493.

Feissner, R. F.; Skalska, J.; Gaum, W. E.; Sheu, S.-S. (2009). Crosstalk signaling between mitochondrial Ca2+ and ROS. Frontiers in Bioscience : A Journal and Virtual Library, 14, 1197–1218.

Fischer TD, Hylin MJ, Zhao J, Moore AN, Waxham MN, Dash PK (2016) Altered Mitochondrial Dynamics and TBI Pathophysiology. Front Syst Neurosci. 2016 Mar 30;10:29. doi: 10.3389/fnsys.2016.00029. ECollection 2016.

Flohé L (2016) The impact of thiol peroxidases on redox regulation. Free Radic Res. 2016;50(2):126-42. doi: 10.3109/10715762.2015.1046858.

Florenzano F (2012) Localization of axonal motor molecules machinery in neurodegenerative disorders. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 13, 5195–5206.

Follmer C, Coelho-Cerqueira E, Yatabe-Franco DY, Araujo GD, Pinheiro AS, Domont GB, Eliezer D (2015) Oligomerization and Membrane-binding Properties of Covalent Adducts Formed by the Interaction of  $\alpha$ -Synuclein with the Toxic Dopamine Metabolite 3,4-Dihydroxyphenylacetaldehyde (DOPAL). J Biol Chem. 2015 Nov 13;290(46):27660-79. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M115.686584.

Forkink M, Basit F, Teixeira J, Swarts HG, Koopman WJ, Willems PH (2015) Complex I and complex III inhibition specifically increase cytosolic hydrogen peroxide levels without inducing oxidative stress in HEK293 cells. Redox Biol. 2015 Dec;6:607-16. doi: 10.1016/j.redox.2015.09.003. Epub 2015 Oct 23.

Fountaine T. M., Wade-Martins R. (2007) RNA interference-mediated knockdown of alpha-synuclein protects human dopaminergic neuroblastoma cells from MPP(+) toxicity and reduces dopamine transport. J Neurosci Res 85, 351–363.

Fountaine T. M., Venda L. L., Warrick N., Christian H. C., Brundin P., Channon K. M., Wade-Martins R. (2008) The effect of alpha-synuclein knockdown on MPP plus toxicity in models of human neurons. European Journal of Neuroscience 28, 2459–2473.

Franssens V, Bynens T, Van den Brande J, Vandermeeren K, Verduyckt M, Winderickx J (2013) The benefits of humanized yeast models to study Parkinson's disease. Oxid Med Cell Longev. 2013;2013:760629. doi: 10.1155/2013/760629.

Fransson S, Ruusala A, Aspenström P (2006) The atypical Rho GTPases Miro-1 and Miro-2 have essential roles in mitochondrial trafficking. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 344:500–510. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2006.03.163

Fredenburg R. A., Rospigliosi C., Meray R. K., Kessler J. C., Lashuel H. A., Eliezer D., Lansbury P. T. J. (2007) The impact of the E46K mutation on the properties of alpha-synuclein in its monomeric and oligomeric states. Biochemistry 46, 7107–7118.

Freeman D, Cedillos R, Choyke S, Lukic Z, McGuire K, Marvin S, Burrage AM, Sudholt S, Rana A, O'Connor C, Wiethoff CM, Campbell EM (2013) Alpha-synuclein induces lysosomal rupture and cathepsin dependent reactive oxygen species following endocytosis. PLoS One. 2013 Apr 25;8(4):e62143. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0062143

Friedman JR, Webster BM, Mastronarde DN, Verhey KJ, Voeltz GK (2010) ER sliding dynamics and ER-mitochondrial contacts occur on acetylated microtubules. J Cell Biol. doi:10.1083/jcb.200911024.

Fuchs J, Nilsson C, Kachergus J, Munz M, Larsson EM, Schule B, Langston JW, Middleton FA, Ross OA, Hulihan M, Gasser T, Farrer MJ (2007) Phenotypic variation in a large Swedish pedigree due to SNCA duplication and triplication. Neurology 68:916-922.

Fusco G, De Simone A, Gopinath T, Vostrikov V, Vendruscolo M, Dobson CM, Veglia G (2014) Direct observation of the three regions in  $\alpha$ -synuclein that determine its membrane-bound behaviour. Nat Commun. 2014 May 29;5:3827. doi: 10.1038/ncomms4827.

Gaig C, Martí MJ, Ezquerra M, Cardozo A, Rey MJ, Tolosa E (2009) G2019S LRRK2 mutation causing Parkinson's disease without Lewy bodies. BMJ Case Rep. 2009;2009. pii: bcr08.2008.0632. doi: 10.1136/bcr.08.2008.0632.

Gammella E, Recalcati S, Cairo G (2016) Dual Role of ROS as Signal and Stress Agents: Iron Tips the Balance in favor of Toxic Effects. Oxid Med Cell Longev. 2016;2016:8629024. doi: 10.1155/2016/8629024

Gąssowska M, Czapski GA, Pająk B, Cieślik M, Lenkiewicz AM, Adamczyk A (2014) Extracellular  $\alpha$ -synuclein leads to microtubule destabilization via GSK-3 $\beta$ -dependent Tau phosphorylation in PC12 cells. PLoS One. 2014 Apr 10;9(4):e94259. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0094259. ECollection 2014.

George J. M. (2001) The synucleins. Genome Biol.

Germain M, Nguyen AP, Le Grand JN, Arbour N, Vanderluit JL, Park DS, Opferman J T, Slack RS, MCL-1 is a stress sensor that regulates autophagy in a developmentally regulated manner, EMBO J. 30 (2011) 395–407.

Ghio S, Kamp F, Cauchi R, Giese A, Vassallo N (2016) Interaction of α-synuclein with biomembranes in

Parkinson's disease -role of cardiolipin. Prog Lipid Res. 2016 Jan;61:73-82. doi: 10.1016/j.plipres.2015.10.005.

Ghosh D, LeVault KR, Barnett AJ, Brewer GJ (2012) A reversible early oxidized redox state that precedes macromolecular ROS damage in aging nontransgenic and 3xTg- AD mouse neurons. J Neurosci 32(17):5821–5832. doi:10.1523/Jneurosci.6192-11.2012.

Giasson BI, Duda JE, Murray IV, Chen Q, Souza JM, Hurtig HI, Ischiropoulos H, Trojanowski JQ, Lee VM (2000) Oxidative damage linked to neurodegeneration by selective alpha-synuclein nitration in synucleinopathy lesions. Science 290, 985–989.

Gibb WR, Lees AJ (1988) The relevance of the Lewy body to the pathogenesis of idiopathic Parkinson's disease. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 51:745-752.

Gilgun-Sherki, Y.; Melamed, E.; Offen, D. (2001). Oxidative stress induced-neurodegenerative diseases: The need for antioxidants that penetrate the blood brain barrier. Neuropharmacology 40: 959–975.

Gilley J, Seereeram A, Ando K, Mosely S, Andrews S, Kerschensteiner M, Misgeld T, Brion JP, Anderton B, Hanger DP, Coleman MP (2012) Age-dependent axonal transport and locomotor hanges and tau hypophosphorylation in a "P301L" tau knockin mouse. Neurobiol. Aging 33, 621, 621–621 e615.

Girard E, Chmiest D, Fournier N, Johannes L, Paul JL, Vedie B, Lamaze C (2016) Rab7 is functionally required for selective cargo sorting at the early endosome. Traffic. 2014 Mar;15(3):309-26. doi: 10.1111/tra.12143.

Goetz CG (2011) The history of Parkinson's disease: early clinical descriptions and neurological therapies. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. 2011 Sep;1(1): a008862. Doi: 10.1101/cshperspect. a008862.

Gorbatyuk O. S., Li S., Nash K., Gorbatyuk M., Lewin A. S., Sullivan L. F., Mandel R. J., et al. (2010) In vivo RNAi-mediated alpha-synuclein silencing induces nigrostriatal degeneration. Mol Ther 18, 1450–1457.

Greenwood CE, Tatton WG, Seniuk NA, Biddle FG (1991) Increased dopamine synthesis in aging substantia nigra neurons. Neurobiol. Aging 12, 557–565.

Griffith, O. W. (1999). Biologic and pharmacologic regulation of mammalian glutathione synthesis. Free Radic Biol Med. 27: 922–935.

Grimm S (2015) The ER-mitochondria interface: the social network of cell death. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2012 Feb;1823(2):327-34. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2011.11.018.

Gründemann J., Schlaudraff F., Haeckel O., Liss B. (2008) Elevated alpha-synuclein mRNA levels in individual UV-laser-microdissected dopaminergic substantia nigra neurons in idiopathic Parkinson's disease. Nucleic Acids Res. 36, e38.

Guardia-Laguarta C, Area-Gomez E, Rüb C, Liu Y, Magrané J, Becker D, Voos W, Schon EA, Przedborski S (2014)  $\alpha$ -Synuclein is localized to mitochondria-associated ER membranes. J Neurosci 34:249–259. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.2507-13.2014.

Guerra de Souza AC, Prediger RD, Cimarosti H (2016) Mitochondrial dysfunction and SUMOylation targets in Parkinson's disease. J Neurochem. 2016 Mar 2. doi: 10.1111/jnc.13599.

Gumeni S, Trougakos IP (2016) Cross Talk of Proteostasis and Mitostasis in Cellular Homeodynamics, Ageing, and Disease. Oxid Med Cell Longev. 2016;2016:4587691. doi: 10.1155/2016/4587691.

Guo, X., G.T. Macleod, A. Wellington, F. Hu, S. Panchumarthi, M. Schoenfield, L. Marin, M.P. Charlton,

H.L. Atwood, and K.E. Zinsmaier (2005) The GTPase dMiro is required for axonal transport of mitochondria to Drosophila synapses.

Gustafsson G, Eriksson F, Möller C, da Fonseca TL, Outeiro TF, Lannfelt L, Bergström J, Ingelsson M (2016) Cellular Uptake of  $\alpha$ -Synuclein Oligomer-Selective Antibodies is Enhanced by the Extracellular Presence of  $\alpha$ -Synuclein and Mediated via Fc $\gamma$  Receptors. Cell Mol Neurobiol. 2016 Mar 10.

Hailey DW, Rambold AS, Satpute-Krishnan P, Mitra K, Sougrat R, Kim PK, Lippincott-Schwartz J (2010) Mitochondria supply membranes for autophagosome biogenesis during starvation. Cell. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2010.04.009

Halliwell, B.; Gutteridge, J. M. C. (2006). In: Halliwell, B.;Gutteridge, J. M. C. (eds). Free Radicals in Biology and Medicine, Third Ed., Oxford University Press, Oxford.

Hamasaki M, Furuta N, Matsuda A, Nezu A, Yamamoto A, Fujita N, Oomori H, Noda T, Haraguchi T, Hiraoka Y et al (2013) Autophagosomes form at ER-mitochondria contact sites. Nature 495:389–393. doi:10.1038/nature11910

Hanagasi HA, Giri A, Guven G, Bilgiç B, Hauser AK, Emre M, Heutink P, Basak N, Gasser T, Simón-Sánchez J, Lohmann E (2016) A novel homozygous DJ1 mutation causes parkinsonism and ALS in a Turkish family. Parkinsonism Relat Disord. Mar 3. pii: S1353-8020(16)30055-4. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2016.03.001.

Harischandra DS, Jin H, Anantharam V, Kanthasamy A, Kanthasamy AG (2015)  $\alpha$ -Synuclein protects against manganese neurotoxic insult during the early stages of exposure in a dopaminergic cell model of Parkinson's disease. Toxicol Sci. 2015 Feb;143(2):454-68. Doi: 10.1093/toxsci/kfu247.

Harman D (1956) Aging: a theory based on free radical and radiation chemistry. J Gerontol 11(3):298–300.

Harrington KA, Augood SJ, Kingsbury AE, Foster OJ, Emson PC (1996) Dopamine transporter (Dat) and synaptic vesicle amine transporter (VMAT2) gene expression in the substantia nigra of control and Parkinson's disease. Brain Res Mol Brain Res. 1996 Feb;36(1):157-62.

Hasegawa M., Fujiwara H., Nonaka T., Wakabayashi K., Takahashi H., Lee V., Trojanowski J. Q., Mann D., Iwatsubo T. (2002) Phosphorylated alpha-synuclein is ubiquitinated in alpha-synucleinopathy lesions. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 49071–49076.

Hashimoto M., Hsu L. J., Xia Y., Takeda A., Sisk A., Sundsmo M., Masliah E. (1999) Oxidative stress induces amyloid-like aggregate formation of NACP/alpha-synuclein in vitro. Neuroreport 10, 717–721.

Haycock JW, Becker L, Ang L, Furukawa Y, Hornykiewicz O, Kish SJ (2003) Marked disparity between age-related changes in dopamine and other presynaptic dopaminergic markers in human striatum. J. Neurochem. 87, 574–585.

Haynes, C. M.; Titus, E. A.; Cooper, A. A. (2004). Degradation of misfolded proteins prevents ER-derived oxidative stress and cell death. Mol. Cell. 15: 767–776.

Helwig M, Klinkenberg M, Rusconi R, Musgrove RE, Majbour NK, El-Agnaf OM, Ulusoy A, Di Monte DA (2016) Brain propagation of transduced  $\alpha$ -synuclein involves non-fibrillar protein species and is enhanced in  $\alpha$ -synuclein null mice. Brain. 2016 Mar;139(Pt 3):856-70. doi: 10.1093/brain/awv376.

Hirokawa N, Niwa S, Tanaka Y (2010) Molecular motors in neurons: transport mechanisms and roles in brain function, development, and disease. Neuron. 2010 Nov 18;68(4):610-38. doi:
10.1016/j.neuron.2010.09.039.

Hirokawa, N., and Noda, Y. (2008). Intracellular transport and kinesin superfamily proteins, KIFs: Structure, junction, and dynamics. Physiol. Rev. 88, 1089–1118.

Holmqvist S, Oldriska C, Bousset L, Aldrin-Kirk P, Li W, Bjorklund T, Wang ZY, Roybon L, Melki R, Li JY (2014) Direct evidence of Parkinson pathology spread from the gastrointestinal tract to the brain in rats. Acta Neuropathol DOI 10.1007/s00401-014-1343-6.

Hornykiewicz O (1989) Ageing and neurotoxins as causative factors in idiopathic Parkinson's disease–a critical analysis of the neurochemical evidence. Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry 13, 319–328.

Hunn BH, Cragg SJ, Bolam JP, Spillantini MG, Wade-Martins R (2015) Impaired intracellular trafficking defines early Parkinson's disease. Trends Neurosci. 2015 Mar;38(3):178-88. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2014.12.009.

Hurtig HI, Trojanowski JQ, Galvin J, Ewbank D, Schmidt ML, Lee VM, Clark CM, Glosser G, Stern MB, Gollomp SM, Arnold SE (2000) Alpha-synuclein cortical Lewy bodies correlate with dementia in Parkinson's disease. Neurology 54:1916-1921.

Hsu LJ, Sagara Y, Arroyo A, Rockenstein E, Sisk A, Mallory M, Wong J, Takenouchi T, Hashimoto M, Masliah E (2000) Alphasynuclein promotes mitochondrial deficit and oxidative stress. Am J Pathol 157:401–410.

Ibanez P., Bonnet A.-M., Debarges B., Lohmann E., Tison F., Pollak P., Agid Y., Durr A., Brice A., Group F. P. D. S. (2004) Causal relation between  $\alpha$ -synuclein locus duplication as a cause of familial Parkinson's disease. Lancet.

IBGE-projeção da população: http://www.ibge.gov.br/home/estatistica/populacao/projecao\_da\_populacao/2008/piramide/piramide.shtm

Ikeuchi T, Kakita A, Shiga A, Kasuga K, Kaneko H, Tan CF, Idezuka J, Wakabayashi K, Onodera O, Iwatsubo T, Nishizawa M, Takahashi H, Ishikawa A (2008) Patients homozygous and heterozygous for SNCA duplication in a family with parkinsonism and dementia. Arch Neurol. 2008 Apr;65(4):514-9. doi: 10.1001/archneur.65.4.514.

Ince PG, Perry EK, Morris CM (1998) Dementia with Lewy bodies. A distinct non-Alzheimer dementia syndrome? Brain Pathol 8:299-324.

Iwai A., Masliah E., Yoshimoto M., GE N. F., FLANAGAN L., DESILVA H., KITTEL A., Saitoh T. (1995) The Precursor Protein of Non-a-Beta Component of Alzheimers-Disease Amyloid Is a Presynaptic Protein of the Central-Nervous-System. Neuron 14, 467–475.

Jacobs BM (2014) Stemming the hype: what can we learn from iPSC models of Parkinson's disease and how can we learn it? J Parkinsons Dis. 2014;4(1):15-27. doi: 10.3233/JPD-130268.

Jahani-Asl, A.,Pilon-Larose,K.,McLaurin,J.G.,Park,D.S.,McBride,H.M., and Slack, R. (2011). The mitochondrial inner membrane GTPase, optic atrophy 1 (Opa1), restores mitochondrial morphology and promotes neuronal survival following excitotoxicity. J. Biol.Chem. 286, 4772–4782.doi:10.1074/jbc.M110. 167155

Jakes R., Spillantini M. G., Goedert M. (1994) Identification of two distinct synucleins from human brain. FEBS Lett 345, 27–32.

Jang YC, Van Remmen H (2009) The mitochondrial theory of aging: insight from transgenic and knockout mouse models. Exp. Gerontol. 44, 256–260.

Jao C. C., Der-Sarkissian A., Chen J., Langen R. (2004) Structure of membrane-bound alpha-synuclein studied by site-directed spin labeling. PNAS 101, 8331–8336.

Jheng, H.-F., Tsai, P.-J., Guo, S.-M., Kuo, L.-H., Chang, C.-S., Su, I.-J., etal. (2012). Mitochondrial fission contributes to mitochondrial dysfunction and insulin resistance inskeletal muscle. Mol. Cell. Biol. 32, 309–319. doi:10.1128/MCB.05603-11

Johri M, Beland F, Bergman H (2003) International experiments in integrated care for the elderly: a synthesis of the evidence. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 18:222-235.

Johnson J, Hague SM, Hanson M, Gibson A, Wilson KE, Evans EW, Singleton AA, McInerney-Leo A, Nussbaum RL, Hernandez DG, Gallardo M, McKeith IG, Burn DJ, Ryu M, Hellstrom O, Ravina B, Eerola J, Perry RH, Jaros E, Tienari P, Weiser R, Gwinn-Hardy K, Morris CM, Hardy J, Singleton AB (2004) SNCA multiplication is not a common cause of Parkinson disease or dementia with Lewy bodies. Neurology. 2004 Aug 10;63(3):554-6.

Jones, D P (2006). Redefining oxidative stress. Antioxid Redox Signal 8: 1865–1879.

Kaganovich D, Kopito R, Frydman J (2008) Misfolded proteins partition between two distinct quality control compartments. Nature. 2008 Aug 28;454(7208):1088-95. doi: 10.1038/nature07195.

Kalia LV, Lang AE, Hazrati LN, Fujioka S, Wszolek ZK, Dickson DW, Ross OA, Van Deerlin VM, Trojanowski JQ, Hurtig HI, Alcalay RN, Marder KS, Clark LN, Gaig C, Tolosa E, Ruiz-Martínez J, Marti-Masso JF, Ferrer I, López de Munain A, Goldman SM, Schüle B, Langston JW, Aasly JO, Giordana MT, Bonifati V, Puschmann A, Canesi M, Pezzoli G, Maues De Paula A, Hasegawa K, Duyckaerts C, Brice A, Stoessl AJ, Marras C (2015) Clinical correlations with Lewy body pathology in LRRK2-related Parkinson disease. JAMA Neurol. 2015 Jan;72(1):100-5. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2014.2704.

Kalinderi K, Bostantjopoulou S2, Fidani L (2016) The genetic background of Parkinson's disease: current progress and future prospects. Acta Neurol Scand. 2016 Feb 12. doi: 10.1111/ane.12563.

Kamp F, Exner N, Lutz AK, Wender N, Hegermann J, Brunner B, Nuscher B, Bartels T, Giese A, Beyer K, Eimer S, Winklhofer KF, Haass C (2010) Inhibition of mitochondrial fusion by alpha- synuclein is rescued by PINK1, Parkin and DJ-1. EMBO J 29:3571–3589.

Khan N (2016) Recent advancements in diagnostic tools in mitochondrial energy metabolism diseases. Adv Med Sci. 2016 Feb 17;61(2):244-248. doi: 10.1016/j.advms.2016.02.002. Khan W, Priyadarshini M, Zakai HA, Kamal MA, Alam Q (2014) A brief overview of tyrosine hydroxylase and  $\alpha$ -synuclein in the Parkinsonian brain. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets. 2012 Jun 1;11(4):456-62.

Kang JF, Tang BS, Guo JF (2016) The Progress of Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells as Models of Parkinson's Disease. Stem Cells Int. 2016;2016:4126214. doi: 10.1155/2016/4126214.

Kaufmann TJ, Harrison PM, Richardson MJ, Pinheiro TJ, Wall MJ (2016) Intracellular soluble alpha Synuclein oligomers reduce pyramidal cell excitability. J Physiol. 2016 Feb 24. doi: 10.1113/JP271968.

Kaul T, Credle J, Haggerty T, Oaks AW, Masliah E, Sidhu A (2011) Region-specific tauopathy and synucleinopathy in brain of the alpha-synuclein overexpressing mouse model of Parkinson's disease. BMC Neurosci 12:79.

Kawakami F, Ichikawa T (2015) The Role of  $\alpha$ -Synuclein and LRRK2 in Tau Phosphorylation. Parkinsons Dis. 2015;2015:734746. doi: 10.1155/2015/734746.

Kazlauskaite, A., Kelly, V., Johnson, C., Baillie, C., Hastie, C.J., Peggie, M., Macartney, T., Woodroof, H.I., Alessi, D.R., Pedrioli, P.G.A., Muqit, M.M.K., 2014. Phosphorylation of Parkin at Serine65 is essential for activation: elaboration of a Miro1 substrate-based assay of Parkin E3 ligase activity. Open Biol. 4, 130213. http://dx.doi.org/10.1098/ rsob.130213.

Khurana, V.; Lindquist, S. (2010). Modelling neurodegeneration in Saccharomyces cerevisiae: why cook with baker's yeast? Nature Review in Neuroscience 11(6): 436-9.

Kanaan N. M., Manfredsson F. P. (2012) Loss of functional alpha-synuclein: a toxic event in Parkinson's disease? J Parkinsons Dis 2, 249–267.

Keeler BE, Lallemand P, Patel MM, de Castro Brás LE, Clemens S (2016) Opposing aging-related shift of excitatory dopamine D1 and inhibitory D3 receptor protein expression in striatum and spinal cord. J Neurophysiol. 2016 Jan 1;115(1):363-9. doi: 10.1152/jn.00390.2015.

Kharel P, McDonough J, Basu S (2016) Evidence of extensive RNA oxidation in normal appearing cortex of multiple sclerosis brain. Neurochem Int. 2016 Jan;92:43-8. Doi: 10.1016/j.neuint.2015.12.002. Epub 2015 Dec 17

Khodr C. E., Sapru M. K., Pedapati J., Han Y., West N. C., Kells A. P., Bankiewicz K. S., Bohn M. C (2011) An alpha-synuclein AAV gene silencing vector ameliorates a behavioral deficit in a rat model of Parkinson's disease, but displays toxicity in dopamine neurons. Brain Res 1395, 94– 107.

Kingsbury A. E., Daniel S. E., Sangha H., Eisen S., Lees A. J., Foster O. J. F. (2004) Alteration in alphasynuclein mRNA expression in Parkinson's disease. Mov Disord 19, 162–170.

Kish SJ, Shannak K, Rajput A, Deck JH, Hornykiewicz O (1992) Aging produces a specific pattern of striatal dopamine loss: implications for the etiology of idiopathic Parkinson's disease. J. Neurochem. 58, 642–648.

Kish SJ, Shannak K, Hornykiewicz O (1988) Uneven pattern of dopamine loss in the striatum of patients with idiopathic Parkinson's disease. Pathophysiologic and clinical implications. N. Engl. J. Med. 318, 876–880.

Klionsky DJ (2005) The molecular machinery of autophagy: Unanswered questions. J Cell Sci. 118:7-18.

Klosowiak, J.L., P.J. Focia, S. Chakravarthy, E.C. Landahl, D.M. Freymann, and S.E. Rice (2013) Structural coupling of the EF hand and C-terminal GTPase domains in the mitochondrial protein Miro. EMBO Rep. 14:968–974. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/embor.2013.151

Knott, A.B and Bossy-Wetzel, E (2008). Impairing the mitochondrial fission and fusion balance: a new mechanism of neurodegeneration. Ann. NYAcad.Sci. 1147, 283–292. doi: 10.1196/annals. 1427.030

Koga S1, Aoki N, Uitti RJ, van Gerpen JA, Cheshire WP, Josephs KA, Wszolek ZK, Langston JW, Dickson DW (2015) When DLB, PD, and PSP masquerade as MSA: an autopsy study of 134 patients. Neurology. 2015 Aug 4;85(5):404-12. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000001807.

Komatsu M, Ichimura Y (2010) Physiological significance of selective degradation of p62 by autophagy. FEBS Lett. 2010 Apr 2;584(7):1374-8. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2010.02.017.

Kong Y, Trabucco SE, Zhang H (2014) Oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction and the mitochondria theory of aging. Interdiscip Top Gerontol. 2014;39:86-107. doi: 10.1159/000358901

Korczyn AD, Hassin-Baer S (2015) Can the disease course in Parkinson's disease be slowed? BMC Med.

2015 Dec 10;13(1):295. doi: 10.1186/s12916-015-0534-x.

Kovalevich J, Langford D (2013) Considerations for the use of SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells in neurobiology. Methods Mol Biol. 2013;1078:9-21. doi: 10.1007/978-1-62703-640-5\_2.

Krols M, Bultynck G, Janssens S (2016) ER-Mitochondria contact sites: A new regulator of cellular calcium flux comes into play. J Cell Biol. 2016 Aug 15;214(4):367-70. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201607124.

Krumova P., Meulmeester E., Garrido M., Tirard M., Hsiao H.-H., Bossis G., Urlaub H., et al. (2011) Sumoylation inhibits alpha-synuclein aggregation and toxicity. J Cell Biol 194, 49–60.

Kunz JB, Schwarz H, Mayer A. Determination of four sequential stages during microautophagy in vitro. J Biol Chem. 2004; 279:9987-9996.

Kuter K, Kratochwil M, Berghauzen-Maciejewska K, Głowacka U, Sugawa MD, Ossowska K, Dencher NA (2016) Adaptation within mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation supercomplexes and membrane viscosity during degeneration of dopaminergic neurons in an animal model of early Parkinson's disease. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2016 Apr;1862(4):741-53. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2016.01.022.

Kudo H, Kokunai T, Kondoh T, Tamaki N, Matsumoto S (1990) Quantitative analysis of glutathione in rat central nervous system: comparison of GSH in infant brain with that in adult brain. Brain Res 511(2):326–328.

Labbadia, J.; Morimoto, R. I. (2015). The Biology of Proteostasis in Aging and Disease. Annual Review of Biochemistry 84: 435–464.

Labunskyy VM, Gladyshev VN (2013) Role of reactive oxygen species-mediated signaling in aging. Antioxid Redox Signal 19(12):1362–1372. doi:10.1089/ars.2012.4891.

Lam HT, Graber MC, Gentry KA, Bieschke J (2016) Stabilization of  $\alpha$ -Synuclein Fibril Clusters Prevents Fragmentation and Reduces Seeding Activity and Toxicity. Biochemistry. 2016 Feb 2;55(4):675-85. doi: 10.1021/acs.biochem.5b01168

Lauri A, Pompilio G, Capogrossi MC (2014) The mitochondrial genome in aging and senescence. Ageing Res. Rev. 18, 1–15.

Lee BD, Shin JH, VanKampen J, Petrucelli L, West AB, Ko HS, Lee YI, Maguire-Zeiss KA, Bowers WJ, Federoff HJ, Dawson VL, Dawson TM (2010) Inhibitors of leucine-rich repeat kinase-2 protect against models of Parkinson's disease. Nat Med. 2010 Sep;16(9):998-1000. doi: 10.1038/nm.2199.

Lee HJ, Choi C, Lee SJ (2002) Membrane-bound alpha-synuclein has a high aggregation propensity and the ability to seed the aggregation of the cytosolic form. J Biol Chem. 2002 Jan 4;277(1):671-8. Epub 2001 Oct 25.

Lee HJ, Lee SJ (2002) Characterization of cytoplasmic alphasynuclein aggregates. Fibril formation is tightly linked to the inclusion-forming process in cells. J Biol Chem 277:48976–48983.

Lee S, Sato Y, Nixon RA (2005) Primary lysosomal dysfunction causes cargo-specific deficits of axonal transport leading to Alzheimer-like neuritic dystrophy. Autophagy. 2011 Dec;7(12):1562-3.

Lee VM, Trojanowski JQ (2006) Mechanisms of Parkinson's disease linked to pathological alpha-synuclein: new targets for drug discovery. Neuron. 2006 Oct 5;52(1):33-8.

Lehmann G, Udasin RG, Ciechanover A (2016) On the linkage between the ubiquitin-proteasome system and the mitochondria. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2016 Mar 18. pii: S0006-291X(16)30367-9. doi:

10.1016/j.bbrc.2016.03.055.

Leman G, Gueguen N, Desquiret-Dumas V, Kane MS, Wettervald C, Chupin S, Chevrollier A, Lebre AS, Bonnefont JP, Barth M, Amati-Bonneau P, Verny C, Henrion D, Bonneau D, Reynier P, Procaccio V (2015) Assembly defects induce oxidative stress in inherited mitochondrial complex I deficiency. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 2015 Aug;65:91-103. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2015.05.017.

Lenaz G, Tioli G, Falasca AI, Genova ML (2016) Complex I function in mitochondrial supercomplexes. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2016 Jan 25. pii: S0005-2728(16)30005-6. doi: 10.1016/j.bbabio.2016.01.013.

Lesage S, Drouet V, Majounie E, Deramecourt V, Jacoupy M, Nicolas A, Cormier-Dequaire F, Hassoun SM, Pujol C, Ciura S, Erpapazoglou Z, Usenko T, Maurage CA, Sahbatou M, Liebau S, Ding J, Bilgic B, Emre M, Erginel-Unaltuna N, Guven G, Tison F, Tranchant C, Vidailhet M, Corvol JC, Krack P, Leutenegger AL, Nalls MA, Hernandez DG, Heutink P, Gibbs JR, Hardy J, Wood NW, Gasser T, Durr A, Deleuze JF, Tazir M, Destée A, Lohmann E, Kabashi E, Singleton A, Corti O, Brice A (2016) Loss of VPS13C Function in Autosomal-Recessive Parkinsonism Causes Mitochondrial Dysfunction and Increases PINK1/Parkin-Dependent Mitophagy. Am J Hum Genet. 2016 Mar 3;98(3):500-13. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2016.01.014.

Lehtonen Š, Jaronen M, Vehviläinen P, Lakso M, Rudgalvyte M, Keksa-Goldsteine V, Wong G, Courtney MJ, Koistinaho J, Goldsteins G (2016) Inhibition of Excessive Oxidative Protein Folding Is Protective in MPP(+) Toxicity-Induced Parkinson's Disease Models. Antioxid Redox Signal. 2016 Sep 10;25(8):485-97. doi: 10.1089/ars.2015.6402.

Li JY, Englund E, Holton JL, Soulet D, Hagell P, Lees AJ, Lashley T, Quinn NP, Rehncrona S, Björklund A, Widner H, Revesz T, Lindvall O, Brundin P (2008) Lewy bodies in grafted neurons in subjects with Parkinson's disease suggest host-to-graft disease propagation. Nat Med. 2008 May;14(5):501-3. doi: 10.1038/nm1746.

Li W, Lesuisse C, Xu Y, Troncoso JC, Price DL, Lee MK (2004) Stabilization of alphasynuclein protein with aging and familial Parkinson's disease-linked A53T mutation. J. Neurosci. 24, 7400–7409.

Li WW, Yang R, Guo JC, Ren HM, Zha XL, Cheng JS, Cai DF (2007) Localization of alpha- ynuclein to mitochondria within midbrain of mice. Neuroreport 18:1543–1546.

Liu, X., and G. Hajnóczky (2009) Ca2+-dependent regulation of mitochondrial dynamics by the Miro-Milton complex. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 41:1972–1976. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biocel.2009.05.013

Liu G, Zhang C, Yin J, Li X, Cheng F, Li Y, Yang H, Ueda K, Chan P, Yu S (2009) Alpha-synuclein is differentially expressed in mitochondria from different rat brain regions and dose-dependently down-regulates complex I activity. Neurosci Lett 454:187–192

Lopert P, Patel M (2016) Mitochondrial mechanisms of redox cycling agents implicated in Parkinson's disease. J Neural Transm (Vienna). 2016 Feb;123(2):113-23. doi: 10.1007/s00702-015-1386-4.

López de Armentia MM, Amaya C, Colombo MI (2016) Rab GTPases and the Autophagy Pathway: Bacterial Targets for a Suitable Biogenesis and Trafficking of Their Own Vacuoles. Cells. 2016 Mar 8;5(1). pii: E11. doi: 10.3390/cells5010011.

Lorenzen N, Otzen DE (2014) Oligomers of  $\alpha$ -synuclein: picking the culprit in the line-up. Essays Biochem. 2014;56:137-48. doi: 10.1042/bse0560137

Lööv C, Scherzer CR, Hyman BT, Breakefield XO, Ingelsson M (2016) α-Synuclein in Extracellular Vesicles: Functional Implications and Diagnostic Opportunities. Cell Mol Neurobiol. 2016 Mar 18.

Luk K. C., Kehm V. M., Zhang B., O'Brien P., Trojanowski J. Q., Lee V. M. Y. (2012a) Intracerebral

inoculation of pathological alpha-synuclein initiates a rapidly progressive neurodegenerative alpha-synucleinopathy in mice. J. Exp. Med. 209, 975–986.

Luk K. C., Kehm V., Carroll J., Bin Zhang, O'Brien P., Trojanowski J. Q., Lee V. M. Y. (2012b) Pathological α-synuclein transmission initiates Parkinson-like neurodegeneration in nontransgenic mice. Science 338, 949–953.

Luk K. C., Song C., O'Brien P., Stieber A., Branch J. R., Brunden K. R., Trojanowski J. Q., Lee V. M. Y. (2009) Exogenous alpha-synuclein fibrils seed the formation of Lewy body-like intracellular inclusions in cultured cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 106, 20051–20056.

Lynch-Day MA, Mao K, Wang K, Zhao M, Klionsky DJ (2012) The role of autophagy in Parkinson's disease. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 2:a009357.

MacAskill, A.F., and J.T. Kittler. (2010) Control of mitochondrial transport and localization in neurons. Trends Cell Biol. 20:102–112. <u>http://dx.doi.org/</u> 10.1016/j.tcb.2009.11.002.

MacAskill, A.F., K. Brickley, F.A. Stephenson, and J.T. Kittler (2009) GTPase dependent recruitment of Grif-1 by Miro1 regulates mitochondrial trafficking in hippocampal neurons. Mol. Cell. Neurosci. 40:301–312. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.mcn.2008.10.016.

Macconi D, Perico L, Benigni A (2016) MITOCHONDRIAL DYNAMICS IS LINKED TO LONGEVITY AND PROTECTS FROM END-ORGAN INJURY: THE EMERGING ROLE OF SIRTUIN 3. Antioxid Redox Signal. 2016 Mar 14.

Magalhaes J, Gegg ME, Migdalska-Richards A, Doherty MK, Whitfield PD, Schapira AH (2016) Autophagic lysosome reformation dysfunction in glucocerebrosidase deficient cells: relevance to Parkinson disease. Hum Mol Genet. 2016 Jul 4. pii: ddw185.

McInnes J, Rehders M, McFaline-Figueroa JR, Brix K, Pon LA, Nevoigt E (2013) Defects in mitochondrial distribution during the prolonged lag phase of Saccharomyces cerevisiae preceding growth in glycerol as the sole source of carbon. FEMS Yeast Res. 2013 Nov;13(7):706-10. doi: 10.1111/1567-1364.12085. Epub 2013 Sep 24.

Maharjan S, Sakai Y, Hoseki J (2016) Screening of dietary antioxidants against mitochondria-mediated oxidative stress by visualization of intracellular redox state. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem. 2016 Apr;80(4):726-34. doi: 10.1080/09168451.2015.1123607.

Mahul-Mellier AL, Vercruysse F, Maco B, Ait-Bouziad N, De Roo M, Muller D, Lashuel HA (2015) Fibril growth and seeding capacity play key roles in  $\alpha$ -synuclein-mediated apoptotic cell death. Cell Death Differ. 2015 Dec;22(12):2107-22. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2015.79.

Maiti NC, Apetri MM, Zagorski MG, Carey PR, Anderson VE (2004) Raman spectroscopic characterization of secondary structure in natively unfolded proteins: alpha-synuclein. J Am Chem Soc. 2004 Mar 3;126(8):2399-408.

Majeski AE, Dice JF. Mechanisms of chaperonemediated autophagy. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 2004; 36:2435-2444.

Malhotra, J. D.; Kaufman, R. J. (2007). The Endoplasmic Reticulum and the Unfolded Protein Response. Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology 18(6): 716–731.

Manning-Bog AB, McCormack AL, Li J, Uversky VN, Fink AL, Di Monte DA (2002) The herbicide paraquat causes up-regulation and aggregation of alpha-synuclein in mice: paraquat and alpha-synuclein. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 1641–1644.

Manor U, Bartholomew S, Golani G, Christenson E, Kozlov M, Higgs H, Spudich J, Lippincott-Schwartz J (2015) A mitochondria- anchored isoform of the actin-nucleating Spire protein regulates mitochondrial division. eLife 4. doi:10.7554/eLife.08828.

Marchetto MC, Winner B, Gage FH (2010) Pluripotent stem cells in neurodegenerative and neurodevelopmental diseases. Hum Mol Genet 19:R71-76.

Marmolino D, Foerch P, Atienzar FA, Staelens L, Michel A, Scheller D (2016) Alpha synuclein dimers and oligomers are increased in overexpressing conditions in vitro and in vivo. Mol Cell Neurosci. 2016 Mar;71:92-101. doi: 10.1016/j.mcn.2015.12.012.

Marques SC, Oliveira CR, Pereira CM, Outeiro TF (2011) Epigenetics in neurodegeneration: a new layer of complexity. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 35:348-355.

Martella G, Madeo G, Maltese M, Vanni V, Puglisi F, Ferraro E, Schirinzi T, Valente EM, Bonanni L, Shen J, Mandolesi G, Mercuri NB, Bonsi P, Pisani A (2016) Exposure to low-dose rotenone precipitates synaptic plasticity alterations in PINK1 heterozygous knockout mice. Neurobiol Dis. 2016 Feb 22. pii: S0969-9961(15)30120-0. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2015.12.020.

Martin LJ, Pan Y, Price AC, Sterling W, Copeland NG, Jenkins NA, Price DL, Lee MK (2006) Parkinson's disease alpha- synuclein transgenic mice develop neuronal mitochondrial degeneration and cell death. J Neurosci 26:41–50.

Matsuda W, Furuta T, Nakamura KC, Hioki H, Fujiyama F, Arai R, Kaneko T (2009) Single nigrostriatal dopaminergic neurons form widely spread and highly dense axonal arborizations in the neostriatum. J. Neurosci. 29, 444–453.

Mattson MP, Magnus T (2006) Ageing and neuronal vulnerability. Nat Rev Neurosci 7:278-294.

McCann H, Cartwright H, Halliday GM (2016) Mov Disord. 2016 Feb;31(2):152-60. Doi: 10.1002/mds.26421.

McLean J. R., Hallett P. J., Cooper O., Stanley M., Isacson O. (2012) Transcript expression levels of full-length alpha-synuclein and its three alternatively spliced variants in Parkinson's disease brain regions and in a transgenic mouse model of alpha-synuclein overexpression. Mol. Cell. Neurosci. 49, 230–239.

Melo TQ, D'unhao AM, Martins SA, Farizatto KL, Chaves RS, Ferrari MF (2013) Rotenone-dependent changes of anterograde motor protein expression and mitochondrial mobility in brain areas related to neurodegenerative diseases. Cell Mol Neurobiol. 2013 Apr;33(3):327-35. doi: 10.1007/s10571-012-9898-z.

Mercado G, Castillo V, Soto P, Sidhu A (2016) ER stress and Parkinson's disease: Pathological inputs that converge into the secretory pathway. Brain Res. 2016 Apr 19. pii: S0006-8993(16)30260-8. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2016.04.042.

Migdalska-Richards A, Schapira AH (2016) The relationship between glucocerebrosidase mutations and Parkinson disease. J Neurochem. 2016 Feb 10. doi: 10.1111/jnc.13385.

Miklya I, Pencz N, Hafenscher F, Göltl P (2014) [The role of alpha-synuclein in Parkinson's disease]. Neuropsychopharmacol Hung. 2014 Jun;16(2):77-84.

Miller D. W., Hague S. M., Clarimon J., Baptista M., Gwinn-Hardy K., Cookson M. R., Singleton A. B. (2004) Alpha-synuclein in blood and brain from familial Parkinson disease with SNCA locus triplication. Neurology 62, 1835–1838.

Miller-Fleming L, Cheong H, Antas P, Klionsky DJ, Detection of Atg13 by 493 western blot, Autophagy 10 (2014).

Mironov SL, Symonchuk N (2006) ER vesicles and mitochondria move and communicate at synapses. J Cell Sci 119:4926–4934. doi:10.1242/jcs.03254.

Misko A, Jiang S, Wegorzewska I, Milbrandt J, Baloh RH (2010) Mitofusin 2 is necessary for transport of axonal mitochondria and interacts with the Miro/Milton complex. J Neurosci 30:4232–4240. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6248-09.2010

Mironov, S.L. 2007. ADP regulates movements of mitochondria in neurons. Biophys. J. 92:2944–2952. http://dx.doi.org/10.1529/biophysj.106.092981.

Misko AL, Sasaki Y, Tuck E, Milbrandt J, Baloh RH (2012) Mitofusin2 mutations disrupt axonal mitochondrial positioning and promote axon degeneration. J Neurosci 32:4145–4155. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6338-11.2012.

Mizushima N, Yoshimori T, Levine B (2010) Methods in mammalian autophagy 495 research, Cell 140; 313–326.

Mizushima N, Yoshimori T (2007) How to interpret LC3 immunoblotting, Autophagy 502; 3 542–545.

Mootha VK, Bunkenborg J, Olsen JV, Hjerrild M, Wisniewski JR, Stahl E, Bolouri MS, Ray HN, Sihag S, Kamal M, Patterson N, Lander ES, Mann M (2003) Integrated analysis of protein composition, tissue diversity, and gene regulation in mouse mitochondria. Cell 115:629–640

Moussa CE, Mahmoodian F, Tomita Y, Sidhu A (2008) Dopamine differentially induces aggregation of A53T mutant and wild type alpha-synuclein: insights into the protein chemistry of Parkinson's disease. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 365:833–839.

Nagatsu T, Sawada M (2006) Cellular and molecular mechanisms of Parkinson's disease: neurotoxins, causative genes, and inflammatory cytokines. Cell Mol Neurobiol 26:781–802.

Nakamura K, Nemani VM, Wallender EK, Kaehlcke K, Ott M, Edwards RH (2008) Optical reporters for the conformation of alpha-synuclein reveal a specific interaction with mitochondria. J Neurosci 28:12305–12317.

Nakamura K, Nemani VM, Azarbal F, Skibinski G, Levy JM, Egami K, Munishkina L, Zhang J, Gardner B, Wakabayashi J, Sesaki H, Cheng Y, Finkbeiner S, Nussbaum RL, Masliah E, Edwards RH (2011) Direct membrane association drives mitochondrial fission by the Parkinson disease-associated protein alpha-synuclein. J Biol Chem 286:20710–20726.

Naoi M, Maruyama W, Yi H, Yamaoka Y, Shamoto-Nagai M, Akao Y, Gerlach M, Tanaka M, Riederer P (2008) Neuromelanin selectively induces apoptosis in dopaminergic SH-SY5Y cells by deglutathionylation in mitochondria: involvement of the protein and melanin component. J Neurochem. 2008 Jun 1;105(6):2489-500. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2008.05329.x.

Naoi M, Yi H, Maruyama W, Inaba K, Shamoto-Nagai M, Akao Y, Gerlach M, Riederer P (2009) Glutathione redox status in mitochondria and cytoplasm differentially and sequentially activates apoptosis cascade in dopamine-melanin-treated SH-SY5Y cells. Neurosci Lett. 2009 Nov 13;465(2):118-22. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2009.08.082.

Narhi L, Wood SJ, Steavenson S, Jiang Y, Wu GM, Anafi D, Kaufman SA, Martin F, Sitney K, Denis P, Louis JC, Wypych J, Biere AL, Citron M (1999) Both familial Parkinson's disease mutations accelerate alpha-synuclein aggregation. J Biol Chem. 1999 Apr 2;274(14):9843-6

Navarro A, Boveris A (2010) Brain mitochondrial dysfunction in aging, neurodegeneration, and Parkinson's disease. Front Aging Neurosci 2.

Nemani VM, Lu W, Berge V, Nakamura K, Onoa B, Lee MK, Chaudhry FA, Nicoll RA, Edwards RH(2010) Increased expression of alpha-synuclein reduces neurotransmitter release by inhibiting synaptic vesicle reclustering after endocytosis. Neuron 65:66–79.

Nguyen HN, Byers B, Cord B, Shcheglovitov A, Byrne J, Gujar P, Kee K, Schule B, Dolmetsch RE, Langston W, Palmer TD, Pera RR (2011) LRRK2 mutant iPSC-derived DA neurons demonstrate increased susceptibility to oxidative stress. Cell Stem Cell 8:267–280

Nguyen TT, Oh SS, Weaver D, Lewandowska A, Maxfield D, Schuler Mh, Smith NK, Macfarlane J, Saunders G, Palmer CA, Debasttisti V, Koshiba T, Pulst S, Feldman EL, Hajnoczky G, Shaw JM (2014) Loss of Miro1- directed mitochondrial movement results in a novel murine model for neurons disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci 111 (35): E3631-40.

Nikawa, J.; Akiyoshi, M.; Hirata, S.; Fukuda, T. (1996). Saccharomycescerevisiae IRE2/HAC1 is involved in IRE1-mediated KAR2 expression. Nucleic Acids Res 24: 4222-4226.

Noelker C, Lu L, Höllerhage M, Vulinovic F, Sturn A, Roscher R, Höglinger GU, Hirsch EC, Oertel WH, Alvarez-Fischer D, Andreas H (2015) Glucocerebrosidase deficiency and mitochondrial impairment in experimental Parkinson disease. J Neurol Sci. 2015 Sep 15;356(1-2):129-36. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2015.06.030.

Nordström U, Beauvais G, Ghosh A, Pulikkaparambil Sasidharan BC, Lundblad M, Fuchs J, Joshi RL, Lipton JW, Roholt A, Medicetty S, Feinstein TN, Steiner JA, Escobar Galvis ML, Prochiantz A, Brundin P (2015) Progressive nigrostriatal terminal dysfunction and degeneration in the engrailed1 heterozygous mouse model of Parkinson's disease. Neurobiol Dis. 2015 Jan;73:70-82. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2014.09.012.

Oka S, Hirai J, Yasukawa T, Nakahara Y, Inoue YH (2015) A correlation of reactive oxygen species accumulation by depletion of superoxide dismutases with age-dependent impairment in the nervous system and muscles of Drosophila adults. Biogerontology. 2015 Aug;16(4):485-501. doi: 10.1007/s10522-015-9570-3.

Oláh J, Vincze O, Virók D, Simon D, Bozsó Z, Tõkési N, Horváth I, Hlavanda E, Kovács J, Magyar A, Szűcs M, Orosz F, Penke B, Ovádi J. Interactions of pathological hallmark proteins: tubulin polymerization promoting protein/p25, beta-amyloid, and alpha-synuclein. J Biol Chem. 2011 Sep 30;286(39):34088-100. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.243907.

Olchowik M, Miaczynska M (2009) [Effectors of GTPase Rab5 in endocytosis and signal transduction]. Postepy Biochem 55:171-180.

Orimo S, Uchihara T, Kanazawa T, Itoh Y, Wakabayashi K, Kakita A, Takahashi H (2011) Unmyelinated axons are more vulnerable to degeneration than myelinated axons of the cardiac nerve in Parkinson's disease. Neuropathol. Appl. Neurobiol. 37, 791–802.

Orth M, Schapira AH (2002) Mitochondrial involvement in Parkinson's disease. Neurochem. Int. 40, 533–541.

Orth M, Tabrizi SJ, Tomlinson C, Messmer K, Korlipara LV, Schapira AH, Cooper JM (2004) G209A mutant alpha synuclein expression specifically enhances dopamine induced oxidative damage. Neurochem Int 45:669–676.

Oshima R, Hasegawa T, Tamai K, Sugeno N, Yoshida S, Kobayashi J, Kikuchi A, Baba T, Futatsugi A, Sato I, Satoh K, Takeda A, Aoki M, Tanaka N (2016) ESCRT-0 dysfunction compromises autophagic degradation of protein aggregates and facilitates ER stress-mediated neurodegeneration via apoptotic and necroptotic

pathways. Sci Rep. 2016 Apr 26;6:24997. doi: 10.1038/srep24997.

Otera, H.,Ishihara,N.,and Mihara,K.(2013). New insights into the function and regulation of mitochondrial fission. Biochim. Biophys.Acta 1833, 1256–1268. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2013.02.002.

Ottolini D, Calì T, Szabò I, Brini M (2016) Alpha-synuclein at the intracellular and the extracellular side: functional and dysfunctional implications.

Outeiro TF, Kontopoulos E, Altmann SM, Kufareva I, Strathearn KE, Amore AM, Volk CB, Maxwell MM, Rochet JC, McLean PJ, Young AB, Abagyan R, Feany MB, Hyman BT, Kazantsev AG (2007) Sirtuin 2 Inhibitors Rescue  $\alpha$ -Synuclein-Mediated Toxicity in Models of Parkinson's Disease. Science 317: 516-519. Pallauf K, Rimbach G (2013) Autophagy, polyphenols and healthy ageing. Ageing Res Rev 12:237–252

Palmier KL, Sukoff Rizzo SJ, Berger Z, Chen Y, Gonzales C, Kaftan E, Li L, Lotarski S, Monaghan M, Shen W, Stolyar P, Vasilyev D, Zaleska M, D Hirst W, Dunlop J.(2013) Behavioral characterization of A53T mice reveals early and late stage deficits related to Parkinson's disease. PLoS One 1;8(8):e70274.

Pan X, Chen C, Huang J, Wei H, Fan Q (2015) Neuroprotective effect of combined therapy with hyperbaric oxygen and madopar on 6-hydroxydopamine-induced Parkinson's disease in rats. Neurosci Lett. 2015 Jul 23;600:220-5. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2015.06.030.

Pandya JD, Grondin R, Yonutas HM, Haghnazar H, Gash DM, Zhang Z, Sullivan PG (2015) Decreased mitochondrial bioenergetics and calcium buffering capacity in the basal ganglia correlates with motor deficits in a nonhuman primate model of aging. Neurobiol Aging. 2015 May;36(5):1903-13. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2015.01.018.

Pantusa M, Vad B, Lillelund O, Kjær L, Otzen D, Bartucci R (2016) Alpha-synuclein and familial variants affect the chain order and the thermotropic phase behavior of anionic lipid vesicles. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2016 Sep;1864(9):1206-14. doi: 10.1016/j.bbapap.2016.05.003.

Park JS, Blair NF, Sue CM (2015) The role of ATP13A2 in Parkinson's disease: Clinical phenotypes and molecular mechanisms. Mov Disord. 2015 May;30(6):770-9. doi: 10.1002/mds.26243.

Parkinson J. 1817. An essay on the shaking palsy. Whittingham and Rowland for Sherwood, Needly and Jones, London.

Paullisson S, Stoica R, Gomez-Suaga P, Lau DH, Mueller S, Miller T, Miller CC. (2016) There's Something Wrong with my MAM; the ER-Mitochondria Axis and Neurodegenerative Diseases. Treds. Neurosci; Feb 15. pii: S0166-2236(16)00021-7. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2016.01.008.

Penke B, Bogár F, Fülöp L (2016) Protein Folding and Misfolding, Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress in Neurodegenerative Diseases: in Trace of Novel Drug Targets. Curr Protein Pept Sci. 2016;17(2):169-82.

Pike CJ, Walencewicz AJ, Glabe CG, Cotman CW (1991) Aggregation-related toxicity of synthetic betaamyloid protein in hippocampal cultures. Eur J Pharmacol. 1991 Aug 14;207(4):367-8.

Olgiati S, Thomas A, Quadri M, Breedveld GJ, Graafland J, Eussen H, Douben H, de Klein A, Onofrj M, Bonifati V (2015) Early-onset parkinsonism caused by alpha-synuclein gene triplication: Clinical and genetic findings in a novel family. Parkinsonism Relat Disord. 2015 Aug;21(8):981-6. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2015.06.005.

Ono K, Ikeda T, Takasaki J, Yamada M. (2011) Familial Parkinson disease mutations influence  $\alpha$ -synuclein assembly. Neurobiol Dis. 2011 Sep;43(3):715-24. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2011.05.025.

Oueslati A., Fournier M., Lashuel H. A. (2010) Role of post-translational modifications in modulating the

structure, function and toxicity of alpha-synuclein: implications for Parkinson's disease pathogenesis and therapies. Prog. Brain Res. 183, 115–145.

Passarino G, De Rango F, Montesanto A (2016) Human longevity: Genetics or Lifestyle? It takes two to tango. Immun Ageing. 2016 Apr 5;13:12. doi: 10.1186/s12979-016-0066-z. eCollection 2016.

Paumier K. L., Luk K. C., Manfredsson F. P., Kanaan N. M., lipton J. W., Collier T. J., Steece-Collier K., et al. (2015) Intrastriatal injection of pre-formed mouse  $\alpha$ -synuclein fibrils into rats triggers  $\alpha$ - synuclein pathology and bilateral nigrostriatal degeneration. Neurobiol Dis 82, 185–199.

Perez R. G., Waymire J. C., Lin E., Liu J. J., Guo F. L., Zigmond M. J. (2002) A role for alpha-synuclein in the regulation of dopamine biosynthesis. J Neurosci 22, 3090–3099.

Perez R. G., Hastings T. G. (2004) Could a loss of alpha-synuclein function put dopaminergic neurons at risk? Journal of Neurochemistry 89, 1318–1324.

Pfefferkorn CM, Heinrich F, Sodt AJ, Maltsev AS, Pastor RW, Lee JC (2012) Depth of  $\alpha$ -synuclein in a bilayer determined by fluorescence, neutron reflectometry, and computation. Biophys J. 2012 Feb 8;102(3):613-21. doi: 10.1016/j.bpj.2011.12.051.

Polito L, Greco A, Seripa D (2016) Genetic Profile, Environmental Exposure, and Their Interaction in Parkinson's Disease. Parkinsons Dis. 2016;2016:6465793. doi: 10.1155/2016/6465793.

Prince M, Bryce R, Albanese E, Wimo A, Ribeiro W, Ferri CP. (2013) The global prevalence of dementia: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Alzheimers Dement. Jan;9(1):63-75.e2. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2012.11.007.

Prinzinger R (2005) Programmed ageing: the theory of maximal metabolic scope. How does the biological clock tick? EMBO Rep. 6 Spec No, S14–S19.

Przedborski S (2007) Peroxiredoxin-2 links Cdk5 to neurodegeneration. Nat Med 13:907-909.

Qian JJ, Cheng YB, Yang YP, Mao CJ, Qin ZH, Li K, Liu CF (2008) Differential effects of overexpression of wild-type and mutant human alpha-synuclein on MPP+-induced neurotoxicity in PC12 cells. Neurosci Lett 435:142-146.

Quirós PM, Mottis A, Auwerx J (2016) Mitonuclear communication in homeostasis and stress. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2016 Mar 9. doi: 10.1038/nrm.2016.23.

Ramírez MB, Pérez JM, Rivero-Ríos P, Martínez-Salvador M, Lara Ordóñez AJ, Fernández B, Fdez E, Hilfiker S (2016) LRRK2 and Parkinson's disease: from lack of structure to gain of function. Curr Protein Pept Sci. 2016 Mar 11.

Ramsay RR, Krueger MJ, Youngster SK, Gluck MR, Casida JE, Singer TP (1991) Interaction of 1-methyl-4-phenylpyridinium ion (MPP+) and its analogs with the rotenone/piericidin binding site of NADH dehydrogenase. J. Neurochem. 56, 1184–1190.

Rangel-Barajas C, Coronel I, Florán B (2015) Dopamine Receptors and Neurodegeneration. Aging Dis. 2015 Oct 1;6(5):349-68. doi: 10.14336/AD.2015.0330.

Redmann M, Darley-Usmar V, Zhang J (2016) The Role of Autophagy, Mitophagy and Lysosomal Functions in Modulating Bioenergetics and Survival in the Context of Redox and Proteotoxic Damage: Implications for Neurodegenerative Diseases. Aging Dis. 2016 Mar 15;7(2):150-62. doi: 10.14336/AD.2015.0820.

Reeve A, Simcox E, Turnbull D (2014) Ageing and Parkinson's disease: why is advancing age the biggest risk factor? Ageing Res Rev 14:19–30

Reeve AK, Ludtmann MH, Angelova PR, Simcox EM, Horrocks MH, Klenerman D, Gandhi S, Turnbull DM, Abramov AY (2015) Aggregated  $\alpha$ -synuclein and complex I deficiency: exploration of their relationship in differentiated neurons. Cell Death Dis. 2015 Jul 16;6:e1820. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2015.166

Reimão S, Ferreira S, Nunes RG, Pita Lobo P, Neutel D, Abreu D, Gonçalves N, Campos J, Ferreira JJ (2016) Magnetic resonance correlation of iron content with neuromelanin in the substantia nigra of early-stage Parkinson's disease. Eur J Neurol. 2016 Feb;23(2):368-74. doi: 10.1111/ene.12838

Rey NL, George S, Brundin P (2016) Review: Spreading the word: precise animal models and validated methods are vital when evaluating prion-like behaviour of alpha-synuclein. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol. 2016 Feb;42(1):51-76. doi: 10.1111/nan.12299.

Richter C (1992) Reactive oxygen and DNA damage in mitochondria. Mutat. Res. 275, 249–255.

Riederer P, Wuketich S (1976) Time course of nigrostriatal degeneration in Parkinson's disease. A detailed study of influential factors in human brain amine analysis. J. Neural. Transm. 38, 277–301.

Ritz BR, Paul KC, Bronstein JM (2016) Of Pesticides and Men: a California Story of Genes and Environment in Parkinson's Disease. Curr Environ Health Rep. 2016 Feb 9. [Epub ahead of print] Rubinsztein DC (2006) The roles of intracellular protein-degradation pathways in neurodegeneration. Nature. 2006 Oct 19;443(7113):780-6.

Rodriguez M, Sabate-Rodriguez C, Morales I, Sanchez A, Sabate M (2015) Parkinson's disease as result of aging. Aging Cell; 14, pp293-308.

Roeper J (2013) Dissecting the diversity of midbrain dopamine neurons. Trends Neurosci. 2013 Jun;36(6):336-42. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2013.03.003.

Rostovtseva TK, Gurnev PA, Protchenko O, Hoogerheide DP, Yap TL, Philpott CC, Lee JC, Bezrukov SM (2015) α-Synuclein Shows High Affinity Interaction with Voltage-dependent Anion Channel, Suggesting Mechanisms of Mitochondrial Regulation and Toxicity in Parkinson Disease. J Biol Chem. 2015 Jul 24;290(30):18467-77. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M115.641746.

Rowland AA, Voeltz GK (2012) Endoplasmic reticulum-mitochondria contacts: function of the junction. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2012 Oct;13(10):607-25. doi: 10.1038/nrm3440.

Rudow G, O'Brien R, Savonenko AV, Resnick SM, Zonderman AB, Pletnikova O, Marsh L, Dawson TM, Crain BJ, West MJ, Troncoso JC (2008) Morphometry of the human substantia nigra in ageing and Parkinson's disease. Acta Neuropathol. 115, 461–470.

Rusmini P, Crippa V, Cristofani R, Rinaldi C, Cicardi ME, Galbiati M, Carra S, Malik B, Greensmith L, Poletti A (2015) The Role of the Protein Quality Control System in SBMA. J Mol Neurosci. 2015 Nov 14.

Russo, G.J., K. Louie, A. Wellington, G.T. Macleod, F. Hu, S. Panchumarthi, and K.E. Zinsmaier. 2009. Drosophila Miro is required for both anterograde and retrograde axonal mitochondrial transport. J. Neurosci. 29:5443–5455. http://dx.doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5417-08.2009.

Ryan BJ, Hoek S, Fon EA, Wade-Martins R (2015) Mitochondrial dysfunction and mitophagy in Parkinson's: from familial to sporadic disease. Trends Biochem Sci. 2015 Apr;40(4):200-10. doi: 10.1016/j.tibs.2015.02.003.

Saito Y, Shioya A, Sano T, Sumikura H, Murata M, Murayama S (2016) Lewy body pathology involves the olfactory cells in Parkinson's disease and related disorders. Mov Disord. 2016 Jan;31(1):135-8. doi:

10.1002/mds.26463.

Santos CX, Tanaka, LY Wosniak, J, Laurindo FR (2009) Mechanisms and implications of reactive oxygen species generation during the unfolded protein response: Roles of endoplasmic reticulum oxidoreductases, mitochondrial electron transport, and NADPH oxidase. Antioxid. Redox Signal. 11, 2409–2427.

Santos CX, Nabeebaccus AA, Shah AM, Camargo LL, Filho SV, Lopes LR (2014) Endoplasmic reticulum stress and Nox-mediated reactive oxygen species signaling in the peripheral vasculature: Potential role in hypertension. Antioxid. Redox Signal. 20, 121–134.

Saotome, M., D. Safiulina, G. Szabadkai, S. Das, A. Fransson, P. Aspenstrom, R. Rizzuto, and G. Hajnóczky (2008) Bidirectional Ca2+-dependent control of mitochondrial dynamics by the Miro GTPase. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 105:20728–20733. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0808953105</u>.

Saotome, M., Safiulina, D., Szabadkai, G., Das, S., Fransson, A., Aspenstrom, P., Rizzuto, R., Hajnóczky, G., 2008. Bidirectional Ca2+-dependent control of mitochondrial dynamics by the Miro GTPase. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 105, 20728–20733. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10</u>. 1073/pnas.0808953105.

Serpell L. C., Berriman J., Jakes R., Goedert M., Crowther R. A. (2000) Fiber diffraction of synthetic alpha-synuclein filaments shows amyloid-like cross-beta conformation. PNAS 97, 4897–4902.

Scialò F, Sriram A, Fernández-Ayala D, Gubina N, Lõhmus M, Nelson G, Logan A, Cooper HM, Navas P, Enríquez JA, Murphy MP, Sanz A (2016) Mitochondrial ROS Produced via Reverse Electron Transport Extend Animal Lifespan Cell Metab. 2016 Apr 12;23(4):725-34. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2016.03.009.

Schröder, M. (2008). Endoplasmic reticulum stress responses. Cell Mol. Life Sci. 65: 862-894.

Sharma N, McLean PJ, Kawamata H, Irizarry MC, Hyman BT (2001) Alpha-synuclein has an altered conformation and shows a tight intermolecular interaction with ubiquitin in Lewy bodies. Acta Neuropathol. 2001 Oct;102(4):329-34.

Sharon R, Bar-Joseph I, Frosch MP, Walsh DM, Hamilton JA, Selkoe DJ (2003) The formation of highly soluble oligomers of alpha-synuclein is regulated by fatty acids and enhanced in Parkinson's disease. Neuron. 2003 Feb 20;37(4):583-95.

Shavali S, Brown-Borg HM, Ebadi M, Porter J (2008) Mitochondrial localization of alpha-synuclein protein in alphasynuclein overexpressing cells. Neurosci Lett 439:125–128

Sheng ZH (2014) Mitochondrial trafficking and anchoring in neurons: New insight and implications. J Cell Biol. 2014 Mar 31;204(7):1087-98. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201312123.

Sherman MY, Goldberg AL (2001) Cellular defenses against unfolded proteins: a cell biologist thinks about neurodegenerative diseases. Neuron. 2001 Jan;29(1):15-32.

Shingai Y, Tateno A, Arakawa R, Sakayori T, Kim W, Suzuki H, Okubo Y (2014) Age-related decline in dopamine transporter in human brain using PET with a new radioligand [<sup>18</sup>F]FE-PE2I. Ann Nucl Med. 2014 Apr;28(3):220-6. doi: 10.1007/s12149-013-0798-1.

Shruthi K, Reddy SS, Reddy PY, Shivalingam P, Harishankar N, Reddy GB (2016) Amelioration of neuronal cell death in a spontaneous obese rat model by dietary restriction through modulation of ubiquitin proteasome system. J Nutr Biochem. 2016 Jul;33:73-81. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2016.03.008.

Sian J, Dexter DT, Lees AJ, Daniel S, Jenner P, Marsden CD (1994) Glutathione-related enzymes in brain in Parkinson's disease. Ann Neurol 36(3):356–361. doi:10.1002/ana.410360306

Sidhu A, Wersinger C, Moussa CE, Vernier P (2004) The role of alpha-synuclein in both neuroprotection and neurodegeneration. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1035:250-270.

Smeyne M, Smeyne RJ (2013) Glutathione metabolism and Parkinson's disease. Free Radic Biol Med 62:13–25. doi:10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2013.05.001.

Smith, B. N.; Newhouse, S.; Shatunov, A.; Vance, C.; Topp, S.; Johnson, L.; et al. (2013). The C9ORF72 expansion mutation is a common cause of ALS+/–FTD in Europe and has a single founder. European Journal of Humam Genetics 21: 102-8.

Smith WW, Jiang H, Pei Z, Tanaka Y, Morita H, Sawa A, Dawson VL, Dawson TM, Ross CA (2005) Endoplasmic reticulum stress and mitochondrial cell death pathways mediate A53T mutant alpha-synuclein-induced toxicity. Hum Mol Genet. 2005 Dec 15;14(24):3801-11.

Singleton A, Gwinn-Hardy K, Sharabi Y, Li ST, Holmes C, Dendi R, Hardy J, Singleton A, Crawley A, Goldstein DS (2004) Association between cardiac denervation and parkinsonism caused by alpha-synuclein gene triplication. Brain. 2004 Apr;127(Pt 4):768-72.

Song JX, Lu JH, Liu LF, Chen LL, Durairajan SS, Yue Z, Zhang HQ, Li M (2013) HMGB1 is involved in autophagy inhibition caused by SNCA/ $\alpha$ -synuclein overexpression: a process modulated by the natural autophagy inducer corynoxine B. Autophagy 10:1–11.

Song P, Trajkovic K, Tsunemi T, Krainc D (2016) Parkin Modulates Endosomal Organization and Function of the Endo-Lysosomal Pathway. J Neurosci. 2016 Feb 24;36(8):2425-37. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2569-15.2016.

Sossi V, de La Fuente-Fernandez R, Holden JE, Doudet DJ, McKenzie J, Stoessl AJ, Ruth TJ (2002) Increase in dopamine turnover occurs early in Parkinson's disease: evidence from a new modeling approach to PET 18F-fluorodopa data. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 22, 232–239.

Spillantini MG (1999) Parkinson's disease, dementia with Lewy bodies and multiple system atrophy are alpha-synucleinopathies. Parkinsonism Relat Disord. 1999 Dec;5(4):157-62

Spillantini MG, Goedert M (2000) The alpha-synucleinopathies: Parkinson's disease, dementia with Lewy bodies, and multiple system atrophy. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2000;920:16-27.

Stefanovic AN, Lindhoud S, Semerdzhiev SA, Claessens MM, Subramaniam V (2015) Oligomers of Parkinson's Disease-Related  $\alpha$ -Synuclein Mutants Have Similar Structures but Distinctive Membrane Permeabilization Properties. Biochemistry. 2015 May 26;54(20):3142-50. doi: 10.1021/bi501369k

Stefani M, Dobson CM (2003) Protein aggregation and aggregate toxicity: new insights into protein folding, misfolding diseases and biological evolution. J Mol Med (Berl). 2003 Nov;81(11):678-99.

Sterky FH, Lee S, Wibom R, Olson L, Larsson NG (2011) Impaired mitochondrial transport and Parkinindependent degeneration of respiratory chain-deficient dopamine neurons in vivo. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA 108, 12937–12942.

Su C, Niu P (2015) Low doses of single or combined agrichemicals induces  $\alpha$ -synuclein aggregation in nigrostriatal system of mice through inhibition of proteasomal and autophagic pathways. Int J Clin Exp Med. 2015 Nov 15;8(11):20508-15.

Subramaniam SR, Vergnes L, Franich NR, Reue K, Chesselet MF (2014) Region specific mitochondrial impairment in mice with widespread overexpression of alpha-synuclein. Neurobiol Dis. 2014 Oct;70:204-13. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2014.06.017.

Sudhaman S, Prasad K, Behari M, Muthane UB, Juyal RC, Thelma BK (2016) Discovery of a frameshift mutation in podocalyxin-like (PODXL) gene, coding for a neural adhesion molecule, as causal for autosomal-recessive juvenile Parkinsonism. J Med Genet. 2016 Feb 10. pii: jmedgenet-2015-103459. doi: 10.1136/jmedgenet-2015-103459.

Sung JY, Kim J, Paik SR, Park JH, Ahn YS, Chung KC (2001) Induction of neuronal cell death by Rab5A-dependent endocytosis of alpha-synuclein. J Biol Chem 276:27441-27448.

Surguchov A. (2008) Chapter 6 Molecular and Cellular Biology of Synucleins. International review of cell and molecular biology.

Szegezdi, E.; Logue, S. E.; Gorman, A. M.; Samali, A. (2006). Mediators of endoplasmic reticulum stressinduced apoptosis. EMBO reports 7: 880-885.

Szunyogh S, Oláh J, Szénási T, Szabó A, Ovádi J (2015) Targeting the interface of the pathological complex of  $\alpha$ -synuclein and TPPP/p25. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2015 Dec;1852(12):2653-61. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2015.09.012.

Tabrizi SJ, Orth M, Wilkinson JM, Taanman JW, Warner TT, Cooper JM, Schapira AH (2000) Expression of mutant alphasynuclein causes increased susceptibility to dopamine toxicity. Hum Mol Genet 9:2683–2689.

Tagliafierro L, Chiba-Falek O (2016) Up-regulation of SNCA gene expression: implications to synucleinopathies. Neurogenetics. 2016 Mar 7.

Tan E.-K., Chandran V. R., Fook-Chong S., Shen H., Yew K., Teoh M.-L., Yuen Y., Zhao Y. (2005) Alphasynuclein mRNA expression in sporadic Parkinson's disease. Mov Disord 20, 620–623.

Tanner CM (1989) The role of environmental toxins in the etiology of Parkinson's disease. Trends Neurosci. 12, 49–54.

Tanner CM, Goldman SM, Ross GW, Grate SJ (2014) The disease intersection of susceptibility and exposure: chemical exposures and neurodegenerative disease risk. Alzheimers Dement. 2014 Jun;10(3 Suppl):S213-25. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2014.04.014.

Tanner CM (1992) Occupational and environmental causes of parkinsonism. Occup. Med. 7, 503-513.

Tehranian R., Montoya S. E., Van Laar A. D., Hastings T. G., Perez R. G. (2006) Alpha-synuclein inhibitsmaromatic amino acid decarboxylase activity in dopaminergic cells. Journal of Neurochemistry 99, 1188–1196.

Thanos PK, Hamilton J, O'Rourke JR, Napoli A, Febo M, Volkow ND, Blum K, Gold M (2016) Dopamine D2 gene expression interacts with environmental enrichment to impact lifespan and behavior. Oncotarget. 2016 Mar 15. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.8088.

Tolmasov M, Djaldetti R, Lev N, Gilgun-Sherki Y (2016) Pathological and clinical aspects of alpha/beta synuclein in Parkinson's disease and related disorders. Expert Rev. Neurother.

Torres VA, Mielgo A, Barbero S, Hsiao R, Wilkins JA, Stupack DG. Rab5 mediates caspase-8-promoted cell motility and metastasis. Mol Biol Cell. 2009;21:369–376. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E09-09-0769.

Trojanowski J. Q., Lee V. M. Y. (2011) Exogenous α-synuclein fibrils induce Lewy body pathology leading to synaptic dysfunction and neuron death. Neuron 72, 57–71.

Tu, B. P.; Weissman, J. S. (2004). Oxidative protein folding in eukaryotes: mechanisms and consequences.

The Journal of Cell Biology, 164(3), 341–346.

Turrens JF (2003) Mitochondrial formation of reactive oxygen species. J Physiol 552(Pt 2):335–344. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2003.049478

Uéda K., Fukushima H., Masliah E., Xia Y., Iwai A., Yoshimoto M., Otero D. A., Kondo J., Ihara Y., Saitoh T. (1993) Molecular cloning of cDNA encoding an unrecognized component of amyloid in Alzheimer disease. PNAS 90, 11282–11286.

Uéda K., Saitoh T., Mori H. (1994) Tissue-Dependent Alternative Splicing of Messenger-Rna for Nacp, the Precursor of Non-a-Beta Component of Alzheimers-Disease Amyloid. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 205, 1366–1372.

Uversky V. N. (2002) What does it mean to be natively unfolded? Eur J Biochem 269, 2–12.

Uversky V. N., Eliezer D. (2009) Biophysics of Parkinson's disease: structure and aggregation of alphasynuclein. Curr. Protein Pept. Sci. 10, 483–499.

van der Merwe C, Jalali Sefid Dashti Z, Christoffels A, Loos B, Bardien S (2015) Evidence for a common biological pathway linking three Parkinson's disease-causing genes: parkin, PINK1 and DJ-1. Eur J Neurosci. 2015 May;41(9):1113-25. doi: 10.1111/ejn.12872.

Vargas K. J., Makani S., Davis T., Westphal C. H., Castillo P. E., Chandra S. S. (2014) Synucleins regulate the kinetics of synaptic vesicle endocytosis. J Neurosci 34, 9364–9376.

Vilageliu L, Grinberg D (2016) Involvement of Gaucher Disease Mutations in Parkinson Disease. Curr Protein Pept Sci. 2016 Mar 10.

Vogiatzi T, Xilouri M, Vekrellis K, Stefanis L (2008) Wild type alpha-synuclein is degraded by chaperonemediated autophagy and macroautophagy in neuronal cells. J Biol Chem 283:23542–23556.

Volpicelli-Daley L. A., Luk K. C., Patel T. P., Tanik S. A., Riddle D. M., Stieber A., Meaney D. F., Toulouse A, Sullivan AM (2008) Progress in Parkinson's disease-where do we stando? Prog. Neurobiol. 85, 476-392.

Vallortigara J, Whitfield D, Quelch W, Alghamdi A, Howlett D, Hortobágyi T, Johnson M, Attems J, O'Brien JT, Thomas A, Ballard CG, Aarsland D, Francis PT (2015) Decreased Levels of VAMP2 and Monomeric Alpha-Synuclein Correlate with Duration of Dementia. J Alzheimers Dis. 2015;50(1):101-10. doi: 10.3233/JAD-150707.

van der Bliek, A.M., Shen, Q., and Kawajiri, S. (2013). Mechanisms of mitochondrial fission and fusion. Cold SpringHarb. Prospect. Biol. 5:a011072. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a011072.

van Vliet AR, Verfaillie T, Agostinis P (2014) New functions of mitochondria associated membranes in cellular signaling. Biochim Biophys Acta 1843:2253–2262. doi:10.1016/j. bbamcr.2014.03.009.

Vance JE (2014) MAM (mitochondria-associated membranes) in mammalian cells: lipids and beyond. Biochim Biophys Acta. doi:10.1016/j.bbalip.2013.11.014.

Vembar, S. S.; Brodsky, J. L. (2008). One step at a time: endoplasmic reticulum-associated degradation. Nature Reviews. Molecular Cell Biology 9(12): 944–957.

Vishnu N, Jadoon Khan M, Karsten F, Groschner LN, Waldeck- Weiermair M, Rost R, Hallström S, Imamura

H, Graier WF, Malli R (2014) ATP increases within the lumen of the endoplasmic reticulum upon intracellular Ca2+ release. Mol Biol Cell 25:368–379. doi:10.1091/mbc.E13-07-0433

Walberg, M. W. (2000). Applicability of yeast genetics to neurologic disease. Archives in Neurolog 57(8): 1129-1134.

Wang D, Kreutzer DA, Essigmann JM (1998) Mutagenicity and repair of oxidative DNA damage: insights from studies using defined lesions. Mutat. Res. 400, 99–115.

Wang, X., D. Winter, G. Ashrafi, J. Schlehe, Y.L. Wong, D. Selkoe, S. Rice, J. Steen, M.J. LaVoie, and T.L. Schwarz. (2011) PINK1 and Parkin target Miro for phosphorylation and degradation to arrest mitochondrial motility. Cell. 147:893–906. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2011.10.018.

Wang Z, Miao G, Xue X, Guo X, Yuan C, Wang Z, Zhang G, Chen Y, Feng D, Hu J, Zhang H (2016) The Vici Syndrome Protein EPG5 Is a Rab7 Effector that Determines the Fusion Specificity of Autophagosomes with Late Endosomes/Lysosomes. Mol Cell. 2016 Sep 1;63(5):781-95. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2016.08.021.

Webb JL, Ravikumar B, Atkins J, Skepper JN, Rubinsztein DC (2003) Alpha-synuclein is degraded by both autophagy and the proteasome. J Biol Chem 278:25009–25013.

Wegner CS, Malerod L, Pedersen NM, Progida C, Bakke O, Stenmark H, Brech A (2010) Ultrastructural characterization of giant endosomes induced by GTPase-deficient Rab5. Histochem Cell Biol.133:41–55. doi: 10.1007/s00418-009-0643-8.

Weihofen A, Thomas KJ, Ostaszewski BL, Cookson MR, Selkoe DJ (2009) Pink1 forms a multiprotein complex with Miro and Milton, linking Pink1 function to mitochondrial trafficking. Biochemistry 48, 2045–2052.

Weinreb P. H., Zhen W., Poon A. W., Conway K. A., Lansbury P. T. (1996) NACP, a protein implicated in Alzheimer's disease and learning, is natively unfolded. Biochemistry 35, 13709–13715.

Weintraub D, Comella CL, Horn S (2008) Parkinson's disease--Part 1: Pathophysiology, symptoms, burden, diagnosis, and assessment. Am J Manag Care 14:S40-48.

Weisskopf MG, Knekt P, O'Reilly EJ, Lyytinen J, Reunanen A, Laden F, Altshul L, Ascherio A (2010) Persistent organochlorine pesticides in serum and risk of Parkinson disease. Neurology 74, 1055–1061.

Westermann, B.(2012).Bioenergetic role of mitochondrial fusion and fission. Biochim. Biophys.Acta 1817, 1833–1838.doi:10.1016/j.bbabio.2012.02.033.

Winner B, Jappelli R, Maji SK, Desplats PA, Boyer L, Aigner S, Hetzer C, Loher T, Vilar M, Campioni S, Tzitzilonis C, Soragni A, Jessberger S, Mira H, Consiglio A, Pham E, Masliah E, Gage FH, Riek R (2011) In vivo demonstration that alpha-synuclein oligomers are toxic. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 108:4194–4199.

Woods WS, Boettcher JM, Zhou DH, Kloepper KD, Hartman KL, Ladror DT, Qi Z, Rienstra CM, George JM (2007) Conformation-specific binding of alpha-synuclein to novel protein partners detected by phage display and NMR spectroscopy. J Biol Chem. 2007 Nov 23;282(47):34555-67.

Wu AG, Wong VK, Xu SW, Chan WK, Ng CI, Liu L, Law BY (2013) Onjisaponin B derived from Radix Polygalae enhances autophagy and accelerates the degradation of mutant  $\alpha$ -synuclein and huntingtin in PC-12 Cells. Int J Mol Sci 14:22618–22641.

Xiao Q, Hu X, Wei Z, Tam KY (2016) Cytoskeleton Molecular Motors: Structures and Their Functions in Neuron. Int J Biol Sci. 2016 Jul 18;12(9):1083-92. doi: 10.7150/ijbs.15633.

Xu J, Zhang XZ, Zhang YJ, Li XM, Cai ZL, Li XM (2015) Silencing of SIAH1 in SH-SY5Y affects  $\alpha$ -synuclein degradation pathway. Int J Clin Exp Pathol. 2015 Oct 1;8(10):12885-92.

Xu J, Kao SY, Lee FJ, Song W, Jin LW, Yankner BA (2002) Dopamine-dependent neurotoxicity of alphasynuclein: a mechanism for selective neurodegeneration in Parkinson disease. Nat Med 8:600–606.

Xuan Q., Xu S.-L., Lu D.-H., Yu S., Zhou M., Uéda K., Cui Y.-Q., Zhang B.-Y., Chan P. (2011) Increased expression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein in aged human brain associated with neuromelanin accumulation. J. Neural Transm. 118, 1575–1583.

Yabuki Y, Ohizumi Y, Yokosuka A, Mimaki Y, Fukunaga K (2014) Nobiletin treatment improves motor and cognitive deficits seen in MPTP-induced Parkinson model mice. Neuroscience. 2014 Feb 14;259:126-41. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2013.11.051.

Yang ML, Hasadsri L, Woods WS, George JM (2010) Dynamic transport and localization of alpha-synuclein in primary hippocampal neurons. Mol. Neurodegener. 5, 9.

Yang W, Li X, Li X, Yu S (2016) Neuronal hemoglobin in mitochondria is reduced by forming a complex with  $\alpha$ -synuclein in aging monkey brains. Oncotarget. 2016 Feb 16;7(7):7441-54. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.7046.

Yerbury JJ, Ooi L, Dillin A, Saunders DN, Hatters DM, Beart PM, Cashman NR, Wilson MR, Ecroyd H (2016) Walking the tightrope: Proteostasis and neurodegenerative disease. J Neurochem. 2016 Feb 12. doi: 10.1111/jnc.13575.

Yoritaka A, Fukae J, Hatano T, Oda E, Hattori N (2016) The Direct Cost of Parkinson Disease at Juntendo Medical University Hospital, Japan. Intern Med. 2016;55(2):113-9. doi: 10.2169/internalmedicine.55.4484.

Youle, R.J., and van der Bliek, A. (2012). Mitochondrial fission, fusion and stress. Science 337, 1062–1065. doi:10.1126/science.1219855

Ysselstein D, Joshi M, Mishra V, Griggs AM, Asiago JM, McCabe GP, Stanciu LA, Post CB, Rochet JC (2015) Effects of impaired membrane interactions on α-synuclein aggregation and neurotoxicity. Neurobiol Dis. 2015 Jul;79:150-63. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2015.04.007.

Yu, T.,Sheu,S.S.,Robotham,J.L.,andYoon,Y.(2008). Mitochondrial fission mediates high glucose- induced cell death through elevated production of reactive oxygen species. Cardiovasc. Res. 79, 341–351.doi:10.1093/cvr/cvn104.

Yuan Y, Tong Q, Zhang L, Jiang S, Zhou H, Zhang R, Zhang S, Xu Q, Li D, Zhou X, Ding J, Zhang K (2015) Plasma antioxidant status and motor features in de novo Chinese Parkinson's disease patients. Int J Neurosci. 2015 Jul 14.

Zeeshan HM, Lee GH, Kim HR, Chae HJ (2016) Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress and Associated ROS. Int J Mol Sci. 2016 Mar 2;17(3):327. doi: 10.3390/ijms17030327.

Zhang J, Wang X, Vikash V, Ye Q, Wu D, Liu Y, Dong W (2016) ROS and ROS-Mediated Cellular Signaling. Oxid Med Cell Longev. 2016;2016:4350965. doi: 10.1155/2016/4350965. Epub 2016 Feb 22.

Zhang L, Zhang C, Zhu Y, Cai Q, Chan P, Ueda K, Yu S, Yang H (2008) Semi-quantitative analysis of alphasynuclein in subcellular pools of rat brain neurons: an immunogold electron microscopic study using a C-terminal specific monoclonal antibody. Brain Res 1244:40–52

Zhao J, Yu S, Zheng Y, Yang H, Zhang J (2016) Oxidative Modification and Its Implications for the

Neurodegeneration of Parkinson's Disease. Mol Neurobiol. 2016 Feb 3.

Zharikov AD, Cannon JR, Tapias V, Bai Q, Horowitz MP, Shah V, El Ayadi A, Hastings TG, Greenamyre JT, Burton EA. (2015) shRNA targeting  $\alpha$ -synuclein prevents neurodegeneration in a Parkinson's disease model. J Clin Invest. 2015 Jul 1;125(7):2721-35. doi: 10.1172/JCI64502.

Zhou H, Yuan Y, Qi Z, Tong Q, Zhang K (2015) Study on changes of plasma levels of oxidative stress biomarkers and its relation with cognition function in patients with parkinson's disease. Zhonghua Yi Xue Za Zhi. 2015 Nov 3;95(41):3357-60

Zhu R, Zhu Y, Liu X, He Z (2014) UCH-L1 S18Y variant and risk of Parkinson's disease in Asian populations: an updated meta-analysis. Neurodegener Dis. 2014;14(4):194-203. doi: 10.1159/000367995. Epub 2014 Dec 2.

Zucca FA, Segura-Aguilar J, Ferrari E, Muñoz P, Paris I, Sulzer D, Sarna T, Casella L, Zecca L (2015) Interactions of iron, dopamine and neuromelanin pathways in brain aging and Parkinson's disease. Prog Neurobiol. 2015 Oct 9. pii: S0301-0082(15)00101-X. Doi: 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2015.09.012.

Zuo L, Motherwell MS (2013) The impact of reactive oxygen species and genetic mitochondrial mutations in Parkinson's disease. Gene. 2013 Dec 10;532(1):18-23. doi: 10.1016/j.gene.2013.07.085.

## 2. Objectives

#### 2. Objectives

The objective of this study is to analyze mitochondria trafficking and functions of mitochondria and autophagy after expression of WT, A30P or A53T alpha-synuclein in the following cellular models: neuron-like cells derived from SH-SY5Y line, humanized yeast cell and hiPSC-derived dopaminergic neurons from patients containing triplicated alpha-synuclein gene (SNCA<sup>3</sup>).

#### **2.1. Specific objectives**

- 1- To analyse mitochondria trafficking, distribution and connectivity in neuron-like cells derived from SH-SY5Y, overexpressing WT, A30P or A53T alpha-synuclein.
- 2- To analyse mitochondria-mediated apoptosis and autophagy in neuron-like cells derived from SH-SY5Y, overexpressing WT, A30P or A53T alpha-synuclein.
- 3- To compare the effects of NAP (microtubule stabilizer) upon mitochondria trafficking, distribution, connectivity, mitochondria-mediated apoptosis and autophagy in neuron-like cells derived from SH-SY5Y, overexpressing WT, A30P or A53T alpha-synuclein.
- 4- To evaluate A30P and A53T alpha-synuclein toxicity through viability and sensitivity assays in yeasts  $\Delta$  (knockout) for Gem, Ypt53 and Atg8, during fermentation or respiration metabolisms.
- 5- To quantify H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> produced by mitochondria in yeasts ∆ for Gem, Ypt53 and Atg8, cultivated in intermediary medium (cells are able to respirate and fermentate), expressing A30P and A53T alpha-synuclein.
- 6- To analyse GSH/GSSG ratio in yeasts ∆ for Gem, Ypt53 and Atg8, cultivate in respiratory medium expressing A30P and A53T alpha-synuclein.
- 7- To analyse ER stress, UPR activation and apoptosis signalization through ratio between unspliced HAC1 and spliced HAC1, PDI and CHOP protein levels.
- 8- To reprograme fibroblasts from control and SNCA<sup>3</sup> patients into hiPSC.

- 9- To differentiate hiPSC into dopaminergic neurons.
- 10-To analyse mitochondria trafficking and lysosome vesicles in human SNCA<sup>3</sup> dopaminergic neurons.
- 11-To analyse viability and vulnerability of human SNCA<sup>3</sup> dopaminergic neurons through exposure to rotenone.
- 12-To analyse mitochondria localization in human SNCA<sup>3</sup> dopaminergic neurons after exposure to rotenone.

## **3.Results**

In order to, facilitate visualization of results this section was divided into 3 parts. Part I shows results obtained using SH-SY5Y model, Part II shows results obtained using humanized yeast model and Part III shows results obtained using hiPSC-derived dopaminergic neurons.

# Part I

Published in the Experimental Brain Research

#### 3. Results

### 3.1. Impairment of mitochondria dynamics by human A53T $\alpha$ -synuclein and rescue by NAP (davunetide) in a cell model for Parkinson's disease.

DOI 10.1007/s00221-016-4836-9.

T. Q. Melo<sup>1,2</sup> · K. C. van Zomeren<sup>2</sup> · M. F. R. Ferrari<sup>1</sup> · H. W. G. M. Boddeke<sup>2</sup> · J. C. V. M. Copray<sup>2</sup>

**Keywords** Mitochondrial trafficking  $\cdot \alpha$ -Synuclein  $\cdot$  Mitochondria dysfunction  $\cdot$ Neurodegeneration  $\cdot$  Parkinson  $\cdot$  SHSY5Y  $\cdot$  Microtubule  $\cdot$  Reactive oxygen species

T. Q. Melo and K. C. Zomeren contributed equally to this work.

Electronic supplementary material. The online version of this article (doi:10.1007/s00221-

016-4836-9) contains supplementary material, which is available to authorized users.

\* J. C. V. M. Copray

j.c.v.m.copray@umcg.nl

1 Department of Genetics and Evolutionary Biology, Institute

for Biosciences, University of Sao Paulo, Sao Paulo, Brazil

2 Department of Neuroscience, Section Medical Physiology,

University Medical Center Groningen, University

of Groningen, A. Deusinglaan 1, 9713 AV Groningen,

The Netherlands

#### Abstract

The formation of oligomers and aggregates of overexpressed or mutant  $\alpha$ -synuclein play a role in the degeneration of dopaminergic neurons in Parkinson's disease by causing dysfunction of mitochondria, reflected in their disturbed mobility and production of ROS. The mode of action and mechanisms underlying this mitochondrial impairment is still unclear. We have induced stable expression of wild-type, A30P or A53T  $\alpha$ -synuclein in neuronally differentiated SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells and studied anterograde and retrograde mitochondrial trafficking in this cell model for Parkinson's disease. In contrast to wild-type and A30P, A53T  $\alpha$ -synuclein significantly inhibited mitochondrial trafficking, at first retrogradely and in a later stage anterogradely. Accordingly, A53T  $\alpha$ -synuclein also caused the highest increase in ROS production in the dysmobilized mitochondria in comparison to wild-type or A30P  $\alpha$ -synuclein. Treatment with NAP, the eight amino acid peptide identified as the active component of activity-dependent neuroprotective protein (ADNP), completely annihilated the adverse effects of A53T on mitochondrial dynamics. Our results reveal that A53T  $\alpha$ -synuclein (oligomers or aggregates) leads to the inhibition of mitochondrial trafficking, which can be rescued by NAP, suggesting the involvement of microtubule disruption in the pathophysiology of Parkinson's disease.

#### Introduction

Parkinson's disease (PD) is the most common neurodegenerative movement disorder affecting 1% of people above 65 years of age (Tanner 1992). The pathology of PD is characterized by the degeneration of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra. This neurodegeneration is thought to be associated with the formation of aggregates containing  $\alpha$ -synuclein (Siderowf and Stern 2003) and with increased oxidative stress (Qian et al. 2008; Gruden et al. 2011; Simcox et al. 2013). The vast majority of PD patients have the sporadic form of this disease which appears to be age related. A small percentage of PD is familiar and caused by specific mutations. The  $\alpha$ -synuclein gene (*SNCA*) was the first gene definitely associated with familiar PD, and there are three known missense point mutations, A53T and A30P and E46 K, besides duplication and triplication of *SNCA*, that all lead to an early disease onset (Polymeropoulos et al. 1997; Kruger et al. 1998; Singleton et al. 2003; Chartier-Harlin et al. 2004). Various genome-wide association (GWAS) studies have shown that SNPs in *SNCA* (and *MAPT*) are also common risk factors for sporadic PD (Edwards et al. 2010; Lill et al. 2012; Nalls et al. 2014).

The molecular mechanisms underlying the neurodegenerative effects of  $\alpha$ -synuclein oligomers and aggregates seem to involve most prominently the mitochondria. Although direct damaging effects of  $\alpha$ -synuclein oligomers and aggregates on mitochondria have been described, indirect effects on the processes of autophagy and trafficking of mitochondria may be involved as well. Alterations in intracellular degradation pathways, such as macro-autophagy, have been observed in many studies linking protein aggregation mechanisms with neurodegeneration (Victoria and Zurzolo 2015). It has been demonstrated that overexpression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein can lead to inhibition of autophagy and concomitant  $\alpha$ -synuclein accumulation, whereas the knockdown of  $\alpha$ -synuclein resulted in autophagy enhancement, suggesting that  $\alpha$ -synuclein may have a regulatory role in autophagy (Winslow et al. 2010) The presence of damaged mitochondria by the direct action of (mutant)  $\alpha$ -synuclein oligomers, on the contrary, appears to stimulate excessive mitophagy leading to mitochondrial fragmentation (Wang et al. 2012; Perfeito et al. 2014).

Normal mitochondrial turnover depends on a proper balance between anterograde and retrograde trafficking (Arnold et al. 2011); in PD, this mitochondrial turnover appears to be impaired (Simcox et al. 2013; Hunn et al. 2015). In anterograde trafficking, mitochondria are transported from the soma to the axon up to the synaptic terminals; by retrograde trafficking, the mitochondria return to the cell soma for breakdown and re-entering the biogenesis cycle (Amiri and Hollenbeck 2008). Retardation in anterograde transport can result in an abnormal cellular distribution of mitochondria and a decrease in ATP levels at the synapses (Cai et al. 2005);

impairment of retrograde transportation leads to an accumulation of mitochondria in the synaptic terminal interfering with proper synapse formation and function (Van Laar and Berman 2009).

Alpha-synuclein oligomers and aggregates seem to interfere directly with normal mitochondrial turnover (Qian et al. 2008; Celardo et al. 2014). Alterations in axonal transport and in the level of motor proteins have been observed in transgenic *Drosophila* co-expressing tau and  $\alpha$ synuclein, in postmortem brain tissue of sporadic PD patients, in animal and cellular models of sporadic PD and in rats overexpressing  $\alpha$ -synuclein (Chu et al. 2012; Chaves et al. 2013; Melo et al. 2013; Roy and Jackson 2014). Studies have shown the interaction between  $\alpha$ -synuclein and tau (Credle et al. 2015; Magdalinou et al. 2015). In neurons, tau is essential for stabilizing microtubules and so for enabling proper motor transport (Wade-Martins 2012). In case of overexpression of  $\alpha$ synuclein, tau is phosphorylated, leading to its loss of function and the subsequent impairment of trafficking (Magen et al. 2014; Credle et al. 2015). Esteves et al. (2014) demonstrated that asynuclein oligomers are able to disrupt microtubules, leading to abnormal axonal trafficking and consequently mitochondrial dysfunction. In particular, the  $\alpha$ -synuclein gene mutation A53T is able to form oligometric and aggregates more easily and faster than other types of  $\alpha$ -synuclein (Giasson et al. 2002). Accordingly, it was demonstrated that in particular A53T  $\alpha$ -synuclein significantly reduced mitochondrial motility in cellular models for PD in which human A53T α-synuclein was expressed, i.e., in mouse hippocampal neurons and SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells (Xie and Chung 2012) or in mouse cortical neurons (Li et al. 2013).

Activity-dependent neuroprotective protein (ADNP) is essential for brain formation and provides neuroprotection throughout the entire adult brain; ADNP mRNA and protein expression responds to brain injury and a variety of cytotoxic insults. Structure-activity studies have identified a short eight amino acid peptide in ADNP, NAPVSIPQ (abbreviated to NAP) that appears to be responsible for neuroprotection (Bassan et al. 1999; Zamostiano et al. 2001; Gozes 2007). Treatment with NAP has been shown to restore microtubule integrity and to rescue microtubules-

dependent axonal trafficking, and, with that, mitochondrial function (Bassan et al. 1999; Zamostiano et al. 2001; Gozes 2007; Esteves et al. 2014). NAP also contributed to functional recovery in mice overexpressing  $\alpha$ -synuclein by reducing hyperphosphorylated tau levels (Magen et al. 2014).

In the present study, we aimed to analyze in more detail the effects of A30P or A53T  $\alpha$ synuclein on anterograde and retrograde mitochondrial trafficking in SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells in which we managed to induce a stable expression of wild-type, A30P or A53T  $\alpha$ -synuclein. In addition, we have studied the effect of NAP treatment on

the mitochondrial mobility and function in these cells.

#### Materials and methods

#### **Cell culture**

SH-SY5Y cells (passage 17), obtained from ATCC cell culture, were not used above passage 35 as these cells are reported to lose their neuronal phenotype after repeated passaging. Cells were maintained in DMEM (1×) supplemented with 15% FBS, 1% Pen/Strep, 100 mM Napyruvate and 2 mM Glutamax (DFCS) in tissue culture treated dishes or flasks. At 70–80% confluence, cells were passaged using trypsin/EDTA (Lonza) following general cell culture procedures. Split ratios ranging from 1/20 to 1/40 were used to ensure similar densities among transgenic lines. To initiate differentiation into neuron-like cells, SH-SY5Y cells were plated at a density of  $2 \times 104$  cells/ cm2 in wells pre-treated with poly-d-lysine (PDL). After 1 day, cells were exposed to 10  $\mu$ M retinoic acid (Sigma) in DMEM (1×) supplemented with 10% FBS for 5 days, after which medium was replaced to DMEM 1× (High Glucose) containing 10 ng/ml BDNF (Peprotech), in order to promote the outgrowth of neural extensions.

#### **Construction of viral vectors**

Viral vectors empty or containing wild-type  $\alpha$ -synuclein and mutant  $\alpha$ -synuclein A30P or A53T (pENG1-3, a generous gift by Ellen Nollen) were constructed by PCR amplification (Phusion High-

Fidelity DNA Polymerase, ThermoScientific) with overhangs for SpeI and NsiI. PCR amplicons and pSin- EF2-Nanog-Pur (Adgene plasmid 16578) were restricted using BcuI (SpeI, Thermo Scientific) and Mph1103I (NsiI, Thermo Scientific), and subsequently ligated using T4 ligase (ThermoScientific) after which the product was transformed in DH5α competent cells. PCR screening was performed to select positive colonies, which were checked by restriction analysis. Correct plasmids were sent for sequencing and transfected in HEK293T to validate expression. Vector constructs are shown in Supplemental Fig. S1.

#### SH-SY5Y viral transduction and transfection

Lentiviral particles were generated using a modified protocol based on the protocol of Trono et al. (http://tcf.epfl.ch/page-6764-en.html). Briefly, HEK-293T cells were transfected when cells were 70–80% confluent. A mixture containing 100  $\mu$ l OPTIMEM (Gibco) 1.4  $\mu$ g viral vector, 0.4  $\mu$ g pMD2- VSV-G and 1  $\mu$ g pCMV-D8.91, was supplemented with 6  $\mu$ l FUGENE HD (Lonza) and incubated for 15 min at room temperature (RT) to generate transfection complexes. The next day medium was changed with 2 ml OPTIMEM, and viral particles were harvested between 36 and 48 h. Viral supernatant was collected and sterilized using a 0.45  $\mu$ m filter (Nalgene), mixed with 10% DFCS in a 1:1 ratio and supplemented with polybrene (8  $\mu$ g/ml). This mixture was added to a 6-well plate, and 1  $\times$  105 cells were added to be transduced in suspension. The next day media were changed to DFCS 15%, and cells were placed on puromycin (2–4  $\mu$ g/ml, Sigma) selection three days after transduction. Puromycin selection was continued during cell culture of the lines.

#### Characterization of SH-SY5Y by immunofluorescence

Transgenic cell lines cultured on PDL-coated coverslips were fixed in paraformaldehyde 4% for 20 min at RT and rinsed in PBS 3 times. Samples were permeabilized and blocked with PBS containing 0.1% Triton, 1% BSA and 5% normal goat serum for 60 min at RT. Samples were incubated with rabbit anti MAP2 (1:1000, Abcam), mouse anti  $\alpha$ -synuclein (1:500, Invitrogen) or rabbit anti TOM20 (1:1000 Santa Cruz FL-145) antibodies at RT for 1 h followed by incubation of

fluorescent secondary antibodies (1:400) and Hoechst for 1 h at RT. Images were acquired using a Leica AF-6000 fluorescent microscope.

#### Mitochondria mobility

SH-SY5Y were transfected with pDsRed2-Mito (Clontech Cat. nr: 632421) in OPTIMEM (Gibco) using Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen), following manufacturer's instructions. After 1 day of transfection, cells were exposed to 200  $\mu$ g/ml of G418 for 2 weeks in order to select for cell lines containing the plasmid. SH-SY5Y were differentiated as described above, and mitochondrial mobility was measured in live cells after 4, 6 or 8 days of differentiation, using spinning disk confocal microscopy at 63× objective in a climate controlled chamber. The track was calculated by image comparison of the same field every 10 s for 20 min. Single-cell image stacks were analyzed using the ImageJ difference tracker plugin. Kymographs were generated using ImageJ (FIJI) Multi Kymograph plugin. The experiment was repeated three times independently.

#### **ROS** measurements

After 8 days of differentiation, ROS production was measured by incubating cells with CM-H2DCFDA probe (Invitrogen) at 10  $\mu$ M for 1 min. Images were recorded using spinning disk confocal microscopy at a 63× objective, and analyzed using ImageJ. We have used CM-H2DCFDA [5-(and-6)-chloromethyl-2',7'-dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate, acetyl ester], an improved, more stable, derivative of DCFDA, as a detector of ROS; this dye is not fluorescent when chemically reduced, but after cellular oxidation and removal of acetate groups by cellular esterases it becomes fluorescent. We measured fluorescence intensity of the transgenic neurons (i.e., expressing A53T, A30P or a surplus of WT  $\alpha$ -synuclein) and the control (transfected with an empty vector).

#### Mitochondria morphology and connectivity measurement

After 8 days of differentiation, neurons were fixed and stained for mitochondria using TOM20 antibody. Mitochondria morphology and connectivity among fluorescent mitochondria were

observed and compared through stained neurons or neurons expressing pDsRed2-Mito. Total amount of neurons containing normal mitochondria morphology was analyzed and quantified.

#### **Treatment with NAP**

NAP (Santa Cruz, sc361778A) was dissolved in DMSO (Sigma Aldrich) at a stock concentration of 5 mM. Cells were treated with 5 nM NAP or vehicle, DMSO, for 24 h to evaluate rescuing of mitochondria trafficking.

#### Western blotting

At 8 days of differentiation, protein was extracted using protein lysis buffer. Protein lysates were sonicated and centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 10 min. The supernatant was fractionated by SDS-PAGE (25 or 50  $\mu$ g protein/lane) using a 12.5% tris–HCl gel at 100 V for 1.5 h. Proteins were transferred to immobilon membrane (FL-Millipore IPFL 00010) for 1 h at 100 V. Membranes were blocked using PBS with 0.5% Tween 20 and 5% milk for 30 min. The following antibodies were used directed against:  $\beta$ -actin (1:1000, 37 kDa, Abcam, #ab6276) and  $\alpha$ -synuclein (1:1000, 14 kDa, Invitrogen, LB509). The blotted protein bands were visualized using Odyssey scanner (Li-Cor Biosciences, Lincoln, NE). Band density was quantified by computer-assisted image analysis software (ImageJ). For reliable quantification of the Western blot data, the defined methodology was followed as described by Taylor et al. (2013).

#### **Real-time PCR**

Total RNA and genomic DNA were collected using an AllPrep DNA/RNA/Protein Mini Kit. CDNA was reverse transcribed from 1 µg of RNA using M-MLV Reverse Transcriptase. GAPDH mRNA and genomic GAPDH were used as reference for normalization. For quantitate real-time PCR, primers were acquired from Biolegio and reactions were run on a Biorad C1000 Touch thermal cycler and analyzed with Biorad CFX manager software.

#### Statistical analysis

Mitochondria trafficking, immunofluorescence, Western Blotting and real-time PCR results were

analyzed by one- way or two- way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test. Neurons containing normal mitochondria morphology were analyzed by Student's t test. A p value  $\leq 0.05$  was considered significantly different, using GraphPad Prism software (GraphPad Software Inc., version 5.00, CA).

#### Results

#### Characterization of differentiated, α-synuclein transgenic SH-SY5Y cells

After 4 days in vitro (DIV) in the presence of retinoic acid and BDNF, the transgenic SH-SY5Y cells (i.e., expressing A53T, A30P or a surplus of WT  $\alpha$ -synuclein) and the control SH-SY5Y cells (transfected with an empty vector) differentiated into neuron-like cells and formed small neuritelike extensions; at 6 DIV, these cells started to express the neuronal marker MAP2 and continued to grow their neurite- like extensions reaching stable maturity at 8 DIV (Fig. 1a- c). No differences in the neuronal differentiation pattern were observed between the control cells and the ones expressing the  $\alpha$ -synuclein variants (supplemental Fig. 2). Selective survival based on puromycin resistance resulted in a neuronally differentiated SH-SY5Y cell culture of which all cells expressed a high level either of A53T, A30P or WT  $\alpha$ -synuclein; in the control SH-SY5Y cell cultures, expression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein could not be detected through immunofluorescence (Fig. 1d). The expression of the α-synuclein variants in the differentiated transgenic and control SH- SY5Y cells was quantified at 8 DIV using qPCR (Fig. 1e). Results of qPCR showed that, although each of the transgenic cell lines contained a similar number of  $\alpha$ -synuclein gene copies, transcriptional activity was lower in the cell lines containing mutant  $\alpha$ -synuclein in comparison to those expressing wildtype  $\alpha$ -synuclein, suggesting interference of these  $\alpha$ -synuclein mutants with transcription, nuclear shuttling, or cytoplasmic mRNA processing.

Analysis of  $\alpha$ -synuclein linked to YFP corroborated the results of immunofluorescence, suggesting that A53T is more prone to aggregation since its pattern of labeling resembles that of small aggregates (Fig. 2). The expression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein was quantified in Western blots

demonstrating increased expression of A53T isoforms (Fig. 2). Our findings suggest a reduction in degradation, possibly due to the aggregated state of A53T  $\alpha$ -synuclein.

#### Mitochondrial trafficking in differentiated, α-synuclein

#### transgenic SH-SY5Y cells

We transfected the various neuronally differentiated SH-SY5Y cell cultures with the pDsRed2-Mito plasmid: approximately 50% of the cells showed red staining in the cytosol that appeared to be confined to mitochondria and completely co-localized with the green immunostaining by the mitochondria-specific TOM20 antibody (Fig. 3). The strong specific staining by pDsRed2-Mito allowed us to investigate mitochondrial mobility in the neurite-like extensions in the neuronally differentiated SH-SY5Y cells and the consequences of aberrant  $\alpha$ -synuclein expression for mitochondrial trafficking. In order to examine if and when mitochondria traffic was impaired by  $\alpha$ -synuclein in SH-SY5Y cells at 4, 6 and 8 DIV in the presence of retinoic acid and BDNF representing different stages in differentiation. At 4 DIV, when the neuron-like



**Fig. 1** Characterization of differentiated,  $\alpha$ -synuclein transgenic SH- SY5Y cells. Immunofluorescence shows a positive stain for microtubule associated protein (MAP2) (green) at 4 days of differentiation (**A**), at 6 days of differentiation (**B**) and at 8 days of differentiation (**C**). Immunostaining for  $\alpha$ -synuclein shows its expression in the  $\alpha$ -synuclein transgenic SH-SY5Y cells (WT, A30P and A53T) but not in the control cells (transfected with an empty vector, EV) (**D**). Blue staining in **a**-**d** is Hoechst nuclear staining. Quantification of  $\alpha$ -synuclein with q-PCR after 8 days of differentiation confirms the increased expression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein (E).
cells were still immature and proper mitochondria trafficking was crucial for the outgrowth of the young "neurites," a similar pattern of mitochondrial trafficking activity was observed in all the groups of SH-SY5Y-derived neuron-like cells. The first sign of disturbed mitochondrial mobility was observed at 6 DIV only in the A53T  $\alpha$ -synuclein expressing SH-SY5Y cells where retrograde trafficking was significantly decreased in comparison to the control. Only later, at 8 DIV, also the anterograde trafficking of mitochondria was significantly decreased to almost 30%, again only, in the A53T  $\alpha$ -synuclein expressing SH-SY5Y cells. No changes were observed in the other transgenic SH-SY5Y cell lines or in the control cells (Fig. 4). So, Fig. 4 presents evidence for the presence of mitochondria trafficking during differentiation and shows that the disturbance in mitochondria trafficking is specific for neuronal cells, since it does not occur in undifferentiated SH-SY5Y cells.

#### Effect of NAP on mitochondrial trafficking

To examine the mechanisms by which the A53T  $\alpha$ -synuclein-induced impairment of mitochondrial trafficking in the neuronally differentiated SH-SY5Y cells, we treated the SH-SY5Y cell cultures with NAP since it has been shown to restore microtubule integrity (Gozes 2007; Esteves et al. 2014). Adding NAP, indeed, appeared to completely restore retrograde as well as anterograde mitochondria trafficking in the A53T  $\alpha$ -synuclein expressing SH- SY5Y derived cells (Fig. 4). Although both motor proteins, dynein and kinesin, have clear structural distinctions and wander across the microtubule surface with different speed, step sizes and in opposite directions, apparently the A53T  $\alpha$ -synuclein-induced microtubules destruction, restorable by NAP, affects the interaction between the motor proteins and the microtubules in a similar mode.



**Fig. 2**  $\alpha$ -Synuclein expression. Photomicrographs show homogeneous  $\alpha$ -synuclein staining in neurons expressing WT or A30P YFP-  $\alpha$ -synuclein. Neurons expressing A53T YFP- $\alpha$ -synuclein showed puncta accumulation of the protein at soma and neurites (*arrows* in magnification of *boxed area*). Blottings of insoluble protein fraction (*red bands* =  $\beta$ -actin; *green bands* =  $\alpha$ -synuclein) reveal significantly higher levels of A53T  $\alpha$ -synuclein compared to WT and A30P  $\alpha$ -synuclein. Experiments were repeated 3 times. #p < 0.001 as compared with WT according to one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by Tukey post-test.

#### Effect of NAP on mitochondrial membrane potential and morphology

Impairment of mitochondrial dynamics due to the overexpression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein or the expression of its mutants A30P and A53T may involve an increase in the production ROS and a disruption of the mitochondrial membrane potential. We found a significant increase in ROS levels in the  $\alpha$ synuclein expressing cells in comparison to the controls, with the highest level in the A53T mutant (Fig. 5a, c). Adding NAP to the culture, completely annihilated the ROS increase observed in all the  $\alpha$ -synuclein expressing cell lines (Fig. 5b, c). Living neuronal cells transfected with pDsRed2-Mito or those fixed and stained for TOM20 showed the same pattern of mitochondria morphology when expressing WT or A30P alpha-synuclein compared to control (transfected with empty vector). About 65% of neurons expressing A53T alpha-synuclein showed small spherical mitochondria clusters. After NAP treatment, only 20% of DA neurons expressing A53T alpha-synuclein showed fragmented mitochondria (Fig. 6).

# Discussion

Our studies show that, in contrast to wild-type and A30P  $\alpha$ -synuclein, A53T  $\alpha$ -synuclein significantly inhibited mitochondrial trafficking in the SH-SY5Y cell model for Parkinson's disease. Retrograde trafficking appears to be the first to be disturbed, followed in a later stage by anterograde trafficking. Accordingly, A53T  $\alpha$ -synuclein also caused the highest increase in ROS production in these apparently demobilized and fragmented mitochondria in comparison to wild-type or A30P  $\alpha$ -synuclein. Treatment with the active peptide (NAP) of activity-dependent neuroprotective protein (ADNP) completely annihilated the adverse effects of A53T on mitochondrial dynamics.



**Fig. 3** Mitochondrial labeling. Immunofluorescence imaging shows the co-localization of fluorescent staining for the mitochondria-specific TOM20 (*green*) and pDsRed2-Mito (*red*). In the merged picture, the nuclei are *blue* due to the Hoechst nuclear staining.

Our findings regarding the effect of A53T  $\alpha$ -synuclein on mitochondrial trafficking not only confirm but also extend previous data (Xie and Chung 2012; Li et al. 2013) since we also studied the time frame of mitochondria trafficking disturbance: we wanted to determine which type of trafficking was disturbed first, anterograde or retrograde. Impairment of anterograde or retrograde trafficking can lead to different injuries in organelles in neurons. In our previous studies (Chaves et al. 2013; Melo et al. 2013), we revealed that the expression of proteins involved in anterograde or retrograde trafficking was differentially affected. It has been reported that disrupted anterograde mitochondria trafficking leads to fragmentation of mitochondria, abnormal mitochondria distribution and biogenesis, depletion of ATP and high ROS levels, resulting in cell death (Matenia et al. 2012), while disrupted retrograde trafficking leads to aging and swollen mitochondria, depletion of ATP, higher ROS levels and cell death (Morris and Hollenbeck 1993). Although the outcome (cell death) is the same, determining the direction of trafficking that is impaired first enables elucidation of the actual mechanisms responsible for neuronal death; it may lead to a more specific therapeutical approach to prevent the phenotype of the disease. In the present study, we showed that A53T first impairs retrograde trafficking in neurons derived from the SH- SY5Y cells. In addition, we showed that NAP is able to recover mitochondria trafficking. The prominent effect on mitochondrial trafficking of A53T a-synuclein in comparison to A30P and wild- type asynuclein most likely reflects the fact that A53T



**Fig. 4** Mitochondria mobility analysis in SH-SY5Y. **A** Time-lapse recordings show the movements of mitochondria retrogradely in the neurite-like extension of a SH-SY5Y cell after 8 days of differentiation. **B** Kymographs represent mitochondria movement in neurons derived from SH-SY5Y cells after 6 days of differentiation expressing either wild-type, A30P or A53T  $\alpha$ -synuclein (in the absence and presence of NAP). Analysis of movement reveals that trafficking is decreased at 6 and 8 days of differentiation (**C**, **F**, respectively). Separate analysis of retrograde and anterograde trafficking shows unaltered anterograde trafficking but decreased retrograde trafficking at 6 days of differentiation (**D**, **E**); at 8 days of differentiation both anterograde and retrograde trafficking appears to be reduced (**G** and **H**, respectively). Neurons treated with NAP at 5 nM for 48 h show a rescued mitochondria trafficking at 6 and 8 days of differentiation (**C**, **E**–**H**). Data of moving mitochondria per 1000 pixels are expressed as percent relative to control (E.V.) ± SD. Two-way ANOVA following Bonferroni posttest were the statistical tests employed \**p* ≤ 0.05 compared to

control.  $\#p \le 0.05$  compared to cells expressing WT.  $\&p \le 0.05$ , compared to cells expressing A30P  $\alpha$ -synuclein. Data are expressed as mean of three independent experiments.

 $\alpha$ -synuclein is more prone for oligomer or aggregate formation. It has been shown that the interaction of wild- type  $\alpha$ -synuclein and  $\alpha$ -synuclein variants with molecular motors, tubulin, and the microtubules-associated proteins, MAP2 and Tau, is stronger for oligomers than for monomers (Prots et al. 2013). There appears to be differential effects between seeds and oligomers on (Taupromoted) microtubules assembly and on the microtubules gliding



**Fig. 5** ROS production. Photomicrographs show neurons incubated with green fluorescent probe DCFDA untreated (**A**) or treated with NAP (**B**). Differentiated SH-SY5Y cells at 8 DIV expressing WT, A30P or A53T  $\alpha$ -synuclein or controls (E.V. = empty vector) were incubated with CM-H2DCFDA, a fluorescent ROS detector, untreated (**A**) or treated with NAP (**B**). Fluorescence intensity measurements (**C**) show significantly higher levels of ROS compared to control (E.V.); treatment with NAP restored levels of ROS to basal levels of control cells. Data are expressed as percentage of control (E.V.)  $\pm$  SD. Two- way ANOVA following Bonferroni posttest was the statistical test employed  $*p \le 0.05$ ;  $**p \le 0.01$ ;  $***p \le 0.001$  compared to control.  $\#p \le 0.05$  compared to cells expressing WT. Data are expressed as mean of three independent experiments.

velocity across kinesin-coated surfaces (Prots et al. 2013). Due to the fact that NAP, a protein known to repair microtubules integrity, restores the A53T  $\alpha$ -synuclein-induced impairment of mitochondrial trafficking, may point to a disruption of microtubules assembly by A53T  $\alpha$ -synuclein disturbing the interplay between microtubules and kinesin (Prots et al. 2013). The earliest effects of A53T  $\alpha$ -synuclein was observed in the retrograde dynein-driven trafficking of mitochondria, indicating that also the dynein-microtubules interplay may be disturbed. The reason that retrograde mitochondrial trafficking is the first to be affected may be related to the lower velocity of retrograde transport in which even small disturbances leads to an actual stop in trafficking. Obviously, the machinery underlying mitochondrial trafficking along the microtubules in axons concerns a complex structure consisting, besides of kinesin and dynein, of Miro (also known as RhoT1/2) and Milton (for a review see Schwarz, 2013). Interactions between oligomers/ aggregates of  $\alpha$ -synuclein and Miro and Milton are as yet unknown.

Although the best known action of NAP is upon microtubule stabilization, this peptide has also been reported to affect autophagy (Gozes 2016) and oxidative stress (Greggio et al. 2011; Sharma et al. 2011). In fact, we observed a decrease in ROS content after NAP treatment, which may be either the cause or the consequence of altered mitochondria trafficking.

A wide variety of studies have shown that changes in mitochondrial trafficking are the earliest events to occur in cell models for Parkinson's disease with abnormal  $\alpha$ -synuclein expression (Coskun et al. 2012; Prots et al. 2013; Arduino et al. 2015; Keogh and Chinnery 2015; Franco-Iborra et al. 2016). The stressed, dysmobilized, mitochondria start to produce high levels of ROS, subsequently leading to other cytopathological processes. The annihilating effect of NAP on the ROS levels in our cell cultures expressing  $\alpha$ -synuclein variants must be ascribed to the recovery of the mitochondrial motility by NAP (Esteves et al. 2014).

Summarizing, we propose that A53T  $\alpha$ -synuclein leads to impairment of trafficking in SH-SY5Y cells, most likely by a disturbance of microtubule integrity. This in turn leads to impairment

of mitochondrial turnover, particularly in distal regions of the cell. NAP treatment rescues mitochondria trafficking and so proper mitochondrial function and turnover. After 8 days of differentiation of the SH-SY5Y cells, we observed aggregates only in neurons expressing A53T alpha-synuclein. So, likely we have oligomers of WT, A30P and A53T alpha-synuclein after 6 days of differentiation and of WT and A30P after 8 days of differentiation. As cited above, time to form oligomers of alpha-synuclein is dependent of its type, where A53T alpha-synuclein oligomerizes easier and faster than A30P alpha-synuclein, which in turn oligomerizes easier and faster than WT alpha-synuclein. Moreover, not only the levels of oligomers influence cellular damage, but also the type of oligomer is important for the type and amount of damage in neurons (Stefanovic et al. 2015). In view of this, our findings



**Fig. 6** Mitochondria distribution and connectivity. Photomicrographs illustrate mitochondria distribution and connectivity in neurons transfected with pDsRed2-Mito (63× objective) (A) or in neurons stained for mitochondria using TOM20 antibody (20× objective) (**B**). Quantification of neurons with normal mitochondria distribution reveals a significant decrease after expression of A53T  $\alpha$ -synuclein (**C**). Treatment with NAP increases the amount of neurons with normal mitochondria distribution and connectivity to 70% (**D** and **E**). Data are expressed as percent relative to control (EV). \**p* < 0.05 and \*\**p* < 0.01 compared with EV according to Student's *t* test. *n* = 5. Experiments were repeated three times.

suggest that we have more oligomers of A53T alpha-synuclein and that they are more toxic than oligomers of A30P or WT alpha-synuclein. The increase in ROS production we observed may be related with lowered mitochondrial integrity at distal sites. We have shown that these effects can be rescued by using NAP, negating the effect of  $\alpha$ -synuclein

expression and leading to increased mitochondrial turnover. Our data implies mitochondrial trafficking as an important mechanism relating mitochondrial damage to protein occlusions observed in Parkinson's disease. Early impairment of retrograde transport would lead to accumulation of damaged mitochondria near the axon terminal,

which has been proposed as an early event in clinical cases of Parkinson's disease (Cheng et al. 2010).

**Acknowledgements** This study was supported by research grants from Fundacao de Amparo a Pesquisa do Estado de Sao Paulo (FAPESP) (2012/15495-2; 2013/08028-1), and CNPq (Conselho Nacional de desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnologico (401670/2013- 9; 471999/2013-0). T.Q.M. received fellowships from CAPES (38794040893) and CNPq (240703/2012-0).

**Open Access** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (<u>http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/</u>), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made.

# References

Amiri M, Hollenbeck PJ (2008) Mitochondrial biogenesis in the axons of vertebrate peripheral neurons. Dev Neurobiol 68:1348–1361

Arduino DM, Esteves AR, Swerdlow RH, Cardoso SM (2015) A cybrid cell model for the assessment of the link between mitochondrial deficits and sporadic Parkinson's disease. Methods Mol Biol 1265:415–424

Arnold B, Cassady SJ, VanLaar VS, Berman SB (2011) Integrating multiple aspects of mitochondrial dynamics in neurons: agerelated differences and dynamic changes in a chronic rotenone model. Neurobiol Dis 41:189–200

Bassan M, Zamostiano R, Davidson A, Pinhasov A, Giladi E, Perl O, Bassan H, Blat C, Gibney G, Glazner G, Brenneman DE, Gozes I (1999) Complete sequence of a novel protein containing a femtomolar-activity-dependent neuroprotective peptide. J Neurochem 72:1283–1293

Cai Q, Gerwin C, Sheng ZH (2005) Syntabulin-mediated anterograde transport of mitochondria along neuronal processes. J Cell Biol 170:959–969

Celardo I, Martins LM, Gandhi S (2014) Unravelling mitochondrial pathways to Parkinson's disease. Br J Pharmacol 171:1943–1957

Chartier-Harlin MC, Kachergus J, Roumier C, Mouroux V, Douay X, Lincoln S, Levecque C, Larvor L, Andrieux J, Hulihan M, Waucquier N, Defebvre L, Amouyel P, Farrer M, Destee A (2004) Alpha-synuclein locus duplication as a cause of familial Parkinson's disease. Lancet 364:1167–1169

Chaves RS, Melo TQ, D'Unhao AM, Farizatto KL, Ferrari MF (2013) Dynein c1h1, dynactin and syntaphilin expression in brain areas related to neurodegenerative diseases following exposure to rotenone. Acta Neurobiol Exp (Wars) 73:541–556

Cheng A, Hou Y, Mattson MP (2010) Mitochondria and neuroplasticity. ASN Neuro 2:e00045

Chu Y, Morfini GA, Langhamer LB, He Y, Brady ST, Kordower JH (2012) Alterations in axonal transport motor proteins in sporadic and experimental Parkinson's disease. Brain 135:2058–2073

Coskun P, Wyrembak J, Schriner SE, Chen HW, Marciniack C, Laferla F, Wallace DC (2012) A mitochondrial etiology of Alzheimer and Parkinson disease. Biochim Biophys Acta 1820:553–564

Credle JJ, George JL, Wills J, Duka V, Shah K, Lee YC, Rodriguez O, Simkins T, Winter M, Moechars D, Steckler T, Goudreau J, Finkelstein DI, Sidhu A (2015) GSK-3beta dysregulation contributes to parkinson's-like pathophysiology with associated region-specific phosphorylation and accumulation of 'tau and alpha-synuclein. Cell Death Differ 22:838–851

Edwards TL, Scott WK, Almonte C, Burt A, Powell EH, Beecham GW, Wang L, Zuchner S, Konidari I, Wang G, Singer C, Nahab F, Scott B, Stajich JM, Pericak-Vance M, Haines J, Vance JM, Martin ER (2010) Genome-wide association study confirms SNPs in SNCA and the MAPT region

as common risk factors for Parkinson disease. Ann Hum Genet 74:97-109

Esteves AR, Gozes I, Cardoso SM (2014) The rescue of microtubule- dependent traffic recovers mitochondrial function in Parkinson's disease. Biochim Biophys Acta 1842:7–21

Franco-Iborra S, Vila M, Perier C (2016) The Parkinson disease mitochondrial hypothesis: where are we at? Neuroscientist 22:266–277

Giasson BI, Duda JE, Quinn SM, Zhang B, Trojanowski JQ, Lee VM (2002) Neuronal alphasynucleinopathy with severe movement disorder in mice expressing A53T human alpha-synuclein. Neuron 34:521–533

Gozes I (2007) Activity-dependent neuroprotective protein: from gene to drug candidate. Pharmacol Ther 114:146–154

Gozes I (2016) The cytoskeleton as a drug target for neuroprotection: the case of the autismmutated ADNP. Biol Chem 397:177–184

Greggio S, de Paula S, de Oliveira IM, Trindade C, Rosa RM, Henriques JA, DaCosta JC (2011) NAP prevents acute cerebral oxidative stress and protects against long-term brain injury and cognitive impairment in a model of neonatal hypoxia-ischemia. Neurobiol Dis 44:152–159

Gruden MA, Sewell RD, Yanamandra K, Davidova TV, Kucheryanu VG, Bocharov EV, Bocharova OA, Polyschuk VV, Sherstnev VV, Morozova-Roche LA (2011) Immunoprotection against toxic biomarkers is retained during Parkinson's disease progression. J Neuroimmunol 233:221–227

Hunn BH, Cragg SJ, Bolam JP, Spillantini MG, Wade-Martins R (2015) Impaired intracellular trafficking defines early Parkinson's disease. Trends Neurosci 38:178–188

Keogh MJ, Chinnery PF (2015) Mitochondrial DNA mutations in neurodegeneration. Biochim Biophys Acta 1847:1401–1411

Kruger R, Kuhn W, Muller T, Woitalla D, Graeber M, Kosel S, Przuntek H, Epplen JT, Schols L, Riess O (1998) Ala30Pro mutation in the gene encoding alpha-synuclein in Parkinson's disease. Nat Genet 18:106–108

Li L, Nadanaciva S, Berger Z, Shen W, Paumier K, Schwartz J, Mou K, Loos P, Milici AJ, Dunlop J, Hirst WD (2013) Human A53T alpha-synuclein causes reversible deficits in mitochondrial function and dynamics in primary mouse cortical neurons. PLoS ONE 8:e85815

Lill CM, Roehr JT, McQueen MB, Kavvoura FK, Bagade S, Schjeide BM, Schjeide LM, Meissner E, Zauft U, Allen NC, Liu T, Schilling M, Anderson KJ, Beecham G, Berg D, Biernacka JM, Brice A, DeStefano AL, Do CB, Eriksson N, Factor SA, Farrer MJ, Foroud T, Gasser T, Hamza T, Hardy JA, Heutink P, Hill-Burns EM, Klein C, Latourelle JC, Maraganore DM, Martin ER, Martinez M, Myers RH, Nalls MA, Pankratz N, Payami H, Satake W, Scott WK, Sharma M, Singleton AB, Stefansson K, Toda T, Tung JY, Vance J, Wood NW, Zabetian CP, Me Genetic Epidemiology of Parkinson's Disease C, International Parkinson's Disease Genomics C, Parkinson's Disease GC, Wellcome Trust Case Control C, Young P, Tanzi RE, Khoury MJ, Zipp F, Lehrach H, Ioannidis JP, Bertram L (2012) Comprehensive research synopsis and systematic meta-analyses in Parkinson's disease genetics: the PDGene database. PLoS Genet 8:e1002548

Magdalinou NK, Paterson RW, Schott JM, Fox NC, Mummery C, Blennow K, Bhatia K, Morris HR, Giunti P, Warner TT, de Silva R, Lees AJ, Zetterberg H (2015) A panel of nine cerebrospinal fluid biomarkers may identify patients with atypical parkinsonian syndromes. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 86:1240–1247

Magen I, Ostritsky R, Richter F, Zhu C, Fleming SM, Lemesre V, Stewart AJ, Morimoto BH, Gozes I, Chesselet MF (2014) Intranasal NAP (davunetide) decreases tau hyperphosphorylation and moderately improves behavioral deficits in mice overexpressing alpha-synuclein. Pharmacol Res Perspect 2:e00065

Matenia D, Hempp C, Timm T, Eikhof A, Mandelkow EM (2012) Microtubule affinity-regulating kinase 2 (MARK2) turns on phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN)-induced kinase 1 (PINK1) at Thr-313, a mutation site in Parkinson disease: effects on mitochondrial transport. J Biol Chem 287:8174–8186 Exp Brain Res 1 3

Melo TQ, D'Unhao AM, Martins SA, Farizatto KL, Chaves RS, Ferrari MF (2013) Rotenonedependent changes of anterograde motor protein expression and mitochondrial mobility in brain areas related to neurodegenerative diseases. Cell Mol Neurobiol 33:327–335

Morris RL, Hollenbeck PJ (1993) The regulation of bidirectional mitochondrial transport is coordinated with axonal outgrowth. J Cell Sci 104(Pt 3):917–927

Nalls MA, Pankratz N, Lill CM, Do CB, Hernandez DG, Saad M, DeStefano AL, Kara E, Bras J, Sharma M, Schulte C, Keller MF, Arepalli S, Letson C, Edsall C, Stefansson H, Liu X, Pliner H, Lee JH, Cheng R, International Parkinson's Disease Genomics C, Parkinson's Study Group Parkinson's Research: The Organized GI and Me, GenePd, NeuroGenetics Research C, Hussman Institute of Human G, Ashkenazi Jewish Dataset I, Cohorts for H, Aging Research in Genetic E, North American Brain Expression C, United Kingdom Brain Expression C, Greek Parkinson's Disease C, Alzheimer Genetic Analysis G, Ikram MA, Ioannidis JP, Hadjigeorgiou GM, Bis JC, Martinez M, Perlmutter JS, Goate A, Marder K, Fiske B, Sutherland M, Xiromerisiou G, Myers RH, Clark LN, Stefansson K, Hardy JA, Heutink P, Chen H, Wood NW, Houlden H, Payami H, Brice A, Scott WK, Gasser T, Bertram L, Eriksson N, Foroud T, Singleton AB (2014) Largescale meta-analysis of genome-wide association data identifies six new risk loci for Parkinson's disease. Nat Genet 46:989–993

Perfeito R, Lazaro DF, Outeiro TF, Rego AC (2014) Linking alpha- synuclein phosphorylation to reactive oxygen species formation and mitochondrial dysfunction in SH-SY5Y cells. Mol Cell Neurosci 62:51–59

Polymeropoulos MH, Lavedan C, Leroy E, Ide SE, Dehejia A, Dutra A, Pike B, Root H, Rubenstein J, Boyer R, Stenroos ES, Chandrasekharappa S, Athanassiadou A, Papapetropoulos T, Johnson WG, Lazzarini AM, Duvoisin RC, Di Iorio G, Golbe LI, Nussbaum RL (1997) Mutation in the alpha-synuclein gene identified in families with Parkinson's disease. Science 276:2045–2047

Prots I, Veber V, Brey S, Campioni S, Buder K, Riek R, Bohm KJ, Winner B (2013) alpha-Synuclein oligomers impair neuronal microtubule-kinesin interplay. J Biol Chem 288:21742–21754

Qian JJ, Cheng YB, Yang YP, Mao CJ, Qin ZH, Li K, Liu CF (2008) Differential effects of overexpression of wild-type and mutant human alpha-synuclein on MPP+-induced neurotoxicity in PC12 cells. Neurosci Lett 435:142–146

Roy B, Jackson GR (2014) Interactions between Tau and alpha-synuclein augment neurotoxicity in a Drosophila model of Parkinson's disease. Hum Mol Genet 23:3008–3023

Sharma NK, Sethy NK, Meena RN, Ilavazhagan G, Das M, Bhargava K (2011) Activity-dependent neuroprotective protein (ADNP)-derived peptide (NAP) ameliorates hypobaric hypoxia induced oxidative stress in rat brain. Peptides 32:1217–1224

Siderowf A, Stern M (2003) Update on Parkinson disease. Ann Intern Med 138:651–658 Simcox EM, Reeve A, Turnbull D (2013) Monitoring mitochondrial dynamics and complex I dysfunction in neurons: implications for Parkinson's disease. Biochem Soc Trans 41:1618–1624

Singleton AB, Farrer M, Johnson J, Singleton A, Hague S, Kachergus J, Hulihan M, Peuralinna T, Dutra A, Nussbaum R, Lincoln S, Crawley A, Hanson M, Maraganore D, Adler C, Cookson MR, Muenter M, Baptista M, Miller D, Blancato J, Hardy J, Gwinn-Hardy K (2003) alpha-Synuclein locus triplication causes Parkinson's disease. Science 302:841

Stefanovic AN, Lindhoud S, Semerdzhiev SA, Claessens MM, Subramaniam V (2015) Oligomers of Parkinson's disease-related alpha-synuclein mutants have similar structures but distinctive membrane permeabilization properties. Biochemistry 54:3142–3150

Tanner CM (1992) Occupational and environmental causes of parkinsonism. Occup Med 7:503–513

Taylor SC, Berkelman T, Yaday G, Hammond H (2013) A defined methodology for reliable quantification of Western Blot data. Mol Biotechnol 55:217–226

Van Laar VS, Berman SB (2009) Mitochondrial dynamics in Parkinson's disease. Exp Neurol 218:247–256

Victoria GS, Zurzolo C (2015) Trafficking and degradation pathways in pathogenic conversion of prions and prion-like proteins in neurodegenerative diseases. Virus Res 207:146–154

Wade-Martins R (2012) Genetics: the MAPT locus—a genetic paradigm in disease susceptibility. Nat Rev Neurol 8:477–478

Wang Y, Nartiss Y, Steipe B, McQuibban GA, Kim PK (2012) ROS- induced mitochondrial depolarization initiates PARK2/PARKIN- dependent mitochondrial degradation by autophagy. Autophagy 8:1462–1476

Winslow AR, Chen CW, Corrochano S, Acevedo-Arozena A, Gordon DE, Peden AA, Lichtenberg M, Menzies FM, Ravikumar B, Imarisio S, Brown S, O'Kane CJ, Rubinsztein DC (2010) alpha-Synuclein impairs macroautophagy: implications for Parkinson's disease. J Cell Biol 190:1023– 1037

Xie W, Chung KK (2012) Alpha-synuclein impairs normal dynamics of mitochondria in cell and animal models of Parkinson's disease. J Neurochem 122:404–414

Zamostiano R, Pinhasov A, Gelber E, Steingart RA, Seroussi E, Giladi E, Bassan M, Wollman Y, Eyre HJ, Mulley JC, Brenneman DE, Gozes I (2001) Cloning and characterization of the human activity-dependent neuroprotective protein. J Biol Chem 276:708–714.



Supplemental Figure 1. Example of the composition of the lentiviral vector used for the transfection of the  $\alpha$ -synuclein (trans) genes.



Supplemental Figure 2. Neuronal-like differentiation of the various SH-SY5Y cell lines at 4, 6 and 8 days in vitro (DIV). No apparent differences in differentiation pattern were observed between the different cell lines. Phase-contrast microscopy, bar =  $50 \mu m$ 

Target	Fw. Primer	Rev. Primer
GAPDH	TTTCTATAAATTGAGCCCGCAGC	TACGACCAAATCCGTTGACTCC
GAPDH DNA	AACCTGCCAAATATGATGACATCA	AGCCCAGGATGCCTTTGAG
a-synuclein	AAGAGGGTGTTCTCTATGTAGGC	GCTCCTCCAACATTTGTCACTT
Plasmid α-synuclein	AACTAGTATGGATGTATTCATGAAAGGAC	AATGCATTTAGGCTTCAGGTTCGTAG
Seq. Primer EF1a	TCAAGCCTCAGACAGTGGTTC	

#### Supplemental Table 1. List of primers used.

# Impairment of mitochondria dynamics by human A53T $\alpha$ -synuclein and rescue by NAP (davunetide) in differentiated SH-SY5Y after 6 days of culture

This study showed that, after 6 days of differentiation, only retrograde transport in dopaminergic neuron-like cells was impaired in the presence of A53T alpha-synuclein expression. As cited previously, overexpression of alpha-synuclein can lead to phosphorylation of tau and microtubule disassembly and block cellular traffic. Disturbances in mitochondrial retrograde trafficking disrupt mitochondrial biogenesis, causing mitochondrial fragmentation/dysfunction and increased ROS levels, leading to cell death (Devine et al., 2016; Levytskyy et al., 2016; Amiri and Hollenbeck, 2008).

It has been demonstrated that overexpression of alpha-synuclein can inhibits autophagy, which is concomitant to alpha-synuclein accumulation. On the other hand, knockdown of alpha-synuclein resulted in autophagy enhancement, suggesting that alpha-synuclein may have a regulatory role upon autophagy (Winslow et al., 2010). It is known that WT alpha-synuclein overexpression or the presence of A30P or A53T alpha-synuclein aggregates disturb autophagy systems, causing the accumulation of autophagosomes in the central nervous system (Koch et al., 2015)

LC3 is a key protein of autophagy initiation presented in two isoforms: LC3-I, which is present in immature autophagosomes (lysosome vesicles), and LC3-II, which is present in the mature autophagosome. LC3 is involved in phagosome membrane formation and is associated with autophagic membrane binding directly in ubiquitinated cargos. P62 is a protein that recognizes ubiquinated cargos, such as alpha-synuclein oligomers and aggregates, or damaged mitochondria. When the inner membrane of an autophagosome fuses with a lysosome, LC3-II is partially degraded, and P62 is totally degraded. In autophagy dysfunction, P62 and LC3 are commonly altered (Bjørkøy et al., 2009; Mishra et al., 2015).

Alpha-synuclein oligomers or mutant alpha-synuclein stimulate excessive fission of mitochondria, leading to mitochondrial fragmentation (Perfeito et al., 2014, Wang et al., 2012). Damaged mitochondria drive mitophagy; however, it is known that alpha-synuclein blocks autophagy in general. Specifically, A53T alpha-synuclein impairs macroautophagy, impeding the removal of damaged mitochondria. As a consequence, fragmented mitochondria accumulate in neurons (Chen et al., 2015; Winslow et al., 2011).

Alpha-synuclein overexpression toxicity is also related to the activation of apoptosis through mitochondrial dysfunction. It has been reported that accumulated alpha-synuclein activates p53, which can inhibit the anti-apoptotic BCL-XL protein. BCL-XL is related to maintenance of mitochondrial membrane potential. Its inhibition increases mitochondrial membrane permeabilization, causing cytochrome c release into the cytosol to activate caspase 3 and promote apoptosis (Nair et al., 2006; Dumitru et al., 2012).

Arduino and colleagues (2013) have demonstrated that mitochondrial dysfunction can lead to autophagy dysfunction through microtubule disassembly. It is clear that microtubule disassembly, mitochondria, and autophagy dysfunction play a role in Parkinson's disease (PD) pathology. Thus, we analyzed the consequences of the disruption of retrograde transport and treatment with NAP on mitochondria, autophagy function, and the apoptosis pathway.

### MATERIAL AND METHODS

Mitochondrial morphology and connectivity measurements were performed as described previously.

Mitochondria membrane potential measurement with MitoTracker Orange
CMTMRos

At 6 days of differentiation, live cells were incubated with MitoTracker Orange CMTMRos

(Invitrogen) at 75nM for 30 min. This probe labels only mitochondria with an intact membrane potential. Neurons were analyzed at confocal microscopy using 63x objective and the total number of labeled mitochondria in photos was quantified using ImageJ plugin Difference Tracker in order to quantify the amount of mobile mitochondria labeled by Mitotracker Orange.

ROS measurements were analyzed as cited previously.

Treatment with NAP was performed as cited previously.

# Mitochondrial morphology and connectivity

Mitochondrial morphology and connectivity of neurons expressing pDsRed2-Mito were observed and compared. The total number of neurons containing mitochondria with normal morphology was analyzed and quantified.

# Western blotting

After 6 days of differentiation of dopaminergic neuron-like cells, total protein was extracted using a solution containing PBS, 10% NP40, 5% sodium deoxycholate, 10% SDS, and 1% protease inhibitor. The cells were sonicated and centrifuged at 13000 rpm for 10 min. The supernatant was fractionated by SDS-PAGE (20  $\mu$ g of protein/lane) using a 10% Tris-HCl gel at 100 V for 1 h. Proteins were transferred to a PVDF membrane (immobilon-FL, Millipore, IPFL 00010) for 1 h at 100 V. Membranes were blocked using PBS + 0.5% Tween 20 for 30 minutes. The following antibodies were used:  $\beta$ -actin (1:1000, 37 kDa, Abcam, #ab6276), LC3 (1:1000, 17-19 kDa, Novus Biologicals, NB600-1384), P62 (1:1000, 62 kDa, Enzo PML, BW9860-0100), Caspase 3 (1:1000, 35 kDa, Cell Signaling, #9665), BCL (1:1000, 29 kDa, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, #SC-634), p53 (1:500, 53 kDa, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, SC-126), Tau (1:1000, 50-80 kDa, Cell Signaling, #4019), and AT8 (1:1000, 79 kDa).

# Statistical analysis

Mitochondrial trafficking, immunofluorescence, and Western blot results were analyzed by either Student's T-Test or one- way or two-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-hoc test. Differences were considered statistically significant at a p-value  $\leq 0.05$ ; analyses were conducted using GraphPad Prism software (GraphPad Software Inc., version 5.00, CA).

#### Results

# Effect of NAP on mitochondrial membrane potential and morphology

Altered mitochondrial biogenesis leads to mitochondrial dysfunction and, consequently, increased ROS and altered mitochondrial membrane potential. We found gradually increased ROS levels in neurons expressing WT and A30P alpha-synuclein as compared to their levels in the controls. Neurons expressing A53T alpha-synuclein showed the highest levels of ROS (Figure 1A and C). NAP treatment rescued ROS levels in all cell lines expressing alpha-synuclein (Figure 1B and C). Additionally, alpha-synuclein led to lower mitochondrial membrane potential in all cell groups than in the control. However, NAP treatment rescued the mitochondrial membrane potential (Figure 1D).

Living neurons transfected with pDSRed-Mito expressing WT or A30P alpha-synuclein showed the same pattern of mitochondrial morphology as the control. Of the neurons containing A53T alpha-synuclein, 35% (Figure 2A and B) contained non-connected, small spherical mitochondrial clusters, suggesting the organelle was fragmented in the presence of A53T alpha-synuclein expression. As previously showed, mitochondrial trafficking was normalized after NAP treatment; however, neurons expressing A53T alpha-synuclein still showed small spherical non-connected mitochondria (10%) after 6 days (Figure 2C).









**Figure 1**: ROS production and mitochondrial viability. Photomicrographs show neurons incubated with green fluorescent probe DCFDA untreated (A) or treated with NAP (B). Differentiated SH-SY5Y cells expressing WT, A30P or A53T  $\alpha$ -synuclein or controls (E.V.=empty vector) were incubated with CM-H2DCFDA, a fluorescent ROS detector, untreated (A) or treated with NAP (B). Fluorescence intensity measurements (C) show significantly higher levels of ROS compared to control (E.V.); treatment with NAP restored levels of ROS to basal levels of control cells. Differentiated SH-SY5Y cells expressing WT, A30P or A53T alpha-synuclein incubated with MitoTracker Orange show a decrease in the percentage of mobile mitochondria, with intact membrane potential, compared to control (E.V.); treatment with NAP restored to control (C) or percent of moving mitochondria per 1,000 pixels (D) ± SD. Two-way ANOVA following Tukey post- test was the statistical test employed \*p ≤ 0.05; \*\*p ≤ 0.01; \*\*\*p ≤ 0.001 compared to control. # p ≤0.05 compared to cells expressing WT. Data are expressed as mean of 3 independent experiments.

131



**Figure 2**: Mitochondria distribution and connectivity. Photomicrographs illustrate mitochondria distribution and connectivity in neurons transfected with pDsRed2-Mito (63x objective) (**A**). Quantification of neurons with normal mitochondria distribution reveals a significant decrease after expression of A53T alpha-synuclein (**B**). Treatment with NAP increases the amount of neurons with normal mitochondria distribution and connectivity to 90% (**C**). Data are expressed as percent relative to control (EV). \*p<0.05 and \*\*p<0.01 compared with EV according to Student's T-test. n = 5. Experiments were repeated 3 times.

# Levels of phosphorylated tau are increased in DA neurons containing alpha-synuclein

Since our data showed that mitochondrial trafficking was disrupted, we analyzed the levels of tau and phosphorylated tau (Figure 3). We found decreased levels of tau protein in neurons containing WT, A30P, and A53T alpha-synuclein (Figure 3A and C). In addition, we found increased levels of hyperphosphorylated tau protein in neurons expressing A30P and A53T alpha-synuclein (Figure 3B and C). These data indicate that the deficit in mitochondrial transport is caused by destabilization of microtubules. NAP treatment increased tau levels in neurons expressing A30P or A53T alpha-synuclein (Figure3A and D). However, the treatment did not decrease the levels of hyperphosphorylated tau in neurons expressing A53T alpha-synuclein (Figure 3B and D).



**Figure 3**: Tau expression. Quantification and representative blottings of tau protein showed decreased levels of tau in cells expressing WT, A30P or A53Talpha-synuclein compared to cells expressing E.V. (A and C). Treatment with NAP increased tau levels in all cell lines (A and D). Neurons expressing A53T alpha-synuclein showed higher levels of phosphorylated tau (AT8) compared to all others cell lines (B and D). Tretament with NAP was not effective in decrease phosphorylated tau in neurons expressing A53T alpha-synuclein. Data are expressed percent relative to control (E.V). Experiments were repeated 3 times\*p<0.05, <sup>#</sup>p<0.05 and <sup>&</sup>p<0.05 as compared with E.V., WT or A30P, respectively, according to two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by Tukey post test.

# NAP increases autophagic flux in neurons expressing alpha-synuclein

To measure autophagy flux, we analyzed the protein levels of LC3-II and P62. After 6 days of differentiation, we found decreased levels of LC3-II in neurons expressing WT and A30P alpha-synuclein (Figure 4A and C) and decreased levels of LC3-II and P62 in neurons expressing A53T alpha-synuclein (Figure A, B, and C), suggesting an induction of autophagy in these neurons.

After NAP treatment, we observed decreased levels of LC3 and P62 in neurons expressing A30P and A53T alpha-synuclein (Figure 4D, E, and F). These findings together suggest NAP treatment stimulates autophagy flux.



**Figure 4**: LC3-II and P62 expression. Quantification and representative blottings of both proteins showed decreased levels of LC3 in cells expressing WT, A30P or A53T alpha-synuclein compared to cells expressing E.V. (A and C), whereas neurons expressing A53T alpha-synuclein showed decreased levels of P62 (B and C). Treatment with NAP increased LC3-II (D and F) and P62 (E and F) compared to neurons expressing E.V. Data are expressed as absolute number. Experiments were repeated 3 times.\*p<0.05, \*p<0.05 as compared with E.V. or WT, respectively, according to one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by Tukey post test.

The apoptosis pathway is inhibited in neurons expressing alpha-synuclein after NAP treatment

Accumulation of alpha-synuclein activates the apoptosis pathway and damages mitochondria. We analyzed the apoptosis pathway by measuring the levels of p53, BCL-XL, and caspase 3 proteins. The levels of p53 increased in neurons expressing A53T (Figure 5A and D). Protein levels of BCL-XL were decreased in neurons expressing WT, A30P, or A53T alpha-synuclein (Figure 5B and D). Caspase 3 protein levels were increased in neurons expressing A53T alpha-synuclein (Figure 5C and D). These data strongly suggest activation of the apoptosis pathway in neurons overexpressing alpha-synuclein. After NAP treatment, we observed basal levels of p53 in all groups expressing alpha-synuclein (Figure 5E and H). Neurons expressing A30P or A53T alpha-synuclein showed increased levels of BCL-XL (Figure 5F and H) and decreased levels of caspase 3 (Figure 5G and H). These data suggest that treatment with NAP is effective in blocking apoptosis signaling cascades (Figure 5).



**Figure 5**: P53, BCL-XL and caspase 3 expression. Quantification and representative blottings showed increased levels of P53 (A and D) and caspase 3 (C and D) in cells expressing A53T alpha-synuclein compared to cells expressing E.V., whereas neurons expressing WT, A30P or A53T alpha-synuclein showed decreased levels of BCL-XL (B and D). Treatment with NAP normalized P53 levels (E and H), increased BCL-XL levels (F and H), whereas decreased caspase 3 levels (G and H) in neurons expressing A30P or A53T alpha-synuclein compared to neurons expressing E.V. Data are expressed as absolute number. Experiments were repeated 3 times.\*p<0.05,  $^{*}p$ <0.05 and  $^{\&}p$ <0.05 as compared with E.V., WT or A30P, respectively, according to one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by Tukey post test.

# Discussion

Mitochondrial dysfunction and altered autophagy are common occurrences in PD and can be caused by changes in trafficking, which is a phenomenon observed in early stages of PD. Our study focused on analyzing mitochondria, autophagy, and apoptotic pathway changes caused by different types of alpha-synuclein in early stages when only retrograde trafficking was impaired.

We used NAP at a concentration that rescued mitochondrial trafficking in order to check whether mitochondrial dysfunction, autophagy modulation, or apoptosis signaling could be consequences of altered trafficking. We observed that 35% of neurons expressing A53T alpha-synuclein contained fragmented mitochondria. Interestingly, neurons expressing both A30P and A53T alpha-synuclein had increased levels of phosphorylated tau and showed decreased numbers of mitochondria with the membrane potential intact. ROS levels were increased for neurons expressing WT, A30P, or A53T alpha-synuclein, demonstrating that overexpression of WT and A30P alpha-synuclein are both able to change the mitochondrial membrane potential and increase oxidative stress before changing mitochondrial trafficking. These data suggest that the expression of WT and A30P alpha-synuclein first changes the expression of phosphorylated tau and damages the mitochondrial membrane potential, whereas the impairment in mitochondrial trafficking and dysfunction are concomitant events in neurons expressing A53T alpha-synuclein.

It is known that alpha-synuclein can form oligomers before aggregates are actually observed, and oligomers are thought to be more toxic than aggregates, targeting mitochondria, impairing intracellular transport, and altering autophagy (Bart et al., 2010; Vekrellis et al., 2011; Chua and Tang, 2011; Iborra et al., 2015). Thus, we likely had oligomers of WT, A30P, and A53T alpha-synuclein after 6 days of differentiation. As cited above, the time to form oligomers of alpha-synuclein is dependent on alpha-synuclein type, where A53T alpha-synuclein oligomerizes easier and faster than A30P alpha-synuclein that oligomerizes easier and faster than WT alpha-synuclein. Not only do the levels of oligomers influence cellular damage, but the type of oligomer is also important in damaging neurons (Stefanovic et al., 2015). In view of this, our findings suggest we had more oligomers of A53T alpha-synuclein, and they were more toxic than oligomers of A30P or WT alpha-synuclein.

Mitochondrial dysfunction, altered intracellular trafficking, and autophagy alterations can be linked to PD. Arduíno and colleagues (2015) demonstrated that impaired mitochondrial function could modulate autophagy, leading to accumulation of autophagosomes. Su and Qi (2013) showed mitochondrial dysfunction led to overactivated lysosomes and altered autophagy flux. After 6 days of differentiation, we observed overactivated autophagy flux in neurons expressing WT, A30P, and A53T alpha-synuclein. Further, neurons expressing A53T alpha-synuclein showed decreased levels of P62, suggesting that A53T alpha-synuclein increases autophagy of ubiquitinated cargos. After NAP treatment, autophagy flux was restored in neurons expressing WT alpha-synuclein; however, neurons expressing A30P or A53T alpha-synuclein continued to express decreased levels of LC3. Further, these neurons showed decreased levels of P62, indicating increased autophagic flux of ubiquitinated cargos. NAP treatment increased removal of ubiquitination for both mutated alphasynucleins. Taken together, these data suggest NAP restores autophagic flux and increases removal of ubiquitinated cargos generated in the presence of A30P or A53T alpha-synuclein.

It is known that overexpression of alpha-synuclein and mitochondrial dysfunction can lead to apoptosis. Our data showed increased p53 and caspase 3 levels in neurons expressing A53T alpha-synuclein, suggesting activation of the apoptosis pathway. Curiously, all groups expressing alpha-synuclein showed decreased levels of BCL-XL, revealing that mitochondria are susceptible to changes in the membrane potential in the presence of alpha-synuclein. Nevertheless, treatment with NAP was effective in blocking the apoptosis pathway.

These findings indicate that restoring mitochondrial trafficking can prevent mitochondrial dysfunction and cell death, suggesting that disturbed trafficking plays a crucial role in neurodegeneration in PD.

#### References

Amiri M, Hollenbeck PJ (2008) Mitochondrial biogenesis in the axons of vertebrate peripheral neurons. Dev Neurobiol 68:1348-1361.

Arduíno DM, Esteves AR, Cardoso SM (2013) Mitochondria drive autophagy pathology via microtubule disassembly: a new hypothesis for Parkinson disease. Autophagy. 2013 Jan;9(1):112-4. doi: 10.4161/auto.22443.

Bart D. van Rooijen, Mireille M.A.E. Claessens and Vinod Subramaniam (2010) Membrane Interactions of Oligomeric Alpha-Synuclein: Potential Role in Parkinson's Disease. Current Protein and Peptide Science, 11, 334-342.

Bjørkøy G1, Lamark T, Pankiv S, Øvervatn A, Brech A, Johansen T. (2009) .Monitoring autophagic degradation of p62/SQSTM1. Methods Enzymol. 452:181-97. doi: 10.1016/S0076-6879(08)03612-4.

Chua C E L, Tang B L (2011) Rabs, SNAREs and α-synuclein — Membrane trafficking defects in synucleinopathies BRAIN RESEARCH REVIEWS 67, 268–281.

Chen L, Xie Z, Turkson S, Zhuang X (2015) A53T human  $\alpha$ -synuclein overexpression in transgenic mice induces pervasive mitochondria macroautophagy defects preceding dopamine neuron degeneration. J Neurosci. 2015 Jan 21;35(3):890-905. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0089-14.2015.

Devine MJ, Birsa N, Kittler JT (2016) Miro sculpts mitochondrial dynamics in neuronal health and disease. Neurobiol Dis. 2016 Jun;90:27-34. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2015.12.008. Epub 2015 Dec 19.

Dumitru R, Gama V, Fagan BM, Bower JJ, Swahari V, Pevny LH, Deshmukh M (2012) Human embryonic stem cells have constitutively active Bax at the Golgi and are primed to undergo rapid apoptosis. Mol Cell. Jun 8;46(5):573-83. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2012.04.002. Epub 2012 May 3.

Iborra S F, Miquel V and Perier C (2015) The Parkinson Disease Mitochondrial Hypothesis: Where Are We at? The Neuroscientist 1–12 DOI: 10.1177/1073858415574600.

Koch JC, Bitow F, Haack J, d'Hedouville Z, Zhang J-N, Tönges L, Michel U, Oliveira LMA, Jovin TM, Liman J, Tatenhorst L, Bähr M and Lingor P (2015) Alpha-Synuclein affects neurite morphology, autophagy, vesicle transport and axonal degeneration in CNS neurons. Cell Death and Disease 6, e1811; doi:10.1038/cddis.2015.169.

Levytskyy RM, Germany EM, Khalimonchuk O (2016) Mitochondrial Quality Control Proteases in Neuronal Welfare. J Neuroimmune Pharmacol. 2016 May 2.

Mishra AK, ur Rasheed MS, Shukla S, Tripathi MK, Dixit A, Singh MP (2015) Aberrant autophagy and parkinsonism: does correction rescue from disease progression? Mol Neurobiol. Jun;51(3):893-908. doi: 10.1007/s12035-014-8744-3. Epub 2014 May 16.

Nair, VD., McNaught, KSP., González-Maeso, J., Sealfon, SC., Olanow, CW. p53 mediates nontranscriptional cell death in dopaminergic cells in response to proteasome inhibition. J Biol Chem. 2006 Dec 22;281(51):39550-60.

Perfeito R, Lázaro DF, Outeiro TF, Rego AC (2014) Linking alpha-synuclein phosphorylation to reactive oxygen species formation and mitochondrial dysfunction in SH-SY5Y cells. Mol Cell Neurosci. 2014 Sep;62:51-9. doi: 10.1016/j.mcn.2014.08.002. Epub 2014 Aug 7.

Stefanovic A N D, Lindhoud S, Semerdzhiev S A, Claessens Mireille M A E and Subramaniam V (2015) Oligomers of Parkinson's Disease-Related  $\alpha$ -Synuclein Mutants Have Similar Structures but Distinctive Membrane Permeabilization Properties. Biochemistry 54, 3142–3150 DOI: 10.1021/bi501369k.

Su YC, Qi X (2013) Inhibition of excessive mitochondrial fission reduced aberrant autophagy and neuronal damage caused by LRRK2 G2019S mutation. Hum Mol Genet. 2013 Nov 15;22(22):4545-61. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddt301.

Vekrellis K, Xilouri M, Emmanouilidou E, Rideout HJ, Stefanis L (2011) Pathological roles of alphasynuclein in neurological disorders. Lancet Neurol 10:1015-1025.

Wang Y, Nartiss Y, Steipe B, McQuibban GA, Kim PK (2012) ROS-induced mitochondrial depolarization initiates PARK2/PARKIN-dependent mitochondrial degradation by autophagy. doi: 10.4161/auto.21211.

Winslow AR, Rubinsztein DC (2011) The Parkinson disease protein  $\alpha$ -synuclein inhibits autophagy. Autophagy. 2011 Apr;7(4):429-31. Epub 2011 Apr 1.

# Part II

Manuscript in preparation

**3.2.** Absence of Gem (Miro1 in mammals) ameliorates A30P and A53T alpha-synuclein toxicity, while absence of Ypt53 (Rab5 in mammals) and Atg8 (LC3 in mammals) contributes to A30P and A53T alpha-synuclein toxicity in a yeast (*S. cerevisiae*) model of Parkinson's disease

#### Abstract

Parkinson's disease (PD) is characterized mainly by alpha-synuclein aggregation and its toxicity involving mitochondrial dysfunction, oxidative stress, disturbed autophagy, and ER stress. A30P and A53T point mutations in alpha-synuclein are linked to familial PD and more severe cellular damage than WT alpha-synuclein. Alpha-synuclein has been reported to interfere/interact in direct or indirect ways with Miro1, Rab5, and LC3, which are the key proteins related to mitochondrial dynamics, endocytic and primary endosome trafficking, and formation and fusion of vesicles in lysosome, respectively. In this study, we created a model to study A30P and A53T alpha-synuclein toxicity related to Gem (Miro), Ypt53 (Rab5) and Atg8 (LC3) genes in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* in which these genes were knocked down. We found that A30P alpha-synuclein toxicity was dependent on mitochondrial and autophagy dysfunction. A53T alpha-synuclein was more toxic than A30P alpha-synuclein, and its aggregation was dependent on Gem gene expression. A53T alphasynuclein toxicity involving damaged mitochondrial and apoptotic signaling caused by ER stress was dependent on Gem and Atg8 genes, respectively.

# Introduction

Parkinson's disease (PD) is the most common motor neurodegenerative disease and the second most common neurodegenerative disease (de Lau and Breteler, 2006). Alpha-synuclein protein accumulation/aggregation, mitochondrial dysfunction, oxidative stress, and degeneration of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra are the main hallmarks of PD (Bose and Beal, 2016). Disturbed intracellular trafficking of organelles and vesicles in the presence of overexpressed alpha-

synuclein has been reported in models of PD (Schrinzi et al., 2016; Valadas et al., 2015). A30P or A53T point-mutated alpha-synucleins are linked to familial forms of PD and can exacerbate alphasynuclein toxicity; moreover, A53T alpha-synuclein is more toxic than WT or A30P alphasynuclein, causing more severe cellular damage (Lee et al., 2002; Chen et al., 2015). WT, A30P, or A53T point-mutated alpha-synuclein disrupt intracellular trafficking, increase endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress, damage mitochondria, and disturb autophagy (Mazzulli et al., 2016; Bose and Beal, 2016). Mechanisms that have been suggested for alpha-synuclein toxicity involve Miro1 (Gem in yeast), Rab5 (Ypt53 in yeast), and LC3 (Atg8 in yeast) function.

Miro1 is a calcium-dependent motor/adaptor protein involved in the regulation of mitochondrial dynamics. In addition, Miro1 is a target of proteins responsible for controlling the fission and fusion processes, which are dysregulated by alpha-synuclein, contributing to mitochondrial dysfunction and increased hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) in PD (Devine et al., 2016; Chen et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2011).

Rab5 is a small GTPase involved in the endocytic pathway and primary endosome trafficking, playing a role in autophagy initiation. It has been reported that alpha-synuclein disrupts Rab homeostasis, leading to ER stress and impairment of early endocytic trafficking through association with Rab5. Moreover, alpha-synuclein is endocytosed by Rab5, changing endocytosis and lysosome dynamics (Sung et al., 2001; Sancenon et al., 2012).

LC3 is a protein crucial to autophagy and responsible for formation of endosomes and their fusion with lysosomes. Alpha-synuclein inhibits autophagy and increases ER stress. The unfolded protein response (UPR) is activated, increasing ER stress markers, such as *Hac1* (XBP1 in mamals) and chaperons like Pdi, in order to enhance protein-folding machinery and alleviate ER stress (Redmann et al., 2016; Winslow and Rubinsztein, 2011). However, UPR activation can also generate reactive oxygen species (ROS), deregulating the redox state of the ER, which releases excessive levels of calcium to mitochondria, leading to dysfunction of organelles generating ROS
and oxidized glutathione (GSSG) (Tomanek 2015; Colla et al., 2012; Scheuner and Kaufman 2008). Additionally, mutations in alpha-synuclein lead to accumulated misfolded proteins in the ER, activating apoptosis pathways through the transcription factor CHOP (Mizuno et al., 2016; Zhao et al., 2016; Colla et al., 2012).

Yeast (*Saccharomyces cerevisiae*) has been successfully used to investigate alpha-synuclein toxicity related to ER stress, mitochondria, and autophagy dysfunction (Tenreiro et al., 2016; Delorme-Axford et al., 2015; Ciaccioli et al., 2013; Sancenon et al., 2012). In other to investigate the role of Miro1, Rab5, and LC3 in alpha-synuclein toxicity, we create a model  $\Delta$  (knockout) for each of these genes in yeast also expressing A30P or A53T alpha-synuclein.

## MATERIAL AND METHODS

# Transformation of Saccharomyces cerevisiae

The *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* strain used in this study was BY4741 (genotype: Mat $\alpha$ ; his3 $\Delta$ 1; leu2 $\Delta$ 0; met15 $\Delta$ 0; ura3 $\Delta$ 0; YHR104w: kanMX4). The  $\Delta$  strains used were  $\Delta$ Gem1,  $\Delta$ Ypt53, and  $\Delta$ Atg8, all derived from BY4741. Gem1, Ypt53, and Atg8 are homologous to human Miro, Rab5, and LC3 respectively. All cell lines were obtained from the Euroscarf collection (Frankfurt, Germany), kindly donated by professor Luis Eduardo Soares Netto from the Institute of Biosciences-University of Sao Paulo.

All strains were transformed using p426GPD empty plasmid (empty vector), or containing A30P or A53T alpha-synuclein, and they were donated by Professor Susan Lindquist (Outeiro and Lindquist, 2003). Both genes are under control of the constitutive promoter GPD, Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase. Selection markers of plasmids were ampicillin and uracil for bacteria and yeast, respectively.

Yeast cells were transformed with plasmids using the lithium acetate method based on Schiestl and Gietz (1989). Briefly, cells grew at 30 °C, shaking overnight at 200 rpm in 10 ml of liquid minimal medium (SD), which consisted of 20% of glucose, 1.7% of nitrogenous base, 1.3% of dropout (1.25g of adenine; 1.2g of alanine; 0.9g of arginine; 1.2g of asparagine; 3g of aspartate; 1.2g of cysteine; 1.5g of phenylalanine; 1.2g of glycine; 3g of glutamate; 1.2g of glutamine; 1.2g of isoleucine; 0.9g of lysine; 0.6g of methionine; 1.2g of proline; 11.25g of serine; 0.9g of tyrosine; 6g of threonine; 4.5g of valine), and auxotrophic supplementation containing histidine, tryptophan, leucine, and uracil at recommended concentrations in 1 liter of ultrapure water. Next, 1 ml of cells was transferred to 29 ml of new SD medium to grow for 5 h. The samples were centrifuged at 1000 × g for 5 min, and the supernatant was discarded. Pellets were resuspended using TEL buffer composed of TE buffer (Tris-HCl 10 mM, EDTA 1 mM at pH 8.0) and lithium acetate 1×. Samples were centrifuged, pellets were resuspended in TEL buffer mixed with 5  $\mu$ l of *carrier* salmon DNA and incubated for 20 min at room temperature. Subsequently, 700  $\mu$ l of 40% PEG (polyethylene glycol) was added to the samples. After 35 min, cells were centrifuged at 16000 × g for 1 min, and half of the supernatant was discarded. Pellets were resuspended using supernatant, and 100  $\mu$ l of the cells was plated on solid SD medium (containing 1% agar) without uracil.

Expression of A30P or A53T alpha-synuclein were verified through western blotting techniques after incubation of inoculum in SD medium for 8 h.

### Viability and sensitivity essay

In general, all cell strains grew better in fermentation medium, which is synthetic defined minimal medium containing glucose (SD). In analyses when mitochondrial activity was necessary, respiratory medium was used (SGE). SGE medium is composed of the same components as SD medium, but glucose was replaced by glycerol and ethanol. However, all cell strains had more than 24 h to grow in liquid SGE medium, so we also used an intermediary medium (SG) in which glucose was replaced by galactose.

Viability of cells was analyzed through growth curves and serial dilution in SD or SG media in the absence and presence of  $H_2O_2$ .

Pre-inoculum of yeast was prepared in SD liquid medium (1 colony in 300 ml of medium) shaken at 200 rpm for 12 h at 30 °C. Next, samples were centrifuged at  $1000 \times g$  for 5 min, resuspended, and inoculum was incubated in 300 ml of liquid SD, SG, or SGE medium at 0.2 OD<sub>600</sub> (optical density<sub>600</sub> = 1=  $3 \times 10^7$  cell/ml) shaken at 200 rpm. To construct a growth curve, the OD<sub>600</sub>, was measured every 2 h for 12 h and again after 12 h, i.e., for 24 h of growth. To analyze yeast growth through a serial dilution or sensitivity to H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, cells were plated from 1.0 OD<sub>600</sub> in 4 diluted concentrations (1/10, 1/100, 1/1000, 1/10000) in solid SD or SG medium for 4 days or SGE medium for 8 days. Cells cultured in SGE did not grow. To analyze the sensitivity of lines to H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, cells were plated in SD solid medium containing 0 mM, 0.5 mM, 1.0 mM, 1.5 mM, 2 mM, or 3 mM of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>. After 8 days, yeast growth was observed and registered through photomicrographs.

#### H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> levels in isolated mitochondria

### Mitochondrial isolation

Pre-inoculum was prepared in SD medium as described above, and inoculum was incubated in 1 liter of SG medium and shaken at 200 rpm at 30 °C for 24 h. Mitochondrial isolation followed the protocol of Glick & Pon (1995) with adaptions. Briefly, cells were centrifuged at  $1000 \times g$  for 5 min at 4 °C, washed in 1.2 M sorbitol, and centrifuged. Subsequently, the of the pellet was weighted, and cell walls were lysed using 3 ml/g of the pellet and digest buffer (1.2 M sorbitol, 60 mM sodium phosphate buffer pH 7.5, 1 mM EDTA, 1% β-mercaptoethanol, and 1 mg/ml zymolyase) at 37 °C. After 2 h, spheroplasts (yeast without cell walls) were washed twice with buffer A (1.2 M sorbitol and 20 mM sodium phosphate buffer pH 7.5) and centrifuged for 10 min at 4 °C, 1000 × g. Spheroplasts were resuspended in SHE buffer (0.6 M sorbitol, 20 mM HEPES pH 6.0, 1 mM EDTA, and 0.5 mM PMSF) and homogenized in an agitator potter for 30 cycles on ice. Samples were centrifuged at 1000 × g for 10 min at 4 °C, and the supernatant was centrifuged at  $27000 \times g$  for 10 min at 4 °C. The pellet containing membranous organelles was resuspended in 20 ml of SH buffer (0.6 M sorbitol and 20 mM HEPES pH 6.0) and centrifuged as cited previously. Pellet was resuspended in 500 µl of SH buffer. Protein levels were analyzed using the NanoDrop system1000 Spectrophotometer (Thermo Fischer Scientific).

# H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> measurement through Amplex Red<sup>TM</sup> oxidation

Samples with 100  $\mu$ g/ml of suspension containing mitochondria were incubated with 50  $\mu$ M of Amplex Red (Molecular Probes) in the presence of 1.0 U/ml of horseradish peroxidase (HRP, Sigma-Aldrich) for 10 min in a shaker at 30 °C inside a fluorimeter (Cary 100 Bio, Varian). The reaction of Amplex Red oxidation generates resorufin, which has an excitation peak at 563 nm and an emission peak at 587 nm. The quantitative values of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> in arbitrary units of fluorescence were calculated from a calibration curve with different concentrations of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> diluted 1/1000 from 30% of the chemical (v/v).

#### **GSH/GSSG** ratio

The ratio between glutathione in reduced form (GSH) and oxidized form (GSSG) is commonly used as a parameter to estimate intracellular redox (reduction/oxidation reactions) state.

To measure the GSH/GSSG ratio, pre-inoculum grew overnight in SD medium, and inoculums were prepared using the total sample volume, which was incubated overnight in SGE medium. Next, samples were centrifuged at  $1000 \times g$  for 5 min, the volume of the pellet was estimated, and cells were resuspended in sulfosalicylic acid at the same volume of the pellet. To lyse cells, glass beads were added to samples that were vortexed for 20 min at 4 °C. Extracts of samples were centrifuged at 16000 × g for 40 min, and the supernatant, which contained peptides of

low molecular weight, was collected for analysis. The pellet was resuspended in Tris base for protein quantification in a NanoDrop.

## HPLC (High Performance Liquid Chromatography) with electrochemical detection

To measure the GSH/GSSG ratio, the Coulochem III HPLC-ECD system (ESA, Inc.) equipped with one guard cell (model 5020) and analytic cell with electrode BDD (boron doped diamond, model 5040) was used. In this system, samples were separated by reverse phase chromatography using M.S. GEL C18 (EP-DF-5-120A,  $4.6 \times 150$  mm, MC Medical, Inc.) at 35 °C in an isocratic flow of 0.7 ml/min with 25 mM monobasic sodium phosphate, 1.4 mM l-octanesulfonic acid, 6% acetonitrile (v/v) at a final pH 2.65 (adjusted with phosphoric acid). Component elution was monitored by applying a potential of +1400 mV in the analytic cell and +900 mV in the guard cell, finalizing loading by applying a potential of +1900 mV for 30 s followed by rebalancing for 5 min. GSH was used at 0, 0.5, 1, 2.5, 5, 7.5, and 10 mM and GSSG at 5, 10, 25, 50 mM, 75, and 100 mM as quantitative standards to construct a calibration curve.

Supernatants were filtered (using filter membranes with pore sizes  $0.22 \ \mu$ m), and 50  $\mu$ l of each sample was injected in the machine. Chromatograms of total thiols and disulfide detections were analyzed, and the GSH and GSSG peaks were identified and quantified.

# Evaluation of UPR (unfolded protein response) and endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress through alternative splicing of *Hac1* and expression of Pdi and CHOP

Overexpression of the *Hac1* gene is a hallmark of UPR and endoplasmic reticulum stress. Hac1 alternative splicing is dependent on Ire1 in a non-canonical way. Thus, it is possible to identify the presence of large forms (<sup>U</sup>Hac1) of 651 base pairs and processed forms (<sup>S</sup>Hac1) of 450 base pairs (present in situations of ER stress).

## **Reverse transcription PCR**

To evaluate *Hac1* levels, total RNA was extracted using hot phenols following a protocol published by Scherrer & Darnell (1962). Briefly, inoculum grew in SD or SGE medium to achieve

1.0 OD. Next, cells were centrifuged at  $1000 \times g$  for 2 min at 4 °C. The supernatant was discarded, and the pellet was washed with 1 ml of DEPC (diethylpyrocarbonate) water. Cells were centrifuged at  $16000 \times g$  for 5 min at 4 °C, and the superior aqueous phase was mixed with 500 µl of acid phenol. Cells were incubated at 65 °C in a dry bath and vortexed every 10 min. Cells were incubated on ice for 5 min then centrifuged at  $16000 \times g$  for 5 min at 4 °C. The superior aqueous phase was mixed with 500 µl of acid phenol again and vortexed followed by incubation on ice for 5 min. Cells were centrifuged at  $1000 \times g$  for 5 min at 4 °C. The superior aqueous phase was mixed with 500 µl of acid phenol again and vortexed followed by incubation on ice for 5 min. Cells were centrifuged at  $1000 \times g$  for 5 min at 4 °C, and the superior aqueous phase was separated and mixed with 500 µl of chloroform, vortexed, and centrifugation at  $1000 \times g$  for 5 min at 4 °C. The superior phase was mixed with 50 µl of 3 M sodium acetate pH 5.2 and 1 ml of cold absolute ethanol. Samples were incubated at -80 °C for 2 h followed by centrifugation at  $16000 \times g$  for 10 min at 4 °C to precipitate RNA. RNA was washed twice with 70% cold ethanol, dried, and resuspended in 50 µl of DEPC water. Total RNA was quantified in NanoDrop and used for cDNA synthesis. The kit SuperScript II RT (Thermo Fisher Scientific) was used for cDNA synthesis following the manufacturer's instructions. The cDNA was treated with 1 ml of RNase H from *E. coli* at 37 °C for 20 min.

*Hac1* levels were evaluated through cDNA amplification using 2 µl of cDNA at 1 µg/µl, 1 µl of 10 µM forward primer (TACAGGGATTTCCAGAGCACG), 1 µl of 10 µM reverse primer (TGAAGTGATGAAGAAATCATTCAATTC), 1.5 µl of 10 mM dNTP mix, 5 µl of 10× PCR buffer, 1.5 µl of MgCl<sub>2</sub> at 50 mM, 0.5 µl of Taq DNA polymerase at 5 U/L, and ultrapure water to dilute the solution to 50 µl. Samples were denatured at 94 °C for 2 min, followed by 22 denaturation cycles at 94 °C for 30 seconds, an annealing cycle at 54 °C for 30 seconds, and an extension cycle of 72 °C for 10 min. Samples were loaded into a 1% agarose gel, and images were analyzed in ImageJ (National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, Maryland, USA). cDNA of ADH4 (1369 base pairs) was amplified using the proper forward primer (TCACGACAATGCTAAGGCA) and reverse primer (AACACCATGAGGCAAGTGGT) and was used as a control to normalize

*Hac1* expression, followed by the calculation of the ratio between the spliced form of <sup>s</sup>Hac1 (processed form of 450 base pairs) and the unspliced form of <sup>U</sup>Hac1 (large form of 651 base pairs).

To analyze Pdi and CHOP expression, inoculum grew in SD medium for 8 h, followed by protein extraction and Western blotting.

# Western blotting

Three OD<sub>600</sub> of cells were centrifuged at  $1600 \times g$  for 1 min at 4 °C. Cells were resuspended in 1 ml of ultrapure water followed by the addition of 160 µl of 2 M NaOH (sodium hydroxide) and 7.4% β-mercaptoethanol. Subsequently, cells were incubated on ice for 10 min, then mixed with 160 µl of 50% trichloroacetic acid (TCA), followed by 10 min of incubation on ice. Cells were centrifuged at  $16000 \times g$  for 2 min at 4 °C, and the pellet was washed with 500 µl of 1 M Tris-Base. Samples were centrifuged at  $16000 \times g$  for 10 seconds at 4 °C. Next, the pellet was resuspended in 150 µl of 5× Laemmli sample buffer (60 mM of Tris-HCl pH 6.8, 20% glycerol, 2% SDS, 14.4 mM β-mercaptoethanol, and 0.1% bromophenol blue). DTT (1 mM) was added, and samples were incubated at 95 °C for 5 min followed by incubation on ice.

Thirty µg/lane of each sample was fractioned in 12% Tris-HCl SDS-PAGE gels at 200 V for 1 h in Tris-Glycine buffer (25 mM of Tris, 192 mM glycine, and 0.1% SDS). Next, proteins were transferred to nitrocellulose membranes through the i-BLOT<sup>TM</sup> Gel Transfer System (Invitrogen) at 24 V, 650 mA for 30 min according to the manufacturer's recommendations. Membranes were blocked with 5% milk (Blotting Grade Blocker Non-Fat Dry Milk, BioRad) in TBS-T for 1 h at room temperature followed by  $3\times$  washing with TBS-T for 10 min. To verify alpha-synuclein, Pdi, and CHOP expression, membranes were incubated overnight in TBS-T with the following antibodies: anti-alpha-synuclein (sc-7011R, Santa Cruz Biotechnology; 18 kDa) at 1/1000, anti-PDI (sc-20132, Santa Cruz Biotechnology; 55 kDa) at 1/1000, and anti-CHOP (sc-7351, Santa Cruz Biotechnology; 30 kDa) at 1/500. Blots were normalized against  $\beta$ -actin (sc-47778, Santa Cruz Biotechnology; 44 kDa) at 1/1000 or Pgk1 (ab113687, Abcam; 44 kDa) antibodies incubated at

1/10000 in TBS-T for 1 h at room temperature. HRP-conjugated secondary antibodies used were anti-mouse (Amersham) at 1/6000 or anti-rabbit (1/10000) for 1 h at room temperature in TBS-T. ECL<sup>TM</sup> Prime Western Blotting Detection (GE Healthcare) was used to visualize antigen-antibody complexes, followed by exposure to appropriated films (Hyperfilm ECL, Amersham Biosciences). Normalizations were performed by dividing values of detected bands related to proteins of interest by values for  $\beta$ -actin or Pgk1. ImageJ software (National Institutes of Health, USA) was used to quantify film data.

### **Statistical analyses**

Results were analyzed by one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-hoc test using GraphPad Prism (GraphPad Software Inc., version 4.00, CA). Differences were considered statistically significant at a p-value of  $\leq 0.05$ . All data are expressed as percent of control or absolute values  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD).

#### **Results**

# S. cerevisiae transformation

Cells strains were successfully transformed with A30P or A53T alpha-synuclein. Thus, 12 cell strains were used in this study as exemplified in Table 1. As expected, all cell strains showed an 18 kDa band for both alpha-synucleins (Figure 1). Interestingly, BY4741,  $\Delta$ Ypt53, and  $\Delta$ Atg8 expressing A53T alpha-synuclein showed an additional band in the stacking gel for A53T alpha-synuclein, indicating protein aggregation. In  $\Delta$ Gem, the A53T band in the stacking gel was absent.

BY4741	Control cell line
BY4741 E.V. (empty vector)	Control cell line expressing E.V.
BY4741 A30P (pontual mutated alpha-synuclein A30P)	Control cell line expressing A30P alpha-synuclein
BY4741 A53T (pontual mutated alpha-synuclein A53T)	Control cell line expressing A53T alpha-synuclein
Δ Gem (homologous of MIRO1 knockout)	Control cell line of ∆ Gem
Δ Gem E.V. (empty vector)	Cell line expressing E.V.
Δ Gem A30P (pontual mutated alpha-synuclein A30P)	Cell line expressing A30P alpha-synuclein
Δ Gem A53T (pontual mutated alpha-synuclein A53T)	Cell line expressing A53T alpha-synuclein
Δ Ypt53 (homologous of Rab5 knockout)	Control cell line of Δ Ypt53
Δ Ypt53 E.V. (empty vector)	Cell line expressing E.V.
Δ Ypt53 A30P (pontual mutated alpha-synuclein A30P)	Cell line expressing A30P alpha-synuclein
Δ Ypt53 A53T (pontual mutated alpha-synuclein A53T)	Cell line expressing A53T alpha-synuclein
Δ Atg8 (homologous of LC3 knockout)	Control cell line of Δ Atg8
Δ Atg8 E.V. (empty vector)	Cell line expressing E.V.
Δ Atg8 A30P (pontual mutated alpha-synuclein A30P)	Cell line expressing A30P alpha-synuclein
Δ Atg8 A53T (pontual mutated alpha-synuclein A53T)	Cell line expressing A53T alpha-synuclein

**Table 1**: Description of cell strains used in this study. BY4741 was used as the control cell line.  $\Delta$ Gem (homologous to Miro1),  $\Delta$ Ypt53 (homologous to Rab5), and  $\Delta$ Atg8 (homologous to LC3) were cell lines used to study alpha-synuclein toxicity related to Miro1, Rab5 and LC3 genes. Cell lines expressed E.V. (empty vector), A30P alpha-synuclein, or A53T alpha-synuclein.



**Figure 1**: Western blotting for alpha-synuclein (18 kDa) and loading control Pgk1 (44 kDa). Expression of A30P and A53T alpha-synuclein in BY4741,  $\Delta$ Gem,  $\Delta$ Ypt53, and  $\Delta$ Atg8 cultured in SD medium for 8 h. BY4741,  $\Delta$ Ypt53, and  $\Delta$ Atg8 showed an additional band in the stacking gel for A53T alpha-synuclein, indicating protein aggregation.

## Viability and H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> sensitivity assays

From now on the BY4741 and the deletions of Gem, YPT53 and Atg8 will be represented in the graphs as B., G., Y, and A., respectively.

The viability of cell strains was analyzed by a dilution series and growth curve in SD medium (fermentation medium; Figure 2), SG (intermediary; Figure 3) medium or SGE (respiratory) medium (Figure 4).

In the dilution series assay using SD medium, cells grew for 4 days. It was observed that deletions of Ypt53 and Atg8 genes did not change yeast growth. On the other hand, deletion of the Gem gene inhibited yeast growth. Alpha-synuclein expression changed the growth of the cell lines. A30P alpha-synuclein expression inhibited the growth of the BY4741 and  $\Delta$ Ypt53 lines relative to that in their respective lines expressing E.V. (Figure 2A and C). A53T expression inhibited growth of the BY4741 (Figure 2A),  $\Delta$ Ypt53 (Figure 2C), and  $\Delta$ Atg8 (Figure 2D) lines relative to that in

their respective controls. Curiously, A30P and A53T alpha-synuclein expression ameliorated  $\Delta$ Gem line growth (Figure 2B).

In the growth curve assay, Gem, Ypt53, and Atg8 gene deletions significantly impaired normal growth of cells relative to that in BY4741 after 24 h of growth (Figure 2M). A30P and A53T alpha-synuclein impaired the growth of the BY4741 (E),  $\Delta$ YPT53 (Figure 2G), and  $\Delta$ Atg8 (Figure 2H) cells. After 24 h of growth, OD<sub>600</sub> was measured again, revealing significantly decreased growth of the BY4741 (Figure 2I),  $\Delta$ YPT53 (Figure 2K), and  $\Delta$ Atg8 (Figure 2L) cells. Expression of A30P and A53T alpha-synuclein led to significantly higher  $\Delta$ Gem strain growth than that in the line expressing E.V. (Figure 2F and J).



**Figure 2**: Viability of cell strains expressing A30P or A53T alpha-synuclein cultured in SD medium. A, B, C, and D: dilution series from a concentration of 1.0 OD diluted at 1/10, 1/100, 1/1000, or 1/10000 and cultured for 4 days. E, F, G, and H: growth curve from a concentration of 0.2 OD measured every 2 h. I, J, K, L and M: Quantification of growth curve at 24 h. Absence of Gem, Ypt53 and Atg8 genes impaired normal growth relative to that of BY4741 (B, F, G, H and M). A30P and A53T alpha-synuclein impaired normal growth of BY4741,  $\Delta$ Ypt53, and  $\Delta$ Atg8 (A, C, D, E, G, H, I, K and L). A30P and A53T alpha-synuclein ameliorated  $\Delta$ Gem growth (B, F and J). The values of 3 independent experiments (n=3) are expressed as percent of control (E.V.) ± SD. One-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-hoc test were employed. \*p ≤ 0.05 compared with  $\Delta$ Gem. & p ≤ 0.05 compared with  $\Delta$ Ypt53.

In the viability assays using SG medium, cells grew for 4 days. All cell strains grew less than cells that grew in SD medium (Figure 3).

In the dilution series performed with SG medium, deletions in Gem and Ypt53 genes impaired normal growth of cells relative to that in BY4741 (Figure 3 A, B, C and D). Interestingly, A30P alpha-synuclein did not change  $\Delta$ Gem growth, whereas it ameliorated  $\Delta$ Ypt53 cell growth and inhibited  $\Delta$ Atg8 cell growth relative to that in their respective controls. While A53T alphasynuclein inhibited BY4741 and  $\Delta$ Ypt53 growth (Figure 3 A and C), it did not change  $\Delta$ Atg8 or  $\Delta$ Gem growth.

In the growth curve assay, deletion of Gem, Ypt53, and Atg8 significantly inhibited normal growth of cells relative to that of the BY4741 strain (M) after 24 h of growth. A30P and A53T alpha-synuclein did not change BY4741 growth (Figure 3E and I), whereas they significantly inhibited the growth of  $\Delta$ Ypt53 (Figure 3G and K) and ameliorated the growth of  $\Delta$ Gem. Contrasting the observations of the dilution series, A30P alpha-synuclein did not change  $\Delta$ Atg8 growth, while A53T alpha-synuclein significantly inhibited growth of this cell strain (Figure 3H and L).



**Figure 3**: Viability of cell strains expressing A30P or A53T alpha-synuclein cultured in SG medium. A, B, C, and D: dilution series from a concentration of 1.0 OD diluted at 1/10, 1/100, 1/1000, or 1/10000 cultured for 4 days. E, F, G, and H: growth curve from a concentration at 0.2 OD measured every 2 h. I, J, K, L, and M: quantification of growth curve at 24 h. Absence of Gem, Ypt53, and Atg8 genes impaired normal growth relative to that of BY4741 cells (B, C, F, G, H and M). A53T alpha-synuclein impaired normal growth of BY4741,  $\Delta$ Ypt53, and  $\Delta$ Atg8 (A, C, E, G, H, K and L). A30P and A53T alpha-synuclein ameliorated  $\Delta$ Gem growth (B, F, and J). The values of 3 independent experiments (n=3) are expressed as percent of control (E.V.) ± SD. One-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-hoc test were employed. \*p ≤ 0.05 compared with control. # p ≤ 0.05 compared with  $\Delta$ Gem. & p ≤ 0.05 compared with  $\Delta$ Ypt53.

In SGE medium, all cell strains grew in solid medium for more than a week. SGE medium inhibited the growth of all cell strains (Figure 4). BY4741 and  $\Delta$ Ypt53 strains expressing A53T alpha-synuclein had their growth completely inhibited (Figure 4A and C). However, A30P or A53T alpha-synuclein expression did not change  $\Delta$ Gem or  $\Delta$ Atg8 growth (Figure 4B and D). Though the  $\Delta$ Atg8 strain also showed inhibited growth in SGE medium, this line grew better than the other lines in this medium (Figure 4D).

It was not possible to perform growth curve assays because the cells did not grow at all in the liquid SGE medium. Even after 12 h of culture in liquid SGE medium, the  $OD_{600}$  did not change from 0.2.



**Figure 4**: Viability of cell strains expressing A30P or A53T alpha-synuclein cultured in SGE. A, B, C, and D: dilution series from a concentration of 1.0 OD diluted at 1/10, 1/100, 1/1000, or 1/10000 and cultured for 8 days. All cell strains showed difficulties growing in SGE medium. The  $\Delta$ Atg8 strain grew better than other strains.

Taken together, the results suggest that Gem, Ypt53 and Atg8 gene deletions led to lower viability of cells than that of the BY4741 strain in SD and SG medium. BY4741,  $\Delta$ Ypt53, and  $\Delta$ Atg8 strains were more susceptible to toxicity of A30P and A53T alpha-synuclein in SD medium. In SG medium, only the  $\Delta$ Ypt53 strain was affected by both mutated alpha-synuclein proteins, while  $\Delta$ Atg8 was only affected by A53T alpha-synuclein, and BY4741 strains were not affected by the mutated proteins at all.

Next, BY4741 cells were exposed to  $H_2O_2$  for 10 days. Cells were cultured in SD medium, and a dilution series was done to analyze viability/sensitivity of cells to  $H_2O_2$ .  $\Delta$ Gem,  $\Delta$ Ypt53, and  $\Delta$ Atg8 did not grow with exposure to  $H_2O_2$  at 0.5 mM or smaller concentrations.

A sensitivity assay showed that in the absence of  $H_2O_2$  or in the exposure of  $H_2O_2$  at 0.5 mM, A30P and A53T alpha-synuclein decreased BY4741 viability (Figure 5A and B). However, 1 mM  $H_2O_2$  decreased the viability of all cell strains (Figure 5C, D, E, and F). Furthermore, BY4741 cells expressing A53T alpha-synuclein and exposed to 2 mM or 3 mM  $H_2O_2$  showed lower viability than cells expressing A30P alpha-synuclein. These data suggest that A53T alpha-synuclein is more toxic to cells than A30P alpha-synuclein.



**Figure 5**: Sensitivity assay of BY4741 cells expressing A30P or A53T alpha-synuclein cultured in SD medium. Cell strains were exposed to  $H_2O_2$  at 0 mM (A), 0.5 mM (B), 1.0 mM (C), 1.5 mM (D), 2.0 mM (E), or 3 mM (F) for 8 days. Yeast cells were plated in a dilution series at 1/10, 1/100, 1/1000, or 1/10000 from 1.0 OD A53T alpha-synuclein impaired yeast growth.  $H_2O_2$  at 1.0 mM impaired normal growth of all cell strains.

# H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> production

After 10 min of incubation with Amplex  $\text{Red}^{\text{TM}}$  in samples containing isolated mitochondria and cultured in SG medium, deletion of Gem and Atg8 genes led to higher H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> levels that those in the BY4741 and  $\Delta$ Ypt53 strains (Figure 6E). BY4741 and  $\Delta$ Ypt53 cells expressing A53T alphasynuclein showed higher levels of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> than those observed in BY4741 cells expressing E.V. or A30P alpha-synuclein (Figure 6A) and  $\Delta$ Ypt53 cells expressing E.V. (Figure 6C). On the contrary,  $\Delta$ Gem cells expressing A53T alpha-synuclein showed lower levels of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> than did strains expressing E.V. or A30P alpha-synuclein (Figure 6B).  $\Delta$ Ypt53 cells expressing A30P alphasynuclein showed higher levels of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> than did cells expressing E.V. or A53T alpha-synuclein (Figure 6C). On the other hand, no changes in levels of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> were observed in  $\Delta$ Atg8 cells (Figure 6D).

These results strongly suggest that the absence of Gem protected mitochondrial dysfunction caused by A53T alpha-synuclein. Alternatively, absence of Ypt53 left mitochondria more susceptible to alpha-synuclein toxicity than  $\Delta$ Ypt53 cells expressing E.V.



**Figure 6:** Mitochondrial H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> production using Amplex Red<sup>TM</sup>. Inoculums were incubated in SG medium for 8 h.  $\Delta$ Gem E.V. and  $\Delta$ Atg8 E.V. showed higher levels of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, whereas  $\Delta$ Ypt53 showed lower levels of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> than BY4741 cells expressing E.V. (E). BY4741 and  $\Delta$ Ypt53 expressing A53T  $\alpha$ -synuclein showed higher levels of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> than their respective controls (A, C).  $\Delta$ Ypt53 cells expressing A30P alpha-synuclein showed the highest levels of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> relative to that in  $\Delta$ Atg8 cells expressing E.V and  $\Delta$ Atg8 expressing A53T alpha-synuclein (C).  $\Delta$ Gem cells expressing A53T alpha-synuclein showed lower levels of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> than cells expressing E.V. or A30P alpha-synuclein. The values of 3 independent experiments (n=3) are expressed as absolute value  $\pm$  SD. One-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-hoc test were employed. \*p  $\leq$  0.05 compared with  $\Delta$ Gem. & p  $\leq$  0.05 compared with  $\Delta$ Ypt53.

### GSH/GSSG ratio measurements in cell strains cultured in SGE liquid medium

Increased levels of  $H_2O_2$  changes the redox state of cells and could lead to imbalances between reduced forms of glutathione (GSH) and oxidized forms of glutathione (GSSG). In order to investigate the balance of both glutathione forms, the GSH/GSSG ratio was analyzed after growing of inoculum in SGE medium. The GSH/GSSG ratio was significantly lower in  $\Delta$ Gem (E.V.) and  $\Delta$ Ypt53 (E.V.) strains than in the BY4741 (E.V.) strain, indicating higher levels of GSSG in these strains (Figure 7E). Interestingly, the  $\Delta$ Atg8 line show the same GSH/GSSG ratio as BY4741, indicating that deletion of this gene did not affect the balance between the forms of glutathione. In addition, A30P and A53T expression decreased the GSH/GSSG ratio in BY4741 (Figure 7A),  $\Delta$ Gem (Figure 7B),  $\Delta$ Ypt53 (Figure 7C), and  $\Delta$ Atg8 (Figure D), indicating that the cellular environment was more oxidative in the presence of mutated forms of alpha-synuclein.



**Figure 7:** Quantification of GSH/GSSG ratio using HPLC-ECD. Inoculums were incubated in SGE medium for 8 h.  $\Delta$ Gem E.V.,  $\Delta$ Ypt53 E.V. and  $\Delta$ Atg8 E.V. showed lower GSH/GSSG than that in BY4741 E.V. (E). BY4741 (A),  $\Delta$ Gem (B),  $\Delta$ Ypt53 (C), and  $\Delta$ Atg8 (D) expressing A30P or A53T alpha-synuclein showed lower GSH/GSSG ratios than their respective controls. The values of 3 independent experiments (n=3) are expressed as absolute number  $\pm$  SD. One-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-hoc test were employed. \*p  $\leq$  0.05 compared with control. # p  $\leq$  0.05 compared with  $\Delta$ Gem. & p  $\leq$  0.05 compared with  $\Delta$ Ypt53.

# UPR and endoplasmic reticulum stress analysis by evaluation of <sup>S</sup>Hac1/<sup>U</sup>Hac1 ratio and Pdi and CHOP protein expression

Increased *Hac1* gene expression and alternative splicing of Hac1 is a well established parameter to evaluate UPR activation and ER stress. After incubation of strains in SD medium, levels of <sup>U</sup>Hac1 and <sup>S</sup>Hac1 were analyzed using RT-PCR (Figure 8A).  $\Delta$ Gem and  $\Delta$ Ypt53 lines showed higher <sup>S</sup>Hac1/<sup>U</sup>Hac1 ratios than the BY4741 and  $\Delta$ Atg8 strains (Figure 8F).  $\Delta$ Gem and  $\Delta$ Ypt53 strains expressing A30P or A53T alpha-synuclein showed lower <sup>S</sup>Hac1/<sup>U</sup>Hac1 ratios than the  $\Delta$ Gem E.V. strain (Figure 8C) and  $\Delta$ Ypt53 E.V. strain (Figure 8D), respectively. Furthermore, the  $\Delta$ Ypt53 and BY4741 cells expressing A53T alpha-synuclein showed lower <sup>S</sup>Hac1/<sup>U</sup>Hac1 ratios than  $\Delta$ YPT53 expressing E.V. or A30P alpha-synuclein (Figure 8D) and BY4741 expressing E.V. or A30P alpha-synuclein, respectively (Figure 8A). Curiously,  $\Delta$ Atg8 cells expressing A30P alphasynuclein showed higher <sup>S</sup>Hac1/<sup>U</sup>Hac1 ratios than  $\Delta$ Atg8 cells expressing E.V. (Figure 8E).

These results indicate that, in SD medium, deletion of Gem Ypt53 and Atg8 genes activated UPR and ER stress. Curiously, all cell strains expressing E.V. showed an <sup>S</sup>Hac1 band and UPR activation. A30P and A53T alpha-synuclein did not activate the UPR in all cell strains significantly more than in their respective controls, except  $\Delta$ Atg8 cells expressing A30P alpha-synuclein. Despite the  $\Delta$ Atg8 strain expressing A53T alpha-synuclein showing a higher <sup>S</sup>Hac1/<sup>U</sup>Hac1 ratio than its control ( $\Delta$ Atg8 E.V.), the increase was not statistically significant. Therefore, only expression of A30P alpha-synuclein in the  $\Delta$ Atg8 strain activated the UPR response and ER stress.

Representative bands of <sup>U</sup>Hac1 and <sup>S</sup>Hac1 were analyzed after incubation of cells in SGE medium (Figure 8G). Comparing all the cell strains expressing E.V., only the  $\Delta$ Gem strain showed a higher <sup>S</sup>Hac1/<sup>U</sup>Hac1 ratio than the BY4741 E.V. and  $\Delta$ Ypt53 E.V. strains. Interestingly,  $\Delta$ Ypt53 E.V. showed the lowest <sup>S</sup>Hac1/<sup>U</sup>Hac1 ratio relative to those of the BY4741,  $\Delta$ Gem, and  $\Delta$ Atg8 strains. There were no significant differences in the <sup>S</sup>Hac1/<sup>U</sup>Hac1 ratios between BY4741 and  $\Delta$ Atg8 cells (Figure 8L).

A30P and A53T expression led to lower <sup>S</sup>Hac1/<sup>U</sup>Hac1 ratio in BY4741 (Figure 8H) and  $\Delta$ Ypt53 (Figure 8J) cells than in their respective controls (E.V.).  $\Delta$ Gem cells expressing A53T alpha-synuclein also showed decreased <sup>S</sup>Hac1/<sup>U</sup>Hac1 ratios, whereas A30P expression increased the <sup>S</sup>Hac1/<sup>U</sup>Hac1 ratio (Figure 8 I). On the other hand, the <sup>S</sup>Hac1/<sup>U</sup>Hac1 ratio in  $\Delta$ Atg8 cells expressing mutated alpha-synuclein did not differ from that of  $\Delta$ Atg8 E.V. (Figure 8K).

Analysis of UPR activation (and consequently ER stress) through evaluation of the  ${}^{S}$ Hac1/ ${}^{U}$ Hac1 ratio showed different results among the strains depending on the type of medium used. In SD medium, the UPR was activated in all  $\Delta$  strains relative to its activity in BY4741; on the other hand, only the  $\Delta$ Gem strain showed UPR activation relative to its activity in \BY4741 (and other strains) after incubation in SGE medium. In general, alpha-synuclein expression decreased the  ${}^{S}$ Hac1/ ${}^{U}$ Hac1 ratio except in  $\Delta$ Atg8 cells cultured in SD medium and  $\Delta$ Gem cells cultured in SGE medium expressing A30P alpha-synuclein, which increased the  ${}^{S}$ Hac1/ ${}^{U}$ Hac1 ratio, indicating these cells strains were more susceptible to UPR activation than were the other cell strains expressing alpha-synuclein or E.V.



Figure 8: mRNA expression and ratio of <sup>U</sup>HAC1 (650 bp) and <sup>S</sup>HAC1 (splicing 450 bp) and loading control ADH4 (1369 bp) of cells cultured in SD medium (A) or SGE medium (G). In SD medium, all cell lines showed a spliced Hacl indicating ER stress except BY4741 cells expressing A53T alpha-synuclein.  $\Delta$ Gem and  $\Delta$ Ypt53 showed higher <sup>S</sup>HAC1/<sup>U</sup>HAC1 ratios than BY4741 cells (F). BY4741 cells expressing A53T alpha-synuclein did not show Hac1 splicing (B). ΔGem (C) and  $\Delta$ Ypt53 lines (D) expressing A30P or A53T alpha-synuclein showed lower <sup>S</sup>HAC1/<sup>U</sup>HAC1 ratios than their respective strains expressing E.V. The  $\Delta Atg8$  line expressing A30P showed higher <sup>S</sup>HAC1/<sup>U</sup>HAC1 ratios (E). All cell lines cultured in SGE medium showed a spliced *Hac1* except BY4741 expressing A30P or A53T alpha-synuclein and  $\Delta$ YPT53 expressing A30P alpha-synuclein (G). Compared to BY4741 cells, the  $\Delta$ Gem strain showed a higher <sup>S</sup>HAC1/<sup>U</sup>HAC1 ratio, whereas  $\Delta$ Ypt53 showed a lower <sup>S</sup>HAC1/<sup>U</sup>HAC1 ratio, and  $\Delta$ Atg8 did not show any differences in the <sup>S</sup>HAC1/<sup>U</sup>HAC1 ratio (L). BY4741 E.V. showed a high <sup>S</sup>HAC1/<sup>U</sup>HAC1 ratio (H). ΔYpt53 expressing A30P or A53T alpha-synuclein showed lower <sup>S</sup>HAC1/<sup>U</sup>HAC1 ratios than strains expressing E.V. (J). ΔGem cells expressing A30P alpha-synuclein showed higher <sup>S</sup>HAC1/<sup>U</sup>HAC1 ratios than the E.V. strain (I).  $\Delta Atg8$  did not show differences in the <sup>S</sup>HAC1/<sup>U</sup>HAC1 ratio among the strains (K). The values of 3 independent experiments (n=3) are expressed as absolute number  $\pm$ SD. One-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-hoc test were employed. \*p  $\leq 0.05$  compared with control. #  $p \le 0.05$  compared with  $\Delta$ Gem. &  $p \le 0.05$  compared with  $\Delta$ Ypt53.

Pdi1 plays a crucial role in protein folding. Specifically, in the presence of mutated alphasynuclein, Pdi1 expression increases and removes misfolded proteins from the ER, preventing ER stress. We analyzed Pdi1 protein expression among our cell strains cultured in SD medium expressing alpha-synuclein and their respective controls. Representative blots of Pdi1 expression in the presence or absence of alpha-synuclein are shown for BY4741 (Figure 9A1),  $\Delta$ Gem (Figure 9B1),  $\Delta$ Ypt53 (Figure 9C1), and  $\Delta$ Atg8 (Figure 9D1). Lower levels of protein were found in the  $\Delta$ Gem,  $\Delta$ Ypt53, and  $\Delta$ Atg8 strains than in the BY4741 strain (Figure 9E). Expression of A30P alpha-synuclein in the BY4741 and  $\Delta$ Gem strain decreased Pdi1 expression (Figure 9A and B, respectively). Expression of A53T alpha-synuclein in the  $\Delta$ Gem strain also decreased protein levels (Figure 9B). These results indicate that protein folding in the ER may be impaired in these strains with decreased Pdi1 expression. In contrast, BY4741 cells expressing A53T alpha-synuclein showed increased levels of Pdi1 (Figure 9A), as did  $\Delta$ Atg8 cells expressing both A53T alphasynuclein and A30P alpha-synuclein (Figure 9D), indicating increased removal of misfolded proteins from the ER, a protective response mechanism against ER stress. Alternatively, expression of both mutated alpha-synucleins did not change Pdi1 levels in the  $\Delta$ Ypt53 strain (Figure 9C).

These findings revealed that, compared with BY4741, deletions in *Gem*, *Ypt53* and *Atg8* genes significantly decreased Pdi1 expression. Furthermore, deletions in such genes combined with mutated alpha-synuclein changed Pdi1 expression in different ways among the strains.



**Figure 9**: Representative blots of Pdi (anti-PDI, 55 kDa) and loading control Pgk1 (44 kDa) expression in BY4741 (A1),  $\Delta$ Gem (B1),  $\Delta$ Ypt53 (C1), and  $\Delta$ Atg8 (D1) strains. Cell strains were cultured in SD medium. Compared with BY4741, all cell strains showed reduced levels of Pdi expression (E). BY4741 cells expressing A30P alpha-synuclein showed decreased levels of Pdi, whereas cells expressing A53T alpha-synuclein showed higher levels of Pdi than lines expressing E.V. (A).  $\Delta$ Gem cells expressing A30P or A53T alpha-synuclein showed lower levels of Pdi than cells expressing E.V. (B).  $\Delta$ Ypt53 did not change Pdi levels among lines expressing E.V. or alpha-synuclein (C).  $\Delta$ Atg8 cells expressing A30P or A53T alpha-synuclein showed higher levels of Pdi than E.V. cells (D). The values of 3 independent experiments (n=3) are expressed as percent of control (E.V.)  $\pm$  SD. One-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-test were employed. \*p  $\leq$  0.05 compared with control. # p  $\leq$  0.05 compared with  $\Delta$ Gem. & p  $\leq$  0.05 compared with  $\Delta$ Ypt53.

ER stress and UPR activation can modulate CHOP expression, increasing protein levels leading to cell death. Western blots for CHOP expression among the cell lines (Figure 10A) showed that deletion of GEM, YPT53, and Atg8 genes led to higher levels of CHOP than those in the BY4741 line (Figure 10F). BY4741,  $\Delta$ GEM, and  $\Delta$ YPT53 cells expressing A53T alpha-synuclein showed higher levels of CHOP than lines expressing E.V. These analyses strongly suggest that apoptosis pathways were activated in these lines. In contrast, A30P expression led to lower CHOP levels in  $\Delta$ GEM,  $\Delta$ YPT53, and  $\Delta$ Atg8 than in their respective controls, indicating apoptosis activation by ER stress was repressed in these lines.



**Figure 10**: Representative blotting of CHOP expression among cell lines cultured in SD medium (A). Compared with BY4741, all cell lines showed significant increases in CHOP levels (F). The BY4741 line expressing A53T alpha-synuclein showed higher levels of CHOP than cells expressing E.V. or A30P alpha-synuclein (B). The  $\Delta$ GEM line expressing A30P alpha-synuclein showed decreased levels of CHOP, whereas cells expressing A53T alpha-synuclein showed higher levels of CHOP than cells expressing E.V. (C). The  $\Delta$ YPT53 line expressing A30P alpha-synuclein showed decreased levels of CHOP, whereas cells expressing A53T alpha-synuclein showed increased levels of CHOP (D). The  $\Delta$ Atg8 line expressing A30P alpha-synuclein showed lower levels of CHOP than cells expressing E.V. (E). The values of 3 independent experiments (n=3) are expressed as absolute number  $\pm$  SD. One-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-test were employed. \*p  $\leq$  0.05 compared with  $\Delta$ YPT53.

# Discussion

Alpha-synuclein accumulation and aggregation leads to mitochondrial dysfunction, ER stress, aberrant autophagy, and consequently high levels of ROS. A30P or A53T point mutations in the alpha-synuclein gene can exacerbate alpha-synuclein toxicity mechanisms (Mullin and Schapira, 2013; Cali et al., 2011).

Mechanisms for alpha-synuclein toxicity may involve its interaction with GEM, Rab5, and Atg8 proteins. GEM protein (Miro in mammals) is a protein bound to the outer mitochondrial membrane. In the presence of accumulated alpha-synuclein, this protein is involved in dysregulation of autophagy, mitophagy, and communication between mitochondria and the ER, worsening autophagy dysfunction and ROS production (Frederick et al., 2004; Devine et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2011; Grimm, 2012). YPT53 (Rab5 in mammals) participates in the endocytic pathway and formation and trafficking of primary endosomes. It has been shown that alpha-synuclein interacts with Rab5 and may lead to abnormal vesicle distribution, consequently impairing the first step of autophagy. Atg8 (LC3 in mammals) is the main component of autophagy responsible for the formation of autophagosomes and fusion of vesicles in lysosomes. Specially mutated forms of alpha-synuclein impair autophagy, blocking their own degradation and leading to accumulated lysosomal vesicles. In this condition, lysosomes suffer alterations and play a role in the activation of apoptosis. Further, LC3 drives dysfunctional mitochondria to mitophagy, but in the long-term, the protein can activate excessive mitophagy leading to mitochondrial loss and cell death (Bourdenx et al., 2014; Chu et al., 2014).

In this study, we investigated alpha-synuclein toxicity related to GEM, YPT53 and Atg8 genes in a simple model using *S. cerevisiae* expressing A30P or A53T alpha-synuclein. We found all lines expressed both alpha-synucleins; BY4741,  $\Delta$ YPT53, and Atg8 cells showed a second band for A53T alpha-synuclein in stacking gels, indicating the protein was aggregated in these lines. Other studies showed that mutated alpha-synuclein is prone to aggregation, and A53T alpha-synuclein oligomerizes and form aggregates faster and more easily than A30P alpha-synuclein 171

(Ostrerova-Golts et al., 2000; Stefanovic et al., 2015). Surprisingly, the  $\Delta$ GEM line did not show an A53T band in stacking gels, suggesting GEM deletion prevented A53T alpha-synuclein aggregation.

Absence of GEM, YPT53, and Atg8 hampered cell growth in SD and SG medium relative to that in the control BY4741 line. As cited above, these genes play important roles that when disrupted consequently impair cell growth. A30P and A53T alpha-synuclein hamper growth of BY4741 cells in the absence or presence of different concentrations of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>,  $\Delta$ YPT53, and  $\Delta$ Atg8 in SD medium. It is known that A30P or A53T alpha-synuclein in different ways lead to mitochondrial damage and ATP depletion (Mullin and Schapira, 2013). Since cell division requires high ATP production, alpha-synuclein expression can first impair cell division. In contrast, growth of the  $\Delta$ GEM line was not affected by A53T alpha-synuclein expression, whereas A30P alphasynuclein ameliorated cell growth relative to that in the  $\Delta$ GEM-expressing E.V. or A53T alphasynuclein, suggesting absence of the GEM gene protects cells against alpha-synuclein damage.

Cells grown in SG medium showed another pattern of growth. In general, cells grew less in SG medium than in SD medium. *S. cerevisiae* is known to activate genes that promote growth in the presence of glucose, justifying yeast's preference for glucose (Williams et al., 2015; Zeng et al., 2016). Expression of A30P or A53T alpha-synuclein did not affect the BY4741 line, while A30P impaired  $\Delta$ YPT53 growth, and A53T alpha-synuclein expression impaired growth of both the  $\Delta$ YPT53 and  $\Delta$ Atg8 lines. Alternatively, the  $\Delta$ GEM line expressing A30P or A53T alpha-synuclein showed better growth than the line expressing E.V., indicating alpha-synuclein expression ameliorated  $\Delta$ GEM growth. The changed patterns of growth observed in the BY4741,  $\Delta$ GEM expressing A30P or A53T alpha-synuclein, and  $\Delta$ Atg8 expressing A30P alpha-synuclein lines can be related to mitochondrial activity. In SD medium, cells received glucose, and mitochondrial respiration was repressed; however, in SG medium, cells could both ferment or activate

mitochondrial respiration, increasing the number of mitochondria in the cells. These observations suggest mitochondrial activity ameliorated yeast growth in the presence of mutated alpha-synuclein.

In SGE medium, yeasts are unable to utilize anaerobic respiration (are not able to ferment) and can only use mitochondrial respiration to obtain energy. In this medium, cells need to increase the amount/number of mitochondria to supply energy levels. In general, all cell lines showed difficulty growing. BY4741 and  $\Delta$ YPT53 expressing A53T alpha-synuclein did not grow, whereas  $\Delta$ GEM and  $\Delta$ Atg8 grew in the presence of the mutated proteins, revealing that compared to other lines, A53T alpha-synuclein was less toxic for  $\Delta$ GEM and  $\Delta$ Atg8 when they grew in SGE medium. Interestingly, the  $\Delta$ Atg8 line grew better than other lines, revealing that mitochondrial activity improved cell growth in this line. It is known that alpha-synuclein disturbs autophagy and over the long term overload the lysosome, leading to accumulation of vesicles and cell death (Freeman et al., 2013). Arduíno and colleagues (2013) have shown that mitochondrial dysfunction plays an important role in aberrant autophagy, leading to accumulation of vesicles and consequent autophagy dysfunction. These findings suggest that functional mitochondria can prevent aberrant autophagy. Using SGE medium, mitochondria are functional and may ameliorate damages caused by absence of the Atg8 gene.

Mitochondrial dynamics are crucial to keep the quality of the organelle. This process involves GEM, which is responsible for coordinating the correct localization and signaling to renew the organelle (Frederick et al., 2004; Devine et al., 2016), and Atg8 to remove nonfunctional mitochondria through macroautophagy (Hamacher-Brady and Brady, 2016; Chen et al., 2015). Further, it was already shown that impairment in mitochondrial quality control generates excessive ROS (Hamacher-Brady and Brady, 2016). In our model, isolated mitochondria from the  $\Delta$ GEM and  $\Delta$ Atg8 lines showed higher H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> levels than the BY4741 and  $\Delta$ YPT53 lines when grown in SG medium. These data reveal that the absence of these genes was enough to increase H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> produced by mitochondria, indicating they are crucial to maintain mitochondrial function. Mitochondrial dysfunction caused by overexpression of alpha-synuclein or expression of mutated alpha-synuclein also increases ROS levels, such as  $H_2O_2$  (Nakamura, 2013). A53T expression increased  $H_2O_2$  levels in BY4741 and  $\Delta$ YPT53 cells. However, comparing levels of  $H_2O_2$  in these 2 cell lines, we observed that  $H_2O_2$  produced by mitochondria in BY4741 cells expressing A53T alpha-synuclein was higher than  $H_2O_2$  produced by the  $\Delta$ YPT53 line, indicating that the absence of the YPT53 gene ameliorated mitochondrial dysfunction caused by A53T alpha-synuclein. In fact, it has been shown that A53T alpha-synuclein damaged mitochondria more intensively by interacting with the mitochondrial membrane, leading to increased ROS levels.

On the other hand, A30P alpha-synuclein did not interact with the mitochondrial membrane and its toxicity is more related to proteasome inhibition (Smith et al., 2005). A30P alpha-synuclein did not change mitochondrial production of  $H_2O_2$  in most lines except in  $\Delta$ YPT53 cells, which showed the highest levels of  $H_2O_2$  relative to those in  $\Delta$ YPT53 expressing E.V. or A53T alphasynuclein. These data indicate that alpha-synuclein, especially A30P alpha-synuclein toxicity involving mitochondrial dysfunction, is related to deficits in the formation and trafficking of primary endosomes. In earlier stages of neurodegeneration, alpha-synuclein is endocytosed by YPT53 to be degraded in lysosomes. However, accumulated alpha-synuclein disturbs degradation processes, disturbing primary endosomes and lysosome dynamics, leading to alpha-synuclein aggregation (Sung et al., 2001; Sancenon et al., 2012). In addition, overexpression of alphasynuclein in yeast leads to increased YPT53 expression in order to remove excessive protein accumulation. Moreover, expression of alpha-synuclein in the long term blocks autophagy, including mitophagy, and YPT53 can drive mitochondria to degradation independent of mitophagy signals (Sancenon et al., 2012; Hamacher-Brady et al., 2014). Thus, deleting the YPT53 gene led to inhibition of the protective response of cells to remove mutated alpha-synuclein, promoting excessive alpha-synuclein accumulation that consequently damaged mitochondria. Beyond that, damaged mitochondria could not be degraded via autophagy leading to increased levels of  $H_2O_2$ . However, both alpha-synucleins expression did not change  $H_2O_2$  levels in the  $\Delta$ Atg8 line, suggesting that autophagy inhibition in the presence of mutated alpha-synuclein did not increase mitochondrial dysfunction. Moreover, a comparison of the  $\Delta$ YPT53 and  $\Delta$ Atg8 lines indicates that damage to the first steps of degradation processes in the endocytic pathway and primary endosomes formation/trafficking and their accumulation can play an important role in alpha-synuclein aggregation and in mitochondrial dysfunction caused by alpha-synuclein toxicity.

Interestingly, the  $\Delta$ GEM line expressing A53T alpha-synuclein showed the same levels of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> as the BY4741 line expressing E.V., whereas, compared to  $\Delta$ GEM E.V., cells expressing A30P alpha-synuclein did not show differing levels of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>. Once more, these results suggest that the absence of GEM attenuated alpha-synuclein toxicity, especially with the mutated form A53T alpha-synuclein. In early stages of PD, A53T alpha-synuclein induces aberrant mitochondrial fission, producing many fragmented mitochondria that need to be degraded by mitophagy. In mammals, it is reported that proteins related to fusion and fission of the mitochondrial target Miro (GEM) protein signal mitophagy.

In yeast, GEM participates of mitochondrial dynamics, but the protein is not required for the mitochondrial fission process (Frederick et al., 2004). However, it was already shown that in mammalian cells and yeast, A53T alpha-synuclein perturbs mitochondrial fusion, fission, and mitophagy (Chen et al., 2015; Sampaio-Marques, et al., 2012). By impairing mitophagy, A53T alpha-synuclein blocks removal of dysfunctional mitochondria contributing to increased  $H_2O_2$  levels (Chen et al., 2015). Interestingly, Lui and colleagues (Devine et al., 2016) demonstrated in mammalian cells that knockdown of Miro induced mitophagy, removing dysfunctional mitochondria. Taken together, these findings suggest that absence of GEM plays a role in the maintenance of healthy mitochondria in the presence of A53T alpha-synuclein, and GEM is involved in mitochondrial dysfunction caused by A53T alpha-synuclein.

One of the routes involved in H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> elimination requires Glutathione peroxidase which oxidizes GSH to GSSG. Therefore, analysis of the ratio between GSH/GSSG is considered a good parameter to evaluate the redox state of cells. All cell lines were cultured in SGE medium, and the GSH/GSSG ratio was evaluated. Surprisingly, we found no differences in the GSH/GSSG ratio between the BY4741 and  $\Delta$ Atg8 lines even though H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> levels were increased in  $\Delta$ Atg8 line. Even so, the  $\Delta$ YPT53 line, which did not show different levels of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> from those of BY4741, showed reduced GSH/GSSG ratio. Together, these results indicate an oxidative environment in the absence of both YPT53 (which consequently impairs autophagy initiation) and Atg8 (which blocks autophagy). However, only absence of Atg8 led to mitochondrial dysfunction and increased H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>. On the other hand, as expected, compared to BY4741, the  $\Delta$ GEM line showed a reduced GSH/GSSG ratio, indicating an oxidative environment due to the high levels of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>.

All cell lines expressing either alpha-synuclein showed a lower GSH/GSSG ratio than that in their respective controls. These data indicate that both alpha-synucleins led to an oxidized environment without necessarily damaging mitochondria. This imbalance in the redox state of cells can be caused by accumulated misfolded proteins in the ER. Overexpression of alpha-synuclein or mutated alpha-synuclein can cause ER stress, leading to oxidative stress and consequently decreased GSH/GSSG levels (Smith et al., 2005). Moreover, mitochondria and ER communicate and transfer calcium and other signals to maintain homeostasis through a membrane protein complex (Raturi and Simmen, 2013).

Alpha-synuclein has been shown to interfere in cross-talk between the mitochondria and ER, leading to an imbalance of calcium transference (Krols et al., 2016). In cases of ER stress, calcium leaks from ER are recaptured by mitochondria, increasing mitochondrial metabolism and consequently increasing  $H_2O_2$ . Increased  $H_2O_2$  levels also lead to release of calcium from ER, creating a vicious cycle (Zeeshan et al., 2016).

Mitochondrial dysfunction leads to ATP depletion and excessive H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> levels in the ER, oxidizing GSH in GSSG and altering the redox state of cells. This chronic oxidized state leads to cell death. This situation can be worsened by the absence of GEM, YPT53, and Atg8. GEM modulates the contact between mitochondria and ER, and it is already known that the absence of GEM disrupts this communication, leading to excessive autophagy (Grimm, 2012). Furthermore, autophagy also plays a role in regulation of mitochondria and ER contacts; thus, absence of YPT53 or Atg8 can also be involved in redox imbalance caused by miscommunication between mitochondria and ER (Krols et al., 2016).

Mutated alpha-synuclein induces accumulation of unfolded and misfolded proteins in ER, leading to ER stress. In order to alleviate ER stress, the UPR is activated, leading to increased expression of the transcription factor Hac1, which is spliced (Mizuno et al., 2015). Thus, in order to evaluate ER stress, we analyze the ratio of spliced Hac1 (<sup>S</sup>Hac1) and Hac1 mRNA (<sup>U</sup>Hac1). We found Hac1 splicing indicated UPR activated in all cell lines cultured in SD medium except in BY4741 cells expressing A53T alpha-synuclein.

Evaluation of the <sup>s</sup>Hac1/<sup>U</sup>Hac1 ratio revealed that the  $\Delta$ GEM and  $\Delta$ YPT53 lines cultured in SD medium had an increased <sup>s</sup>Hac1/<sup>U</sup>Hac1 ratio, indicating UPR activation as expected. Conversely, the ratio of <sup>s</sup>Hac1/<sup>U</sup>Hac1 in the  $\Delta$ Atg8 line did differ from that in BY4741. Taken together, these results indicate that the absence of GEM and YPT53 stress both mitochondria and ER. However, absence of Atg8 and the consequent autophagy blocking causes selective damage in mitochondria. Curiously, A30P alpha-synuclein expression in the BY4741 line did not lead to differing <sup>s</sup>Hac1/<sup>U</sup>Hac1 ratios from those in BY4741 expressing E.V., and A53T alpha-synuclein, which is more toxic than A30P alpha-synuclein, showed a decreased <sup>s</sup>Hac1/<sup>U</sup>Hac1 ratio, indicating A53T alpha-synuclein blocked UPR in BY4741 cells. Despite alpha-synuclein activating the UPR, in the long term or with A53T alpha-synuclein overexpression, the UPR can be blocked to activate apoptosis signaling (Colla et al., 2012; Credle et al., 2015). Interesting,  $\Delta$ GEM and  $\Delta$ YPT53 lines

expressing A30P or A53T alpha-synuclein showed decreased <sup>S</sup>Hac1/<sup>U</sup>Hac1 ratios, indicating alphasynuclein expression combined with deletion of these genes repressed the UPR response relative to that in their respective controls. On the other hand,  $\Delta$ Atg8 cells expressing A30P alpha-synuclein showed an increased <sup>S</sup>Hac1/<sup>U</sup>Hac1 ratio, indicating greater UPR activation in these cells than in cells expressing E.V. or A53T alpha-synuclein.

Evaluation of <sup>S</sup>Hac1/<sup>U</sup>Hac1 ratios in cells cultured in SGE medium showed the presence of spliced Hac1 in most cell lines except in BY4741, ΔYPT53 lines expressing A30P alpha-synuclein, and BY4741 cells expressing A53T alpha-synuclein, indicating UPR was blocked in these cell lines. Comparisons among the lines revealed increased, decreased, and unchanged <sup>S</sup>Hac1/<sup>U</sup>Hac1 ratios in  $\Delta$ GEM,  $\Delta$ YPT53, and Atg8, respectively, from those in BY4741. Expression of both alpha-synucleins decreased <sup>S</sup>Hac1/<sup>U</sup>Hac1 ratio in BY4741 and  $\Delta$ YPT53 lines, suggesting both alpha-synucleins were repressing the UPR response in these lines relative to that in their respective controls. Interestingly, in SD medium, A30P alpha-synuclein expression did not repress the UPR response, indicating that mitochondrial activity may play a role in activation or repression of UPR in the presence of A30P alpha-synuclein. On the other hand,  $\Delta$ GEM cells expressing A30P alphasynuclein showed an increased <sup>S</sup>Hac1/<sup>U</sup>Hac1 ratio, suggesting a more activated UPR relative to that in cells expressing E.V. or  $\Delta GEM$  cultured in SD medium. These data suggest that A30P alphasynuclein overactivated the UPR in the absence of GEM combined with mitochondrial activity. Both alpha-synucleins' expression did not change the <sup>S</sup>Hac1/<sup>U</sup>Hac1 ratio in the  $\Delta$ Atg8 line, indicating that mitochondrial activity and absence of Atg8 repress UPR activation by A30P alphasynuclein in SD medium. Taken together, these results strongly suggest, once more, that alphasynuclein toxicity is dependent on mitochondrial activation.

ER stress can impair folding machinery of ER. Activated UPR and Hac1 induce expression of chaperones, such as PDI, in order to enhance ER capacity to fold and secrete misfolded proteins to alleviate ER stress. We found lower PDI levels in all  $\Delta$  cell lines cultured in SD medium than in

BY4741, indicating deletion of GEM, YPT53 and Atg8 decreased ER folding machinery capacity. Beyond that, as expected, BY4741 cells showed decreased levels of PDI in the presence of A30P alpha-synuclein. In contrast, expression of A53T alpha-synuclein was accompanied by increased PDI levels, corroborating with ER stress.

According to previous results, both alpha-synucleins decreased PDI levels in the  $\Delta$ GEM line, indicating absence of this gene impairs signaling to enhance folding and secretion of misfolded proteins in ER. This mechanism could be involved in the impairment of A53T protein aggregation only observed in this line. Nonetheless, increased expression of PDI is related to protective responses against ER stress, redox imbalance, and formation of alpha-synuclein aggregates.

Chronically increased PDI levels lead to increased levels of ROS, consequently favoring oligomerization and aggregation of alpha-synuclein. Moreover, it was reported that inhibition of PDI also could prevent ER stress and alpha-synuclein aggregation (Mizuno et al., 2016; Zeeshan et al., 2015; Lehtonen et al., 2016). In the  $\Delta$ YPT53 line, alpha-synuclein expression did not change PDI levels, whereas both alpha-synucleins increased PDI levels in the  $\Delta$ Atg8 line, indicating autophagy impairment; mutated alpha-synuclein expression activated ER folding and secretion of protein machinery.

The paradox of adaptive responses against ER stress is that when they do not work, they can activate apoptosis signaling, such as the transcription factor CHOP (Yang et al., 2016). Therefore, we evaluated CHOP levels in cells cultured in SD medium. We found higher CHOP expression in all  $\Delta$  lines than in BY4741, which did not show any band for CHOP, indicating that deletion of these genes was enough to signalize cell death.

Interestingly, expression of A30P alpha-synuclein did not activate CHOP, whereas A53T alpha-synuclein increased CHOP levels, suggesting that even though Hac1 was not spliced in BY4741 cells expressing A53T, ER was stressed and activated apoptosis, as demonstrated by high levels of PDI and CHOP, respectively.

Surprisingly,  $\Delta$ GEM cells expressing A30P did not show CHOP expression, revealing A30P alpha-synuclein combined with deletion of GEM completely repressed CHOP expression.

Interestingly, A30P alpha-synuclein expression also decreased CHOP levels in the  $\Delta$ YPT53 and Atg8 lines, indicating that A30P alpha-synuclein repressed CHOP expression at different levels in all  $\Delta$  lines. These data suggest that these genes may play a role in apoptosis signaling caused by A30P expression. On the other hand,  $\Delta$ GEM and  $\Delta$ YPT53 cells expressing A53T alpha-synuclein showed higher levels of CHOP than in their respective controls. These cell lines did not show increased ER stress markers in this study, suggesting that in the absence of these genes, A53T alpha-synuclein directly activates apoptosis pathways without activating protective responses. Alternatively,  $\Delta$ Atg8 was the only line where A53T alpha-synuclein expression did not increase CHOP levels, suggesting deletion of Atg8 can repress apoptosis signaling through CHOP and prevent cell death.

Finally, we observed that A30P alpha-synuclein toxicity was dependent on mitochondrial and autophagy dysfunction since mitochondrial levels of  $H_2O_2$  only changed in the  $\Delta$ YPT53 line, revealing that impairment in the initial steps of autophagy and the endocytic pathway can damage mitochondria in the presence of this mutation. Moreover, the spliced band of Hac1, indicating UPR activation, only appeared in all cell lines cultivated in SD medium, whereas in cells cultivated in SGE medium (which have functional mitochondria), only  $\Delta$ GEM and  $\Delta$ Atg8 showed spliced Hac1. Since deletion of GEM and Atg8 promotes mitochondrial and autophagy dysfunction, respectively these data strongly suggest UPR is activated only when mitochondria and autophagy is compromised. Furthermore, PDI levels were increased only in the  $\Delta$ Atg8 line, suggesting that impairment of autophagy may trigger ER stress.

It is known that A53T alpha-synuclein is prone to forming aggregates faster and more easily than A30P alpha-synuclein. However, we observed that absence of  $\Delta$ GEM could impede aggregation formation and preserve mitochondrial function, whereas absence of GEM, YPT53, and
Atg8 could repress UPR activation. Additionally, deletion of GEM and YPT53 prevented increases of PDI, whereas deletion of Atg8 prevented ER apoptosis signaling. Taken together, these results suggest that A53T alpha-synuclein toxicity involving damage to mitochondrial and apoptosis signaling caused by ER stress are dependent on the GEM and Atg8 genes, respectively.

Nevertheless, more studies are needed to clarify how these genes are involved in alphasynuclein toxicity.

#### Conclusion

In our study, we observed that:

A30P alpha-synuclein toxicity was dependent on mitochondrial and autophagy dysfunction.

A53T alpha-synuclein was more toxic than A30P alpha-synuclein.

A53T alpha-synuclein toxicity involving damage to mitochondrial and apoptosis signaling

caused by ER stress was dependent on GEM and Atg8, respectively.

#### References

Arduíno DM, Esteves AR, Cardoso SM (2013) Mitochondria drive autophagy pathology via microtubule disassembly: a new hypothesis for Parkinson disease. Autophagy. 2013 Jan;9(1):112-4. doi: 10.4161/auto.22443. Epub 2012 Oct 17.

Bose A, Beal MF (2016) Mitochondrial dysfunction in Parkinson's disease. J Neurochem. 2016 Aug 21. doi: 10.1111/jnc.13731

Bourdenx M, Bezard E, Dehay B (2014) Lysosomes and  $\alpha$ -synuclein form a dangerous duet leading to neuronal cell death. Front Neuroanat. 2014 Aug 14;8:83. doi: 10.3389/fnana.2014.00083. eCollection 2014.

Calì T, Ottolini D, Brini M (2011) Mitochondria, calcium, and endoplasmic reticulum stress in Parkinson's disease. Biofactors. 2011 May-Jun;37(3):228-40. doi: 10.1002/biof.159. Epub 2011 Jun 14.

Chen L, Xie Z, Turkson S, Zhuang X (2015) A53T human  $\alpha$ -synuclein overexpression in transgenic mice induces pervasive mitochondria macroautophagy defects preceding dopamine neuron degeneration. J Neurosci. 2015 Jan 21;35(3):890-905. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0089-14.2015.

Chu CT, Bayır H, Kagan VE (2014) LC3 binds externalized cardiolipin on injured mitochondria to signal mitophagy in neurons: implications for Parkinson disease. Autophagy. 2014 Feb;10(2):376-8. doi: 10.4161/auto.27191. Epub 2013 Nov 26.

Ciaccioli G, Martins A, Rodrigues C, Vieira H, Calado P (2013) A powerful yeast model to investigate the synergistic interaction of  $\alpha$ -synuclein and tau in neurodegeneration. PLoS One. 2013;8(2):e55848. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0055848. Epub 2013 Feb 5.

Colla E, Coune P, Liu Y, Pletnikova O, Troncoso JC, Iwatsubo T, Schneider BL, Lee MK (2012) Endoplasmic reticulum stress is important for the manifestations of  $\alpha$ -synucleinopathy in vivo. J Neurosci. 2012 Mar 7;32(10):3306-20. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5367-11.2012.

Credle JJ, Forcelli PA, Delannoy M, Oaks AW, Permaul E, Berry DL, Duka V, Wills J, Sidhu A (2015)  $\alpha$ -Synuclein-mediated inhibition of ATF6 processing into COPII vesicles disrupts UPR signaling in Parkinson's disease. Neurobiol Dis. 2015 Apr;76:112-25. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2015.02.005. Epub 2015 Feb 26.

de Lau LM, Breteler MM (2006) Epidemiology of Parkinson's disease. Lancet Neurol.5:525-35.

Delorme-Axford E, Guimaraes RS, Reggiori F, Klionsky DJ (2015) The yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae: an overview of methods to study autophagy progression. Methods. 2015 Mar;75:3-12. doi: 10.1016/j.ymeth.2014.12.008. Epub 2014 Dec 16.

Devine MJ, Birsa N, Kittler JT (2016) Miro sculpts mitochondrial dynamics in neuronal health and disease. Neurobiol Dis. 2016 Jun;90:27-34. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2015.12.008. Epub 2015 Dec 19.

Frederick RL, McCaffery JM, Cunningham KW, Okamoto K, Shaw JM (2004) Yeast Miro GTPase, Gem1p, regulates mitochondrial morphology via a novel pathway. J Cell Biol. Oct 11;167(1):87-98.

Freeman D, Cedillos R, Choyke S, Lukic Z, McGuire K, Marvin S, Burrage AM, Sudholt S, Rana A, O'Connor C, Wiethoff CM, Campbell EM (2013) Alpha-synuclein induces lysosomal rupture and cathepsin dependent reactive oxygen species following endocytosis. PLoS One. 2013 Apr 25;8(4):e62143. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0062143. Print 2013.

Glick, B. S.; Pon, L. A. (1995). Isolation of highly purified mitochondria from Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Methods in Enzymology 260: 213–223.

Grimm S (2012) The ER-mitochondria interface: the social network of cell death. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2012 Feb;1823(2):327-34. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2011.11.018. Epub 2011 Dec 13.

Hamacher-Brady A, Brady NR (2016) Mitophagy programs: mechanisms and physiological implications of mitochondrial targeting by autophagy. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2016 Feb;73(4):775-95. doi: 10.1007/s00018-015-2087-8

Hamacher-Brady A, Choe SC, Krijnse-Locker J, Brady NR (2014) Intramitochondrial recruitment of endolysosomes mediates Smac degradation and constitutes a novel intrinsic apoptosis antagonizing function of XIAP E3 ligase. Cell Death Differ. 2014 Dec;21(12):1862-76. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2014.101. Epub 2014 Aug 1.

Krols M, van Isterdael G, Asselbergh B, Kremer A, Lippens S, Timmerman V, Janssens S (2016) Mitochondria-associated membranes as hubs for neurodegeneration. Acta Neuropathol. 2016 Apr;131(4):505-23. doi: 10.1007/s00401-015-1528-7.

Lee, M.K, Stirling, W, Xu, Y, Xu, X, Qui, D, Mandir, AS, Dawson, TM, Copeland, NG, Jenkins, NA, Price, DL (2002) Human alpha-synuclein-harboring familial Parkinson's disease-linked Ala-53 Thr mutation causes neurodegenerative disease with alphasynuclein aggregation in transgenic mice. Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA, 99, 8968–8973.

Lehtonen Š, Jaronen M, Vehviläinen P, Lakso M, Rudgalvyte M, Keksa-Goldsteine V, Wong G, Courtney MJ, Koistinaho J, Goldsteins G (2016) Inhibition of Excessive Oxidative Protein Folding Is Protective in MPP+ Toxicity-Induced Parkinson's Disease Models. Antioxid Redox Signal. 2016

Mazzulli JR, Zunke F, Isacson O, Studer L, Krainc D (2016) α-Synuclein-induced lysosomal dysfunction occurs through disruptions in protein trafficking in human midbrain synucleinopathy models. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2016 Feb 16;113(7):1931-6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1520335113. Epub 2016 Feb 2.

Mizuno T, Masuda Y, Irie K (2015) The Saccharomyces cerevisiae AMPK, Snf1, Negatively Regulates the Hog1 MAPK Pathway in ER Stress Response. PLoS Genet. 2015 Sep 22;11(9):e1005491. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1005491. eCollection 2015.

Mullin S, Schapira A (2013) α-Synuclein and Mitochondrial Dysfunction in Parkinson's Disease. Mol Neurobiol (2013) 47:587–597. DOI 10.1007/s12035-013-8394-x.

Nakamura K (2013)  $\alpha$ -Synuclein and mitochondria: partners in crime? Neurotherapeutics. 2013 Jul;10(3):391-9. doi: 10.1007/s13311-013-0182-9.

Ostrerova-Golts N, Petrucelli L, Hardy J, Lee JM, Farer M, Wolozin B (2000) The A53T alpha-synuclein mutation increases iron-dependent aggregation and toxicity. J Neurosci. 2000 Aug 15;20(16):6048-54.

Outeiro TF, Lindquist S (2003) Yeast cells provide insight into alpha-synuclein biology and pathobiology. Science. 2003 Dec 5;302(5651):1772-5.

Raturi A, Simmen T (2013) Where the endoplasmic reticulum and the mitochondrion tie the knot: the mitochondria-associated membrane (MAM). Biochim Biophys Acta. 2013 Jan;1833(1):213-24. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2012.04.013.

Redmann M, Darley-Usmar V, Zhang J (2016) The Role of Autophagy, Mitophagy and Lysosomal Functions in Modulating Bioenergetics and Survival in the Context of Redox and Proteotoxic Damage: Implications for Neurodegenerative Diseases. Aging Dis. 2016 Mar 15;7(2):150-62. doi: 10.14336/AD.2015.0820. eCollection 2016.

Sampaio-Marques B, Felgueiras C, Silva A, Rodrigues M, Tenreiro S, Franssens V, Reichert AS, Outeiro TF, Winderickx J, Ludovico P (2012) SNCA ( $\alpha$ -synuclein)-induced toxicity in yeast cells is dependent on sirtuin 2 (Sir2)-mediated mitophagy. Autophagy. 2012 Oct;8(10):1494-509. doi: 10.4161/auto.21275. Epub 2012 Aug 23.

Sancenon V, Lee SA, Patrick C, Griffith J, Paulino A, Outeiro TF, Reggiori F, Masliah E, Muchowski PJ. (2012) Suppression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein toxicity and vesicle trafficking defects by phosphorylation at S129 in yeast depends on genetic context. Hum Mol Genet. 2012 Jun 1;21(11):2432-49. doi: 10.1093/hmg/dds058. Epub 2012 Feb 21.

Scherrer, K. Darnell, J. E. (1962). Sedimentation characteristics of rapidly labelled RNA from HeLa cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 47: 486–490.

Scheuner D, Kaufman RJ (2008) The unfolded protein response: a pathway that links insulin demand with beta-cell failure and diabetes. Endocr Rev. 2008 May;29(3):317-33. doi: 10.1210/er.2007-0039. Epub 2008 Apr 24.

Schiestl, R. H.; Gietz, R. D. (1989). High efficiency transformation of intact yeast cells using single stranded nucleic acids as a carrier. Curr Genet. 16(5–6): 339–46.

Schirinzi T, Madeo G, Martella G, Maltese M, Picconi B, Calabresi P, Pisani A (2016) Early synaptic dysfunction in Parkinson's disease: Insights from animal models. Mov Disord. 2016 Jun;31(6):802-13. doi: 10.1002/mds.26620. Epub 2016 May 19.

Smith WW, Jiang H, Pei Z, Tanaka Y, Morita H, Sawa A, Dawson VL, Dawson TM, Ross CA. (2005) Endoplasmic reticulum stress and mitochondrial cell death pathways mediate A53T mutant alpha-synuclein-induced toxicity. Hum Mol Genet. 2005 Dec 15;14(24):3801-11.

Stefanovic AN, Lindhoud S, Semerdzhiev SA, Claessens MM, Subramaniam V (2015) Oligomers of Parkinson's Disease-Related  $\alpha$ -Synuclein Mutants Have Similar Structures but Distinctive Membrane Permeabilization Properties. Biochemistry. 2015 May 26;54(20):3142-50. doi: 10.1021/bi501369k. Epub 2015 May 14.

Stephen Mullin & Anthony Schapira (2013) α-Synuclein and Mitochondrial Dysfunction in Parkinson's Disease. Mol Neurobiol (2013) 47:587–597. DOI 10.1007/s12035-013-8394-x.

Sung JY, Kim J, Paik SR, Park JH, Ahn YS, Chung KC (2001) Induction of neuronal cell death by Rab5Adependent endocytosis of alpha-synuclein. J Biol Chem. 2001 Jul 20;276(29):27441-8. Epub 2001 Apr 20. Tenreiro S, Rosado-Ramos R, Gerhardt E, Favretto F, Magalhães F, Popova B, Becker S, Zweckstetter M, Braus GH, Outeiro TF (2016) Yeast reveals similar molecular mechanisms underlying alpha- and beta-synuclein toxicity. Hum Mol Genet. 2016 Jan 15;25(2):275-90. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddv470. Epub 2015 Nov 18.

Tomanek L (2015) Proteomic responses to environmentally induced oxidative stress. J Exp Biol. 2015 Jun;218(Pt 12):1867-79. doi: 10.1242/jeb.116475.

Valadas JS, Vos M, Verstreken P (2015) Therapeutic strategies in Parkinson's disease: what we have learned from animal models. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2015 Mar;1338:16-37. doi: 10.1111/nyas.12577. Epub 2014 Dec 16

Wang X, Winter D, Ashrafi G, Schlehe J, Wong YL, Selkoe D, Rice S, Steen J, LaVoie MJ, Schwarz TL (2011) PINK1 and Parkin target Miro for phosphorylation and degradation to arrest mitochondrial motility. Cell. 2011 Nov 11;147(4):893-906. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.10.018

Williams TC, Espinosa MI, Nielsen LK, Vickers CE (2015) Dynamic regulation of gene expression using sucrose responsive promoters and RNA interference in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Microb Cell Fact. 2015 Apr 1;14:43. doi: 10.1186/s12934-015-0223-7.

Winslow AR, Rubinsztein DC (2011) The Parkinson disease protein  $\alpha$ -synuclein inhibits autophagy. Autophagy. 2011 Apr;7(4):429-31. Epub 2011 Apr 1.

Yang J, Liu H, Li L, Liu H, Shi W, Yuan X, Wu L (2016) Structural insights into IRE1 functions in the unfolded protein response. Curr Med Chem. 2016 Sep 27.

Zeeshan HM, Lee GH, Kim HR, Chae HJ (2016) Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress and Associated ROS. Int J Mol Sci. 2016 Mar 2;17(3):327. doi: 10.3390/ijms17030327.

Zeng WY, Tang YQ, Gou M, Xia ZY, Kida K (2016) Transcriptomes of a xylose-utilizing industrial flocculating Saccharomyces cerevisiae strain cultured in media containing different sugar sources. AMB Express. 2016 Dec;6(1):51. doi: 10.1186/s13568-016-0223-y. Epub 2016 Aug 2.

Zhao Q, Yang X, Cai D, Ye L, Hou Y, Zhang L, Cheng J, Shen Y, Wang K, Bai Y (2016) Echinacoside Protects Against MPP(+)-Induced Neuronal Apoptosis via ROS/ATF3/CHOP Pathway Regulation. Neurosci Bull. 2016 Aug;32(4):349-62. doi: 10.1007/s12264-016-0047-4. Epub 2016 Jul 18.

# Part III

### **3.3.** Decreased mitochondrial mobility and increased number of lysosome vesicles in human dopaminergic neurons derived from SNCA<sup>3</sup> patients

#### Abstract

Insoluble alpha-synuclein protein aggregates and oxidative stress caused by mitochondrial dysfunction are the main characteristics of Parkinson's disease (PD). Mutations in the alpha-synuclein gene (SNCA) constitute the primary risk for PD. Triplications in the alpha-synuclein gene (SNCA<sup>3</sup>) have been reported to cause overexpression of the protein and lead to early-onset PD. Studies using several models of PD have revealed that alpha-synuclein toxicity involves mitochondrial and autophagy dysfunction. Overexpression of alpha-synuclein causes disturbed intracellular trafficking, harming mitochondrial and autophagy dynamics. Induced pluripotent stem cells (hiPSC) derived from dopaminergic neurons allow investigations into the phenotypes and cellular mechanisms that lead to neurodegeneration. Further, this cell model maintains the genetic background of the patient the cells were derived from. In this study, using dopaminergic neurons derived from hiPSCs, we reported that overexpression of alpha-synuclein decreased mitochondrial trafficking, and accumulated lysosome vesicles. In a sensitivity assay, SNCA<sup>3</sup> neurons were demonstrated to be more susceptible to rotenone toxicity, which alters intracellular mitochondrial distribution, impairing retrograde transport of the organelle.

#### Introduction

Alpha-synuclein is a small pre-synaptic protein and a major constituent of Lewy bodies, which are insoluble clusters characteristic of Parkinson's disease (PD) (Scharre et al., 2016). The etiology of PD is unknown in about 75% of cases; however, evidence shows that PD is a consequence of both environmental factors and genetic susceptibility (Biernacka et al., 2016; Marques et al., 2011). Mutations in the alpha-synuclein gene (SNCA) have been suggested as the

main risk for PD (Nalls et al., 2014). Triplicated copies of the gene (SNCA<sup>3</sup>) cause overexpression of protein and are known to be associated with autosomal dominant PD (Olgiati et al., 2015). It has been reported that overexpression of alpha-synuclein favors oligomer formation, which damages mitochondria and increases oxidative stress (Byers et al., 2011). Indeed, oligomers may be more cytotoxic than protein aggregates and interact with membranes of vesicles and organelles, such as mitochondria, leading to increased reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Chemerovski-Glikman et al., 2016; Kalia et al., 2013; Cremades et al., 2012). However, the mechanisms involved in mitochondrial dysfunction caused by overexpressed alpha-synuclein are not well understood. Maintenance of mitochondrial function is dependent on equilibrated mitochondrial trafficking (Sheng, 2014). In our previous studies, we revealed that overexpressed alpha-synuclein impaired mitochondrial trafficking and changed motor protein expression (Melo et al., 2013; Chaves et al., 2013). Furthermore, high levels of alpha-synuclein promote hyperphosphorylation of tau protein, causing microtubule disassembly and disturb in intracellular trafficking (Roy and Jackson, 2014).

Alterations in intracellular trafficking also affect autophagy dynamics. Arduíno and colleagues (2013) demonstrated that mitochondrial dysfunction causes microtubule disassembly, impairing lysosome vesicle trafficking and harming autophagy dynamics. Autophagy dysfunction has been implicated in the pathology of PD. Initially, it was proposed that the proteasome degraded alpha-synuclein. However, recent studies showed that alpha-synuclein is preferentially degraded via lysosomes, especially with protein overexpression (Aflaki et al., 2016; Mak et al., 2010).

Several studies have investigated alpha-synuclein toxicity involving autophagy dysfunction. Alpha-synuclein impaired autophagy to interact with proteins related to vesicle trafficking, leading to accumulation of vesicles or autophagy disruption. Additionally, alpha-synuclein increased lysosome activity and, in the presence of aggregates, chronically led to rupture of the organelle, worsening mitochondrial dysfunction (Freeman et al., 2013; Sancenon et al., 2012). Interestingly, experiments using human induced pluripotent stem cells (hiPSC) derived from neurons of patients with PD showed preserved mitochondrial function and prevented lysosome vesicles accumulation (Su and Qi, 2013). However, mechanisms underlying mitochondrial and autophagy dysfunction are still unclear.

hiPSC-derived neurons allow investigations of cellular mechanisms involved in degeneration in a model that preserves genetic background of patients. Flier and colleagues (2014) demonstrated altered mitochondrial metabolism in human neural precursor cells carrying alphasynuclein gene triplications, suggesting that neurons also could have affected mitochondrial metabolism in the presence of this mutation. In this study, we generated neurons from iPSCs from patients with SNCA<sup>3</sup> to investigate mitochondrial trafficking and autophagy dysfunction in the presence of overexpressed alpha-synuclein. In addition, we tested dopaminergic neuron sensitivity and observed mitochondrial localization after exposure to rotenone, a natural pesticide that blocks complex I of the electron transport chain and triggers neurodegeneration in PD (Jalewa et al., 2016; Ferrante et al., 1997).

#### MATERIAL AND METHODS

### Generation and characterization of human induced pluripotent stem cells (hiPSC) from fibroblasts of patients diagnosed with familial PD

Fibroblasts from epidermis of elderly normal females or patients with familial PD expressing the triplicated alpha-synuclein gene (SNCA<sup>3</sup>) were purchased from the Coriell Institute (New Jersey). To generate iPSCs, fibroblasts were reprogrammed with episomal vectors containing human genes (Takashi and Yamanaka, 2006) following manufacturer instructions. Briefly, fibroblasts were plated ( $1 \times 10^6$  cells per 35 mm<sup>2</sup> well) and cultured in DMEM media supplemented with 15% of FBS (fetal bovine serum). The next day, cells reached about 75% of confluence and were transfected with L-MYC and Lin28 (Addgene #27080) at a concentration of 0.85 µg/ml, Sox-2 and KLF4 (Addgene #270778) at a concentration of 1.3 µg/ml, and OCT3/4 (Addgene #27077

and #27076) at a concentration of 0.85 μg/ml using nucleofector (Amaxa<sup>TM</sup> Basic Nucleofector<sup>TM</sup> Kit for Mammalian Fibroblasts). The electric parameter used was the U-023 program.

About 5 days after transfection, colonies were observed and passaged onto geltrex- coated dishes (35 mm<sup>2</sup>) and cultured in E8 media (Essential 8<sup>TM</sup>, Invitrogen). Media were changed every 2 days. For expansion of lines, colonies were cultured for another 30 days and passaged onto dishes coated with VTN (Vitronectin, Invitrogen). E8 media were changed every day. After about 10 passages, colonies were characterized by immunocytochemistry (fluorescence) for pluripotency markers and for 3 germ lineages of embryoid bodies.

To generate embryoid bodies (EBs), cells were plated in non-adherent dishes without coating for 1 week. Colonies were maintained in E8 media for 2 days. E8 was replaced with a medium for spontaneous differentiation composed of: 75% DMEM, 20% FBS hyclone, 1% non-essential amino acids, 1% glutamax, 1% HEPES, and 0.1%  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol. After 2 days, EBs formed were cultivated for 5 more days. EBs were plated in dishes coated with gelatin for 8 days. EBs were fixed and stained for ectoderm, endoderm and mesoderm markers.

#### Dopaminergic neuronal differentiation and characterization

Differentiation was based on dual SMAD-inhibition protocols described by Kriks (2011). Briefly, at day 1, E8 media was replaced with normal media: DMEM supplemented with 15% KSR (Knockout replacement medium, Invitrogen), 0.1 mM non-essential amino acids, 2 mM L-glutamine, 10  $\mu$ M  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol, plus 100 nM LDN193189 (Stemgent) and 10  $\mu$ M SB432542 (Tocris). The next day, normal media was replaced with 100 ng/ml SHH C25II (R&D), 100 ng/ml FGF8 (R&D) and 2  $\mu$ M purmorphamine. At day 4, normal media was replaced, and CHIR at 3  $\mu$ M and 25% N2 were added to the media. At day 6, 50% N2 was added, and SB432542 was removed from the normal media. At day 8, 75% N2 was added to the normal media containing only LDN193189 and CHIR. At day 10, 100% N2 was added to the normal media. At day 11, cells were cultured in the neurobasal media supplemented with CHIR (until day 13), B27, L-glutamine, BDNF at 20 ng/ml, GDNF at 20 ng/ml, ascorbic acid at 0.2 mM, TGFb3 at 1 ng/ml, cAMP at 0.5 mM, and DAPT at 10  $\mu$ M. At day 20, neurons were dissociated using Accutase (Millipore) and plated at 3  $\times$  10<sup>5</sup> cells/cm<sup>2</sup> in pretreated dishes with geltrex. Neurons were cultured for another 40 or 70 days until they achieved maturity.

At 60 and 90 days of differentiation, neurons were stained for the following markers: neuronal marker  $\beta$ III-tubulin (Tuj1, anti-rabbit), dopaminergic marker TH (tyrosine hydroxylase, anti-mouse) and alpha-synuclein.

#### Mobility of viable mitochondria

Neurons were plated on coverslips coated with geltrex, and mitochondria were labeled in orange using a fluorescent probe MitoTracker® Orange CMTMRos (Invitrogen), which only binds to mitochondria with intact membrane potentials. The probe was dissolved in culture medium at 75 nM for 30 min at 37 °C. This procedure does not affect the mitochondrial membrane potential (Pendergraas et al., 2004). MitoTracker was dissolved in DMSO at 1 mM following the manufacturer's instructions. This solution was stored at -20 °C. After staining, neurons were rinsed three times with dPBS in the dark, and mitochondrial trafficking and the total number of mitochondria per frame was immediately evaluated using confocal microscopy with a 554–576 nm wavelength and 63× objective, as previously described.

#### Lysosome vesicles

Acidic vesicles were labeled in red with a fluorescent probe, LisoTracker<sup>TM</sup> Red DND-99 (Invitrogen) diluted in the media at 75 nM. Neurons were incubated with the probe for 10 min at 37  $^{\circ}$ C, rinsed three times, and immediately visualized using confocal microscopy and a 63× objective.

#### **Treatment with rotenone**

Rotenone was diluted in DMSO (stock solution 1 mM) and added in the culture media at 50 nM or 100 nM. Neurons were exposed to rotenone or DMSO (as the control) at 0.01% for 48 h followed by fixation with 4% PFA and staining for dopaminergic neurons, alpha-synuclein, and

mitochondria. The morphology of dopaminergic neurons and mitochondria and localization of mitochondria were analyzed using confocal microscopy with a 63× objective.

#### Immunocytochemistry

Cells were rinsed with PBS and fixed with 4% PFA for 20 min at room temperature. Permeabilization and nonspecific labeling was blocked with PBS containing 0.2% Triton and 4% bovine serum albumin (BSA, Sigma) for 30 min at room temperature.

hiPSCs were stained for the following pluripotent markers: rabbit anti-OCT-4 (1/300, Abcam, ab137427), mouse anti-SOX-2 (1/300, Abcam, ab171380), mouse anti-Tra1-60 (1/500, Abcam, ab16288), and mouse anti-Tra1-81 (1/500, Abcam, ab16289).

Embryoid bodies were prepared for immunocytochemistry as cited above. The primary antibodies employed for identification of embryonic three germ layer were ectoderm marker (neuronal marker) rabbit anti- $\beta$ III-tubulin (Tuj1, 1/500, Abcam, ab18207), endoderm marker rabbit anti-GATA-4 (1/200, Abcam, ab61767), and mesoderm marker rabbit anti Desmin (1/400, Abcam, ab8592).

Neurons were rinsed carefully with warm dPBS and prepared for immunocytochemistry as cited above. The primary antibodies employed were neuronal marker rabbit anti βIII-tubulin (Tuj1, 1/1000), dopaminergic marker mouse anti-TH (1/500, Millipore, MAB318), rabbit anti-alpha-synuclein (1/500, Abcam, ab138501), and mitochondrial marker rabbit anti-TOM20 (1/1000, sc-11415).

Primary antibodies were incubated overnight at 4 °C, whereas secondary antibodies were incubated with fluorescent anti-mouse (1/120, Jackson) or anti-rabbit (1/120, Jackson) secondary antibodies for 1 h at room temperature protected from light.

To stain nuclei, Hoechst was incubated at 1/1000 for 10 min protected from light.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Mitochondrial mobility was analyzed using Student's *t* test. Experiments were repeated three times (n=3). A *p* value  $\leq 0.05$  was considered statistically significant. Data are expressed as absolute values or percentage of control  $\pm$  SD (standard deviation). The statistical software employed was GraphPad Prism (GraphPad Software Inc., version 4.00, CA).

#### Results Characterization of hiPSCs

Fibroblasts from controls and patients with the autosomal dominant form of PD expressing 3 copies of the alpha-synuclein gene (SNCA<sup>3</sup>) were successfully reprogrammed into iPSCs. Cells from controls (Figure 1A) and from patients (Figure 1B) showed stem cell morphology and stained positively for the pluripotent markers OCT-4, SOX-2, Tra1-60, and Tra1-81 as shown in Figure 1.

Next, embryoid bodies were generated and three germ layers were detected by staining ectoderm, endoderm, and mesoderm in control hiPSCs (Figure 2A) and SNCA<sup>3</sup> hiPSCs (Figure 2B).





**Figure 1**: Characterization of hiPSCs by immunofluorescence. Photomicrographs illustrating immunoreactivity of pluripotent markers SOX-2, OCT-4, Tra1-60, and Tra1-81 (overlapping stains in merge) in control (A) and patient cells carrying SNCA<sup>3</sup> (B). Hoechst stained nuclei in blue. Confocal images used a  $63 \times$  objective (scale of  $50 \mu$ m).



**Figure 2**: Characterization of embryoid bodies by immunofluorescence. Photomicrographs illustrating immunoreactivity of the germ layers ectoderm (BIII-tubulin), endoderm (GATA-4), and mesoderm (Desmin) (overlapping stains in merge) in control (A) and patient cells carrying SNCA<sup>3</sup> (B). Hoechst stained nuclei in blue. Confocal images were captured using  $63 \times$  objective (scale of  $50\mu$ m).

Taken together, these results showed both fibroblasts from control and SNCA<sup>3</sup> patients were correctly reprogrammed into hiPSCs with the same efficiency, showing stem cell morphology and primary pluripotent markers. In addition, control and SNCA<sup>3</sup> hiPSCs forms EBs and were positive for staining of the 3 germ layers, confirming pluripotency of the hiPSCs generated.

Subsequently, hiPSCs were differentiated into dopaminergic neurons. After 60 and 90 days of differentiation, cells were positive for a neuronal marker (Tuj1) and dopaminergic marker (TH) (Figure 3A and B, respectively). Kriks' protocol showed a differentiation efficiency of 80% for dopaminergic neurons; nevertheless, we observed about 10%-20% dopaminergic neurons after 60 or 90 days of differentiation.



**Figure 3**: Characterization of dopaminergic neurons derived from hiPSCs by immunofluorescence after 60 days (A) and 90 days (B) of differentiation. Photomicrographs illustrating immunoreactivity of neurons in green (Tuj1) and dopaminergic neurons in red (TH) (overlapping stains in merge). Hoechst stained nuclei in blue. Confocal images were captured using a  $63 \times$  objective.

Overexpressed alpha-synuclein is a phenotype of SNCA<sup>3</sup> neurons. Therefore, neurons were stained for alpha-synuclein after 60 days and 90 days of differentiation. After 60 days of differentiation, SNCA<sup>3</sup> neurons did not show alpha-synuclein staining. However, after 90 days of differentiation, homogeneous alpha-synuclein staining was observed, suggesting the protein was not aggregated (Figure 4). These data suggest that 90 days of differentiation was necessary to observe a PD phenotype.



**Figure 4**: Immunofluorescence of alpha-synuclein and dopaminergic neurons after 90 days of differentiation of hiPSC into dopaminergic neurons. Photomicrographs illustrating alpha-synuclein expression in green ( $\alpha$ -syn) and dopaminergic neurons in red (TH) (overlapping stains in merge). Hoechst stained nuclei in blue. Confocal images were captured using a 63× objective.

Several studies have demonstrated that mitochondrial dysfunction, such as differences in mitochondrial morphology and decreased membrane potential, occur in the presence of overexpressed alpha-synuclein, including in models using neurons derived from hiPSCs (Su and Qi, 2013; Yakhine-Diop et al., 2014; Sanchez et al., 2012). The mechanisms that lead to mitochondrial dysfunction are still unclear, but it has been suggested that alpha-synuclein disrupts mitochondrial

trafficking, causing mitochondrial dysfunction in PD (Ottolini et al., 2016). In order to investigate mitochondrial alterations in our model, we quantified mitochondrial trafficking and compared mitochondrial morphology and membrane potential using MitoTracker Orange (Figure 5).

After 60 days of differentiation, we observed no changes in mitochondrial morphology in control cells compared with SNCA<sup>3</sup> neurons (Figure 5A and B, respectively). Mitochondrial trafficking and the amount of mitochondrias with intact mitochondrial membrane potential also did not differ from that in SNCA<sup>3</sup> neurons (Figure 5C and D, respectively). After 90 days of differentiation, we did not observe differences in mitochondrial morphology between control and SNCA<sup>3</sup> neurons (Figure 5E and F). However, mitochondrial trafficking and the amount of mitochondrial membrane potential were lower in SNCA<sup>3</sup> neurons than in control neurons (Figure 5G and H, respectively). Taken together, these results showed disrupted mitochondrial trafficking in the presence of alpha-synuclein overexpression.



**Figure 5**: Mitochondrial trafficking and mitochondrial membrane potential in neurons incubated with MitoTracker Orange. Photomicrographs show mitochondria labeled after 60 days of differentiation in control neurons (A) and SNCA<sup>3</sup> neurons (B) or after 90 days of differentiation in control neurons (E) and SNCA<sup>3</sup> neurons (F). Mitochondria trafficking did not change after 60 days of differentiation (C). After 90 days of differentiation, mitochondrial trafficking was lower in neurons expressing SNCA<sup>3</sup> than in controls (G). The percentage of moving mitochondria with intact membrane potentials did not change after 60 days of differentiation (D). After 90 days of differentiation, neurons expressing SNCA<sup>3</sup> showed a decreased percentage of moving mitochondria with intact membrane potentials (H). Confocal images used a  $63 \times$  objective. Student's *t* test was employed. n=6 cultures,\* $p \le 0.05$  compared with control. Experiments were repeated 3 times.

It has been reported that autophagy dysfunction in PD is caused by overexpression of alphasynuclein, which can inhibit autophagy mechanisms as well as disrupt vesicles trafficking and the endocytic pathway. Further, aggregates of alpha-synuclein can directly impair lysosome function, causing lysosome rupture followed by mitochondrial dysfunction (Winslow and Rubinsztein, 2011; Sancenon et al., 2012; Freeman et al., 2013; Lin et al., 2015). Therefore, to investigate whether autophagy was impaired, we stained acidic vesicles using LysoTracker in neurons (Figure 6). After 90 days of differentiation, SNCA<sup>3</sup> neurons (Figure 6B) showed a significantly higher number of vesicles (Figure 6C) than was observed in control neurons (Figure 6A). These data indicated that overexpression of alpha-synuclein led to accumulation of lysosome, which strongly suggests that autophagy was impaired in these neurons.



**Figure 6**: Lysosomes stained using LysoTracker in control neurons (A) and neurons expressing SNCA<sup>3</sup> (B) after 90 days of differentiation. Lysosome accumulation was greater in neurons expressing SNCA<sup>3</sup> than in the controls (B). Quantification of the number of particles stained red showed significantly more stained particles in neurons expressing SNCA<sup>3</sup> (C). Confocal images were captured using a 63× objective. Data expressed as percentage of control ± SD. Student's *t* test was employed. n=6 cultures,\* $p \le 0.05$  compared with control. Experiments were repeated 3 times.

The main risk factor for PD is age. It seems that the neurodegenerative process is a combination of age-related changes and accumulated alpha-synuclein. Protein aggregate formation, as well as injuries caused by alpha-synuclein toxicity, seems to be exacerbated by natural changes in aged neurons, such as oxidative stress caused by increased ROS. hiPSC-derived neurons are not subject to all changes involved in aging. Specifically, increased ROS is characteristic of both aged neurons and neurons from patients with PD (Scharre et al., 2016; Ross et al., 2015). Therefore, an addition stressor is required to mimic the alterations that occur during normal aging, including dopaminergic sensitivity.

To verify the sensitivity of neurons to ROS in the presence of alpha-synuclein, control neurons and SNCA<sup>3</sup> neurons were treated with low doses of rotenone at 50 nM or 100 nM for 48 h.

First, we analyzed control neurons morphology and expression of alpha-synuclein (Figure 7). The morphology of dopaminergic control neurons morphology after treatment with 50 nM of rotenone (Figure 7B) or 100 nM of rotenone (Figure 7C) did not differ from that of the control neurons exposed to DMSO (Figure 7A). However, control neurons exposed to 50 nM of rotenone showed more intense alpha-synuclein staining (Figure 7B) than control neurons treated with DMSO. Further, neurons treated with 100 nM rotenone showed higher alpha-synuclein labeling (Figure 7C) than that observed in neurons treated with 50 nM rotenone. On the other hand, compared to cells treated with DMSO, SNCA<sup>3</sup> neurons treated with 50 nM rotenone showed decreased number and length of neurites in more than 50% of neurons and decreased nucleus size, indicating cell death (Figure 7E). More than 50% of SNCA<sup>3</sup> neurons exposed to 100 nM rotenone showed severe shortening of neurites and also smaller nuclei, suggesting cell death (Figure 7F). Intensity of alpha-synuclein staining did not change in SNCA<sup>3</sup> neurons among the treatments. These findings strongly suggest that rotenone increased alpha-synuclein expression in control neurons and activated apoptosis in SNCA<sup>3</sup> neurons, demonstrating that these neurons were more sensitive to increased ROS caused by rotenone than control neurons.



**Figure 7**: Photomicrographs showing immunoreactivity of dopaminergic neurons in red (TH) and alpha-synuclein in green ( $\alpha$ -syn), (overlapping stains in merge) at 90 days of differentiation after treatment with 50 nM or 100 nM rotenone for 48 h. Hoechst stained nuclei in blue. Control and SNCA<sup>3</sup> neurons treated with DMSO for 48 h (A and D, respectively). Control and SNCA<sup>3</sup> neurons

treated with rotenone at 50 nM (B and E, respectively). Control and SNCA<sup>3</sup> neurons treated with 100 nM rotenone (C and F). Confocal images were captured using a  $63 \times$  objective (scale of  $50 \mu$ m).

Rotenone targets mitochondria, blocking complex I of the respiratory chain and causing mitochondrial dysfunction. Furthermore, in our previous studies, we showed that rotenone disturbs motor proteins and mitochondrial trafficking (Chaves et al., 2010; Melo et al., 2013; Chaves et al., 2013).

In order to investigate mitochondrial localization, we stained mitochondria (TOM20) in dopaminergic neurons and analyzed mitochondrial localization in neurons with preserved neurites after rotenone exposure (Figure 8). We found that control neurons exposed to 50 nM (Figure 8B) or 100 nM (Figure 8C) rotenone had concentrated mitochondria in cell body and homogeneous mitochondrial distribution in neurites similar to DMSO control neurons (Figure 8A). In contrast, compared to SNCA<sup>3</sup> neurons exposed to DMSO (Figure 8D), SNCA<sup>3</sup> neurons exposed to 100 nM rotenone did not show mitochondria concentrated in cell body (Figure 8F), suggesting that retrograde trafficking was impaired in these neurons. All dopaminergic neurons exposed to 50 nM rotenone showed severe shortening of neurites, making it impossible to analyze mitochondrial distribution in these branches (Figure 8E).



**Figure 8**: Photomicrographs showing immunoreactivity of dopaminergic neurons in red (TH) and mitochondria in green (TOM20), (overlapping stains in merge) at 90 days of differentiation after treatment with rotenone at 50 nM or 100 nM for 48 h. Hoechst stained nuclei in blue. Control and SNCA<sup>3</sup> neurons treated with DMSO for 48 h (A and D, respectively). Control and SNCA<sup>3</sup> neurons 205

treated with rotenone at 50 nM (B and E, respectively). Control and SNCA<sup>3</sup> neurons treated with 100 nM of rotenone (C and F) Amplified images of SNCA<sup>3</sup> neurons treated with DMSO (D1) and with rotenone (F1). Arrow indicates absence of mitochondria in the cell body (F1). Confocal images were captured using a  $63 \times$  objective (scale of  $50 \mu$ m).

#### Discussion

In our study, we successfully generated hiPSCs from fibroblasts derived from a control subject and PD patient with triplicated copies of the alpha-synuclein gene. Both lines (control and patient) showed stem cell morphology, expressed pluripotent markers, and spontaneously differentiated into 3 germ layers. These findings indicated that the presence of the SNCA<sup>3</sup> gene did not interfere with fibroblast reprogramming or cell pluripotency. However, further differentiation generated only 10–20% dopaminergic neurons. Kriks protocol (2011) has been widely used to generate dopaminergic neurons. Nevertheless, some recent studies have shown low efficiency in the generation of dopaminergic neurons using this protocol. It has been reported that adaptions in the protocol are needed, as well as purification in order to get a culture containing 80% dopaminergic neurons (Nishimura et al., 2015; Woodard et al., 2014; Grealish et al., 2014; Schöndorf et al., 2014; Miller et al., 2013).

To characterize the PD phenotype, we cultured the neurons for 90 days. SNCA<sup>3</sup> neurons showed stronger homogeneous staining than control neurons, suggesting alpha-synuclein was overexpressed, although the protein was not aggregated. It has been reported that alpha-synuclein impairs intracellular trafficking of vesicles and organelles, such as mitochondria, in several models (Mazzulli et al., 2016; Ottolini et al., 2016). Moreover, overexpressed alpha-synuclein has been reported to cause mitochondrial and autophagy dysfunction during PD development (Bose and Beal, 2016; Ottoline et al., 2016). Mechanisms behind alpha-synuclein toxicity involving altered mitochondrial morphology, membrane potential, and abnormal autophagy are still unclear. It has been reported that overexpressed alpha-synuclein favors oligomer formation, which seems to be

more toxic than aggregates. Oligomer toxicity relies on a high affinity of oligomers with membranes, including mitochondrial membranes, causing destabilization of the mitochondrial membrane potential and consequently mitochondrial dysfunction (Marmolino et al., 2016; Chen et al., 2015; Luth et al., 2014). We did not observe any changes in mitochondrial dynamics after 60 days of differentiation, confirming that the SNCA<sup>3</sup> neuronal phenotype is observed only after this period of time. Further, mitochondrial morphology did not change in either control or SNCA<sup>3</sup> neurons. However, after 90 days of differentiation, we observed decreased mitochondrial trafficking and membrane potentials in SNCA<sup>3</sup> neurons concomitant with overexpression of alpha-synuclein. These results strongly suggest that at 90 days of differentiation, overexpressed alpha-synuclein formed oligomers that damaged mitochondria. This is the first study showing mitochondrial trafficking impairment and alterations in the mitochondrial membrane potential as the first steps that lead to mitochondrial dysfunction in human SNCA<sup>3</sup> neurons. In addition, our results strongly suggest that these changes precede formation of protein aggregates and changes in mitochondrial morphology.

Alpha-synuclein can also cause autophagy dysfunction. Additionally, mitochondrial dysfunction also can impair microtubule trafficking, leading to inefficient autophagy (Arduino et al., 2013). In our study, we observed accumulated lysosome vesicles in SNCA<sup>3</sup> neurons, indicating that overexpressed alpha-synuclein was impairing autophagy in these neurons. Once alpha-synuclein is overexpressed, lysosomes increase their activity possibly to degrade excessive alpha-synuclein. However, in the long term, lysosomes are not efficient in degrading alpha-synuclein, and vesicles containing protein to be degraded start accumulating and disturbing autophagy dynamics. Moreover, alpha-synuclein overexpression can directly inhibit autophagy by impairing proteins related to vesicle trafficking, leading to accumulation of vesicles, favoring protein aggregation, and also damaging mitochondria (Mazzulli et al., 2016; Sancenon et al., 2012; Winslow and Rubinsztein, 2011).

We did not observe indications of protein aggregates in SNCA<sup>3</sup> neurons. However, alphasynuclein protein aggregation and its toxicity seems to be a consequence of natural aging changes in cells, such as increased ROS, and a predisposition toward developing PD (Scharre et al., 2016). Interestingly, other studies also did not show alpha-synuclein aggregation naturally, and sensitivity of dopaminergic neurons expressing alpha-synuclein to oxidative stress, the main hallmark of PD, has been investigated through exposure to neurotoxins such as rotenone (Peng et al., 2013; Ryan et al., 2013). Though, it has been demonstrated that, human dopaminergic neurons derived from SNCA<sup>3</sup> patients expressed double amount of alpha-synuclein. In addition, these neurons were susceptible to oxidative stress (Byers et al., 2011).

Our previous results showed rotenone increase alpha-synuclein expression in primary culture of substantia nigra (Chaves et al, 2010). Analysis of rotenone exposure revealed that rotenone could increase alpha-synuclein expression in control neurons without affecting dopaminergic neuron morphology. In contrast, SNCA<sup>3</sup> neurons were more sensitive to rotenone, showing loss of neurites and cell death. In addition, retrograde mitochondrial trafficking was impaired, suggesting that mitochondrial biogenesis that preferentially occurs in the cell body was impaired. Since mitochondria are crucial organelles in controlling ROS levels and apoptosis, biogenesis impairment can lead to increased oxidative stress and consequently cell death. However, new experiments are needed to clarify the mechanisms behind mitochondrial and autophagy dysfunction in our model using hiPSC-derived dopaminergic neurons.

#### Conclusion

Overexpressed alpha-synuclein disrupts mitochondrial trafficking and impairs autophagy. Further, overexpressed protein makes neurons more sensitive to neurotoxins such as rotenone.

#### References

Aflaki E, Borger DK, Moaven N, Stubblefield BK, Rogers SA, Patnaik S, Schoenen FJ, Westbroek W, Zheng W, Sullivan P, Fujiwara H, Sidhu R, Khaliq ZM, Lopez GJ, Goldstein DS, Ory DS, Marugan J, Sidransky E (2016) A New Glucocerebrosidase Chaperone Reduces  $\alpha$ -Synuclein and Glycolipid Levels in iPSC-Derived Dopaminergic Neurons from Patients with Gaucher Disease and Parkinsonism. J Neurosci. 2016 Jul 13;36(28):7441-52. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0636-16.2016.

Arduíno DM, Esteves AR, Cardoso SM (2013) Mitochondria drive autophagy pathology via microtubule disassembly: a new hypothesis for Parkinson disease. Autophagy. 2013 Jan;9(1):112-4. doi: 10.4161/auto.22443.

Biernacka JM, Chung SJ, Armasu SM, Anderson KS, Lill CM, Bertram L, Ahlskog JE, Brighina L, Frigerio R, Maraganore DM (2016) Genome-wide gene-environment interaction analysis of pesticide exposure and risk of Parkinson's disease. Parkinsonism Relat Disord. 2016 Aug 3. pii: S1353-8020(16)30286-3. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2016.08.002.

Bose A, Beal MF (2016) Mitochondrial dysfunction in Parkinson's disease. J Neurochem. 2016 Aug 21. doi: 10.1111/jnc.13731.

Byers B, Cord B, Nguyen HN, Schule B, Fenno L, Lee PC, Deisseroth K, Langston JW, Pera RR, Palmer TD (2011) SNCA triplication Parkinson's patient's iPSC-derived DA neurons accumulate alpha-synuclein and are susceptible to oxidative stress. PLoS One 6:e26159.

Chaves RS, Melo TQ, Martins SA, Ferrari MF (2010) Protein aggregation containing beta-amyloid, alphasynuclein and hyperphosphorilated tau in cultured cells of hippocampus, substantia nigra and locus coeruleus after rotenone exposure. BMC Neurosc 11:114.

Chaves RS, Melo TQ, D'Unhao AM, Farizatto KL, Ferrari MF (2013) Dynein c1h1, dynactin and syntaphilin expression in brain areas related to neurodegenerative diseases following exposure to rotenone. Acta Neurobiol Exp (Wars). 2013;73(4):541-56.

Chemerovski-Glikman M, Rozentur-Shkop E, Richman M, Grupi A, Getler A, Cohen HY, Shaked H, Wallin C, Wärmländer SK, Haas E, Gräslund A, Chill JH, Rahimipour S (2016) Self-Assembled Cyclic d,l- $\alpha$ -Peptides as Generic Conformational Inhibitors of the  $\alpha$ -Synuclein Aggregation and Toxicity: In Vitro and Mechanistic Studies. Chemistry. 2016 Aug 19. doi: 10.1002/chem.201601830.

Chen T, Deng Y, Liao X, Zhao J, Wen G, Weng G, Ma F, Zheng Y (2015) [Effect of curcumin on oligomer formation and mitochondrial ATP-sensitive potassium channels induced by overexpression or mutation of  $\alpha$ -synuclein]. Zhonghua Yi Xue Yi Chuan Xue Za Zhi. 2015 Aug;32(4):462-7. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.1003-9406.2015.04.002.

Cremades N., Cohen S. I. A., Deas E., Abramov A. Y., Chen A. Y., Orte A., Sandal M., Clarke R. W., Dunne P., Aprile F. A. et al. (2012). Direct observation of the interconversion of normal and toxic forms of alpha-synuclein. Cell 149, 1048-1059. 10.1016/j.cell.2012.03.037

Ferrante RJ, Schulz JB, Kowall NW, Beal MF (1997) Systemic administration of rotenone produces selective damage in the striatum and globus pallidus, but not in the substantia nigra. Brain Res 753:157-162.

Flierl A, Oliveira LM, Falomir-Lockhart LJ, Mak SK, Hesley J, Soldner F, Arndt-Jovin DJ, Jaenisch R, Langston JW, Jovin TM, Schüle B (2014) Higher vulnerability and stress sensitivity of neuronal precursor cells carrying an alpha-synuclein gene triplication. PLoS One. 2014 Nov 12;9(11):e112413. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0112413.

Freeman D, Cedillos R, Choyke S, Lukic Z, McGuire K, Marvin S, Burrage AM, Sudholt S, Rana A, O'Connor C, Wiethoff CM, Campbell EM (2013) Alpha-synuclein induces lysosomal rupture and cathepsin dependent reactive oxygen species following endocytosis. PLoS One. Apr 25;8(4):e62143. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0062143. Print 2013.

Grealish S, Diguet E, Kirkeby A, Mattsson B, Heuer A, Bramoulle Y, Van Camp N, Perrier AL, Hantraye P, Björklund A, Parmar M (2014) Human ESC-derived dopamine neurons show similar preclinical efficacy and potency to fetal neurons when grafted in a rat model of Parkinson's disease. Cell Stem Cell. 2014 Nov 6;15(5):653-65. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2014.09.017.

Jalewa J, Sharma MK, Hölscher C (2016) Novel incretin analogues improve autophagy and protect from mitochondrial stress induced by rotenone in SH-SY5Y cells. J Neurochem. 2016 Jul 14. doi: 10.1111/jnc.13736.

Kalia L. V., Kalia S. K., McLean P. J., Lozano A. M. and Lang A. E. (2013). alpha-Synuclein oligomers and clinical implications for Parkinson disease. Ann. Neurol. 73, 155-169. 10.1002/ana.23746

Kriks S, Shim JW, Piao J, Ganat YM, Wakeman DR, Xie Z, Carrillo-Reid L, Auyeung G, Antonacci C, Buch A, Yang L, Beal MF, Surmeier DJ, Kordower JH, Tabar V, Studer L (2011) Dopamine neurons derived from human ES cells efficiently engraft in animal models of Parkinson's disease. Nature 480:547-551.

Lin CL, Cheng YS, Li HH, Chiu PY, Chang YT, Ho YJ, Lai TJ (2016) Amyloid- $\beta$  suppresses AMPactivated protein kinase (AMPK) signaling and contributes to  $\alpha$ -synuclein-induced cytotoxicity. Exp Neurol. 2016 Jan;275 Pt 1:84-98. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2015.10.009. Epub 2015 Oct 26.

Luth ES, Stavrovskaya IG, Bartels T, Kristal BS, Selkoe DJ (2014) Soluble, prefibrillar  $\alpha$ -synuclein oligomers promote complex I-dependent, Ca2+-induced mitochondrial dysfunction. J Biol Chem. 2014 Aug 1;289(31):21490-507. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113.545749. Epub 2014 Jun 18.

Mak SK, McCormack AL, Manning-Bog AB, Cuervo AM, Di Monte DA (2010) Lysosomal degradation of alpha-synuclein in vivo. J. Biol. Chem. 285: 13621-13629.

Marmolino D, Foerch P, Atienzar FA, Staelens L, Michel A, Scheller D (2016) Alpha synuclein dimers and oligomers are increased in overexpressing conditions in vitro and in vivo. Mol Cell Neurosci. 2016 Mar;71:92-101. doi: 10.1016/j.mcn.2015.12.012. Epub 2015 Dec 19.

Marques SC, Oliveira CR, Pereira CM, Outeiro TF (2011) Epigenetics in neurodegeneration: a new layer of complexity. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 35:348-355.

Mazzulli JR, Zunke F, Isacson O, Studer L, Krainc D (2016) α-Synuclein-induced lysosomal dysfunction occurs through disruptions in protein trafficking in human midbrain synucleinopathy models. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2016 Feb 16;113(7):1931-6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1520335113. Epub 2016 Feb 2.

Melo TQ, D'Unhão AM, Martins SA, Farizatto KLG, Chaves RS, Ferrari MFRF (2013) Rotenonedependent changes of anterograde motor protein expression and mitochondrial mobility in brain areas related to neurodegenerative diseases. Cell Mol. Neurobiol. 33: 327-335.

Miller JD, Ganat YM, Kishinevsky S, Bowman RL, Liu B, Tu EY, Mandal PK, Vera E, Shim JW, Kriks S, Taldone T, Fusaki N, Tomishima MJ, Krainc D, Milner TA, Rossi DJ, Studer L (2013) Human iPSC-based modeling of late-onset disease via progerin-induced aging. Cell Stem Cell. 2013 Dec 5;13(6):691-705. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2013.11.006.

Nalls MA, Pankratz N, Lill CM, Do CB, Hernandez DG, Saad M, DeStefano AL, Kara E, Bras J, Sharma M, Schulte C, Keller MF, Arepalli S, Letson C, Edsall C, Stefansson H, Liu X, Pliner H, Lee JH, Cheng R, Ikram MA, Ioannidis JP, Hadjigeorgiou GM, Bis JC, Martinez M, Perlmutter JS, Goate A, Marder K, Fiske B, Sutherland M, Xiromerisiou G, Myers RH, Clark LN, Stefansson K, Hardy JA, Heutink P, Chen H, Wood NW, Houlden H, Payami H, Brice A, Scott WK, Gasser T, Bertram L, Eriksson N, Foroud T, Singleton AB (2014) Large- scale meta-analysis of genome- wide association identifies six new risk loci for Parkinson's disease. Nat Genet 46 (9): 989-93.

Nishimura K, Murayama S, Takahashi J (2015) Identification of Neurexophilin 3 as a Novel Supportive Factor for Survival of Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell-Derived Dopaminergic Progenitors. Stem Cells Transl Med. 2015 Aug;4(8):932-44. doi: 10.5966/sctm.2014-0197.

Olgiati S, Thomas A, Quadri M, Breedveld GJ, Graafland J, Eussen H, Douben H, de Klein A, Onofrj M, Bonifati V (2015) Early-onset parkinsonism caused by alpha-synuclein gene triplication: Clinical and genetic findings in a novel family. Parkinsonism Relat Disord. 2015 Aug;21(8):981-6. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2015.06.005.

Pendergrass W, Wolf N, Poot M (2004) Efficacy of MitoTracker Green and CMXrosamine to measure changes in mitochondrial membrane potentials in living cells and tissues. Cytometry A 61:162-169.

Ottolini D, Calì T, Szabò I, Brini M (2016) Alpha-synuclein at the intracellular and the extracellular side: functional and dysfunctional implications. Biol Chem. Aug 5 doi: 10.1515/hsz-2016-0201.

Ryan SD, Dolatabadi N, Chan SF, Zhang X, Akhtar MW, Parker J, Soldner F, Sunico CR, Nagar S, Talantova M, Lee B, Lopez K, Nutter A, Shan B, Molokanova E, Zhang Y, Han X, Nakamura T, Masliah E, Yates JR 3rd, Nakanishi N, Andreyev AY, Okamoto S, Jaenisch R, Ambasudhan R, Lipton SA (2013) Isogenic human iPSC Parkinson's model shows nitrosative stress-induced dysfunction in MEF2-PGC1α transcription. Cell. 2013 Dec 5;155(6):1351-64. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.11.009.

Ross JM, Olson L, Coppotelli G (2015) Mitochondrial and Ubiquitin Proteasome System Dysfunction in Ageing and Disease: Two Sides of the Same Coin? Int J Mol Sci. 2015 Aug 17;16(8):19458-76. doi: 10.3390/ijms160819458.

Roy B, Jackson GR (2014) Interactions between Tau and  $\alpha$ -synuclein augment neurotoxicity in a Drosophila model of Parkinson's disease. Human Molecular Genetics 23 (11): 3008-3023.

Sancenon V, Lee SA, Patrick C, Griffith J, Paulino A, Outeiro TF, Reggiori F, Masliah E, Muchowski PJ (2012) Suppression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein toxicity and vesicle trafficking defects by phosphorylation at S129 in yeast depends on genetic context. Hum Mol Genet. 2012 Jun 1;21(11):2432-49. doi: 10.1093/hmg/dds058. Epub 2012 Feb 21.

Sanchez-Danes A, Richaud-Patin Y, Carballo-Carbajal I, Jimenez-Delgado S, Caig C, Mora S, Di Guglielmo C, Ezquerra M, Patel B, Giralt A, Canals JM, Memo M, Alberch J, Lopez-Barneo J, Vila M, Cuervo AM, Tolosa E, Consiglio A, Raya A (2012) Disease-specific phenotypes in dopamine neurons from human iPS-based models of genetic and sporadic Parkinson's disease. EMBO Mol Med 4:380-395.

Scharre DW, Chang SI, Nagaraja HN, Park A, Adeli A, Agrawal P, Kloos A, Kegelmeyer D, Linder S, Fritz N, Kostyk SK, Kataki M (2016) Paired Studies Comparing Clinical Profiles of Lewy Body Dementia with Alzheimer's and Parkinson's Diseases. J Alzheimers Dis. 2016 Aug 19.

Sheng ZH (2014) Mitochondrial trafficking and anchoring in neurons: New insight and implications. J Cell Biol. 2014 Mar 31;204(7):1087-98. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201312123.

Schöndorf DC, Aureli M, McAllister FE, Hindley CJ, Mayer F, Schmid B, Sardi SP, Valsecchi M, Hoffmann S, Schwarz LK, Hedrich U, Berg D, Shihabuddin LS, Hu J, Pruszak J, Gygi SP, Sonnino S, Gasser T, Deleidi M (2014) iPSC-derived neurons from GBA1-associated Parkinson's disease patients show autophagic defects and impaired calcium homeostasis. Nat Commun. 2014 Jun 6;5:4028. doi: 10.1038/ncomms5028.

Su YC, Qi X (2013) Inhibition of excessive mitochondrial fission reduced aberrant autophagy and neuronal damage caused by LRRK2 G2019S mutation. Human molecular Genetics 22:4545-4561.

Woodard CM, Campos BA, Kuo SH, Nirenberg MJ, Nestor MW, Zimmer M, Mosharov EV, Sulzer D, Zhou H, Paull D, Clark L, Schadt EE, Sardi SP, Rubin L, Eggan K, Brock M, Lipnick S, Rao M, Chang S1, Li A, Noggle SA (2014) iPSC-derived dopamine neurons reveal differences between monozygotic twins discordant for Parkinson's disease. Cell Rep. 2014 Nov 20;9(4):1173-82. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2014.10.023.

Yakhine-Diop SM, Bravo-San Pedro JM, Gómez-Sánchez R, Pizarro-Estrella E, Rodríguez-Arribas M, Climent V, Aiastui A, de Munain AL, Fuentes JM, González-Polo RA (2014) G2019 LRRK2 mutant fibroblasts from Parkinson's disease patients show increased sensitivity to neurotoxin 1-methyl-4phenylpyridinium dependent of autophagy. Toxicology 324: 1-9.

Winslow AR, Rubinsztein DC (2011) The Parkinson disease protein  $\alpha$ -synuclein inhibits autophagy. Autophagy. 2011 Apr;7(4):429-31. Epub 2011 Apr 1.

## 4. Discussion

#### 4. Discussion

In this study we have investigated mechanisms related to mitochondria dysfunction caused by overexpression of different types of alpha-synuclein. We have also investigated autophagy and endoplasmic reticulum stress, which have been shown to be a consequence and/or worsened mitochondria dysfunction (Krols et al., 2016; Arduino et al., 2013; Su and Qi, 2013, Grimm, 2012).

Recent reports have shown alpha-synuclein also leads to aberrant autophagy and increased ROS worsening mitochondria dysfunction (Redmann et al., 2016; Giordano et al., 2013). Specially mutated alpha-synuclein, or overexpression of WT protein overloads lysosome and endoplasmic reticulum. Consequently, degradation in general is impaired in the cell, including degradation of alpha-synuclein and mitochondria, favoring protein aggregates formation and mitochondria dysfunction (Sarkar et al., 2016; Freeman et al., 2013; Winslow and Rubinsztein, 2011). Moreover, overloaded endoplasmic reticulum causes organelle stress, increased oxidative stress also worsening mitochondria dysfunction (Sarkar et al., 2016; se Oliveira et al., 2015; Grimm, 2012). Together, these events create a vicious cycle leading to cell death. However, recent studies focused on unveil mechanisms involved in all these processes, demonstrated alpha-synuclein firstly targets mitochondria, causing mitochondria dysfunction, that lead to stress of organelles such as lysosome and endoplasmic reticulum (Krols et al., 2016; Chen et al., 2015; Arduino et al., 2013; Grimm, 2012). Therefore, the main focus to understand alpha-synuclein toxicity has been to understand mitochondria dysfunction in PD.

It is known mitochondria function is dependent of mitochondria dynamics, which consists basically in equilibrated anterograde and retrograde trafficking and anchoring mitochondria in sites with high demand of energy (Cieri et al., 2016; Sheng, 2014). Anterograde transport is crucial to maintenance of synapses, whereas, retrograde transport is crucial to renew mitochondria, since mitochondria biogenesis occurs preferentially at soma (Sheng et al., 2014). In our previous studies we have observed alterations in motor proteins expression and mitochondria trafficking in the presence of overexpression of alpha-synuclein, before mitochondria membrane potential alterations (Melo et al., 2013; Chaves et al., 2013). Further, other studies also showed that impaired mitochondria trafficking is involved in earlier PD pathogenesis (Bose and Beal, 2016). Based on this study, we analyzed impact of overexpression of different types of alpha-synuclein in mitochondria trafficking and proteins related to trafficking of mitochondria and lysosome vesicles.

For this purpose, we have used 3 different cellular models expressing human alphasynuclein: human SH-SY5Y cells (neuroblastoma) derived neurons, *S. cerevisiae* and hiPSCderived dopaminergic neurons from SNCA<sup>3</sup> patients. On the contrary of our first studies, SH-SY5Y neurons allowed investigations of mitochondria trafficking direction, providing the link among impairment on direction of trafficking and changes observed in mitochondria and autophagy flux. In addition, we have used NAP at a concentration that restores mitochondria trafficking and observed recovering of mitochondria and autophagy dysfunction, revealing that disturbed trafficking can be the key to cascade of cellular alterations in PD. hiPSC dopaminergic neurons overexpressing alphasynuclein also showed disrupted trafficking, indicating changed trafficking play a role in mitochondria dysfunction in human neurons derived from SNCA<sup>3</sup> patients.

Our previous studies already showed disturbed motor and adaptors proteins expression such as KIF1B, KIF5A, Miro, dynein and dynactin accompanied by disturbed mitochondria trafficking (Melo et al., 2013; Chaves et al., 2013). In addition, several studies have shown that especially Miro plays an important role in all processes involved in mitochondria dynamics (Devine et al., 2016). Moreover, it has been demonstrated that alpha-synuclein can interact with and/or change dynamics of proteins related to trafficking and autophagy such as Rab5 and LC3 (Koch et al., 2015; Sancenon et a., 2012; Dalfó et al., 2004). However, the consequences of these interactions or changes between alpha-synuclein and proteins related to trafficking, mitochondria and autophagy function are poorly understood. Absence of proteins/genes is used to clarify their role in cellular events that contribute to neurodegeneration. However, viability of polarized cells like neurons, are totally dependent of intracellular trafficking. Therefore, we have used yeast model to investigate deeper alpha-synuclein toxicity related to disturbed mitochondria and lysosome vesicles trafficking. We have found that A30P alpha-synuclein toxicity differs of A53T alpha-synuclein, which formed aggregates. As expected, cells expressing A53T alpha-synuclein showed earlier changes in mitochondria, autophagy, endoplasmic reticulum and apoptosis signalization which could be prevented by absence of GEM (Miro in mammalian), YPT53 (Rab5 in mammalian) and Atg8 (LC3 in mammalian). These data indicate, understanding of mechanisms which lead to alpha-synuclein aggregation and toxicity involve specific signalization of genes related to intracellular trafficking.

To underline intracellular trafficking disruption or target genes involved in alpha-synuclein dysfunction, we investigated toxicity of overexpression of WT alpha-synuclein, or expression of A30P or A53T alpha-synuclein and also exposure to rotenone. Although most cases of PD are sporadic, only about 10% of cases have defined genetic causes (Kalinderi et al., 2016). However, despite mutations in alpha-synuclein gene and also neurotoxins that damage mitochondria could cause specific cell injuries, they are widely used in cellular models to study PD pathology in order to optimize time and conditions to observe PD phenotype.

In this study, we observed several changes characteristics of PD most in neurons expressing A53T alpha-synuclein. Since it is known WT, A30P and A53T alpha-synuclein lead to PD and they oligomerizes faster than others, likely with longer SH-SY5Y culture or addition of neurotoxin, we would observe mitochondria trafficking changed and other changes that were observed in cells expressing A53T alpha-synuclein. Other studies also performed chronical exposure to neurotoxins to observed PD phenotype (Koch et al., 2015; Melo et al., 2013). The same principle is applied for hiPSC neurons. It has been demonstrated that hiPSC neurons expressing A53T alpha-synuclein showed PD phenotype related to mitochondria dysfunction after 35 days of culture, whereas we
needed to wait 90 days to observe PD phenotype (Ryan et al., 2013). New investigations are needed to find out how to accelerate PD phenotype in these neurons and optimize hiPSC work in our study.

Together, analysis in our models revealed that mitochondria dysfunction caused by alphasynuclein toxicity involves disruption in intracellular trafficking, preferentially first in mitochondria retrograde trafficking. Besides that, alpha-synuclein toxicity and apoptosis are dependent of proteins related to intracellular trafficking of mitochondria and autophagy, demonstrating understanding of impairment of intracellular trafficking could be a key to unveil PD cellular pathogenesis.

## References

Arduíno DM, Esteves AR, Cardoso SM (2013) Mitochondria drive autophagy pathology via microtubule disassembly: a new hypothesis for Parkinson disease. Autophagy. 2013 Jan;9(1):112-4. doi: 10.4161/auto.22443.

Bose A, Beal MF (2016) Mitochondrial dysfunction in Parkinson's disease. J Neurochem. 2016 Aug 21. doi: 10.1111/jnc.13731.

Chaves RS, Melo TQ, D'Unhao AM, Farizatto KL, Ferrari MF (2013) Dynein c1h1, dynactin and syntaphilin expression in brain areas related to neurodegenerative diseases following exposure to rotenone. Acta Neurobiol Exp (Wars). 2013;73(4):541-56.

Chen L, Xie Z, Turkson S, Zhuang X (2015) A53T human  $\alpha$ -synuclein overexpression in transgenic mice induces pervasive mitochondria macroautophagy defects preceding dopamine neuron degeneration. J Neurosci. 2015 Jan 21;35(3):890-905. doi: 1.1523/JNEUROSCI.0089-14.2015.

Cieri D, Brini M, Calì T (2016) Emerging (and converging) pathways in Parkinson's disease: Keeping mitochondrial wellness. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2016 Aug 28. pii: S0006-291X(16)31417-6. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2016.08.153.

Dalfó E, Barrachina M, Rosa JL, Ambrosio S, Ferrer I (2004) Abnormal alpha-synuclein interactions with rab3a and rabphilin in diffuse Lewy body disease. Neurobiol Dis. 2004 Jun;16(1):92-7.

de Oliveira MR, Elangovan N, Ljubkovic M, Baranova A (2015) The roads to mitochondrial dysfunction. Biomed Res Int. 2015;2015:235370. doi: 10.1155/2015/235370.

Devine MJ, Birsa N, Kittler JT (2016) Miro sculpts mitochondrial dynamics in neuronal health and disease. Neurobiol Dis. 2016 Jun;90:27-34. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2015.12.008.

Freeman D, Cedillos R, Choyke S, Lukic Z, McGuire K, Marvin S, Burrage AM, Sudholt S, Rana A, O'Connor C, Wiethoff CM, Campbell EM (2013) Alpha-synuclein induces lysosomal rupture and cathepsin dependent reactive oxygen species following endocytosis. PLoS One. 2013 Apr 25;8(4):e62143. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0062143. Print 2013.

Giordano S, Darley-Usmar V, Zhang J (2013) Autophagy as an essential cellular antioxidant pathway in neurodegenerative disease. Redox Biol. 2013 Dec 25;2:82-90. doi: 10.1016/j.redox.2013.12.013. eCollection 2014.

Grimm S (2012) The ER-mitochondria interface: the social network of cell death. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2012 Feb;1823(2):327-34. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2011.11.018.

Kalinderi K, Bostantjopoulou S, Fidani L (2016) The genetic background of Parkinson's disease: current progress and future prospects. Acta Neurol Scand. 2016 Feb 12. doi: 10.1111/ane.12563.

Koch JC, Bitow F, Haack J, d'Hedouville Z, Zhang JN, Tönges L, Michel U, Oliveira LM, Jovin TM, Liman J, Tatenhorst L, Bähr M, Lingor P (2015) Alpha-Synuclein affects neurite morphology, autophagy, vesicle transport and axonal degeneration in CNS neurons. Cell Death Dis. 2015 Jul 9;6:e1811. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2015.169.

Krols M, van Isterdael G, Asselbergh B, Kremer A, Lippens S, Timmerman V, Janssens S (2016) Mitochondria-associated membranes as hubs for neurodegeneration. Acta Neuropathol. 2016 Apr;131(4):505-23. doi: 10.1007/s00401-015-1528-7.

Melo TQ, D'unhao AM, Martins SA, Farizatto KL, Chaves RS, Ferrari MF (2013) Rotenone-dependent changes of anterograde motor protein expression and mitochondrial mobility in brain areas related to neurodegenerative diseases. Cell Mol Neurobiol. 2013 Apr;33(3):327-35. doi: 10.1007/s10571-012-9898-z.

Redmann M, Darley-Usmar V, Zhang J (2016) The Role of Autophagy, Mitophagy and Lysosomal Functions in Modulating Bioenergetics and Survival in the Context of Redox and Proteotoxic Damage: Implications for Neurodegenerative Diseases. Aging Dis. 2016 Mar 15;7(2):150-62. doi: 10.14336/AD.2015.0820. eCollection 2016.

Ryan SD, Dolatabadi N, Chan SF, Zhang X, Akhtar MW, Parker J, Soldner F, Sunico CR, Nagar S, Talantova M, Lee B, Lopez K, Nutter A, Shan B, Molokanova E, Zhang Y, Han X, Nakamura T, Masliah E, Yates JR 3rd, Nakanishi N, Andreyev AY, Okamoto S, Jaenisch R, Ambasudhan R, Lipton SA (2013) Isogenic human iPSC Parkinson's model shows nitrosative stress-induced dysfunction in MEF2-PGC1α transcription. Cell. 2013 Dec 5;155(6):1351-64. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.11.009.

Sancenon V, Lee SA, Patrick C, Griffith J, Paulino A, Outeiro TF, Reggiori F, Masliah E, Muchowski PJ (2012) Suppression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein toxicity and vesicle trafficking defects by phosphorylation at S129 in yeast depends on genetic context. Hum Mol Genet. 2012 Jun 1;21(11):2432-49. doi: 10.1093/hmg/dds058.

Sarkar S, Raymick J, Imam S (2016) Neuroprotective and Therapeutic Strategies against Parkinson's Disease: Recent Perspectives. Int J Mol Sci. 2016 Jun 8;17(6). pii: E904. doi: 10.3390/ijms17060904.

Sheng ZH (2014) Mitochondrial trafficking and anchoring in neurons: New insight and implications. J Cell Biol. 2014 Mar 31;204(7):1087-98. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201312123.

Su YC, Qi X (2013) Inhibition of excessive mitochondrial fission reduced aberrant autophagy and neuronal damage caused by LRRK2 G2019S mutation. Hum Mol Genet. 2013 Nov 15;22(22):4545-61. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddt301.

Winslow AR, Rubinsztein DC (2011) The Parkinson disease protein  $\alpha$ -synuclein inhibits autophagy. Autophagy. 2011 Apr;7(4):429-31. Epub 2011 Apr 1.

## **5.** Conclusions

## **5.** Conclusions

Based on our data, we suggest that alpha-synuclein impairs mitochondria trafficking leading to mitochondria, autophagy and endoplasmic reticulum dysfunction, dependent of Miro1, Rab5 and LC3. However, the stabilization of microtubules using NAP recovers mitochondria and autophagy dysfunction. Therefore, we propose that disrupted intracellular trafficking plays a crucial role in PD pathology.